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1,827 2,228 1,423 (18) 57
102 145 (40) (30) -
1,929 2,373 1,383 (19) 72
54 47 34 15 38
1,875 2,326 1,349 (19) 72
4,962 5,095 4,803 3) 6
(3,087) (2,769) (3,454) 11 (20)
)
1) 8.1 8.9 - - -
86.8 85.4 91.1 - -
12.5 13.9 8.1 - -
43.5 36.4 24.6 - -
2) 7.3 9.2 5.8 - -
12.2 13.4 - - -
45,800 46,000 47,400 0 )
1) 2014 30 2013 27
10 2.4
2)
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
25,126 25,475 25,385 689 (258) (2.134) 25,815 25,217 23,251
152 01 128 3 76 42 186 167 170
10,550 10,447 11,142 760 774 1,125 11,310 11,221 12,267
7,634 7,764 7,820 3,453 2,561 1,106 11,087 10,325 8,926
18,184 18,211 18,962 4,213 3,335 2,231 22,397 21,546 21,193
6,790 7,173 6,205  (3,558)  (3,669)  (4,407) 3,232 3,504 1,888
1,774 2,031 1,458 (369) (755) (993) 1,405 1,276 465
5,016 5,142 4,837  (3,189) (2.914) (8,414) 1,827 2,228 1,423
0 0 0 102 145 (40) 102 145 40)
5,016 5,142 4,837  (3,087) (2.,769)  (3.454) 1,929 2,373 1,383
54 47 34 0 0 0 54 47 34
4,962 5,005 4,83  (3,087) (2.769) (3.454) 1,875 2,326 1,349
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i 1) 268,428 241,680 252,662 15,820 24,423 31,448 284,248 266,103 284,110
887,450 821,607 860,136 32,791 47,575 60,038 920,241 869,182 920,174
1,138,450 1,030,749 - 75,046 99,856 - 1,213,496 1,130,605 -
D
SEI
2014
2014 2013 19 1,875
2013 25,815
25,126 2013
2014 689 2013
258 2013
315
2014 545
2013 68 2014
414
2014
171 FVA
186
123 61
11 2013 22,397
18,184
2013 26 4,213
1,618
37
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2014 2013 36.4 43.5 2014
GAAP
2014 239
6,030
2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 /o013 /2012
25,126 25,475 25,385 &) 0
152 91 128 67 (29)
10,550 10,447 11,142 1 (6)
6,128 6,098 6,199 0 0
1,506 1,666 1,621 (10) 3
7,634 7,764 7,820 0 )
18,184 18,211 18,962 0 4)
6,790 7,173 6,295 (5) 14
1,774 2,031 1,458 (13) 39
5,016 5,142 4,837 0 6
54 47 34 15 38
4,962 5,005 4,803 3) 6
(D 18.3 19.9 - - -
72.4 71.5 74.7 - -
27.0 28.2 24.8 - -
¢ 2) 268,428 241,680 252,662 11 [O)
887,450 821,607 860,136 8 [O)
1,138,450 1,030,749 - 10 -
1) 2014 30 2013 29
10 2.4
2)
2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 /2013 /2012
6,750 7,224 7,400 @) D)
EMEA 5,687 6,180 6,737 ®) ®)
9,471 9,567 9,507 @ 1
3,244 3,036 2,388 7 27
663 (790) (2,781) - 72)
25,815 25,217 23,251 2 8
2,326 2,463 2,544 (6) ®)
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EMEA 364 641 872 (43) (26)
360 1,085 2,512 (67) G7)
868 770 (151) 13 -
(686) (1,455) (3,889) (53) (63)
3,232 3,504 1,888 (8) 86
2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 /2013 /2012
689 (258) (2,134) - (88)
34 76 42 (55) 81
760 774 1,125 [©) (31)
3,453 2,561 1,106 35 132
4,213 3,335 2,231 26 49
(3.558)  (3,669) (4,407) ®3) an
(369) (755) (993) (51) (24)
(3.189)  (2.914) (3.414) 9 (15)
102 145 (40) (30) -
(3,087)  (2,769) (3,454) 11 (20)
¢ 1) 15,820 24,423 31,448 (35) 22)
32,791 47,575 60,038 (31) 1)
75,046 99,856 - (25) -

D
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2014 45,800 2013 200
2014 2013 2012
12,637 13,442 13,474
123 152 182
4,984 5,331 5,561
4,768 3,914 3,209
674 805 747
5,442 4,719 3,956
10,426 10,050 9,517
2,088 3,240 3,775
15.4 25.6 -
82.5 74.8 70.6
16.5 24.1 28.0
i 4) 108,261 95,507 96,665
345,949 316,491 308,230
380,602 347,784 -
238,124 215,713 207,702
2,314 2,164 2,409
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2014 2013 2012
12,515 12,565 12,558

61 13 )
5,649 5,435 6,070
4,090 4,477 3,551
885 921 947
4,975 5,398 4,498
10,624 10,833 10,568
1,830 1,719 2,002
7.7 6.7 -
84.9 86.2 84.2
14.6 13.7 15.9
i 4) 159,815 155,290 170,855
529,044 519,712 578,495
785,836 744,220 -
34,402 31,319 34,501
6,330 5,835 5,980
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2014 2013 2012
663 (790) @.781)
2 2 0
677 455 636
668 196 464
2 12 8
670 208 472
1,347 663 1,108
(686) (1,455) (3,889)
i 4) 16,172 15,306 16,590
45,248 32,979 33,449
47,058 38,601 -
25 22 20
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(9]
2014 2013 2012

25,815 25,217 23,251
186 167 170
11,310 11,221 12,267
9,526 8,587 7,224
1,561 1,738 1,702
11,087 10,325 8,926
22,397 21,546 21,193
3,232 3,504 1,888
1,405 1,276 465
1,827 2,228 1,423

102 145 (40)
1,929 2,373 1,383
54 47 34
1,875 2,326 1,349

8.1 8.9

(@) () )
86.8 85.4 91.1
12.5 13.9 8.1
43.5 36.4 24.6
7.3 9.2 5.8
¢ 4 284,248 266,103 284,110
920,241 869,182 920,174
1,213,496 1,130,605 -
272,551 247,054 242,223
8,644 7,999 8,389
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2014 2013 2012
25,126 25,475 25,385
152 91 128
10,550 10,447 11,142
6,128 6,098 6,199
1,506 1,666 1,621
7,634 7,764 7,820
18,184 18,211 18,962
6,790 7,173 6,295
1,774 2,031 1,458
5,016 5,142 4,837
0 0 0
5,016 5,142 4,837
54 47 34
4,962 5,095 4,803
18.3 19.9
3 (3 )
72.4 71.5 74.7
27.0 28.2 24.8
26.1 28.3 23.2
19.7 20.0 18.9
¢ 4 268,428 241,680 252,662
887,450 821,607 860,136
1,138,450 1,030,749 -
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2014 2013 2012
689 (258) (2.134)
34 76 42
760 774 1,125
3,398 2,489 1,025
55 72 81
3,453 2,561 1,106
4,213 3,335 2,231
(3,558) (3,669) (4,407)
(369) (755) (993)
(3,189) (2,914) (3,414)
102 145 (40)
(3,087) (2,769) (3,454)
0 0 0
(3,087) (2,769) (3,454)
¢ 4 15,820 24,423 31,448
32,791 47,575 60,038
75,046 99,856 -
1) SEI
2) 2014 30 2013 27
10 2.4
3) 2014 30 2013 29
10 2.4
4)
2015 4.5
3.5 2014
2011
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2015 0.3
2013 484 IT
128 2014
608 IT 293
2015 2017 200
2015 2017
200
2014 2013 48.6
921.4
13.8
KPIs KPIs
KPIs

KPIs
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2014 2013 2012
)
18 20 16.7 17.7 18.6
(@)
(D (5-6) 26.0 4.8
( D 2 0.7) 34.3 52.8
15 4.4 5.7 3.9
70 86.8 85.4 91.1
)
CETL  ( 3) 1 10.1 10.0 -
(QY)
Q) BNP
HSBC JP
UBS
( 3 10 2014
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2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
12,637 13,442 13,474 (6) 0
12,108 12,434 12,343 3) 1
529 1,008 1,131 (48) (11)
123 152 182 (19) (16)
4,984 5,331 5,561 @) )
4,768 3,914 3,209 22 22
674 805 747 (16) 8
5,442 4,719 3,956 15 19
10,426 10,050 9,517 4 6
8,270 8,725 8,830 (5) @
2,156 1,325 687 63 93
2,088 3,240 3,775 (36) (14)
3,726 3,627 3,374 3 7
(1,638) (387) 401 323 -
(D)
1) 15.4 25.6 - - -
82.5 74.8 70.6 - -
16.5 24.1 28.0 - -
9,551 9,792 10,209 D) )
() (2 22.4 33.7 37.6 - -
1,377.3  1,282.4 1,250.8 7.4 2.5
28.2 32.1 10.8 (12.1) 197.2
26,100 26,000 27,300 0 )
4,260 4,330 4,550 D) )
1) 2014 30 2013 29
10 2.4
2)
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2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
3,924 4,252 4,551 () ™
4,772 4,956 4,797 ) 3
3,657 3,967 3,678 () 8
(D 284 267 448 6 (40)
12,637 13,442 13,474 (6) 0
216 281 316 (23) (11)
(93) (129) (134) (28) )
123 152 182 (19) (16)
238,124 215,713 207,702 10 4
167,516 149,728 144,856 12 3
68,500 62,446 58,877 10 6
303,576 288,770 276,571 5 4
219,490 208,210 203,376 5 2
80,291 74,459 65,849 8 13
(G
65
2014 2013 2012
12 82.5 2014
2013 2012
68.3
2014
3.5 1.1

WEETEREE - KP1 (%)
GILRRESAU b HSATUrRUTEY b TRTAL b

g -

4.6
3.5
3 | 2.9 28
[ L] .

2012 | 2013 7014 |

B fLA-FRLA L - 25T AT - FRLE b
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TSA A=k - RF T8I TIA - T340 HEIFY

1H =
100 =
B2.5
1 7.6 4.8
a0 =
2 -
1]
| 2012 2013 | 2004
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2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
)
12,108 12,434 12,343 529 1,008 1,131 12,637 13,442 13,474
112 82 139 1 70 43 123 152 182
4,775 5,027 5,186 209 304 375 4,984 5,331 5,561
3,495 3,698 3,644 1,947 1,021 312 5,442 4,719 3,956
8,270 8,725 8,830 2,156 1,325 687 10,426 10,050 9,517
3,726 3,627 3,374 (1,638) (387) 401 2,088 3,240 3,775
)
o 102,407 89,428 88,937 5,854 6,079 7,728 108,261 95,507 96,665
335,382 295,799 284,263 10,567 20,692 23,967 345,949 316,491 308,230
369,355 326,195 - 11,247 21,589 - 380,602 347,784 -
2014
2014 3,726 12,108
2013
2014 2013 82 236
112
2013
2014 i 2013 13
102
2013
13 369
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2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 /o013 /2012

3,870 4,155 4,438 ™ (6)

4,601 4,554 4,329 1 5

3,587 3,818 3,482 (6) 10

50 (93) 94 - -

12,108 12,434 12,343 3) 1
186 210 274 (11) (23)
74) (128) (135) 42) )
112 82 139 37 (41)
4,775 5,027 5,186 5) ®)
2,847 2,938 2,963 3) D)

648 760 681 (15) 12

3,495 3,698 3,644 ) 1
8,270 8,725 8,830 ) @

3,726 3,627 3,374 3 7

2,260 2,050 1,971 10 4

917 965 941 (5) 3

549 612 462 (10) 32

)

1 29.0 30.7 - - -

68.3 70.2 71.5 - -

30.8 29.2 27.3 - -

i 102,407 89,428 88,937 15 1

335,382 295,799 284,263 13
369,355 326,195 - 13 -
( D 2014 30 2013 29
10 2.4
2014 2013
2014 2013 12,434 12,108
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2013
236.1
2014 2013
2014 2013

2014
AMF

82 37 112
60
52
2013

5,027 4,775

2,938 2,847
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2014 2013 3,050 2,784
2014 2013 2,967
2014 2013 2,442
2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
8,286 8,444 8,475 @ 0
60 78 110 (23) (29)
5,966 6,316 6,394 (6) )
2,260 2,050 1,971 10 4
)
72.0 74.8 75.4 - -
27.3 24.3 23.3 - -
2,784 3,050 3,268 ©) [G)
2,967 2,956 2,811 0 5
2,442 2,438 2,355 0 4
93 0 41
- 100
(D ) (100)
8,286 8,444 8,475 [0 0
(bp)
33 38 44 - _
36 38 38 - -
29 31 32 - -
1 0 0 - -
() 99 107 114 - _
C 9 27 26 27 - -
1,670 1,590 1,630 5 D)
1,030 1,180 1,300 13) ©)
540 560 620 10 (10)
490 440 440 11 0
3,730 3,770 3,990 ) ®)
(G
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99
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2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
290.0 270.9 243.5 7.1 11.3
244.5 231.3 243.2 5.7 (4.9)
196.5 172.9 164.5 13.6 5.1
143.5 115.6 106.8 24.1 8.2
874.5 790.7 758.0 10.6 4.3
833.0 788.2 741.2 5.7 6.3
361.4 306.1 286.4 18.1 6.9
153.6 152.6 149.0 0.7 2.4
194.9 187.1 184.6 4.2 1.4
164.6 144.9 138.0 13.6 5.0
874.5 790.7 758.0 10.6 4.3
5.7 0.9 2.3 - (60.9)
1.9 1.8 (2.0) 5.6 -
2.6 4.7 10.2 (44.7) (53.9)
17.3 11.5 10.1 50.4 13.9
27.5 18.9 20.6 45.5 (8.3)
27.5 18.9 20.6 - -
56.3 13.8 27.9 - -
22.9 40.2 47.4 - -
39.0 (17.6)  (12.4) - -
(5.6) (8-8) (7.1 - -
83.8 32.7 48.5 - -
)

3.5 2.5 2.9 - -

7.1 1.8 3.9 - -
10.6 4.3 6.8 - -
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2014 2013 1,105 1,086
2014 2013 451 460
2014 2013 453
2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
1,973 1,99 2,064 ) ®
52 4 29 - (86)
1,004 1,027 1,004 D) )
917 965 941 ) 3
O
50.9 51.5 53.0 - -
46.5 48.3 45.6 - _
1,086 1,105 1,170 D) ®)
460 451 448 2 1
453 455 457 0 0
(26) (1)
15 73 36
(D ( 2) 5
1,973 1,996 2,064 (€H) (©))
530 560 560 5) 0
( 1) 2014 2013 2012 35 15
35
( 2
3 25
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2014 2013 2,017 10 1,818
2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
1,849 1,994 1,804 () 11
0 0 0 - -
1,300 1,382 1,342 (6) 3
549 612 462 (10) 32
)
70.3 69.3 74.4 - -
29.7 30.7 25.6 - -
1,174 1,147 1,070 2 7
692 925 670 (25) 38
an (78) 64 (78) -
1,849 1,994 1,804 () 11
1,174 1,147 1,070 2 7
262 284 223 ©) 27
309 542 346 (43) 57
73 44 36 66 22
1,818 2,017 1,675 (10) 20
21 52 139 (60) (63)
@ (86) ) (99 -
(GRS 11 11 ®) 0 -
1,849 1,994 1,804 ) 11
(bp)
( 2 48 58 52 - -
(D
()
2014 2013 52 60 21
21
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2014 2013 86
2014 AMF
2013 AMF 86
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2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
27.8 29.8 24.8 (6.7) 20.2
1.2 0.6 0.4 100.0 50.0
51.5 50.5 48.6 2.0 3.9
38.0 30.0 23.8 26.7 26.1
88.7 75.1 64.0 18.1 17.3
108.8 104.0 103.1 4.6 0.9
53.0 54.4 55.2 (2.6) (1.4)
19.5 7.9 5.4 146.8 46.3
(1D 388.5 352.3 325.3 10.3 8.3
375.4 346.3 320.1 8.4 8.2
91.9 74.9 63.0 22.7 18.9
50.0 50.5 42.2 (1.0) 19.7
213.0 196.4 192.9 8.5 1.8
33.6 30.5 27.2 10.2 12.1
388.5 352.3 325.3 10.3 8.3
( 2 3.7 15.0 (8.3) - -
32.5 12.0 14.6 - -
19.1 17.7 24.2 - -
9.5 (5.5) (4.6) - -
3.9 0.2) (5.0) - -
36.2 27.0 6.3 - -
)
1.1 4.6 (2.6) - -
9.2 3.7 4.6 - -
10.3 8.3 2.0 - -
1.3 0.9 1.1 44.4 (18.2)
D
C 2
2014
2014
2014 2013 387
1,638 2013 1,008

87/690



EDINETOOOO

OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

oOoOooodn

529
2014
2013 70 11
2014 2014
1,618 2013
2014 i
2013
2014
2013
50 11
2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 /2013 /2012
529 1,008 1,131 (48) (11)
11 70 43 (84) 63
209 304 375 (31) (19)
1,947 1,021 312 91 227
2,156 1,325 687 63 93
(1,638) (387) 401 323 -
169 164 148 3 11
158 203 209 2) o)
155 534 659 71) (19)
47 107 115 (56) @
529 1,008 1,131 (48) (11)
( )
i 5,854 6,079 7,728 ) 1)
10,567 20,692 23,967 (49) (14)
11,247 21,589 - (48) -
2014 2013
2014 2013 1,008 48 529
2014
2013 ETF 146
91 JO 28
2014
109

CFIG 91
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2014

2014
2014

2013 1,325 63 2,156
2014
2013 7.4 1,377.3
28.2
UHNWI
5.5
9.2
3.7

75.7

89/690

CFIG

10.8

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

1,618

27.5



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012

874.5 790.7 758.0 10.6 4.3

275.9 250.0 223.8 10.4 11.7

388.5 352.3 325.3 10.3 8.3

10.8 44.4 84.7 (75.7) (47.6)

1) (172.4)  (155.0)  (141.0) 11.2 9.9

1,377.3 1,282.4 1,250.8 7 2.5

1,328.5 1,291.2 1,224.7 2.9 5.4

27.5 18.9 20.6 45.5 (8.3)

5.5 8.8 1.5 (37.5) 486.7

3.7 15.0 (8.3) (75.3) -

(8.2) (5.9) @.1) 39.0 181.0

1) (0.3) @.7) 0.9) (93.6) 422.2

28.2 32.1 10.8 (12.1) 197.2

D
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2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
12,515 12,565 12,558 0 0
13,087 13,096 13,277 0 @
(572) (531) (719) 8 (26)
61 13 (12) 369 -
5,649 5,435 6,070 4 (10)
4,090 4,477 3,551 ) 26
885 921 947 ) ®3)
4,975 5,398 4,498 (8) 20
10,624 10,833 10,568 0 3
9,305 9,195 9,833 1 (6)
1,319 1,638 735 (19) 123
) 1,830 1,719 2,002 6 (14)
3,744 3,894 3,455 ) 13
(1,914)  (2,175)  (1,453) 12) 50
)
1) 7.7 6.7 -

84.9 86.2 84.2 - -
14.6 13.7 15.9 - -
20,605 19,298 19,357 7 -
() (2 9.4 9.4 11.0 - -
19,400 19,700 19,800 0 @

1) 2014 30 2013 26

10 2.4
2)
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2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
1,777 1,902 1,617 ) 18
870 766 552 14 39
2,647 2,668 2,169 [€)) 23
748 658 1,042 14 (€1
3,395 3,326 3,211 2 4
4,967 4,823 5,349 3 (10)
4,591 4,750 4,330 ) 10
9,558 9,573 9,679 0 [€))
(438) (334) (332) 31 1
12,515 12,565 12,558 0 0
98 VaR
12 18 27 (33) (33)
32 35 46 () @4
10 9 15 11 (40)
2 2 3 0 (33)
19 16 23 19 (30)
(32) (39) (59) (18) (34)
98 VaR 43 41 55 5 (25)
70
2014 2013 86.2 84.9 2014
2013 70.2 71.1
AT ALESE - KPL (%)
oA A A b s TR
M =
el B2 BG. 2 B4.9
40 =
20 4
.
| 2012 | 2013 | 2014
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
13,087 13,096 13,277 672) (531 (719) 12,515 12,565 12,558
38 7 (¢h)) 23 6 @ 61 13 12)
5,494 5,267 5,808 155 168 262 5,649 5,435 6,070
3,811 3,928 4,025 1,164 1,470 473 4,975 5,398 4,498
9,305 9,195 9,833 1,319 1,638 735 10,624 10,833 10,568
3,744 3,894 3,455 (1,914) (2,175) (1,453) 1,830 1,719 2,002
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149,849 136,946 147,135 9,966 18,344 23,720 159,815 155,290 170,855

151,420 153,898 160,785 10,070 20,615 25,921 161,490 174,513 186,706

506,820 492,829 542,424 22,224 26,883 36,071 529,044 519,712 578,495

722,037 665,953 - 63,799 78,267 - 785,836 744,220 -

729,607 748,388 - 64,468 87,955 - 794,075 836,343 -
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2014
2014

3,894
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9,305

2014
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13,096

108

2013
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2014
2014 2013 2012 /2013 /2012
1,777 1,902 1,617 @) 18
870 765 552 14 39
2,647 2,667 2,169 D) 23
749 658 1,042 14 37)
3,396 3,325 3,211 2 4
5,457 5,232 6,113 4 (14)
4,625 4,847 4,285 (5) 13
10,082 10,079 10,398 0 )
(391) (308) (332) 27 )
13,087 13,096 13,277 0 D)
38 7 (11) 443 -
5,494 5,267 5,808 4 )
2,957 3,048 3,109 3) D)
854 880 916 ®) )
3,811 3,928 4,025 ) D)
9,305 9,195 9,833 1 (6)
3,744 3,894 3,455 4) 13
)
" 16.8 17.3 - - -
71.1 70.2 74.1 - -
28.6 29.7 26.0 - -
i 149,849 136,946 147,135 9 )
i 151,420 153,898 160,785 ) [O)
506,820 492,829 542,424 3 )
722,037 665,953 - 8 -
729,607 748,388 - ®) -
) 2014 30 2013 28
10 2.4
2014
151 i 730
2013 154 i
748
2014 2013
2014 2013 1,902 1,777

95/690



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

oOoOooodn
2014 2013 765 14 870
1PO
2014 2013 658 14 749
M&A
2014 2013 5,232 5,457
2014 95 FVA
2014 2013 4,847 4,625
2013
2013 2014
2014
13 FVA
2014 2013 5,267 5,494

2014 2013 3,048 2,957
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i
2014
2014
i
2013 531
2014 572 171 FVA
FHFA 2013
2014 i 2013 11 10
2015
2013 23 64
2015
24
2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 /2013 /2012
(572) (531) (719) 8 (26)
23 6 @ 283 -
155 168 262 (8) (36)
1,164 1,470 473 (1) 211
860 1,223 192 (30) -
1,319 1,638 735 (19) 123
(1,914) (2,175) (1,453) 12) 50
(320) (32) (597) - (95)
(79) 12 40 - (70)
(148) (381) (395) (61) 0
(25) (130) 233 (81) -
(572) (531) (719) 8 (26)
i 9,966 18,344 23,720 (46) (23)
i 10,070 20,615 25,921 (51) (20)
22,224 26,883 36,071 an (25)
63,799 78,267 - (18) -
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64,468 87,955 - 27 -
2014 2013
2014 2013 531 572
171 FVA
2014 2013 1,638 19 1,319
2014 2013
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012
663 (790) (2,781) (72)
2 2 0
677 455 636 49 (28)
668 196 464 241 (58)
2 12 8 (83) 50
670 208 472 222 (56)
1,347 663 1,108 103 (40)
(686) (1,455) (3.889) (53) (63)
1 - L 16,172 15,306 16,590 6 (©)
45,248 32,979 33,449 37 (1)
47,058 38,601 22
D
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
(69) (55) (235) 732 (735)  (2,546) 663 (790) (2,781
2 2 0 0 0 0 2 2 0
281 153 148 396 302 488 677 455 636
328 138 151 342 70 321 670 208 472
609 291 299 738 372 809 1,347 663 1,108
(680) (348) (534) 6 (1,107)  (3.355) (686)  (1,455)  (3.889)
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IT
i
2014 2013
/
2014 2013 1,455 686
545
2013 315
2014 2013 68
2014 414 2014
CFIG
143 2013
220 2014
IT 2013 128 293

2013 394 473
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2014 2013 2012 2(2)(1)‘1‘3 Zgéiz
732 (735) (2,546) (71)
0 0 0
738 372 809 98 (54)
) (1,107) (3,355) (99) (67)
545 (315) (2,939) (89)
(D (473) (394) (680) 20 (42)
IT (293) (128) 0 129
414 68 533 87
227)
21 0 ¢ 2 100
( 3 71) (57) (85) 25 (33)
X)) (143) (220) 9 (35)
(6) (61) 34 (90)
D 2013
( 2) NCFE
( 3 i
( 9 ETF CFIG
DVA
2014 2013 2012
545 (315) (2,939)
336 (268) (1,663)
DVA 261 (130) (958)
(52 83 (318)
CARMC
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CARMC
FINMA
2010 2011
1
2010 12
1l
NSFR
2014 BCBS
LCR 30
LCR
100
2014 10 BCBS
NSFR
NSFR LCR
NSFR

100

FINMA

LCR

60

NSFR

BCBS
i

2015

2015

2019
LCR

2014

NSFR

2012
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2012 11 1l
2013
FINMA
2014 FINMA I LCR
2014 25 2015
LCR
2015 100 LCR 60 LCR
2019 10 2015
LCR 2014 2014
LCR
2014 10 FINMA 2015
LCR
2014 11 FINMA NSFR 2014
2015 NSFR  FINMA
BCBS NSFR

2015 2014

FINMA

FINMA 11
NSFR 2018
2012 NSFR FINMA 2014

NSFR 100
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2010 12 BCBS
11 11
FINMA
FINMA
FINMA NSFR
GAAP
NSFR
CARMC CARMC
CEO CRO
CARMIC CARMC

CRO
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CARMC
BCBS
SNB ECB
2014 12 31 162.5
SNB ECB 63.7
98.8 2014 12 31
2013 12 31
100
2014 12 31
29.1
7.9 21.2

18
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31.5 29.6 1.3 1.3 63.7
4.6 66.6 17.1 10.5 98.8
36.1 96.2 18.4 11.8 162.5
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2014 2013 297
2012 285 11 317
2014 2013
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2014
2014 1
72,820 1,993 1,480 114 0 2,942 79,349
0 408 415 321 51 49 1,244
63,227 67,224 19,953 11,727 872 205 163,208
25,973 881 0 0 0 0 26,854
241,131 0 0 0 0 0 241,131
5 103 0 874 1,579 230 2,791
947 0 0 51 428 7,187 8,613
12,985 58,934 26,806 48,452 87,456 37,918 272,551
0 0 0 0 0 4,641 4,641
0 0 0 0 0 8,644 8,644
0 0 0 0 0 249 249
41,629 0 0 0 0 0 41,629
32,407 9,121 647 3,685 12,125 12,573 70,558
491,124 138,664 49,301 65,224 102,511 74,638 921,462
( )
12,543 4,451 3,136 4,194 1,330 355 26,009
248,038 29,457 46,025 41,638 3,311 589 369,058
20,363 22,563 14,662 11,625 834 72 70,119
25,973 881 0 0 0 0 26,854
72,655 0 0 0 0 0 72,655
0 4,851 11,778 9,292 0 0 25,921
0 3,972 7,866 17,797 88,288 59,975 177,898
56,977 0 0 0 0 0 56,977
32,008 12,220 456 856 3,778 1,652 50,970
468,557 78,395 83,923 85,402 97,541 62,643 876,461
1930

Pfandbriefbank Schweizerischer Hypothekarinstitute
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2014
2014
37.3 2.5 39.8
31.5 2.5 34.0
1 5.8 5.8
10.1 1.6 11.7
9.0 1.6 10.6
1 1.1 1.1
D
2014 178
2014 2013
34.8 14.3 50.5
19.2 6.1
2030
2014 28 2013 20.2 25.9
2014 12 31 17.6
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2014 12 31 10.3

2014
33.3

0TC

2014 12 31
1.3 3.2 4.4

2015
AG

2014
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RWA

2013 1l

A-1RB FINMA
A-1RB PD
LGD
EAD

RWA
AMA FINMA AMA

1l
2014 2018
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CET1 2.5
G-SIB
FSB G-SIB 1.5
CET1
CET1 1.5
CET1 i
5.125  CET1
i CETI 2.5
CET1
i
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
CET1 (42? 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 4 .5%
0.625% 1.250% 1.875%
) (D (D 2%
0.375% 0.750% 1.125%
G-SIB ( l) ( l) ( 1) 1.5%
CET1 4.0% 4.5% 5.5% 6.5% 7.5% 8.5%
1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5%
5.5% 6.0% 7.0% 8.0% 9.0% 10.0%
(Zizo 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
8.0% 8.0% 9.0% 10.0% 11.0% 12.0%
20.0% 40.0% 60.0% 80.0% . .
CETL ( 2 D D D D 100.0% 100.0%
2013 2022 10
(G
2
i
i
CET1 RWA 4.5
8.5 RWA 5.5 CET1
CET1
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2014 FINMA
3.66 2014 FINMA
2015 2019
4.05 CET1
CET1
11
Il
2013
CET1 2014
2014 30
BIS FINMA
CET1 0.1
2013 FINMA
2019
BIS FINMA
2013 12 FINMA
2014
CET1
CET1 BIS CET1
CET1

24
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2014 12
RWA
TLAC
2015
2014 12 BCBS 2018
2014 12 BCBS
2015
2018
2014 11 BIS BIS
BCBS 2014 FINMA
BCBS FINMA
24 FINMA
2015 2014
BCBS i BIS
2018
2015
2014 11 FSB BCBS G-SIBs
TLAC G-SIB
TLAC
TLAC
G-SIB RWA 16 20 TLAC
TLAC 2015
2019
2014 11 FINMA BCBS
2014 BCBS 2019
G-SIB 15
2014 BCBS

2017

118/690



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

oOoOooodn
2014 BCBS
2017
2014 CRD v Il
CRD CRD 1V
CRD 1V
BCBS
BCBS G-SIB FINMA 200
12
FSB G-SIB 2013 12 31
2014 30
2013 12 BCBS
2017
2013 FDIC 0cC
i
BCBS
1l
1l 2014
IHC
IHC IHC
IHC
2016
FINMA
SNB
2013 12 FINMA FINMA
FINMA 2014
FINMA FINMA
FINMA 2014 31

FINMA
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2014

2014

2014
1.4

2014

PAF2
2014

50

0.5

CET1

RWA

2013

2011

2.5

FINMA

RWA
16.66 14
FINMA
FINMA
200
50
28
PAF2
CCA
CCA
CCA
6.25
7.875
99
CET1
FINMA
CCA
CET1
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2013 290
2014
2013
1.25 5.75
FINMA
FINMA
CET1 5.125
8.9
RWA 3.1
CET1

14.0

CCA

6.0
2.5 6.25
2.5

CET1
5.125

4.8
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BIS
2014 CET1 2013 15.7 14.9 RWA
CET1 2014
2013 16.8 17.1 2014
2013 20.6 20.8
2014 CET1 2013 43.0 43.3
CET1
CET1 20
20
2014 2013 3.1 6.5
CCA
20
2014 2013 10.2 10.9
2014 2013 56.3 60.8
2014 CET1 10.0 11.0
10.1 2014 2013

15.1 16.5
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BIS i
2014 2013 () 2014 2013 )
( )
43,959 42,164 4 43,959 42,164 4
(D (375) (1,069) (65) (375) (1,069) (65)
(262) 1,894 (15,008) (14,615) 3
(2 ( 3)
CET1 43,322 42,989 1 28,576 26,480 8
11,316
’ 7,484 51 11,316 7,484 51
)
2,473 3,652 32
¢ 5 32
(7,307)
8,064 9
6 (8,064) ©
6,482 3,072 111 11,316 7,484 51
49,804 46,061 8 39,892 33,964 17
6,984
’ 6,263 12 6,984 6,263 12
')
4,190 4,321 [©)
27) (357) (36) (18) 100
10,947 10,227 7 6,984 6,245 12
60,751 56,288 8 46,876 40,209 17
( )
192,663 175,631 10 185,501 167,888 10
34,468 39,133 12) 34,468 39,133 12)
58,413 53,075 10 58,413 53,075 10
5,866 6,007 () 5,866 6,007 [©)
291,410 273,846 6 284,248 266,103 7
)
CET1 14.9 15.7 10.1 10.0
17.1 16.8 14.0 12.8
20.8 20.6 16.5 15.1
(G
( 2 20
80
3
« 6.2
5.1 5.125
(@)
( 6) i CET1 80 7.1
(DN 2.7
4.3
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2014

CET1 )

42,989

1,875
1,967
(3,015)
(G (494)

43,322

3,072

554

1,607

2,721

(1,590)

( 2 118

6,482

10,227

699
62

(41

10,947

(D 50

( 2 i CETL

1l
G-SIB

11 CET1
CET1
RWA RWA RWA

RWA
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DRAOMEZERVEERLE - —E NI
1.8 1.1
Ia?_d__,_F—~—F—’—’_'_______'________'
-
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. g 1.4
200 i 2738 A
750
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150 =
100
a0
0
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Izgt-oTid, HZEIZEIEMATA S ABAT {—E s atRiE
EhbEamEALLT, MESANEMBZEALTWE,
11
2014 2013 ()
( )
108,261 95,507 13
159,815 155,290 3
23,334 23,049 1
291,410 273,846 6
11
CVA (CVA)
2014
164,924 10,707 39,133 53,075 6,007 273,846
11,976 669 1,742 0 0 14,387
(143) 0 0 0 0 (143)
(9,383) 1,279 (7,209) 0 141) (15,454)
(@) (6,920) 2,033
( 2 (2,463) (754)
( 3) 1,048 (1,637) (1,785) 2,700 0 326
() 4,512 4,112 (995) (2,062) 0 5,567
( 5) 4,599 0 3,582 4,700 0 12,881
177,533 15,130 34,468 58,413 5,866 291,410
D
C 2
3
«®
(Q))
2013 273.8 2014 291.4
CVA
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CET1
2013 15.4 2014 16.6
2013 19.8 2014 20.5
2014 CET1 2013 37.7 40.9
CET1 CET1
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CCA
20
2014 2013 11.6 11.0
2014 2013 52.3 58.1
2014 2013 264.2 18.8
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BIS 111
2014 2013 )
)
42,895 39,467 9
(66) 2,797) (98)
(1,976) 1,030
2 3
CET1 40,853 37,700 8
10,410
’ 6,643 57
()
( 5) 2,473 3,652 (32)
(6,622)
7,226 8
) ( ) ®
6,261 3,069 104
47,114 40,769 16
7,014
’ 6,263 12
«n
4,196 5,633 (26)
(213) (319) (33)
10,997 11,577 ®)
58,111 52,346 11
)
184,531 166,245 11
34,439 39,111 (12)
58,413 53,075 10
5,611 5,758 ?)
282,994 264,189 7
CET1 14.4 14.3
16.6 15.4
20.5 19.8
D
( 2 20
80
Q)
QD) 6.2
4.2 5.125
()
( 6) i CET1 80 6.4
G)) 2.7
4.3
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BIS

2015 BCBS FINMA BIS

BIS
BIS FINMA 2015

BIS 2014

2014 12 31 BIS 3.4

BIS 1,167
2015 BIS 4.0
3.0 CET1 BIS

1,050 2015 930 950 BIS

2015 30
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2014 CET1
6.75 10.18 14.8 20.7
2014 CET1 28.4
CET1 10.0 2014 46.7
16.4
i
2014 2013 2014 2013
(@D) )
CET1 43,322 42,989 1 28,576 26,480 8
(1D (133) 1,658 (143) 1,824
CETT  ( 2) 43,189 44,647 [©) 28,433 28,304 0
8,893
’ 7,743 15 8,893 7,743 15
3
9,406
’ 6,005 57 9,406 6,005 57
(@)
6,663
5
( 5 (7,533)
( 2 60,618 58,395 4 46,732 42,052 11
— i 291,410 273,846 6 284,248 266,103 7
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(D) SISU
2014 12 31
641,334 326,139 967,473 - 8,074,202 8,179,566
79,131 522,755 601,886 - 13,505,094 13,110,695
249,617 506,289 755,906 - 13,485,853 12,697,728
96,887 169,842 266,729 - 4,158,932 4,259,637
32,146 287,055 319,201 - 7,031,063 7,199,339
318,484 321,385 639,869 - 7,948,267 8,060,336
- 64,060 64,060 - 1,595,094 1,606,625
- 664,016 664,016 - 17,154,283 16,653,521
617,053 386,794 1,003,847 - 9,439,287 9,700,794
- 158,139 158,139 - 3,857,930 3,966,126
2,034,652 3,406,474 5,441,126 - 86,250,005 85,434,367
2013 12 31
1,221,334 416,540 1,637,874 38,051 12,176,651 12,396,697
107,329 536,014 643,343 31,283 16,187,272 15,470,189
136,344 231,491 367,835 11,636 6,128,891 6,630,073
- 258,127 258,127 14,545 6,907,523 7,435,765
17,469 387,642 405,111 7,565 9,422,493 10,777,295
189,478 417,112 606,590 23,273 11,248,886 12,009,299
617,053 532,112 1,149,165 31,160 14,344,561 15,360,428
- 216,875 216,875 7,191 5,461,314 6,110,280
- 286,098 286,098 27,735 9,597,358 8,558,226
2,289,007 | 3,282,011 5,571,018 192,439 91,474,949 94,748,252
D
20 2014 12 31 2013 12 31
2012 12 31 10
2014
10
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2014
2014
(
i) (2 C o
2014
(
)
( % 2,500,000 -1 2,000,000 | (1,000,000) | 3,629,856 | 2,629,856 72% | 1,000,000 28% 49,481
250,000 - - (62,500) 187,500 125,000 67% 62,500 33% 2,510
¢ 5
( 5)( 6) 250,000 100,000 - (87,500) 267,500 180,000 67% 87,500 33% 3,513
(D 250,000 250,000 280,000 (195,000) 585,000 460,000 79% 125,000 21% 5,019
( 5 250,000 150,000 - (100,000) 300,000 200,000 67% 100,000 33% 4,015
( 5) 250,000 200,000 - (112,500) 337,500 225,000 67% 112,500 33% 4,517
250,000 350,000 200,000 (200,000) 600,000 400,000 67% 200,000 33% 7,239
(®
( 5 250,000 200,000 - (112,500) 337,500 225,000 67% 112,500 33% 4,517
( 5 250,000 100,000 - (87,500) 262,500 175,000 67% 87,500 33% 3,513
( 5) 250,000 100,000 - (87,500) 262,500 175,000 67% 87,500 33% 3,513
250,000 350,000 800,000 (350,000) | 1,050,000 700,000 67% 350,000 33% 14,661
)
( 5) 250,000 100,000 - (87,500) 262,500 175,000 67% 87,500 33% 3,513
250,000 350,000 800,000 (350,000) | 1,050,000 700,000 67% 350,000 33% 14,534
(9
5,500,000 |2,250,000 | 4,080,000 | (2,832,500) | 9,132,356 | 6,369,856 70%| 2,762,500 30% 120,545
( D 50 2014
2014 22
50 50
C 2
2014 0.6 2013 0.7
()
') 2.0 100 2014
1.0
20.21 2014
129,856
( 5) 2014
2015 23 2014
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964,695 850,150
2
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(2) 2014
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12 31 16 55
41
SEC
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12 31 ( )
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(€H)
12 31
2014 2013 2012
( ( (
) ( ) ) ( ) ) ( )
19,061 2,491,463 19,556 2,556,165 22,000 2,887,384
(10,027)  (1,310,629) (11,441)  (1,495,453) (14,947)  (1,953,722)
9,034 1,180,834 8,115 1,060,712 7,143 933,662
13,051 1,705,896 13,226 1,728,770 12,724 1,663,154
2,026 264,818 2,739 358,015 1,196 156,329
2,131 278,543 1,776 232,141 2,548 333,049
26,242 3,430,092 25,856 3,379,638 23,611 3,086,194
10 186 24,312 167 21,829 170 22,221
11 11,334 1,481,467 11,256 1,471,272 12,303 1,608,125
12 9,534 1,246,189 8,509 1,123,975 7,246 947,125
1,561 204,038 1,738 227,174 1,702 222,468
11,005 1,450,227 10,337 1,351,149 8,948 1,169,593
22,429 2,931,695 21,503 2,822,421 21,251 2,777,718
3,627 474,085 4,096 535,388 2,190 286,255
27 1,405 183,648 1,276 166,786 465 60,780
2,222 290,438 2,820 368,602 1,725 225,475
102 13,332 145 18,953 (40) (5,228)
2,324 303,770 2,965 387,555 1,685 220,246
449 58,689 639 83,524 336 43,919
1,875 245,081 2,326 304,031 1,349 176,328
1,773 231,749 2,181 285,079 1,389 181,556
102 13,332 145 18,953 (40) (5,228)
13 1.02 133 1.14 149 0.82 107
13 0.06 8 0.08 10 (0.03) 0
13 1.08 141 1.22 159 0.79 103
13 1.01 132 1.14 149 0.82 107
13 0.06 8 0.08 10 (0.03) 0)
13 1.07 140 1.22 159 0.79 103
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12 31
2014 2013 2012
( (
) ) ) ) ) ( )

2,324 303,770 2,965 387,555 1,685 220,246

(20) (2,614) 18 2,353 37 4,836
2,287 298,934 (1,021) (133, 455) (1,114) (145,611)
12 1,569 32) (4,183) (15) (1,961)
(1,253) (163,780) 1,044 136,461 (50) (6,536)

(63) (8,235) (95) (12,417) 248 32,416
963 125,874 (86) (11,241) (894) (116,855)

3,287 429,644 2,879 376,314 791 103,392

540 70,583 525 68,623 211 27,580

2,747 359,060 2,354 307,691 580 75,812
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3
12 31
2014 2013
( (
) ( ) ) ( )
79,349 10,371,708 68,692 8,978,731
304 39,736 527 68,884
VIE 1,493 195,150 952 124,436
1,244 162,603 1,515 198,026
0 0 311 40,651
14 163,208 21,332,918 160,022 20,916,476
104,283 13,630,831 96,587 12,624,887
VIE 660 86,269 1,959 256,061
26,854 3,510,086 22,800 2,980,188
25,220 3,296,506 17,964 2,348,074
15 241,131 31,518,233 229,413 29,986,573
77,583 10,140,874 72,976 9,538,693
VIE 4,261 556,955 3,610 471,863
16 2,791 364,812 2,987 390,431
2,791 364,812 2,987 390,431
VIE 0 0 100 13,071
17 8,613 1,125,805 10,329 1,350,104
5,654 739,034 7,596 992,873
VIE 2,105 275,145 1,983 259,198
18 272,551 35,625,141 247,054 32,292,428
22,913 2,994,958 19,457 2,543,224
192 25,096 638 83,393
VIE 245 32,024 4,207 549,897
(758) (99,078) (869) (113,587)

19 4,641 606,625 5,001 665,445
VIE 452 59,081 513 67,054
20 8,644 1,129,857 7,999 1,045,549
21 249 32,547 210 27,449
70 9,150 42 5,490
41,629 5,441,327 52,045 6,802,802
22 70,558 9,222,636 63,065 8,243,226
32,320 4,224,547 31,518 4,119,718
250 32,678 722 94,373
VIE 16,134 2,108,875 14,330 1,873,074
0 0 1,584 207,045
921,462 120,444,298 872,806 114,084,472
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12 31
2014 2013
( (
) ( ) ) ( )
23 26,009 3,399,636 23,108 3,020,447
823 107,574 1,450 189,530
23 369,058 48,239,571 333,089 43,538,063
3,261 426,245 3,252 425,069
VIE 3 392 265 34,638
14 70,119 9,165,254 94,032 12,290,923
54,732 7,154,020 76,104 9,947,554
26,854 3,510,086 22,800 2,980,188
15 72,655 9,496,735 76,635 10,016,961
VIE 35 4,575 93 12,156
25,921 3,388,134 20,193 2,639,427
3,861 504,671 6,053 791,188
VIE 9,384 1,226,583 4,286 560,223
24 177,898 23,253,048 130,042 16,997,790
81,166 10,609,208 63,369 8,282,962
VIE 13,452 1,758,311 12,992 1,698,184
56,977 7,447,464 73,154 9,561,959
22 50,970 6,662,289 51,447 6,724,637
16,938 2,213,966 21,973 2,872,001
VIE 1,728 225,867 710 92,804
0 0 1,140 149,009
876,461 114,562,217 825,640 107,919,404
64 8,365 64 8,365
27,007 3,530,085 27,853 3,640,666
32,083 4,193,569 30,261 3,955,415
(192) (25,096) (139) (18,169)
25 (15,003)  (1,961,042) (15,875)  (2,075,021)
43,959 5,745,881 42,164 5,511,256
1,042 136,200 5,002 653,811
45,001 5,882,081 47,166 6,165,068
921,462 120,444,298 872,806 114,084,472
12 31
2014 2013
0.04 5 0.04 5

2,299,616,660 2,269,616,660

25 1,607,168,947 1,596,119,349

25 (7,666,658) (5,183,154)

25 1,599,502,289 1,590,936,195
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Q)

2014 ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
) ) ) ) ) ) ) )
64 27,853 30,261 (139) (15,875) 42,164 5,002 47,166
1.2 - 238 - - - 238 (2,143) (1,905)
) - - - - - - 39 39
- - 1,875 - - 1,875 449 2,324
- - - - 872 872 91 963
- 297 - - - 297 - 297
- (5) - 9,409 - 9,394 - 9,394
- - - (10,197) - (10,197) - (10,197)
- (105)3 - 735 - 630 - 630
4 - (80) - - - (80) - (80)
- @,177)5 (53) - - (1,230) (22 (1,252)
- 2 - - - 2 - 2
- - - . - - (2,378) (2,378)
- ®) - - - ©) 4 @
64 27,007 32,083 (192) (15,003) 43,959 1,042 45,001
1
2
3 70
4
US GAAP
5
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1,2

US GAAP
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) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )

8,365 3,640,666 3,955,415 (18,169)  (2,075,021) 5,511,256 653,811 6,165,068
- 31,109 - - - 31,109 (280,112) (249,003)
- - - - - - 5,008 5,098
- - 245,081 - - 245,081 58,689 303,770
- - - - 113,979 113,979 11,895 125,874
- 38,821 - - - 38,821 - 38,821
- (1,961) - 1,229,850 - 1,227,890 - 1,227,890
- - - (1,332,850) - (1,332,850) - (1,332,850)
- (13,725)3 - 96,072 - 82,347 - 82,347
- (10,457) - - - (10,457) - (10,457)
- (153,846)5 (6,928) - - (160,773) (2.,876) (163,649)
- 261 - - - 261 - 261
- - - - - - (310,828) (310,828)
- (784) - - - (784) 523 (261)

8,365 3,530,085 4,193,569 (25,096)  (1,961,042) 5,745,881 136,200 5,882,081

70
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( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
2013

) ) ) ) ) ) ) )

53 23,636 28,171 (459) (15,903) 35,498 6,786 42,284
- - - - - - 22) ©2)
- 216 - - - 216 (2,467) (2,251)
- - - - - - 438 438
- - 2,326 - - 2,326 651 2,977
- - - - 28 28 (114) (86)

11 4,222 - - - 4,233 - 4,233
- (50) - 10,360 - 10,310 - 10,310
_ - - (10,202) - (10,202) - (10,202)
- 213 - 162 - 375 - 375
- (93) - - N (93) - (93)
- (269) (236) - - (505) (59) (564)
- (13) - - N (13) - 13)
- - - - - - (211) (211)
- ©® ) - - © - ®

64 27,853 30,261 (139) (15,875) 42,164 5,002 47,166
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2013 ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
6,928 3,089,462 3,682,231 (59,996)  (2,078,681) 4,639,944 886,998 5,526,942
- - - - - - (2,876) (2,876)
- 28,233 - - - 28,233 (322,462) (294,228)
- - - - - - 57,251 57,251
- - 304,031 - - 304,031 85,002 389,124
_ - - - 3,660 3,660 (14,901) (11,241)
1,438 551,858 - - - 553,295 - 553,295
_ (6.,536) - 1,354,156 - 1,347,620 - 1,347,620
- - - (1,333,503) - (1,333,503) - (1,333,503)
_ 27,841 - 21,175 - 49,016 - 49,016
_ (12,156) - - - (12,156) - (12,156)
- (35,161) (30,848) - - (66,009) (7.712) (73,720)
_ (1.,699) - - - (1,699) - (1,699)
_ - - - - - (27,580) (27,580)
_ (1,176) - - - (1,176) - (1,176)
8,365 3,640,666 3,955,415 (18,169)  (2,075,021) 5,511,256 653,811 6,165,068
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( ( ( ( ( ( (
2012

) ) ) ) ) ) ) )

49 21,79% 27,053 (90) (15,134) 33,674 7,411 41,085
- 44 - - - 44 0) 40
- - - - - - (809) (809)
- - - - - - 116 116
- - 1,349 - - 1,349 347 1,696
- - - - (769) (769) (125) (894)
4 1,926 - - - 1,930 - 1,930
- [©) - 8,358 - 8,355 - 8,355
- - - (8,859) - (8,859) - (8,859)
- 932 - 132 - 1,064 - 1,064
- © - - - (©) - ©
- (1,011) (231) - - (1,242) (54) (1,296)
- Q) - - - Q) - Q)
- - - - - - (%) (96)
- (32) - - - (32) - (32)

53 23,636 28,171 (459) (15,903) 35,498 6,786 42,284
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2012 ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
6,405 2,848,955 3,536,008 (11,764)  (1,978,165) 4,401,529 968,692 5,370,220
- 5,751 - - - 5,751 (523) 5,228

_ R i, - - - (105,744) (105,744)
- - - - - - 15,162 15,162
- - 176,328 - - 176,328 45,356 221,684

- - - - (100,516) (100,516) (16,339) (116,855)
523 251,747 - - - 252,270 - 252,270
- (392) - 1,092,474 - 1,092,082 - 1,092,082

- - - (1,157,960) - (1,157,960) - (1,157,960)
- 121,822 - 17,254 - 139,075 - 139,075

- (1,176) - - - (1,176) - (1,176)

- (132,148) (30,194) - - (162,342) (7,058) (169,400)

- (915) - - - (915) - (915)

_ - _ - - - (12,548) (12,548)

- (4,183) - - - (4,183) - (4,183)
6,928 3,089,462 3,682,231 (59,996)  (2,078,681) 4,639,944 886,998 5,526,942
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®)
12 31
2014 2013 2012
( (

) ) ) ) ) )

2,324 303,770 2,965 387,555 1,685 220,246

(102) (13,332) (145) (18,953) 40 5,228

2,222 290,438 2,820 368,602 1,725 225,475

1,285 167,962 1,345 175,805 1,294 169,139

186 24,312 167 21,829 170 22,221
684 89,406 695 90,843 (255) (33,331)

134 17,515 34 4,444 80 10,457
(5,513)  (720,604) 13,961 1,824,842 (14,348)  (1,875,427)
6,062 792,364 (6,902)  (902,160) (1,146)  (149,794)
(23,876)  (3,120,832) 9,992 1,306,054 4,772)  (623,748)

1,196 156,329 (38) (4,967) 4,584 599,175
(19,842)  (2,593,548) 19,254 2,516,690 (14,393) (1,881,309)
(17,620)  (2,303,110) 22,074 2,885,293 (12,668) (1,655,834)

275 35,945 538 70,322 184 24,051

11,685 1,527,346 17,120 2,237,755 46,952 6,137,096
(1,060)  (138,553) (677) (88,491) (480) (62,741)

930 121,560 176 23,005 936 122,345

340 44,441 832 108,751 1,626 212,534
(1,264)  (165,217) 1,792)  (234,232) (2,039)  (266,518)

1,553 202,993 3,737 488,463 3,104 405,724
(23,604) (3,085,279) 9,126)  (1,192,859) (11,022)  (1,440,686)

1,255 164,041 1,483 193,843 1,090 142,474
(1,056)  (138,030) (903)  (118,031) (1,242)  (162,342)

1 131 9 1,176 26 3,398

606 79,210 122 15,947 3,683 481,405

(10,339) (1,351,411) 11,519 1,505,648 42,818 5,596,741
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2014 2013 2012
( (
) ( ) ) ( ) ) ( )
26,040 3,403,688 22,463 2,936,139 (12,567)  (1,642,633)
3,509 458,661 6,002 784,521 (7,840)  (1,024,766)
(31,001) (4,052,141) (36,347)  (4,750,916) (39,958)  (5,222,910)
74,159 9,693,323 39,090 5,109,454 38,405 5,019,918
(36,471) (4,767,124) (55,135)  (7,206,696) (55,936)  (7,311,395)
297 38,821 976 127,573 1,930 252,270
9,394 1,227,890 9,764 1,276,252 8,355 1,092,082
(10,197)  (1,332,850) (10,202)  (1,333,503) (8,859)  (1,157,960)
(1,252)  (163,649) (564) (73,720) (1,296) (169,400)
(1,192)  (155,806) (468) (61,172) 394 51,500
33,286 4,350,813 (24,421) (3,192,069) (77,372) (10,113,294)
5,790 756,811 (1,216)  (158,943) (1.242) (162,342)
(460) (60,127) (1,027)  (134,239) (346) (45,226)
10,657 1,392,976 6,929 905,690 (48,810)  (6,379,955)
68,692 8,978,731 61,763 8,073,042 110,573 14,452,997
79,349 10,371,708 68,602 8,978,731 61,763 8,073,042
12 31
2014 2013 2012
) ( ) ) ( ) ) ( )
1,502 196,326 833 108,881 1,073 140,252
9,527 1,245,274 11,876 1,552,312 15,004 1,961,173
143 18,692 4 523 2,418 316,057
29 3,791 0 0 2,418 316,057
687 89,798 374 48,886 0 0
1,084 141,690 170 22,221 0 0
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(©)

AG
US GAAP
CHF 12 31

VIE

50

ASC Topic 810 VIE

ASC Topic 946

ASC Topic 940
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34
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ASC Topic 825

SPE

33
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AOCI
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AOCI AOCI
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120
90
30

90
120

282/690



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

18

283/690



10

10

284/690

40

67

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

2002

ASC Topic 740
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2007
2008
ASC Topic 815
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12 31

PBO 10

2005

2005
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2005

2005

ROE

1999
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M&A
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ASC Topic 830

2013 FASB ASC Topic 830

ASU 2013-05
ASU 2013-05 ASU 2013-05
2013 ASU 2013-05

ASC Topic 946

2013 FASB Topic 946 ASU 2013 08

ASU 2013-08 Topic 946
2014 ASU 2013-08

ASC Topic 205
2014 FASB ASC Topic 205 ASU 2014-15
ASU 2014-15 ASU 2014-15

US GAAP
ASU 2014-15 2016 12 16

ASU 2014-15
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ASC Topic 205
ASC Topic 360
2014 FASB ASC Topic 205 ASC Topic 360
ASU 2014-08 ASU 2014-08
ASU 2014-08
ASU 2014-08 2014 12 16
ASU 2014-08
ASC Topic 225
2015 FASB ASC Topic 225 ASU  2015-01
ASU 2015-01 US GAAP
Subtopic 225-20
ASU
2015-01 2015 12 16
ASU 2015-15
ASC Topic 310
2014 FASB ASC Topic 310 ASU 2014-04
ASU 2014-04 ASU
1 2
2015 ASU 2014-04
2014 FASB ASC Topic 310 ASU 2014-14
ASU 2014-14 ASU 2014-14
2015

ASU 2014-14
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ASC Topic 606
2014 FASB ASC Topic 606

ASU
ASU 2014-09 2016 12 16
2014-09

ASC Topic 718
2014 FASB ASC Topic 718

ASU 2014-12

2014-12 2015 12 16

ASU 2014-12

ASC Topic 810
2015 FASB ASC Topic 810
ASU 2015-02
ASU 2010-10

VIE

VIE

ASU 2015-02
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ASU 2014-09
ASU 2014-09 ASU
ASU
ASU 2014-12
ASU 2014-12
ASU
ASU 2015-02
ASU 2015-02 ASC Topic 810
ASU 2015-02
VIE VIE
2015 12 16
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2014 FASB ASC Topic 810

CFE
ASU 2014-13

i ii
ASU 2014-13 2015 12 16

ASC Topic 815

2014 11 FASB ASC Topic 815
2014-16 ASU 2014-16
ASU 2014-16 2015 12 16
ASC Topic 860
2014 FASB ASC Topic 860

2014-11

ASU 2014-13

ASU 2014-11
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2014

2014
S.p.A. 50

2014
2014

2014
BNP

2014
EMEA

2014

HNWI
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PFS PFS

2015

UHNWI

2013 12
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2013 2013 25
GmbH
6.7 88.5 2014
2013 10 31 2013 10 23
5.2 82.0 2014
2013 11 9 2013 11
5.2 81.5
2014
2014 19 2014 16
5.0 80.0
2014
2015 15 SNB 1.2
50
0.75 SNB LIBOR
2014
CFIG
2014 91 23
2013 12 31 CFIG 31

CFIG

295/690



2014
L.P.
2014
L.P.
2014
2014 109
979
ABN
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12 31

CFIG

12 31

2014

2013
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2013

960

575

18

1,553

23

31

1,584

2013

1,118

22

1,140

1,140
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12 31 2014 2013 2012
31 233 288

27 52 54

ETF - 29 53
- 33 60

CFIG 0 114 116
35 158 296

33 71 108

ETF - 23 49
- 8 38

CFIG 0 51 88
1 38 32

0 (6) 2

ETF - 5 2
- 10 15

CFIG 0 29 16
®) 37 (40)

®) (13) (56)

ETF - 1 2
- 15 7

CFIG 0 34 12
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12 31

ETF

CFIG

ETF

CFIG

ETF

CFIG

ETF

CFIG

ETF

CFIG
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2014 2013 2012
200 237
109 -

- 146
- 91
91 -
54 93
48 -
- 11
- 22
0 56
39 36
- 21
- 40
42 @4

107 108
61 -
- 114
- 29
49 32)
102 145
55 13)
- 115
- 44
49 2
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IT
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M&A

SEI
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2014 2

IT

AG
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12 31

SEI

SEI

12 31

SEI

2013
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2014 2013 2012
12,637 13,442 13,474
12,515 12,565 12,558

663 (790) (2,781)
427 639 360
26,242 25,856 23,611
2,088 3,240 3,775
1,830 1,719 2,002
(686) (1,455) (3.889)
395 592 302
3,627 4,096 2,190
2014 2013
345,949 316,491
529,044 519,712
45,248 32,979
1,221 3,624
921,462 872,806
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12 31 2014 2013 2012
8,247 8,035 8,769
EMEA 4,358 4,744 3,243
11,097 10,810 9,763
2,540 2,267 1,836
26,242 25,856 23,611
401 642 1,680
EMEA (562) 157 (1,581)
3,739 3,365 2,915
49 (68) (824)
3,627 4,096 2,190
12 31 2014 2013
211,558 200,044
EMEA 188,420 194,675
428,253 398,198
93,231 79,889
921,462 872,806
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12 31 2014 2013 2012
5,077 4,843 4,861
39 45 64
9,503 10,057 11,945
2,317 2,517 2,940
2,125 2,094 2,280
19,061 19,556 22,090
(1,045) (978) (1,345)
(119) (132) (184)
(3,938) (5,083) (6,833)
(1,042) (1,156) (1,677)
(3,594) (3,846) (4,632)
(289) (246) (276)
(10,027) (11,441) (14,947)
9,034 8,115 7.143
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2014 2013 2012
1,752 1,814 1,513
3,734 3,944 3,715

%4 106 110
3,828 4,050 3,825
1,878 1,647 1,561
3,696 3,933 3,686
5,574 5,580 5,247
1,897 1,782 2,139

13,051 13,226 12,724

2014 2013 2012

5,888 1,025 2,707
(4,398) 1,203 559
275 956 140
265 (879) (3,306)
(228) 340 198
224 %4 898
2,026 2,739 1,196
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CP

US GAAP

CDS
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12 31
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2014 2013 2012
436 658 336
* ®) @GN
392 30 458
252 251 150
312 315 749
743 527 892
2,131 1,776 2,548
2014 2013 2012
145 166 159
41 1 11
186 167 170
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11
12 31 2014 2013 2012
9,884 9,678 10,717
793 778 769
1 657 800 817
2 11,334 11,256 12,303
12014 2013 2012 361 490
532
2 2014 2013 2012 275
216 456
12
12 31 2014 2013 2012
1,177 1,186 1,220
1,446 1,517 1,469
2,783 2,136 694
353 355 394
2,381 1,952 1,919
0 12 0
24 25 36
1,370 1,416 1,514
9,534 8,599 7,246
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13
12 31 2014 2013 2012
1,773 2,181 1,389
102 145 (40)
1,875 2,326 1,349
(53) (236) (231)
1,822 2,090 1,118
1,742 1,868 1,044
80 152 66
1 - 70 8
1,822 2,090 1,118
, - - -
1,822 2,090 1,118
1,742 1,868 1,044
80 152 66
1 - 70 8
1,616.4 1,532.9 1,320.4
. - - -
0.8 1.4 4.9
12.2 1.2 1.8
. 1,629.4 1,535.5 1,327.1
72.7 125.0 97.3
. - 63.0 97.1
1.02 1.14 0.82
0.06 0.08 (0.03)
1.08 1.22 0.79
1.01 1.14 0.82
0.06 0.08 (0.03)
1.07 1.22 0.79
12013 29 2012 MACCS 2013
2 PAF
PAF 2014
PAF PAF
PAF
2013 2012 PAF
3 PAF PAF
2014 PAF PAF
PAF
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12 31

2012

2013 12 31
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Ogoooood
2013 2012 PAF
2014 2013
8.9 35.9 50.3
2014 2013
100,169 100,244
63,039 59,778
163,208 160,022
60,752 86,828
9,367 7,204
70,119 94,032
2014
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12 31 2014 2013
94,391 110,116
94,294 76,695
38,012 31,603
14,434 10,999
241,131 229,413
35,784 40,161
36,871 36,474
72,655 76,635
1
12 31 2014 2013
33,404 23,870
28,147 20,500
10,905 8,359
17,043 11,663
1 26
2 22
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12 31 2014 2013
2,791 2,987
2,791 2,987
12 31
2014
286 18 0 304
2,020 47 1 2,066
313 0 0 313
0 0 0 0
2,619 65 1 2,683
73 25 0 98
10 0 0 10
83 25 0 108
2,702 90 1 2,791
2013
389 15 2 402
1,350 39 1 1,388
590 16 0 606
480 11 1 490
2,809 81 4 2,886
74 18 0 92
9 0 0 9
83 18 0 101

2,892 99 4 2,987
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12 12
12 31
2014
49 1 0 0 49 1
49 1 0 0 49 1
2013
168 2 0 0 168 2
109 1 0 0 109 1
10 1 0 0 10 1
287 4 0 0 287 4
2014 2013 2012
12 31
915 15 163 13 294 642
17 1 7 1 14 294

@ 0 0 0 0 0
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2014

10

10

17

12 31

1 ASU 2013-8

NAV
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874 884 2.23

1,531 1,569 0.87

206 221 1.30

8 9 2.00

2,619 2,683 1.36
2014 2013

3,453 2,043

2,717 6,032

547 600

1,896 1,654

8,613 10,329

1,033 2014

SPIA

ASC Topic 946

ASC Topic 940

34
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2014 2013
48 13
2014 2013
340 330

PD
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12 31 2014 2013
98,802 94,978
39,818 31,565

4,323 5,938
142,943 132,481
29,198 27,312
75,046 63,334
22,343 21,840
3,891 3,047
130,478 115,533
273,421 248,014
250,508 228,557
22,913 19,457
112) (91)
(758) (869)
272,551 247,054
155,767 151,992
117,654 96,022
273,421 248,014
753 862

279 281
1,032 1,143
171 6

187 340

358 346
1,390 1,489
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2014 2013 2012
267 602 869 288 634 922 289 621 910
0 0 0 0 @ ) (18) 0 (18)
66 79 145 76 90 166 95 64 159
(108)  (241)  (349)  (123)  (163)  (286)  (105) (96)  (201)
17 24 41 24 30 54 22 22 44
1)  (17)  (308) (99)  (133)  (232) (83) 74  (@157)
1 19 20 5 21 26 8 21 29
8 24 32 ®) ) 12) ®) 2 @
251 507 758 267 602 869 288 634 922
202 338 540 217 437 654 239 457 696
49 169 218 50 165 215 49 177 226
142,926 107,582 250,508 132,470 96,087 228,557 126,124 97,080 223,204
) 582 808 1,390 569 920 1,489 661 1,068 1,729
142,344 106,774 249,118 131,901 95,167 227,068 125,463 96,012 221,475
1
1231 2014 2013 2012
1 181 4,127 4,308 0 4,611 4,611 348 4,605 4,953
) 0 397 397 0 275 275 0 216 216
, 1,055 806 1,861 0 996 996 0 1,323 1,323
3 0 272 272 0 698 698 0 1,058 1,058
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2014 12 31

AAA BBB BB C D

82,360 16,249 193 98,802

37,426 2,306 86 39,818

1,717 2,348 241 4,306

121,503 20,903 520 142,926

20,883 7,224 68 28,175

31,362 31,473 541 63,376

11,893 2,624 106 14,623

992 416 0 1,408

65,130 41,737 715 107,582

186,633 62,640 1,235 250,508

1 174,338 50,631 650 225,619

2013 12 31

AAA BBB BB C D

76,990 17,779 209 94,978

29,242 2,229 94 31,565

2,741 2,938 248 5,927

108,973 22,946 551 132,470

19,574 7,220 72 26,866

24,056 26,996 671 51,723

12,691 3,231 112 16,034

1,020 444 0 1,464

57,341 37,891 855 96,087

166,314 60,837 1,406 228,557

1 152,756 48,861 616 202,233
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90
2014 12 31 % 31 61 %
60 90

98,519 99 14 9 161 283 98,802
39,648 81 1 1 87 170 39,818
3,784 231 60 46 185 522 4,306
141,951 411 75 56 433 975 142,926
28,084 24 1 4 62 91 28,175
62,305 719 20 39 293 1,071 63,376
14,459 41 0 0 123 164 14,623
1,383 25 0 0 0 25 1,408
106,231 809 21 43 478 1,351 107,582
248,182 1,220 96 99 911 2,326 250,508
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2013 12 31 % gé gé %

94,657 103 26 25 167 321 94,978

31,365 95 2 12 91 200 31,565

5,218 377 93 55 184 709 5,927

131,240 575 121 92 442 1,230 132,470

26,774 19 2 2 69 92 26,866

50,879 343 77 74 350 844 51,723

15,841 87 2 1 103 193 16,034

1,459 5 0 0 0 5 1,464

94,953 454 81 7 522 1,134 96,087

226,193 1,029 202 169 964 2,364 228,557

2014 2013 12 31
2014 2013
12 31
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2014 12 31
189 19 208 4 39 43 251
11 75 86 0 2 2 88
225 17 242 0 1 1 243
425 111 536 4 42 46 582
50 16 66 0 9 9 75
190 116 306 167 133 300 606
88 36 124 0 3 3 127
328 168 496 167 145 312 808
753 279 1,032 171 187 358 1,390
2013 12 31
167 13 180 0 45 45 225
20 71 91 0 4 4 95
244 5 249 0 0 0 249
431 89 520 0 49 49 569
53 15 68 0 5 5 73
307 144 451 6 258 264 715
71 33 104 0 28 28 132
431 192 623 6 291 297 920
862 281 1,143 6 340 346 1,489
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2014 2013

12 31
205 194 27 207 197 28
63 60 53 67 63 55
236 217 122 231 211 134
504 471 202 505 471 217
68 64 7 71 65 15
599 570 259 705 656 340
126 120 72 131 127 82
793 754 338 907 848 437
1,297 1,225 540 1,412 1,319 654
46 46 - 18 18 -
25 25 - 28 28 -
7 7 - 18 18 -
78 78 - 64 64 -
7 7 - 2 2 -
7 7 - 10 10 -
1 1 - 1 1 -
15 15 - 13 13 -
93 93 - 77 77 -
1,390 1,318 540 1,489 1,396 654
582 549 202 569 535 217
808 769 338 920 861 437
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2014 2013 2012
12 31
( ( (
) ) )
205 1 1 204 1 1 217 1 1
65 0 0 70 2 2 68 1 0
237 1 1 256 0 0 277 3 3
507 2 2 530 3 3 562 5 4
75 0 0 72 1 1 58 0 0
667 3 2 748 5 5 620 3 2
127 0 0 136 0 0 201 2 2
5 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0
874 3 2 956 6 6 885 5 4
1,381 5 4 1,486 9 9 1,447 10 8
36 0 0 26 0 0 40 0 0
29 0 0 27 0 0 8 0 0
21 0 0 22 0 0 41 0 0
86 0 0 75 0 0 89 0 0
9 0 0 11 0 0 13 0 0
18 0 0 59 0 0 215 3 3
0 0 0 2 0 0 8 0 0
27 0 0 72 0 0 236 3 3
113 0 0 147 0 0 325 3 3
1,494 5 4 1,633 9 9 1,772 13 11
593 2 2 605 3 3 651 5 4
901 3 2 1,028 6 6 1,121 8 7
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2014 2013 2012
12 31
1 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0
10 290 238 5 27 25 0 0 0
11 294 242 6 28 25 0 0 0

2014

2014 2013 2012 12
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2014 2013
2,303 2,415
420 491
2,180 2,043
6,484 5,740
2,390 2,370
13,777 13,059
(9,136) (7,968)
4,641 5,091
2014 2013 2012
1,232 1,236 1,229
23 65 17
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20
2014 2013
2,176 5,917 8,093 2,409 6,062 8,471
22 0 22 3 0 3
0 0 0 @127y 0 (127)
162 499 661 3 (141) (214)
34 * (38) (36) * (40)
2,326 6,412 8,738 2,176 5,917 8,093
12 82 % 0 82 82
0 0 0 12 0 12
12 82 94 12 82 94
2,314 6,330 8,644 2,164 5,835 7,999
US GAAP 2014 12 31

2013 12 31
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2014 12 31 2013
12
2014 12 31
2000 2014
EMEA
2013

12
2014

SNB 2015 1.20
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12

12

2015
2016
2017
2018

2019

31

31
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2014 2013
27 4) 3 25 1) 4
201 (92) 109 222 (106) 116
11 ®) 8 7 @ 6
239 (119) 120 254 (128) 126
129 - 129 84 - 84
70 - 70 42 - 42
368 (119) 249 338 (128) 210
2014 2013 2012
22 24 28
1 8 7
0 7 0
23
22
22
22
5
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12 31 2014 2013
10,905 8,359
3,238 1,412
1,539 2,062
26,544 19,306
| 25,911 18,914
535 392
98 0
5,650 11,236
6,237 4,859
6,077 6,185
517 552
3,138 2,365
6,713 6,729
70,558 63,065
17,043 11,663
767 955
469 384
1,358 2,641
103 60
5,650 11,236
6,531 5,641
821 864
47 394
1,313 2,396
16,941 15,273
50,970 51,447
1 2014 2013 12 31 1,103
1,778 US GAAP

226 769
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12 31

12014

22014

139,493

2013 12 31

2013 12 31
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2014 2013
5,943 4,581 10,524 4,738 4,335 9,073
135,424 31,984 167,408 141,078 26,294 167,372
77,498 29 77,527 63,583 26 63,609
17,650 121,958 139,608t 15,358 100,785 116,143t
236,515 158,552 395,0672 224,757 131,440 356,1972
26,009 23,108
369,058 333,089
100,000
116,106
11 18
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12 31 2014 2013
139,267 96,048
25,179 21,002
VIE 13,452 12,992
177,898 130,042
81,166 63,369
50,469 34,815
12 31 2014 2013
35,309 22,605
8,321 6,455
5,244 5,016
1,595 739
50,469 34,815
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1231 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

31 0 0 290 0 4,609 4,930

1 8.5 6.0 6.3-7.5
31 0 0 290 0 4,609 4,930
13,774 4,656 13,402 4,298 14,948 19,589 70,667
14,694 15,656 8,405 5,904 9,873 14,068 68,600

1 0.0-12.6 0.2-12.6 0.1-12.4 0.4-3.8 0.0-7.3 0.0-8.2
417 0 175 10,055 0 9,297 19,944
76 0 50 0 179 0 305

1 0.6-10.3 0.9-7.0 0.1-13.2 0.3 0.1-8.5

VIE

442 84 16 0 0 154 696
201 110 141 0 46 12,258 12,756

1 0.0-13.2 0.0-5.4 4.0 0.0-3.0 0.0-10.8
29,604 20,506 22,189 20,257 25,046 55,366 172,968
29,635 20,506 22,189 20,547 25,046 59,975 177,898
10,542 10,240 5,534 5,881 6,048 12,224 50,469
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SEC

40
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25
2014
(1)  (13,674) 52 (2,757) 515  (15,875)
11) 2,196 25 (1,440) 20 790
4 0 0 0 0 4
(13) 0 13) 187 (83) 78
(20) 2,196 12 (1,253) (63) 872
(B  (11,478) 64 (4,010) 452 (15,003)
2013
Q9  (12,767) 84 (3,801) 610  (15,903)
6 (991) @7 750 0 (262)
13 0 0 0 0 13
[6H) 84 Q) 294 (95) 277
18 (907) (32) 1,044 (95) 28
(1)  (13,674) 52 (2,757) 515  (15,875)
2012
(66)  (11,778) 99 (3,751) 362  (15,134)
7 (1,040) 227 (291) 319 (778)
30 0 0 0 0 30
0 51 (242) 241 71) 1)
37 (989) (15) (50) 248 (769)
Q9  (12,767) 84 (3,801) 610  (15,903)
27 30
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2014 2013

0 841

243 390
(56) (96)

187 294
(108) (120)

25 25

(83) (95)

84
30
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MACCS
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2014 2013 2012
1,596,119,349  1,320,829,922  1,224,333,062
11,049,598 275,289,427 96,496,860
0 199,964,015 0
11,049,598 37,773,125 38,812,660
1,607,168,947  1,596,119,349  1,320,829,922
(5,183,154) (27,036,831) (4,010,074)
357,696,773 401,126,114 394,686,376
0 33,488,655 0
(386,266,557)  (385,369,391)  (423,704,092)
26,086,280 6,096,954 5,990,959
(7.666,658) (5.183,154) (27,036,831)
1,599,502,289!  1,590,936,1952  1,293,793,091
0.04 680,000,000
498,874,240
0.04 661,049,598
498,874,240
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1SDA

0TC 0TC

1SDA

oTC

0TC

NRV
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2014 2013
12 31
0TC 257.7 250.0 265.4 262.1
0TC 213.6 210.4 183.0 178.1
0.1 0.0 0.3 0.0
471.4 460.4 448.7 440.2
0TC 86.9 99.0 58.5 68.2
0.1 0.2 0.1 0.2
87.0 99.2 58.6 68.4
0TC 14.8 15.0 15.5 18.6
12.4 14.0 14.8 15.1
27.2 29.0 30.3 33.7
0TC 6.3 6.1 5.2 5.1
0TC 20.0 19.5 20.8 21.2
26.3 25.6 26.0 26.3
0TC 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
0TC 8.6 8.8 4.4 4.0
0.4 0.3 0.5 0.8
9.0 9.1 4.9 4.8
0TC 264.0 256.1 270.6 267.2
0TC 343.9 352.7 282.2 290.1
13.0 14.5 15.7 16.1
620.9 623.3 568.5 573.4
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2014 2013
12 31
oTC (261.7) (255.8) (269.1) (267.0)
oTC (316.4) (326.1) (260.7) (265.7)
(11.9) (13.1) (15.1) (15.1)
(590.0) (595.0) (544.9) (547.8)
(561.6) (561.6) (523.9) (523.9)
(28.4) (33.4) (21.0) (23.9)
oTC 2.3 0.3 1.5 0.2
oTC 27.5 26.6 21.5 24.4
1.1 1.4 0.6 1.0
30.9 28.3 23.6 25.6
. 8.6 9.1 10.1 11.3
39.5 37.4 33.7 36.9
38.0 36.9 31.6 36.5
1.5 0.5 2.1 0.4
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12 31

2 2014

12 31

2013 12 31
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1SDA
2014 12 31
2014 2013
119.3 (28.0) 91.3 112.0 (25.1) 86.9
27.8 (6.9) 20.9 22.7 @a.7n 21.0
147.1 (34.9) 112.2 134.7 (26.8) 107.9
51.0 51.0 52.1 52.1
198.1 (34.9) 163.22 186.8 (26.8) 160.02
104,283 96,587
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2014 2013

12 31
69.9 (31.9) 38.0 86.5 (26.8) 59.7
10.8 (3.0) 7.8 6.6 0.0 6.6
18.8 0.0 18.8 18.5 0.0 18.5
99.5 (34.9) 64.6 111.6 (26.8) 84.8
32.4 32.4 32.0 32.0

1

131.9 (34.9) 97.0 143.6 (26.8) 116.8
105.0 (34.9) 70.12 120.8 (26.8) 94.02
26.9 0.0 26.9 22.8 0.0 22.8

1

2 2014 2013 12 31 54,732 76,104
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2014 2013
12 31
1 1
1 1
30.9 6.5 0.1 24.3 23.6 4.9 0.1 18.6
91.3 91.3 0.0 0.0 86.9 86.9 0.0 0.0
20.9 20.3 0.0 0.6 21.0 20.2 0.0 0.8
143.1 118.1 0.1 24.9 131.5 112.0 0.1 19.4
28.3 8.5 0.0 19.8 25.6 9.9 0.0 15.7
38.0 38.0 0.0 0.0 59.7 59.7 0.0 0.0
7.8 7.6 0.0 0.2 6.6 6.2 0.0 0.4
18.8 18.1 0.0 0.7 18.5 17.5 0.0 1.0
92.9 72.2 0.0 20.7 110.4 93.3 0.0 17.1

CDS
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2014 2013
99 12 140
622 569 580
721 581 720
(321) 22 (123)
1,005 673 (132)
684 695 (255)
1,405 1,276 465
40 75 31

4 1 0
17) 44 12)
5 12) 6
(375) 388 1
1) (25) 63
71 0 (50)
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12 31 2014 2013 2012
401 642 1,680
3,226 3,454 510
3,627 4,096 2,190
22 798 901 482
314 189 242
6 25 2
666 492 393
4 2 11
©72) (381) (422)
(163) (252) 117)
151 184 182
1,064 385 13
(450) 0 0
(555) (268) (161)
(158) @ (160)
1,405 1,276 465
2014
314
1,627
666
390 179
59
38
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272
35
34
151
1,064
427
662
450
158
189
27
2013
189
492

93
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84
56

2014

25

GAAP

1,242

247

103



381

2013

41

56

18

184

385

2012
242

393

57
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49
61
45
67
19
249
2013
278
143
57
36
44
56
448
259
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2012

2014 12

422

820
160

31

182

100

13

70

40

114
48
40
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2012

11

834

48
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12 31 2014 2013
2,373 2,113
231 363
882 1,651
1,658 1,874
121 143
277 240
6,232 4,433
99 189
11,873 11,006
(4,107) (2,705)
7,766 8,301
(164) (422)
(40) (109)
(619) (1,099)
(448) (397)
@ 0
(168) (193)
(23) (53)
(62) (76)
(211) (161)
(1,736) (2,510)
6,030 5,791
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5,732

2014 12 31

2014 12 31

10

11 20

2013 2014 239
460
447
654
662
1,713
3,184
4.1
2.7
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799

AOCI

2014

151

2013 12 31

2014 12 31 5,592

2013 12 31

48
12,881
2,431

3,756

19,116

15,475

34,591




12 31

12 31

SNB 2015
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2014 2013 2012
2,705 2,554 2,690
1,402 151 (136)
4,107 2,705 2,554

20
1.20

2014 2013 2012
! 505 483 597
(70) (24) 41
1 22 12

28
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2014 2013 1.1 0.9
229
US GAAP
2014 2013 2012

423 420 373

2 4 33
“4n ® (58)
39 46 39
(10) 0 (O]
(24) ) (43)

6 (34) 80
389 423 420

389 417 414
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12 31 2014 2013 2012
16 7 @13)
86 69 69
12
12 55
2010 2009 2009

2006 2006 2005
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2015

2014

2013

2014

2012
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2015

2014
2014 12 31
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2014
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12 31 2014 2013 2012
939 814 786
611 590 366
214 - -
13 - -
1 36 37 -
2011 2 7 77 677
3 0 31 74
3 0 4 286
92 145 165
3 ®) 4 97
4 0 ®) 62
2008 5 87 93 173
404 434 362
® (21) (23)
2,392 2,242 3,025
37.1 33.7 31.6
2013
3
CCA
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12 31

2014 2015

2014

2015
CCA

2015

2014
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2014

762

231

210

41
166

1,419

1.3

250,000

2011



2015

2017

827

26.44

16

2014
0.6

16 642
2014
0.66
643
2014
30.2
28.13
2014 2013
50
36
16 2013 17
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2015
1.03
16 2013
950
EU
2012
1.6
2014
18
0.2
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16
16.94
2015 2016
1.39
17
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2014 2013 2012
( ) ( ( ) ( ( ) (
) ) )
72.9 30.09 55.8 34.28 48.1 41.91
37.6 27.60 40.4 26.43 25.1 23.44
(29.5) 30.43 (20.0) 34.09 (14.9) 40.20
(3.9) 32.20 (3.3) 31.80 (2.5) 37.36
77.1 28.64 72.9 30.09 55.8 34.28
6.2 - 5.8 - 3.9 -
70.9 - 67.1 - 51.9 -
ROE
ROE
ROE
2015 2014 2013 2012
2015 2014 ROE 2013 2012

ROE ROE
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2015 16 529 30.7
2015 16
16.94 2014
2015 2016 2017
0.66 1.03 1.39
533
2014 16 2013 17
663 24.2 660
26.4
28.13
26.44
2014 2013 2012
( ( (

) ) )

41.4 25.51 23.3 23.90 - -
24.3 28.13 26.6 26.44 23.7 23.90
(16.0) 25.27 (7.6) 23.90 0.0 0.00
(1.5) 26.28 0.9) 24.92 0.4) 23.90
48.2 26.89 41.4 25.51 23.3 23.90
3.3 - 2.7 - 0.9 -
44.9 - 38.7 - 22.4 -
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CCA 2014 2013

2014 CCA

LIBOR 4.85
LIBOR 5.75 5.33

CCA

CCA

CCA

CCA

FINMA CCA

2015 16
CCA
418

CCA

4.75

CCA
CCA

FINMA

2015

CCA

2014
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2015
CCA
CCA
CCA
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360 CCA

391



600
2016

2012 12 31

38
17

2013 17 299
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2012

LIBOR 7.875

187

2013
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2011
2011 2011
PAF PAF
500 500
PAF PAF
PAF
PAF 2012
PAF
3 PAF
PAF
6.5 PAF
PAF
2012 499 PAF 2012
31 2012

PAF
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PAF
PAF PAF
PAF
COF COF
COF
6.5
CCA
CCA
CCA
2016
2014 5,084 PAF 684
COF 168
2009
2010
2009 2012 12 31
2013
2010
ROE
ROE
10
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2014
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2021
2021
2013
CCA
CCA 516
2009
2010
ROE
15
2010
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2012
16.29

498

50
16.79

453
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2014 2013 2012
APP APP APP
14.5 30.8 -
0.8 1.21 31.0
(7.6) 17.2) 0.0
0.4) (0.3) 0.2)
7.3 14.5 30.8
1.1 1.2 0.3
6.2 13.3 30.5
2014 2013
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ROE

ROE

SISU

SISU

ROE

2.5
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ooooooo
SISU
SISU 2009 2010
I1SU
SISU
SISU
ROE
SISU SISU
2014 2013 2012
4.7 9.6 14.7
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88 (92 (52 0 0 o) ) 0 @

¢ ) 137 258 144 52 79 74 9 13 13

93 242 200 27 64 66 7 21 20

a4 40 90 @ 0 0 0 0 0

© @8 (35 0 0 0 0 0 0

17 19 19 0 0 0 0 0 0
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13,473 14,296 2,843 2,773 168 180
200 209 0 0 0 0
253 347 19 2 0 0
338 304 134 122 7 8
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(169) (208) ) ) 0 0
(16) ) 0 @ 0 0
17 19 1 1 0 0
2,280 (736) 463 69 25 ®)
(715) (753) (109) 7 ®) ®)
0 0 192 (43) 18 )
15,661 13,473 3,539 2,843 178 168
14,912 14,340 3,007 2,893 0 0
970 013 637 183 0 0
437 11 135 67 8 8
200 209 0 0 0 0
(169) (208) @ ) 0 0
(715) (753) (109) 7 ®) ®)
0 0 208 (35) 0 0
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12 al (26) 1,439 337 164 (178) (168)
0 1,439 822 520 0 0
0 0 ®) ®) (10) )]
(26) 0 @ (348) (168) (160)
12 3 @6) 1,439 337 164 (178) (168)
ABO 2
15,110 13,043 3,469 2,785 178 168
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435 512 3 452 515
(3.525) (2,205) @n (3.558) (2.242)
2014 2013 AOCI
31
(1,861) 424 (1,437) (25) 9 (16)  (1,453)
0 0 0 32 (12) 20 20
189 (43) 146 9 ®) 6 152
(88) 18 (70) ©) 3 (6) (76)
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1,290 (354) 936 21 ®) 13 949
37

335 8

(68) (13)

267 ®)

2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012

2.60 2.20 2.80  4.71  4.47  4.78  5.10  4.30  4.70

1.20 1.20  1.40  4.31  4.02  4.03 - - -

3.75 4.00 4.25  6.16  6.18  6.43 - - -

1.25  2.60 2.20 3.82  4.71  4.47  4.20  5.10  4.30
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12 31 2014 2013
2,983 0 0 2,983 3,335 35 0 3,370
421 2,939 0 3,360 415 2,978 0 3,393
338 0 0 338 395 0 0 395
83 2,939 0 3,022 20 2,978 0 2,998
2,545 2,222 0 4,767 2,224 2,321 0 4,545
0 534 1,146 1,680 0 564 1,125 1,689
0 0 1,146 1,146 0 0 1,123 1,123
0 534 0 534 0 564 2 566
508 87 2,250 2,845 0 1,178 737 1,915
0 0 692 692 0 0 607 607
0 0 953 953 0 1,086 0 1,086
508 87 605 1,200 0 921 130 222
6,457 5,782 3,396 15,635 5,974 7,076 1,862 14,912
191 88 0 279 66 333 0 399
189 1,590 267 2,046 335 1,017 177 1,529
8 562 0 570 335 30 0 365
181 1,028 267 1,476 0 987 177 1,164
216 666 0 882 172 441 0 613
0 0 117 117 0 0 94 94
0 386 58 444 (23) 290 7 274
0 111 58 169 0 264 3 267
0 275 0 275 (23)! 261 4 7
0 108 0 108 0 98 0 98
596 2,838 442 3,876 550 2,179 2718 3,007

7,053 8,620 3,838 19,511 6,524 9,255 2,140 17,919
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134 425 ) 49 0 1 0 605
2,140 1,380 Q) 98 16 180 31 3,838
1,862 1,378 @ 111 0 47 0 3,39
278 2 ) (13) 16 133 31 442
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30 2 0 ®) 2 @n ) 3
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2019 938 12
2020 5,037 59
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11,940.2 5.3 5.6 0.0 0.0 0.0
26,379.0 398.6 391.9 51.1 2.6 1.3
3,582.9 66.2 63.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
1,528.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
) 589.1 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
44,019.6 470.3 461.5 51.1 2.6 1.3
2,132.9 32.2 33.4 14.2 0.0 0.3
1,430.9 40.0 51.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
1,008.4 17.2 17.7 9.5 0.0 0.1
23.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
) 7.9 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
4,603.4 89.5 102.3 23.7 0.0 0.4
4.2 0.7 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
289.3 6.2 6.7 0.0 0.0 0.0
236.8 10.8 9.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
46.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
) 370.9 12.7 14.3 0.0 0.0 0.0
947.6 30.4 31.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
1,287.5 27.0 26.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
17.8 0.9 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
44.4 6.7 6.6 0.0 0.0 0.0
44.6 1.7 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0
13.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
) 2.1 0.4 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0
122.2 9.7 9.7 0.0 0.0 0.0
50,980.3 626.9 630.7 74.8 2.6 1.7

PRV NRV 51,055.1
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9,366.2 2.5 2.6 0.0 0.0 0.0
30,589.6 399.6 393.8 68.5 2.8 0.7
oTC 3,889.5 44.3 44.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
830.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 705.9 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
45,382.0 446.7 441.5 68.5 2.8 0.7
2,098.0 21.6 21.5 30.5 0.3 0.1
1,382.1 28.9 39.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
oTC 815.6 10.7 11.6 9.4 0.0 0.0
48.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 5.5 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
4,350.0 61.3 72.5 39.9 0.3 0.1
4.0 0.7 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
236.1 5.4 7.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
oTC 225.3 12.2 12.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
50.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 416.2 17.0 17.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
932.2 35.3 37.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
2 1,483.3 26.8 27.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
19.2 0.7 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
45.4 2.9 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0
oTC 35.2 1.1 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
31.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 48.9 0.7 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
3 179.8 5.4 5.5 0.0 0.0 0.0
52,327.3 575.5 583.9 108.4 3.1 0.8
2013 12 31 PRV NRV 52,435.7
578.6 584.7
1 US GAAP

2
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(266.5) 254.0 (12.5) 32. 4.5
(103.9) 99.9 (4.0) 13. 0.1
(370.4) 353.9 (16.5) 46. 4.6
(76.2) 73.0 (3.2) 8. 1.1)
(294.2) 280.9 (13.3) 37. 5.7
(162.2) 159.9 (2.3) 56. 2.2
(53.4) 51.13 (2.3) 12. 1.0
(215.6) 211.0 (4.6) 68. 3.2
(7.3) 7.2 0.1) 1. 0.0
(208.3) 203.8 (4.5) 67. 3.2
(428.7) 413.9 (14.8) 88. 6.7
(157.3) 151.0 (6.3) 25. 1.1
(586.0) 564..9 1.1) 114. 7.8
(83.5) 80.2 (3.3) 9. 1.1)
(502.5) 484.7 (17.8) 104. 8.9
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(305.9) 287.9 (18.0) 37. 5.2
(108.7) 104.9 (3.8) 10. 2.5
(414.6) 392.8 (21.8) 48. 7.7
(88.1) 85.0 3.1) 8. 0.4)
(326.5) 307.8 (18.7) 39. 8.1
(219.1) 212.1 (7.0) 47. 3.3
(65.0) 59.0 (6.0) 13. 1.5
(284.1) 271.1 (13.0) 60. 4.8
(10.8) 10.9 0.1 1. 0.0
(273.3) 260.2 (13.1) 59. 4.8
(525.0) 500.0 (25.0) 85. 8.5
(173.7) 163.9 9.8) 24. 4.0
(698.7) 663.9 (34.8) 109. 12.5
(98.9) 95.9 (3.0) 10. 0.4)
(599.8) 568.0 (31.8) 99. 12.9
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586.0 698.7
564.9 663.9
114.5 109.0
! 22.1 11.7
1,287.5 1,483.3
1
2014 12 31
78.0 253.9 38.5 370.4
31.2 134.3 50.1 215.6
109.2 388.2 88.6 586.0
2013 12 31
91.2 281.4 42.0 414.6
19.2 208.2 56.7 284.1
110.4 489.6 98.7 698.7
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2,495 733 257 601 4,086 3,846 30 1,657
4,899 1,284 1,203 106 7,492 6,625 43 3,188
12,257 0 0 0 12,257 12,257 0 12,257
2 24,599 6,157 986 1,816 33,558 33,558 954 —3
3,592 791 233 397 5,013 5,007 44 2,805
47,842 8,965 2,679 2,920 62,406 61,293 1,071 19,907

2013 12 31
4 2,688 621 336 569 4,214 4,066 14 2,333
4 4,910 1,985 1,007 114 8,046 7,125 107 3,312
11,479 0 0 0 11,479 11,479 0 11,479
2 18,247 9,544 1,959 1,900 31,650 31,650 715 —3
4,003 817 197 198 5,215 5,191 3 2,631
41,327 12,967 3,499 2,811 60,604 59,511 839 19,755
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(58)  (416) G)  (479) (35) (179) ©  (223)
@an 0 0 an (24) 4) 0 (28)
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13 4 83 100 77 420 83 580
2013 66 48
38
0.3
2014 2013
1
146 55
(74) 145
(66) 3 (54) 4
6 5 146 ¢
38
GSE
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2016 533
2017 498
2018 478
2019 454
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6,476

231
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10
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2014
2012
0cs s.a.r.| 22
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25
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10 10
2014 17
2013 78
1
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2 30,023 32,781 46,490 10,996 120,290 115,502 56,959
8,292 0 0 0 8,292 8,292 8,292
736 768 43 223 1,770 1,770 0

43,773 33,560 46,534 11,219 135,086 130,139 68,020

2013 12 31
5,484 27 1 0 5,512 5,452 3,381
2 27,250 26,877 35,376 7,487 96,990 92,732 47,996
26,893 0 0 0 26,893 26,893 26,893
2,481 1,020 104 286 3,891 3,891 350

62,108 27,924 35,481 7,773 133,286 128,968 78,620

2014 12 31 2013 12 31
100,905 90,254
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SPE
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7 4 56
5,335 5,574 6,156
102 70 57
13 ®) 3
22,728 24,523 15,143
® 10 (25)
2 4 3
444 486 554
29 15 83
1,819 915 591
0 (213) (621)
17 633 1,350
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SPE
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RMBS
49,884 45,571
SPE 50,017 48,741
26,176 27,854
SPE 26,176 27,854
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2014 2013 2012
CMBS RMBS CMBS RMBS CMBS RMBS
1,341 4,023 633 2,993 761 2,219
1,242 3,791 476 2,879 654 2,090
100 232 156 114 107 129
4.1 7.7 7.3 7.7 8.4 5.0
! -2 1.5-23.0 -2 2.0-31.0 -2 0.1-34.9
1.0-11.0 1.9-17.8 1.6-11.6 0.0-45.9 0.8-10.7 0.1-25.7
1.0-2.2 0.4-15.3 0.0-7.5 0.0-45.8 0.5-9.0 0.0-25.1
PSA
PSA CPR 100
1 0.2
0.2 30 CPR
100PSA CPR
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2014 2013 12 31 SPE
SPE
12 31 2014 2013
CMBS 1 RMBS CMBS 1 RMBS
2 2
1,168 2,394 212 1,132 2,354 284
79 246 146 26 359 204
5.6 7.8 3.6 6.5 8.6 3.7
3 - 1.0-36.6 - - 1.0-23.5 -
10 . (29.2) . - (26.6) .
20 . (56.4) . . (48.6) .
4 1.6-22.3 1.7-44.0 0.3-21.2 1.1-37.1 1.7-22.4 1.0-23.1
10 (14.0)  (43.8) (1.2)  (25.5)  (65.0) Q.4
20 (27.4)  (85.3) (2.4)  (50.0)  (124.9) (4.9)
1.0-22.2 0.0-41.7 1.4-13.1 0.2-36.6 0.1-17.3 0.7-21.0
10 (7.1)  (25.3) (0.4)  (10.9)  (42.2) 0.4)
20 (14.0)  (49.4) (0.7)  (21.5)  (79.6) 0.7)
1
2 CDo
3 PSA
PSA CPR 100
0.2
0.2 30 CPR
100PSA  CPR
4
10 20
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2014 2013
35

12 31 2014 2013

CMBS
26 432

SPE (26) (432)
138 216
252 157

SPE (390) (373)

VIE
CDO CP VIE
SPE
SPE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
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VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE

VIE

VIE

VIE
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VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE

VIE

VIE



CDO
VIE
CDO ABS
VIE
CDO
CP

CDS

CDO

VIE CDO
CDO
CDO
CDS
CDO
CDO
VIE
VIE

CP

CP

CP

VIE
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CDO
VIE
VIE
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CP 2014 2013 12 31 49 19
2014 2013 12 31
& A-1
F-1
2014 2013 12 31
AA
2014 2013 12 31 1.8 2.1 2015
R-1 st R-1
st
CP
CP
CP
CP CP
CP
CP
CP
VIE
VIE
CMBS RMBS ABS

VIE
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VIE

50

RMBS

VIE

VIE

VIE
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VIE

US GAAP

50

VIE

VIE

VIE
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VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE 2014 2013 12 31 VIE
VIE
2014 12 31

CDO e
1,122 0 16 187 109 59 1,493
0 660 0 0 0 0 660
615 57 250 1,715 867 757 4,261
0 0 0 30 1,651 424 2,105
0 12 0 0 24 209 245
0 0 0 0 452 0 452
8,726 262 4,741 3 197 2,205 16,134
8,689 0 3,500 0 24 356 12,569
VIE 10,463 991 5,007 1,935 3,300 3,654 25,350
0 0 0 0 0 3 3
6 0 0 0 23 6 35
0 9,384 0 0 0 0 9,384
10,318 18 2,418 216 99 383 13,452
27 29 573 124 146 829 1,728
VIE 10,351 9,431 2,991 340 268 1,221 24,602
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2013 12 31

cDo e
702 1 2 100 87 60 952
0 1,959 0 0 0 0 1,05
869 51 3 1,687 665 335 3,610
0 100 0 0 0 0 100
0 0 0 0 1,491 42 1,083
0 2,012 885 0 779 531 4,207
0 0 0 0 447 66 513
7,516 1,473 3,353 0 308 1,680 14,330
7,479 0 3,003 0 56 0 10,628
VIE 0,087 5,596 4,243 1,787 3,777 3,164 27,654
0 0 0 0 0 265 265
9 0 0 0 8 76 93
0 4,280 0 7 0 (1) 4,286
9,067 17 3,187 179 93 449 12,00
34 16 67 2 153 438 710
VIE 9,110 4,313 3,254 188 254 1,227 18,346

VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
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VIE
VIE
VIE
2014 12 31
CDO

179 5,009 1,201 494 625 7,508

211 2,252 3,213 1,651 1,544 8,871

0 4 20 0 189 213

390 7,265 4,434 2,145 2,358 16,592

752 12,775 4,589 7,326 2,358 27,800

VIE 8,604 120,157 56,413 38,818 23,360 247,352

2013 12 31
CDO

183 4,920 979 725 713 7,520

2 613 2,812 2,856 1,282 7,565

0 0 47 0 6 53

185 5,533 3,838 3,581 2,001 15,138

186 7,496 4,026 7,433 2,090 21,231

VIE 10,211 101,524 55,509 31,144 19,450 217,838
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oTC

CDO
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1

0 304 0 0 304
0 104,206 77 0 104,283
121 781 0 0 902
0 745 0 0 745
25,908 44 0 0 25,952
26,029 825 0 0 26,854
31,937 57,989 4,465 0 94,391
31,708 4,869 454 0 37,031
28 22,493 1,435 0 23,956
RMBS 0 22,150 612 0 22,762
CMBS 0 5,293 257 0 5,550
CDO 0 3,185 1,421 0 4,606
86,333 6,395 1,566 0 94,294
4,467 615,639 6,823 (588,917) 38,012
1,616 466,890 1,803 - -
118 89,101 301 - -
2,711 26,644 1,063 - -
0 24,451 2,569 - -
2,986 7,122 4,326 0 14,434
125,723 687,145 17,180 (588,017) 241,131
2,368 315 0 0 2,683
2,066 0 0 0 2,066
0 313 0 0 313
2 103 3 0 108
2,370 418 3 0 2,791
0 0 1,286 0 1,286
0 0 585 0 585
0 219 314 0 533
0 181 302 0 483
77 75 1,849 0 2,001
0 70 1,850 0 1,920
0 0 1,834 0 1,834
77 294 5,283 0 5,654
0 13,560 9,353 0 22,913
0 5,816 5,853 0 11,669
0 6,227 1,494 0 7,721
0 0 70 0 70
2,457 23,489 7,468 (1,094) 32,320
0 16,107 6,851 0 22,958
156,656 830,241 39,434 (590,011)  __ 436,320

@75) (133) (821) 0 (1,029)

ASU 2309 o 0 (9,123) (3,155) 0 (12,278)
156,581 820,985 35,458 (590,011) 423,013

VIE
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2014 12 31 1

0 823 0 0 823
0 3,161 100 0 3,261
0 54,732 0 0 54,732
121 781 0 0 902
0 745 0 0 745
25,908 44 0 0 25,952
26,029 825 0 0 26,854
11,678 4,914 1 0 16,593
11,530 757 0 0 12,287
21 3,917 1 0 3,939
19,060 122 2 0 19,184
4,594 619,787 6,414 (593,917) 36,878
1,585 458,894 1,202 - -
234 101,461 560 - -
2,744 26,746 1,466 - -
0 23,479 2,760 - _
35,332 624,823 6,417 (593,917) 72,655
0 3,766 95 0 3,861
0 66,558 14,608 0 81,166
0 8,616 0 0 8,616
0 31,083 10,267 0 41,350
0 10,126 2,952 0 13,078
0 14,795 3,363 (1,220) 16,938
0 652 616 0 1,268
61,361 769,483 24,583 (595,137) 260,290
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2013 12 31
1
0 527 0 0 527
0 311 0 0 311
0 96,383 204 0 96,587
409 1,592 0 0 2,001
0 1,558 0 0 1,558
20,689 110 0 0 20,799
21,098 1,702 0 0 22,800
41,829 63,218 5,069 0 110,116
40,199 6,980 230 0 47,409
14 24,268 2,128 0 26,410
RMBS 0 23,343 436 0 23,779
CMBS 0 5,255 417 0 5,672
CDo 0 3,305 1,567 0 4,872
70,322 5,778 595 0 76,695
6,610 563,649 5,217 (543,873) 31,603
1,065 444,056 1,574 - -
8 60,807 484 - -
5,278 28,763 1,240 - -
0 25,662 1,138 - -
3,601 4,479 2,829 0 10,999
122,452 637,124 13,710 (543,873) 229,413
1,788 1,008 0 0 2,886
1,386 2 0 0 1,388
0 606 0 0 606
CDo 0 490 0 0 490
2 97 2 0 101
1,790 1,195 2 0 2,987
0 0 3,345 0 3,345
0 0 2,236 0 2,236
0 289 392 0 681
0 174 329 0 503
283 55 1,632 0 1,970
0 15 1,630 0 1,645
0 0 1,600 0 1,600
283 344 6,969 0 7,596
0 11,459 7,998 0 19,457
0 6,302 5,309 0 11,611
0 4,484 1,322 0 5,806
0 0 42 0 42
4,861 21,530 6,159 (1,032) 31,518
0 12,770 5,615 0 18,385
150,484 770,575 35,084 (544,905) 411,238
(246) (149) (2,781) 0 (3,176)
ASU 2009-17
) 0 (8,996) (2,458) 0 (11,454)
150,238 761,430 29,845 (544,905) 396,608
1
2 VIE

432/690



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

oOoOooodn
2013 12 31 1

0 1,450 0 0 1,450
0 3,197 55 0 3,252
0 75,990 114 0 76,104
409 1,592 0 0 2,001
0 1,558 0 0 1,558
20,689 110 0 0 20,799
21,098 1,702 0 0 22,800
19,037 5,311 2 0 24,350
18,863 603 0 0 19,466
1 4,130 2 0 4,133
15,476 309 17 0 15,802
5,879 572,444 5,545 (547,385) 36,483
896 439,446 1,129 - -
14 71,547 938 - -
4,691 30,622 1,896 - -
0 25,942 1,230 - -
40,392 578,064 5,564 (547,385) 76,635
0 5,888 165 0 6,053
0 53,589 9,780 0 63,369
0 9,081 0 0 9,081
0 20,679 6,217 0 26,896
0 9,509 2,552 0 12,061
0 19,511 2,861 (399) 21,973
0 638 1,143 0 1,781
61,490 739,391 18,539 (547,784) 271,636
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2014

12 31 2014 2013

1,108 533 499 92
513 391 437 183
5,785 500 5,090 2
7,406 1,424 6,026 277
861 658 11 18
133 90 248 17
6,073 87 4,433 11
7,067 835 4,692 46
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2014

204 0 (151) 0 0 0 0
5,069 1,260  (3,018) 5,554  (5,435) 0 0
2,128 392 (756) 1,161 (2,004) 0 0
RMBS 436 625 (676) 732 (659) 0 0
CMBS 417 105 (392) 415 (282) 0 0
CDo 1,567 112 (697) 2,503 (2,402) 0 0
595 939 (469) 727 (554) 0 0
5,217 2,156 (1,168) 0 0 2,330  (3,334)
1,574 70 (40) 0 0 197 (574)
1,240 132 (534) 0 0 405 417)
1,138 1,801 (575) 0 0 536 (899)
2,829 863 (878) 4,168  (3,288) 0 (201)
13,710 5,218  (5,533) 10,449  (9,277) 2,330  (3,535)
2 0 0 0 0 0 0
5,369 2 (22) 774 (3,551) 0 0
1,600 0 0 204 (333) 0 0
6,969 2 (22) 978  (3,884) 0 0
7,998 500 (601) 1,024  (2,012) 4,878  (3,168)
5,309 253 (349) 368 (1,098) 3,346 (2,428)
1,322 156 (163) 16 (422) 943 (482)
42 0 0 29 0 0 0
6,159 3,165  (3,205) 7,852 (6,713) 845  (1,448)
2 5,615 3,154  (3,174) 7,486 (6,382) 845  (1,448)

35,084 8,885 (9,512) 20,332  (21,886) 8,053 (8,151)

55 0 0 0 0 45 (19)
114 0 @127) 0 0 0 0
5,564 2,471 (1,655) 36 (39) 1,526  (2,778)
1,129 56 (109) 0 0 72 (499)
938 0 ©) 0 0 5 (239)
1,896 478 (941) 0 0 656 (890)
1,230 1,906 (587) 0 0 473 (885)
165 67 74) 0 0 382 (456)
9,780 2,441  (3,475) 0 0 8,432  (3,870)
6,217 1,468  (1,931) 0 0 5,930  (2,027)
2,552 924  (1,007) 0 0 1,170 (1,153)
2,861 121 (133) 530  (1,215) 649 (233)
1,143 76 (50) 292 (949) 0 0
18,539 5,100  (5,464) 566  (1,254) 11,034  (7,356)
16,545 3,785  (4,048) 19,766  (20,632)  (2,981) (795)
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2014
1 1

0 0 0 0 24 77

(60) 535 0 0 560 4,465

(68) 402 0 0 180 1,435

RMBS 11 81 0 0 62 612

CMBS 0 (58) 0 0 52 257

cDo () 61 0 0 195 1,421

35 196 0 0 97 1,566

110 941 0 0 571 6,823

13 393 0 0 170 1,803

120 (26) 0 0 143 1,063

(28) 379 0 0 127 2,569

17 404 0 0 412 4,326

102 2,076 0 0 1,640 17,180

0 0 0 0 1 3

0 22 0 531 324 3,449

0 179 0 0 184 1,834

0 201 0 531 508 5,283

3 173) 0 D) 906 9,353

1 (118) 0 ) 573 5,853

0 (33) 0 5 152 1,494

0 Q) 0 0 6 70

165 ) 0 0 653 7,468

2 169 ) 0 @) 589 6,851

270 2,092 0 529 3,738 39,434

0 16 0 0 3 100

0 0 0 0 13 0

251 469 0 0 572 6,417

1 429 0 0 123 1,202

) (205) 0 0 67 560

273 (201) 0 0 195 1,466

(16) 496 0 0 143 2,760

3) 0 0 0 14 95

144 (338) 0 0 1,494 14,608

(6) (406) 0 0 1,022 10,267

155 10 0 0 301 2,952

11 114 3 361 294 3,363

0 29 0 10 77 616

403 261 3 361 2,390 24,583

(133) 1,831 ®) 168 1,348 14,851
1
2

(22)
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2013

0 0 0 0 0 362 (153)
5,888 1,418  (1,977) 6,363  (7,043) 0 0
3,192 571 (552) 1,759  (3,022) 0 0
RMBS 724 467 (690) 1,012 (1,162) 0 0
CMBS 1,023 86 (310) 497 (866) 0 0
cDo 447 55 (357) 3,072 (1,810) 0 0
485 303 37) 405 (431) 0 0

6,650 1,442  (2,208) 0 0 1,766 (2,446)

1,859 244 (363) 0 0 279 (663)

1,920 223 (1,020) 0 0 207 (538)

1,294 923 (633) 0 0 627 (631)

2,486 288 (487) 3,266  (2,656) 0 (65)

15,509 3,451  (4,909) 10,034  (10,130) 1,766  (2,511)
170 0 (230) 165 (82) 0 0
6,366 106 (63) 1,526  (3,220) 0 0
1,818 0 0 189 (365) 0 0
8,184 106 (63) 1,715  (3,585) 0 0

6,619 320 (1,561) 800  (1,673) 6,767  (2,920)

4,778 305 (315) 727 (1,280) 3,541  (2,171)

1,530 15 (6) 71 207) 651 (650)
43 0 0 12 0 0 0

5,164 3,552 (2,998) 4,781  (4,213) 1,034  (1,148)

4,463 3,539 (2,918) 4,456  (3,964) 1,034  (1,147)

35,689 7,429  (9,761) 17,507 (19,683) 9,929  (6,732)

25 0 0 0 0 51 ®)

0 0 0 0 0 119 0
5,356 1,503  (1,537) 66 (197) 1,561  (2,556)
1,357 75 (134) 0 0 107 (508)
1,648 13 1) 0 0 15 (662)
1,003 360 (676) 0 0 632 (380)
819 1,001 (590) 0 0 655 (856)
124 43 (99) 0 0 318 (216)
10,098 2,322  (2,375) 0 0 5,006  (5,330)
6,189 453 (1,226) 0 0 3,602 (2.,534)
2,551 1,836 (670) 0 0 818  (2,128)
2,848 227 (149) 213 (393) 10 (86)

1,160 176 (82) 154 (308) 0 0
18,451 4,095  (4,160) 279 (590) 7,065  (8,191)

17,238 3,334  (5,601) 17,228  (19,093) 2,864 1,459
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2013
1 1
0 4 0 0 ©) 204
165 465 0 0 (210) 5,069
109 157 0 0 (86) 2,128
RMBS 11 91 0 0 an 436
CMBS ) 15 0 0 (24) 417
cDo 36 197 0 0 (73) 1,567
20 68 @ 0 an 595
230 (53) 0 0 (164) 5,217
8 249 0 0 (39) 1,574
184 330 0 0 (66) 1,240
38 (461) 0 0 (19) 1,138
8 83 0 0 (94) 2,829
423 563 @) 0 (485) 13,710
0 9 0 0 (30) 2
0 3) 0 791 (134) 5,360
0 1 0 0 (43) 1,600
0 ) 0 791 177) 6,960
0 ZN) 0 0 (333) 7,998
1 (85) 0 0 (192) 5,309
0 (48) 0 0 (34) 1,322
0 0 0 12) @ 42
5 199 0 0 @17) 6,159
5 348 0 0 (201) 5,615
428 752 [0) 779 (1,252) 35,084
0 (13) 0 0 (5) 55
0 0 0 0 ) 114
235 1,302 0 0 (169) 5,564
10 254 0 0 (32) 1,129
(16) 1) 0 0 (18) 938
210 831 0 0 (84) 1,896
39 186 0 0 (24) 1,230
0 3 0 0 (8) 165
25 321 0 @ (286) 9,780
(18) (36) 0 @ (212) 6,217
24 151 0 0 (30) 2,552
an 70 26 217 (105) 2,861
0 72 0 0 (29) 1,143
243 1,683 26 216 (578) 18,539
185 (931) @n 563 (67%) 16,545
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2014
8,885
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2014 2013
1,698 165 1,863 1 (746) 536 (210) 1
(834) 18 (816)  (2,850) 414 (2,436)
2014
9,512
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2013
7,429

2013
9,761

VARMC
VARMC

VARMC
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CDS
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CMBS RMBS CDO
RMBS CMBS CDO

RMBS

CMBS CDO
CDO
EBITDA
0TC
01C

0TC
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0TC

0TC

oTC

0TC

CDS
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RMBS

RMBS

RMBS
RMBS

RMBS
FICO
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NAV

NAV

SPIA

NAV
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VIE
US GAAP

RMBS
VIE US GAAP
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2014 12 31 1
77 bp 350 350 350
4,465
1,435
201 (88) 97 17
2 50 100 68
180 0 124 67
1,051 bp 9 1,644 361
RMBS 612 1 31 9
0 29 8
1 19 3
0 100 50
CMBS 257 7 10 8
0 28 9
0 20 12
0 21 1
0 35 3
DO 1,421
89 0 100 95
286 3 23 7
0 20 17
0 7 2
3 100 35
837 93 196 191
1,566
765 EBITDA 3 13 9
1 163 51
26 7 7 7
15 15 15
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2014 12 31 !
6,823
1,803 9 100 76
0 33 24
® 3 )
2 5 10 10
bp 229 1,218 1,046
1,063 (88) 97 8
0 276 27
2,569 bp 1 6,087 614
0 75 20
1 38 18
1 43 7
10 100 65
46 97 83
0 9 4
51 106 80
bp
4,326
3,493 0 104 50
770 3 20 9
17,180
3
1,286 3 3 3 3 3
314 3 3 3 3 3
1,849
1,850
337 69 69 69
1,051 3 3 3 3 3
1,834 2 21 8
5,283
9,353
5,853
5,011 bp 34 2,528 462
0 100 68
650 0 100 82
1,494 bp 60 813 304
70
7,468
6,851
2,654 0 109 99
1,321 bp 146 2,047 334
1 39 30
2,430 0 100 67
39,434
NAV NAV
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2013 12 31 1
204 bp 90 350 178
5,069
2,128
129 (83) 9 14
2 50 100 62
592 0 112 91
807 bp 22 957 348
RMBS 436 2 33 9
0 27 7
0 25 5
0 100 48
CMBS 417 5 12 9
1 30 9
0 20 10
0 18 1
0 40 3
DO 1,567
118 0 100 94
278 2 24 6
0 30 7
1 15 3
25 100 68
423 85 101 98
595
270 EBITDA 3 12 7
35 7 7 7
15 15 15
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2013 12 31 1
5,217
1,574 15 100 82
5 31 24
2 31 6
(©) 2 (€))
bp 95 2,054 218
1,240 (83) 96 14
2 252 26
1,138 bp 1 2,054 298
0 77 25
4 29 14
1 16 6
10 100 59
34 97 83
0 17 5
2,829
2,139 0 146 34
589 3 19 9
13,710
2
3,345 2 2 2 2 2
392 2 2 2 2 2
1,632
1,630
384 bp 897 3,175 1,207
59 59 59
813 EBITDA 1 10 8
1,600 1 21 9
6,969
7,998
5,309
4,526 bp 50 2,488 504
326 0 100 69
1,322 bp 98 884 302
42
6,159
5,615
1,954 0 160 99
1,042 bp 75 2,389 467
1 0
2,420 0 105 59
35,084
NAV NAV
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2014 12 31

100
6,417

1,202 b (11) 85 44

9 100 78

2 5 10 9

0 33 21

3 20 20 20

560 (10) 70 50

22 33 28

1,466 (88) 97 17

44 260 110

1 276 27

4 50 100 68

2,760 bp 1 6,087 508

2 34 17

1 43 7

0 75 28

10 100 65

9 94 57

bp 51 82 64

0 12 4
95
14,608
10,267

8,002 (88) 99 18

4 276 30

50 100 68

3 0 3 0

515 bp 228 597 455
2,952

2,766 0 109 99

90 0 100 7
3,363
616

450 0 103 63

124 bp 852 1,286 912

39 39 39
24,583
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2013 12 31 1
55
114 20 20 90
bp
5,564
1,129 bp) ) 148 74
17 99 62
2 5 10 6
5 31 23
938 (10) 70 48
19 31 25
1,896 (83) 96 14
79 152 118
2 252 26
3 50 100 62
1,230 bp 1 2,052 252
4 29 14
15 6
14 77 43
6 100 62
34 98 55
0 17 2
165
9,780
6,217 (83) 99 16
5 252 28
3 50 100 62
4 0 5 0
2,552
2,105 0 217 104
301 0 93 13
2,861
1,143
829 0 100 63
195 bp 813 1,362 1,185
23 23 23
18,539
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SPIA
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2014 12 31
7 106 113 0
102 1,842 1,944 0
0 42) 42) 0
109 1,906 2,015 0
296 187 483 1
0 0 0 0
0 50 50 0
296 2373 533 1
17 0 17 15
585 0 585 123
302 0 302 98
382 0 382 158
1,286 0 1,286 394
378 43 421 0
1,960 280 2,240 395
2,0695 2,1866 4,255 3957
1 42 30
28 60 16 30 14
45
2 55 30 19
60 17 30
45
3 87 60 11
60
4 45 60 33
30 21 60
5 2014 2013 612 1,819
6 2014 2013 138 107
7 2014 2013 185 405
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2013 12 31
1 18 19 0
28 3,0962 3,124 0
0 an an 0
29 3,097 3,126 0
320 183 503 6
0 25 25 0
0 153 153 31
320 3614 681 37
53 0 53 2
2,236 0 2,236 464
350 0 350 110
706 0 706 250
3,345 0 3,345 826
349 0 349 0
4,014 361 4,375 863
4,0435 3,458¢ 7,501 8637
1 42 30
28 60 16 30 14
45
2 55 30 19
60 17 30
45
3 87 60 11
60
4 45 60 33
30 21 60
5 2014 2013 612 1,819
6 2014 2013 138 107
7 2014 2013 185 405
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12 31

2014 2013
1.4 0.3
1.2 0.0
0.2 0.3

US GAAP
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US GAAP

US GAAP

2008

VIE

2007

2007

US GAAP
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2007
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2014 2013
12 31
1,147 3,816 (2,669) 956 3,262 (2,306)
0 0 0 311 307 4
104,283 104,027 256 96,587 96,217 370
22,913 23,782 (869) 19,457 19,653 (196)
1 26,088 33,001 (7,003) 20,749 25,756 (5,007)
(914) (873) (41) (690) (680) (10)
(54,732)  (54,661) (71)  (76,104)  (76,012) (92)
(3,861)  (3,918) 57 (6,053)  (5,89) (157)
(81,166)  (81,322) 156  (63,369)  (62,991) (378)
(1,268)  (2,767) 1,499 (1,780)  (3,285) 1,505
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2014 2013 2011
12 31

0 0 (13)2

0 0 (13)
81 101 121

@ ® 3
913 1 1,143 1 1,1831
0 0 10 2
370 3 126 3 1443

5 11 34
10 2 1,470 1 925 1

(151) 26 318
1,302t 2,058 1 2,641 1

387 604 355
(59)2 0 (22)t

@an ©) 8
205 2 (67! (114)!
152 2 (256)2 (350)2
858 2 (2,759)2 (7,905)2

4 599 (384) (2,552)
(169)2 441 2 826 2

(156) 112 912

2014 336
261 2013 268 111
2012 1,663 931
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2014 12 31

58,925 0 58,925 0 58,925

245,866 0 248,969 3,678 252,647

1 148,473 80,520 66,714 1,579 148,813
390,984 217,482 173,501 0 390,983

15,387 0 15,387 0 15,387

22,061 0 22,064 0 22,064

96,732 0 97,105 1,201 98,306

2 85,066 15 84,336 586 84,937
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2013 12 31

63,435 0 62,891 544 63,435

223,902 0 225,641 3,940 229,581

1 142,656 72,134 69,310 1,568 143,012
351,476 212,418 138,980 9 351,407

17,928 0 17,928 0 17,928

14,140 0 14,148 0 14,148

66,673 0 64,043 3,774 67,817

2 96,611 1,129 94,414 1,085 96,628
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12 31
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2014 2013
153,982 142,952
103,245 92,300

2014 2013
444,852 359,517
336,228 267,896

2014 2013

26,286 18,130
2,202 2,447
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FINMA
FINMA
BIS

FINMA 2008/34

FINMA BIS

CET

CET
CET

2014 2013 12 31 FINMA
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2013
BCBS

US GAAP

CET

BIS
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BIS
12 31 2014 2013

CET 43,322 42,989
6,482 3,072
49,804 46,061
10,947 10,227
60,751 56,288
192,663 175,631
34,468 39,133
58,413 53,075
5,866 6,007
291,410 273,846
CET 14.9 15.7
17.1 16.8
20.8 20.6

2014 2013 12 31

2014 12 31

LLC

LLC 2014 12 31
2015 LLC
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2014

20

2013 12 31

20
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12 31 12 31 2014 2013
158.6 160.3
270.5 255.4
948.2 866.7
1 1,377.3 1,282.4
47.4 47.0
2 28.2 32.1
12014 2013 12 31 29.0
2 2014 2013 12 31 2.0 4.0
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2002

CSS LLC

3.9

AOL

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

OooooOodd
2014
2,332
2,899
(143)
(4,256)
190
1,022
1.8
LLC CSS LLC
- AOL
AOL
2001 2002 CSS LLC
CSS LLC
2012 13
2013
2014 14

472/690



CSS LLC
CSS LLC
2012 11 20
2008 RMBS
CSS LLC
RMBS CSS LLC
2013 12 18
CSS LLC
SCNJ
SCNJ 2014 21
NJAG 2014 CSS LLC
RMBS
CSS LLC
CSS LLC
CSS LLC /
RMBS
RMBS

RMBS
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130

280

CSS LLC
SCNY
2006 2007
RMBS
NJAG
2008 RMBS
CSS LLC
13 RMBS CSS LLC
NJAG CSS LLC
RMBS
2014 10 16

CSS LLC

RMBS

RMBS
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64
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RMBS
RMBS CSS LLC
CSS LLC
RMBS CSS LLC CSS LLC
CSS LLC RMBS
SDNY
CSS LLC
340 SDNY
2014 30 2015 SDNY
2015 23
SDNY CSS LLC
2006-5
1.6 RMBS
SDNY 2014 17 RMBS
RMBS CSS LLC
CSS LLC
125 RMBS 1.4
SDNY
FDIC CSS
LLC 28 RMBS
141 20
FDIC SDNY
CSS LLC 92 RMBS

394

23
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CSS LLC
RMBS 311
34 RMBS
283 12
CSS LLC 12
259
CSS LLC
121 RMBS
CSS LLC
RMBS 1.7 RMBS
9.5 18 373
5.7
CSS LLC
RMBS 110
SCNY CSS
RMBS
CSS LLC
RMBS 2015
RMBS CSS LLC
CSS LLC
CMFG
CSS LLC 70 RMBS
AG SCNY
111 RMBS IKB AG
SCNY CSS LLC 97
CSS LLC 311
SDNY CSS LLC
RMBS SF Ltd. SCNY
CSS LLC 362 RMBS
SA NV SCNY CSS LLC
RMBS
SCNY SCNY
CSS LLC

RMBS
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153
49
CSS LLC

RMBS

SCNY

1.9

249

RMBS

107

97
LLC

CSS LLC

RMBS

RMBS

229

360

65
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0000000
2014 2014
CSS LLC
CSS LLC
CSS LLC
CSS LLC CSS LLC
FHFA
CSS LLC
CSS LLC
CSS LLC
CSS LLC
CSS LLC
CSS LLC
2014 12 10 SDNY 65
RMBS CSS LLC
2014 12 10
SDNY 2015 2014 12 17
Co. U.S.A
RMBS CSS LLC
2015 26
RMBS CSS LLC
RMBS CSS LLC
RMBS 2.2 1.7 2014 14 2013
SDNY FHFA CSS LLC
2014 21 CSS LLC
FHFA  SDNY FHFA
CSS LLC
MBIA MBIA 770 RMBS
FGIC 240
RMBS
RMBS
CSS LLC

MBIA
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FGIC 549 37
SCNY
CSS LLC
570 RMBS
2.2 2014 11 20
U.S.
2014 11 25 SCNY
2015 SCNY U.S.
CIFG CIFG 396
CDS CIFG
SCNY CSS LLC CIFG CIFG CDS CSS LLC
CSS LLC
SCNY CSS LLC CIFG
DLJ DLJ
2006-HE7 319
2006-8 436
2007-1 420
2007-3
206
AMQ 2007-HE2
2007-2
495 CSMC 2007-NC1
DLJ
SPS
2006-1
2006-3 2006-4
730 SPS
2006-5 500
SPS DLJ
SCNY
2013 2013
2006-5 2006-6

2006-7 DLJ
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2008 CSS LLC
SDNY
, Inc.
CSS LLC 2004 2005
263
800
2008 11 CSS LLC 2012
2012
CSS LLC
2012 12 CSS LLC
2014 16 16 CSS LLC
2015
2010
24
2013 24

2015

2014 12
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2011
DOJ
SEC
2006
2014 21 AG SEC
SEC SEC
AG 1934
a 1940
SEC
AG
SEC
SEC
50 196
AG AG
2014 19 AG
DOJ
Fed
IRS
18 371
DOJ 2,000
1,333.5 SEC
715 ¢ Fed
2014
1,598
2014 DOJ

DOJ

82

IRS
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SEC
SEC
2006
2011 DOJ
SEC
15
203 a

AG 2002 2008
AG

AG

a 203 a

64

AG
DFS
AG
AG a
666.5
196 b DFS
100 2,815
892
1,618
SEC Fed DFS
IRS 2014 11 21
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AG
AG SEC DFS
AG
EU
LIBOR
LIBOR
LIBOR LIBOR
LIBOR LIBOR
LIBOR
2014 31
LIBOR
SDNY
2013 29 RICO
2008 30
LIBOR
2013 23
2014
2014
2015
SDNY
AG
SDNY 2015

28
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2015 LIBOR AG
LIBOR
SDNY
AG ISDAFIX
SDNY 2015 12
MAS
2013 14 MAS
20 AG
CSSB MAS
MAS CSSB 20 19
CSSB MAS
400 600
MAS 2014 CSSB
MAS

CSSB
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CDS
2013
DG Comp 13
SO
2009 CDS
DG Comp
SDNY
2014 26
SEC
AG
Csl 2008
CEG
2015 20
ATA
2014 11 10
AG
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ooooooo
DG Comp CDS
CDS ISDA
SO 2006
DG Comp
CDS
2014
DOJ
FINMA
AG
2014 SDNY 30
AG 2014
CSl
CEG
Kyurovdag 51
245
700 2014

(8]

ATA

200
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2015 16
AG
MPS

2014

CSSEL 3.0
BMPS 2008 9.0 CSSEL

BMPS
5.0 BMPS
2.9 490
CSSEL
CSSEL
LBI wuc 16
22
CSSEL
CSSEL
(O8] wuc 170
CSI 2008 10
wuc CSl1
wuc CSSEL Csl
CSSEL
Csl
2014 10
CS1  CSSEL CSSEL
2015 ] 2017
(O8] 2007 226
wuc
sl 2008

2017
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39
(@) ( )
2014 12 31
AG
100 AG 30.0
100 AG 4,399.7
100 AG 5.0
100 2.0
100 CsLp AG 0.1
100 3.0
100 AG 134.1
88 7.5

AG
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(@D) ( )
AG
100 AJP Ltd. 8,025.6
100 S A 53.6
100 . S.A. 1,716.7
100 SA 164.8
100 Re Ltd. 2.0
100 ©C 37.8
100 , Inc. 0.0
100 34.1
100 5.0
S.A.
S.A.
100 98.4
100 130.0
100 52.9
100 5.0
100 6.1
100 13,758.0
100 S.p.A. 139.6
100 SA 150.0
100 S.A.M. 18.0
100 SP.z 0.0 20.0
100 LLC 24.0
100 743.3
100 UK 245.2
100 , Inc. 0.0
100 UK 144.2
100 6.1
GmbH
100 20.0
Ltd
100 0.1
Ltd

100 45.0
100 1,086.8

LLC
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) ( )
100 40.0
100 LLC 737.6
100 0.0
100 LLC 0.0
100 62.5
100 1,050.1
100 23.8
LLC
100 BLV. 0.0
100 356.6
LLC
100 . Inc. 10.0
100 SA. 0.3
100 S A 1.5
100 AG 7.0
100 Inc. 100.0
100 29.6
S.A.
100 32.6
S.A.
100 53.9
1
100 Inc. 4,184.7
100 2 13,107.7
92A,
100 Lp. 43.9
100 AG 15.0
100 Ltd. 1.0
100 LLC 0.0
100 LLC 896.8
100 3,324.0
100 263.3
LLC
100 L LLC 42.2
100 PSL GmbH 0.0
100 Inc. 3.4
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(@) ( )
100 3,859.3
100 530.9
100 2.214.7
100 78.100.0
100 0.0
100 - 100.0
100 97.1
100 ote 30.0
100 500.0
100 L 1,836.1
100 0.1
100 CSAW 0.0

cs
100 L. 0.1
DLJ LBO .
00 7.8
100 DLJ . Inc. 0.0
100 AG 0.1
100 SPS 0.1
99 T 235,000.0
B . 0.1
83 L 341.8
7 300.0
43 AG
80 98
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2014 12 31
AG
100 1t

100 1
100 1®
100 1

50 AECS AG

SECB

25 GmbH

AG

33

E.L. & C.
23 Pty Ltd
1CBC

20 Co., Ltd.

, LLC

2
S.A.

1 US GAAP
2
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2007

2014

26

Inc.
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SEC
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2014 12 31 - . . .
6,392 12,193 18,585 228 248 19,061
(3,894) (6,014) (9,908) (316) 197 (10,027)
2,498 6,179 8,677 (88) 445 9,034
4,137 8,750 12,887 7 157 13,051

73 1,717 1,790 159 77 2,026
1,358 877 2,235 1,7502 (1,854) 2,131
8,066 17,523 25,589 1,828 (1,175) 26,242

@ 126 125 0 61 186
3,510 7,872 11,382 53 (101) 11,334
2,592 6,981 9,573 (101) 62 9,534

253 1,295 1,548 0 13 1,561
2,845 8,276 11,121 (101) 75 11,095
6,355 16,148 22,503 “8) (26) 22,429
1,712 1,249 2,961 1,876 (1,210) 3,627
620 679 1,299 1 105 1,405
1,002 570 1,662 1,875 (1,315) 2,222
0 102 102 0 0 102
1,002 672 1,764 1,875 (1,315) 2,324
406 39 445 0 4 449
686 633 1,319 1,875 (1,319) 1,875
686 531 1,217 1,875 (1,319) 1,773

0 102 102 0 0 102
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1,002 672 1,764 1,875 (1,315) 2,324
0 @n @D 7 0 (20)
2,238 46 2,284 [6)) 4 2,287
0 21 21 0 ) 12
(109) 167 58 0 (1,311) (1,253)
14 0 14 0 an (63)
2,143 207 2,350 6 (1,393) 963
3,235 879 4,114 1,881 (2,708) 3,287
520 9% 614 0 74) 540
2,715 785 3,500 1,881 (2,634) 2,747
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2013 12 31 ,
Inc. 1 1
6,579 12,438 19,017 62 477 19,556
(3,930) (7,377) (11,307) (60) @4 (11,441)
2,649 5,061 7,710 2 403 8,115
3,755 9,302 13,057 4 165 13,226
(516) 3,271 2,755 @3 7 2,739
1,529 263 1,792 2,2882 (2,304) 1,776
7,417 17,897 25,314 2,271 (1,729) 25,856
4 89 93 0 74 167
3,380 7,807 11,187 59 10 11,256
2,843 5,811 8,654 (135) 80 8,599
227 1,499 1,726 1 11 1,738
3,070 7,310 10,380 (134) 91 10,337
6,450 15,117 21,567 @5) 101 21,503
963 2,691 3,654 2,346 (1,904) 4,096
8 1,162 1,170 20 86 1,276
955 1,529 2,484 2,326 (1,990) 2,820
66 79 145 0 0 145
1,021 1,608 2,629 2,326 (1,990) 2,965
575 94 669 0 (30) 639
446 1,514 1,960 2,326 (1,960) 2,326
380 1,435 1,815 2,326 (1,960) 2,181
66 79 145 0 0 145
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1,021 1,608 2,629 2,326 (1,990) 2,965
0 2 2 16 0 18
(668) (1,566) (2,234) 0 1,213 (1,021)
@ (16) (18) 0 14 32)
138 (181) (43) 0 1,087 1,044
0 0 0 0 (95) (95)
(532) (1,761) (2,293) 16 2,191 (86)
489 (153) 336 2,342 201 2,879
471 163 634 0 (109) 525
18 (316) (298) 2,342 310 2,354
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12 31
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7,625 13,914 21,539 81 470 22,090
(4,540) (10,217) (14,757) 79 @111) (14,947)
3,085 3,697 6,782 2 359 7,143
3,934 8,609 12,543 12 193 12,724
1,470 (307) 1,163 1 32 1,196

@ 2,525 2,488 1,3192 (1,259) 2,548
8,452 14,524 22,976 1,310 (675) 23,611
®) 93 88 0 82 170
3,601 8,618 12,219 56 28 12,303
2,132 5,073 7,205 (101) 142 7,246
252 1,433 1,685 1 16 1,702
2,384 6,506 8,890 (100) 158 8,948
5,985 15,124 21,109 44 186 21,251
2,472 (693) 1,779 1,354 (943) 2,190
1,251 (886) 365 5 95 465
1,221 193 1,414 1,349 (1,038) 1,725
17 G0 40) 0 0 (40)
1,238 136 1,374 1,349 (1,038) 1,685
281 52 333 0 3 336
957 84 1,041 1,349 (1,041) 1,349
940 141 1,081 1,349 (1,041) 1,389
17 67 (40) 0 0 (40)
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1,238 136 1,374 1,349 (1,038) 1,685
0 7 7 30 0 37
(567) (685) 1,252) 1 137 (1,114)
2 45) 43) 0 28 (15)
20 39 59 0 (109) (50)
@ 1 @ 0 249 248
(547) (683) (1,230) 31 305 (894)
691 (547) 144 1,380 (733) 791
186 ©1) 95 0 116 211
505 (456) 49 1,380 (849) 580
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2014 12 31 s

Inc. 1 1
4,572 73,428 78,000 917 432 79,349
69 4,035 4,104 0 (2,860) 1,244
152,647 10,561 163,208 0 0 163,208
26,754 100 26,854 0 0 26,854
74,980 166,333 241,313 0 (182) 241,131
3 2,376 2,379 3,981 (3,569) 2,791
2,826 5,641 8,467 46,392 (46,246) 8,613
20,664 235,264 255,928 350 16,273 272,551
892 3,549 4,441 0 200 4,641
731 7,035 7,766 0 878 8,644
115 134 249 0 0 249
25,009 16,620 41,629 0 0 41,629
24,738 45,773 70,511 221 174) 70,558
334,000 570,849 904,849 51,861 (35,248) 921,462
97 26,409 26,506 2,627 (3,124) 26,009
1 357,568 357,569 0 11,489 369,058
120,817 (50,698) 70,119 0 0 70,119
26,754 100 26,854 0 0 26,854
13,133 59,534 72,667 0 (12) 72,655
27,440 (1,519) 25,921 0 0 25,921
67,776 105,171 172,947 4,930 21 177,898
44,029 12,948 56,977 0 0 56,977
13,103 37,545 50,648 345 (23) 50,970
313,150 547,058 860,208 7,902 8,351 876,461
19,693 23,202 42,895 43,959 (42,895) 43,959
1,157 589 1,746 0 (704) 1,042
20,850 23,791 44,641 43,959 (43,599) 45,001
334,000 570,849 904,849 51,861 (35,248) 921,462
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2013 12 31 ,

Inc. 1 1
4,965 63,116 68,081 795 (184) 68,692
81 3,304 3,385 0 (1,870) 1,515
127,153 32,860 160,013 0 9 160,022
23,479 (679) 22,800 0 0 22,800
73,582 156,156 229,738 0 (325) 229,413
2 1,625 1,627 1,481 (121) 2,987
4,522 5,685 10,207 42,570 (42,448) 10,329
20,464 210,693 231,157 3,185 12,712 247,054
891 4,004 4,895 0 196 5,091
658 6,463 7,121 0 878 7,999
78 132 210 0 0 210
25,667 26,377 52,044 0 1 52,045
18,120 43,447 61,567 243 1,255 63,065
11 1,573 1,584 0 0 1,584
299,673 554,756 854,429 48,274 (29,897) 872,806
251 22,896 23,147 3,242 (3,281) 23,108
1 321,677 321,678 0 11,411 333,089
98,600 (4,568) 94,032 0 0 94,032
23,479 (679) 22,800 0 0 22,800
14,304 62,508 76,812 0 Qarn 76,635
42,842 (22,649) 20,193 0 0 20,193
31,909 94,832 126,741 2,784 517 130,042
55,749 17,405 73,154 0 0 73,154
11,310 39,790 51,100 84 263 51,447
19 1,121 1,140 0 0 1,140
278,464 532,333 810,797 6,110 8,733 825,640
18,059 21,408 39,467 42,164 (39,467) 42,164
3,150 1,015 4,165 0 837 5,002
21,209 22,423 43,632 42,164 (38,630) 47,166
299,673 554,756 854,429 48,274 (29,897) 872,806
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Inc. 1 1

(12,175) (6.025) (18,200) 6092 ©9) (17,620)

(7,105) 6,378 @27 0 1,002 275

(10,390) 22,067 11,677 0 8 11,685
0 (1,060) (1,060) (2,217) 2,217 (1,060)

0 118 118 0 812 930

0 187 187 0 153 340
(643) (585) (1,228) (1,352) 1,316 (1,264)

1,218 301 1,519 3 31 1,553
9,061 (32,751) (23,690) 2,482 (2,396) (23.604)

0 1,255 1,255 0 0 1,255
317 (726) (1,043) 0 13) (1,056)

0 1 1 0 0 1

IGEH) 612 601 (10) 15 606

(8.187) (4,203)  (12,390) (1,094) 3,145 10,339

(168) 27,305 27,137 (669) 428) 26,040

14,532 (11,023) 3,509 0 0 3,509
2,999 (34,000) (31,001) 0 0 (31,001)

6,607 67,543 74,150 2,217 (2,208) 74,159
(2,559) (35,312) (37,871) 0 1,400 (36,471)

0 0 0 297 0 297

0 0 0 0 9,394 9,394
0 0 0 (742) (9,455) (10,197)
(1,128) 1,044 84) (1,125) 43) @1,252)
(791) 303 (488) 609 (1,313) (1,192)

19,492 15,860 35,352 587 (2,653) 33,286

485 5,132 5,617 20 153 5,790
®) (452) (460) 0 0 (460)

(393) 10,312 9,919 122 616 10,657

4,965 63,116 68,081 795 (184) 68,692

4,572 73,428 78,000 917 432 79,349

150 113
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Inc. 1 1
6,078 15,939 22,017 4002 (343) 22,074
@ 444 443 0 95 538
(594) 17,714 17,120 0 0 17,120
0 (676) (676) (1.,402) 1,401 677
23 153 176 0 0 176
0 673 673 0 159 832
232 (1,570) (1,338) (2.458) 2,004 (1,792)
2,139 1,026 3,165 481 91 3,737
3,562 (12,139) (8,577) 1,228 @, 777 (9,126)
0 1,483 1,483 0 0 1,483
(238) (657) (895) 0 ®) (903)
0 9 9 0 0 9
1) 202 115 0 7 122
5,036 6,662 11,698 (2,151) 1,972 11,519
95 22,535 22,630 (500) 333 22,463
22,124 (16,122) 6,002 0 0 6,002
(29,400) (6,947) (36,347) 0 0 (36,347)
687 37,227 37,914 2,292 (1,116) 39,090
(4,219) (50,997) (55,216) 0 81 (55,135)
0 0 0 976 0 976
0 0 0 58 9,706 9,764
0 0 0 @11 (9,985) (10,202)
178) (305) 483) (154) 73 (564)
0 0 0 1 @ 0
(165) 901 736 75 (1,279) 468)
(11,056) (13,708)  (24,764) 2,531 (2.188)  (24,421)
74) (1,145) (1,219) 0 7 (1,216)
0 (1,027) (1,027) 0 0 (1,027)
(16) 6,721 6,705 776 (552) 6,929
4,981 56,395 61,376 19 368 61,763
4,965 63,116 68,081 795 (18%) 68,692
161 208
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Inc. 1 1
(4,354) (7,863) (12,127) 3572 (808) (12,668)
) 317 315 0 (131) 184
22,780 24,153 46,933 0 19 46,952
0 (276) (276) 0 (204) (480)
0 936 936 0 0 936
0 1,442 1,442 0 184 1,626
(84) (1,832) (1,916) (3,584) 3,461 (2,039)
1,922 996 2,918 110 76 3,104
1,994 (11,564) (9,570) 1,154 (2,606) (11,022)
0 1,090 1,090 0 0 1,090
(364) (863) (1,227) 0 (15) (1,242)
16 10 26 0 0 26
235 3,441 3,676 28 (21) 3,683
26,497 17,850 44,347 (2,292) 763 42,818
78 (14,083) (14,005) (1,015) 2,453 (12,567)
5,508 (17,151) (11,643) 0 3,803 (7,840)
(20,167) (19,791) (39,958) 0 0 (39,958)
1,625 35,610 37,235 10 1,160 38,405
(6,996) (48,405) (55,401) (1,149) 614 (55,936)
0 0 0 1,930 0 1,930
0 0 0 367 7,988 8,355
0 0 0 (495) (8,364) (8,859)
0 (321) (321) (944) (31) (1,296)
0 42 42 0 (42) 0
(1,749) 5,352 3,603 3,180 (6,389) 394
(21,701) (58,747) (80,448) 1,884 1,192 (77,372)
(120) (1,064) (1,18%) 57 (115) (1,242)
6 (352) (346) 0 0 (346)
328 (50,176) (49,848) 6 1,082 (48,810)
4,653 106,571 111,224 13 (664) 110,573
4,981 56,395 61,376 19 368 61,763
166 46
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FINMA

US GAAP
GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP

US GAAP
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GAAP
US GAAP
US GAAP IFRS
GAAP
FINMA 2008 2 GAAP
US GAAP
100
US GAAP
GAAP
GAAP
GAAP
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US GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP 20

US GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP GAAP FER 26

US GAAP

GAAP
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GAAP

US GAAP
GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP

503/690

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

US GAAP
AOCI

AOCI
GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP

AOCI

GAAP

US GAAP GAAP
US GAAP
GAAP

US GAAP AOCI
GAAP
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US GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP GAAP

US GAAP
GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP
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SOX 404

CRO

CARMC

CEO

CARMC
CRO

CRO
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AG
2014 12 31
€Y)
12 31

2014 2013
263 34,377 381 49,801
241 31,501 62 8,104
23 3,006 35 4,575
167 21,829 192 25,096
9 1,176 0 0
703 91,889 670 87,576
338 44,180 125 16,339
46 6,013 67 8,758
146 19,084 37 4,836
14 1,830 0 0
14 1,830 32 4,183
558 72,936 261 34,115
145 18,953 409 53,460
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2014 12 31 2013 12 31
917 119,861 795 103,914
3 392 7 915
1 131 0 0
297 38,821 235 30,717
1,218 159,205 1,037 135,546
41,789 5,462,240 40,440 5,285,912
4,351 568,719 4,588 599,697
267 34,900 173 22,613
46,407 6,065,859 45,201 5,908,223
47,625 6,225,064 46,238 6,043,769
1 131 3 392
2,954 386,117 2,876 375,922
79 10,326 87 11,372
69 9,019 35 4,575
3,103 405,593 3,001 392,261
4,991 652,374 2,292 299,587
31 4,052 761 99,470
311 40,651 312 40,782
5,333 697,076 3,365 439,839
8,436 1,102,670 6,366 832,100
64 8,365 64 8,365
1,800 235,278 1,800 235,278
17,676 2,310,430 18,504 2,418,658
19,476 2,545,708 20,304 2,653,936
3,929 513,560 3,929 513,560
10,500 1,372,455 10,500 1,372,455
5,075 663,353 4,666 609,893
145 18,953 409 53,460
5,220 682,306 5,075 663,353
39,189 5,122,394 39,872 5,211,669
47,625 6,225,064 46,238 6,043,769
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AG
12 31
2011 12 23
32 2013
2015
2015 15 SNB
0.75 SNB
12 31
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1.20
50
LIBOR

2014 2013

51,612 43,857

51,612 43,857




12 31
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39
2014 2013
0

290 6.00% 2013 2018 290 290
7.50% 2013 12 11 2023 12 11 2,227 2,002

2,250
6.25% 2014 18 2024 12 18 2,474 -

2,500
4,991 2,292
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2014 12 31
1
SIsU
2014 12 31
W 641,334 326,139 967,473 — 8,074,202 8,179,566
L 79,131 522,755 601,886 — 13,505,094 13,110,695
249,617 506,289 755,906 — 13,485,853 12,697,728
96,887 169,842 266,729 - 4,158,932 4,259,637
R 32,146 287,055 319,201 — 7,031,063 7,199,339
318,484 321,385 639,869 — 7,948,267 8,060,336
— 64,060 64,060 — 1,595,094 1,606,625
P — 664,016 664,016 — 17,154,283 16,653,521
S 617,053 386,794 1,003,847 — 9,439,287 9,700,794
A — 158,139 158,139 - 3,857,930 3,966,126
2,034,652 3,406,474 5,441,126 - 86,250,005 85,434,367
2013 12 31
W 1,221,334 416,540 1,637,874 38,051 12,176,651 12,396,697
107,329 536,014 643,343 31,283 16,187,272 15,470,189
136,344 231,491 367,835 11,636 6,128,891 6,630,073
- 258,127 258,127 14,545 6,907,523 7,435,765
R 17,469 387,642 405,111 7,565 9,422,493 10,777,295
189,478 417,112 606,590 23,273 11,248,886 12,009,299
S 617,053 532,112 1,149,165 31,160 14,344,561 15,360,428
A — 216,875 216,875 7,191 5,461,314 6,110,280
M — 286,098 286,098 27,735 9,597,358 8,558,226
2,289,007 3,282,011 5,571,018 192,439 91,474,949 94,748,252
1
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2 2014

144,186

2014 12 31

316,675
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2014 2013
229,492 230,402
19,763 17,918
18,243 15,464
52,984 49,014
21,550 17,701
46,859 42,569
56,665 44,951
176,974 114,666
59,081 56,464
25,155 —
184,668 212,530
2,779 —
70,482 48,471

964,695 850,150 2




12014

2013 12 31
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2014 2013
5,183,154 141 27,036,831 602
(452,459) (12) 167,682 4
7,666,658 192 5,183,154 141
(938,896) 4) (452,459) 12)
0.5 0.3
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2013

2013
2014

2013
2014
2014
2014

2013
2014

2013
2014
2014

12

12
12

12

31

31
31

31

AGM

12

12
12

12
12
12

1.400.0
2.98.9

10

43

31

31

31
31
31

AGM

AG

EDINETOOOO
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1,596,119,349 63,844,774
400,000,000 16,000,000
400,000,0001 16,000,000
11,049,598 441,984
(11,049,598) (441,984) 11,049,598 441,984
30,000,000 1,200,000
30,000,000 1,200,000
150,000,000 6,000,000
150,000, 0002 6,000,000
112,447,713 4,497,909
112,447,713 4,497,909
1,607,168,947 64,286,758
1.0
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Consolidated financial stalemenls - Credit Suisse Group 233

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated statements of operations

2014
Consolidated statemenis of oparations ICHF mdliand
ud | 1
Ml revenues 6,242 5 A5G Z3Em
Provision for cradi losses L T 167 170
Total operating sxpensss 2420 1,543 2128
Imcomae lrom continuing operaticns belore tanes 3027 o 2,180
Incoms lvomn conflinuing operalions 2,222 220 1,718
Lo ] Qe il el af ks | 148 4
Ml incesns 2,324 2,985 1,885
Bt b s e e - S — 44% X
Mt incomaloss) sitnbulable be sharsholders 1,875 2326 1249
Basic sarnings per share (SHF)
T —y T
Basic waming s par shase i 1.08 122 1%}
Diluisd smmings per shans (CHF)
Daluad sarnings per share E 107 122 o
Consolidated statements of comprehensive income
2014
Cormgrehensive incoms (CHF million)
] e F
i e . ¥ K f i
Comprahsmine inooma 3,287 2,878 Tel
- e kg atiriiable o norconiroling rdomst : ;
Comprehensive income sttributable bo shareholders 2,747 2354 sa0

The accomparying noles to the conscldaled financial stalements are an infegral par of these statements.
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Consolidated balance sheets
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Assets (CHF millien)

Tolsl assels

The accompanying robes 1o 1he congolidated firancal stalements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated balance sheets (continued)
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Consolidated financial slatements - Credit Suisse Group

Liakiligos and equily (CHF millien}

Total lishilitiss
bl el | fugoed Ipata

Tolal shareholders' sgquit
Total equity

Total Habilties and squity

2014

&8, 401

47,850
45,000

&2 .462

E25.640

42,104
AT 108

LEFF:D

Additional share inlermatisn

The accompanying notes to the conschdated financial stalements are an infegral par of these statements,
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Consolidated statements of changes in equity
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2014 (CHF milliga)

Balancs o8 beginping of pariod (2] 27 B53 0.6 38 (15,875
R T M e
n N 1 w1 (8 ] c:
ta
R . 1
Tl
1 ax 1
- = .
¥
F e oA i3 =l
Ralance al end of paricd (2] 27 607 prdalis] aEy (15,0003
2013 (CHF ;‘“Iilll'.lﬂl — o ) T -
Balance ol beginning of perod Lx] 23 &8 AT A58 (150000
F cha i shaadiary = - [Tes =
i T

Balance i end of paricd B4 27 B3 30,261 (13s (15,875

The accompanying robes 1o 1he congolidated firancal stalements are an integral part of these statements.
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4164

43850

5408

42,184

5002

1042

8,748

5,002

Total
ey

AT, 166

45,001

42364
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Consolidated financial stalements — Credit Suisse Group 237

Consolidated statements of changes in equity (continued)

Totuld
Traamny hpe- 4
Pl o £ Febd i bem hidd#ra rfiroding Tkl
I equity bt gt ety
2012 (CHF miliand
48 21,708 2T 053 200 (51340 T rAan 41,085

Balsnce at beginning of peiod

Balance at wnd of paricd 3 23,638 8,171 W3 (580 XA 8,784 4308

The accompanying notes to the conschdated financial stalements are an infegral par of these statements,
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Ceonsolidated statements of cash flows
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Dperabng scinties of contimuing eperateons (CHF mallan)
Hat incoms

Inecama Irom conlimuing opadalion

Adpustrents ta recancle rol moeme/ (o) 1o nel cash provided bydluted in

operaling adtivities of continuing operations (CHF millior)

et cash provided byw'losed ind operating activties of costinuisg operalions
Anvwestirg s trvities of continuing operations (CHF millios}

Het cazh provided byp'ieied ind hmling_ activities of continuing operalicn:

2314

LIBT3

The accompanying robes 1o 1he congolidated firancal stalements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated financial slatements - Credit Suisse Group

Consolidated statements of cash flows (continued)
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2014 Lk

Financang scimities of contimuirg eperateons (CHF el

e il W el ) i g 13 bl i € Aorme depnni o 3 X

) e Fort-4 sy 3,50 L1 LA

T e £ i } 1P L

¥ pai £k .
Had cash provided byfmeed in) imancing activilies of continumg operations h2es ARy  (TATH
Effect of exchange rale changes on cash and due frem bank s (CHF million)
Elfach ol axchangs sl changss on cash and dies Irom banks 5,790 [R5 1-1] {1342
Met cash provided by/used inl discentinued operaions (CHE millon)
Fiel cash provided byfused ) dscomlioe ad opasrslicm (450} 1,037 {348)
Met incresse/decrenne) im essh and dus from banics (CHF rllarm)
sl incraas e (decrease) in cash and dus from banks 10,657 BA20  (48,810)
Canh and duwe from banks at end of period T, a4 LB 61,76
Supplemental cash flow information

Cash paid for income taxes snd interest (CHF milliany

Assety seguired and Habilites staumed i buliness sequesitier (CHF millien:

Fairvahue of kabtes asumed
Astels and liabsktien wold i Bbudiness divestiutes (CHF millisn)
ot mokd

The accompanying notes to the conschdated financial stalements are an infegral par of these statements,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

The accompanying consoldated financial statements of Credit
Suisse Group AG (the Group) are prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generaly accepled in the US (US GAAF)
and are staled i Swiss francs (CHF). The financial year for the
Giroup ends an December 31, Certain rectssdfications hive been
made o the prior year's consclidaled financial statements fo
canfermn fo the cument presentalan which had no impact oa el
meomeYlss) or total sharehokders’ equity.

In prepaging the consobdated financal statements, manage-
ment i requared to make estmates and assumptions mchading, bat
ned Imded to, the © far value measurements of certain firancial
assets and liabities, the allowance for lcan losses, the evahation
of variable interest entdies (VIEs), the impainment of assets other
than lkeans, recognition of deferred tax assets, tax uncerlaintas,
pension habilties, as well as vanous contingencies. These esti-
mates and assumplions affect the reported amaunts of assets and
liab#2ms and the disclosure of contingent assets and hiabdties as
of tha dates of {he conschdated balance sheets and the reporied
amounts of revenues and expenses during the meporting pericd.
While management evaliates s astimales and assumptions on
an ongoing basis, actual resulls could differ materially from man-
agement's estimates. Market conditions may increase the sk and
complexity of the pdgments applied in these estimates.

Principles af consolidation

The conschdated financial stabements inchede the financial state-
ments of the Group and its subsidianes, The Group's subsidiar-
s are entilws n whech f holds, directly ar andirectly, mere than
50% of tha voling rights or where it exercisas conteol. The Growp
consolidates bmited pantnarships in cases where it is the general
pariner of & a hinded partner with substantive nghts to kick st
the general pariner or dissobe the partnership and participate
in significart decisions made in the ordinary course of business.
The Group also consolidates VIiEs where the Group is the primary
beneficiary in accordance with Accourting Sandards Codification
{ASC) Topic 810 = Consolidation. The etfects of materal inlercom-
pany transactions and balances have bean eliminated.

Whese a Group subsidary i 2 separals legal erity and deler-
mineed to be an imvesiment company as defined by ASC Topic 846
- Financial Senaces — Imesimant Companies, interests in other
entities held by this Growp subsidiary are not consobdated and are
carried at fair valua.

Group enlflies that qualify as broker-dealer entities as definad
by ASC Topic 840 - Financial Services - Brokers and Dealers do
ncd consolidate imestmeants in veling interest endifies thal would
otherwise qualify for consabdation when the invesiment is held on
a temporarny basis for frading purposas. In additien, subsidaries
that are drategic components of a brokee-dealers’ operations are
consalidated regardiess of holding irtent.

Foreign currency translation

Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functioral
currency of tha related entily are recorded by remeasuring them
in the funclional curency of the refated entily using the foreign
exchange rate on the date of the fransaction, As of the dates of
the consobdated balance sheets, monelary assets and liabiltees,
such as recanables and payables, are reperied using the yeaar-
end spot foregn exchange rates. Foreign exchange rate ditfer-
ences ame recofded in the consobdated stalements of operations.
Men-manetary assats and kabiithes are recorded wing the histon:
exchangs rate.

For the purpase of consolidation, the assets and habites of
Group companies with functional currencies other than Swiss
francs are 1ranslated into Swiss franc equsvalenis using year-and
spal fereign exchange rates. whereas revenues and expenses
ama franslated using the weighted average foreign exchange rale
for the year. Transkation adjustments arising from consolidation
are included In accurmutated others comprehansive incomes{less)
{AOCI) within total shareholders’ equity. Cumulative franslation
adpstments are released from ACCH and recorded in the can-
solidated statemerts of operations when the Group disposes and
loses condrol of a consobdated foreign subsidiary.

Fair value measurernent and aption

The tair value measuremant gudance establishes a single authon-
tative definition of fair vakee and sets oul a framework for measur-
ing fair value. The fair value option creates an alternatie measura-
merd treatment for cedain financial assets and firancal labikwes.
The fair vales option can be elacted at inftial acquisfiion of tha
elgible dem or al the date when the Group enters inlo an agree-
merd which gres fse 1o an ehgible tem (... a firm commil maent
or & written loan commetment). If not elected at indtial recognition,
{he fair value aption can be apphed to an fem upen certain ing-
genng averts that give rise to a new basis of accounting for that
dem. The apphcation of the far value option fo a financial asset or
a firancial labity does not change #s chssification on the face of
the balance sheefl and the election is mevocable. Changes in fair
walue resulting from the elisction are reconded in irading revenues.

Cash and due from banks

Cash and due from banks consisls of currency on hand, dermnand
deposits with banks or other financial nstitutions and cash equia-
lents. Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly Biquid
instruments with cmginal matunties of theee months or less, which
am heald for cash managemenl purposes.

Reverse rapurchase and repurchase agreemants

Purchases of securiies under resale agreements (© reverse repur-
chase agreements) and securities sald under agreemants 1o rpur-
chase subslantially identical securities (2 repurchase agreamenis)
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do nol censtilute economic sales and are therefore treated as col-
Iateralized financing transactiens and are carned in the consoli-
dated balance shee! al the amount of cash disbursed or recened,
respecively. Reverse repurchase agreements are recorded as col-
lxleralized assats while repurchase agreements are recaorded as
lizbilitees, with the underlying securities sold continuing fo be rec-
ognized n trading assets o imvesiment secunties. The fair value
of securities fo be repurchased and resold is monitored on a dady
baus, and sdditional eoliateral i oblaned as neaded 1o predect
against credil exposure.

Assels and habilties recorded under these agreements ane
accounted for on one of two bases, the accrual basis or the fair
value basis. Under the accrual basis, interes! samed on reverse
raplrchase agreement s and nteres! mcwrmed on repurchase agree-
mants are reporied in imerest and dividend income and interost
expense, respectively. The far value basis of accounling may ba
elected pursuant te ASC Topic 825 - Financial instturnents. and
any resulling change in far value ks reported in trading revenuas.
Accrued interest income and expensa are recordad in the same
manner as under tha acorual mathod. The Group has electad the
fair value basis of accounting on some of s agreement s.

Reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements are netted if
they are with the sama counderparly, have the same maturdy date,
settle through the same cleanng instiution and are subect 1o the
same master netling agreement,

Securities lending and borrowing lransactions

Secwrities borrowed and securities lcanad thal are cash-collter-
alzed are included in the consolidated balance sheets al amounts
equal to the cash advanced or recened, if secunties recenved in
a sacurities lending and borowing transaction as collsteral may
b s0ld or repledged, they are recorded as securtties received as
colateral i the conseldated balance sheel and a commespanding
hiabdlity 1o refurn ihe security i recorded. Secueilies lending trans-
aclions against non-cash collaberal i whath the Group has the
right to resell or repledge the colialeral recened are recorded al
the fair vadue of the colateral indally recened. For securities lend-
ing fransactions, the Group recenes cash or securtms colateral
in an amount generally n excess of the market value of securi-
ties lent, The Group monfors the fir value of securties borrawed
and lcaned on a dady basis with additional colateral obtamed as
NECSSsary.

Fees and inlerest recered or paid are recorded in mlerest
and dividend income and interest expeanse, respactieely, on an
accrual basis. Inihe case where the fair value basis of accounting
is slected, any resulling change in fair value & reported n trading
revenues. Accrwed inberast income and expense are recorded in
the same mannes as under the accneal method,

Transfers of financial assets

The Group transfers various financial assets, which may rasull in
the sake of these assals io special prepose enlities (SPEs), which
in burm Bgue secunties io mestors. The Greup values ds beneficial
ineresis at fair value wing quated market prices, if such positions
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are traded on an active exchange or financial madels that incorpe-
rale observable and unobsanable inputs.

bt micrerdl e s

Trading assets and llabilities

Trading assets and Ebiltes include debl and equity securims,
derivative instruments, cariain loans held in broker-dealar entitias,
commodities and precious metals, tems included in the trading
portfobo are carmd af fair value and chassfied as held for tradng
purpsses based on marageman's inent. Ragulae-way sacurity
transactons ane recorded on a trade-date basis, Unrealzed and
realred gans and lkosses on trading posiions are recorded n irad-
e rEvEnLgS.

Freestanding © dervalive contracls are carmied a1 fair value in the
consolidated balance sheets regardless of whather these nstru-
mants are held for trading or risk managemant purposes. Com-
mitmants o orgnate mortgage loans that wil be held for sale are
consadarad derivalives for accounting purposes. When derrative
features embedded in cerlaim confracts thal meel the defintien
of @ derivative are ot considared clearly and closaly raiated to the
hast confract, eithar the ambedded feature s accounted for sepa-
rately at fair value o the enfire contract, including the embedded
fealure, is accounted for af fair value. In both cases, changes in
fair value ate recorded in the consolidated statements of opera-
tions. i separated for measurement purposes. the dermvalive is
recorded in fhe samea lina item in ihe consoldated balance sheats
as the host contract,

Dervatives classied as trading assets and liabilitias include
these held for trading purposes and those used for sk manage-
mant purposes that do not qually fer hedge accoumting, Deriva-
tives held for trading purposes anse from propretary Irading activ-
ity and from cusiomer-based acihty. Reakzed gains and losses,
changes in unrealzed gaing and losses and interest flows are
included in trading revenues. Demative contracts desigrated and
qualidying as fairvalue hedges, cash flow hedges or nel restmant
hedges are reported as other assels or ather Eabilites.

The fair value of exchange-traded dernvatives = fypically
derived from chsarvable market prices and/or cbserable market
parameters. Fair vakees for © ower-the-counler (OTC) dervalies
are determined on the basis of proprietary madels using varicus
input parametars. Darnvalies conracts are recorded on a net basis
per counterparty, where an enforceable master netting agreement
exists, Where no such agreement ewsts, fair values are recorded
on & gross basis,

Where hedge accounting is appled, the Group formally docu-
meants all relationships between hedging mstruments and hedged
itams, inchading the risk management objecthes and strategy for
urdertaking hedge trangactions. Al inceplion of a hedge and on
an ongeing basis, the hedge relationship is formally assessed to
determing whether the dervatives that are used in hedging trans-
actions are highly effective in offselting changes n fair vakms or
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cash fliows of hedged items atinbutable to the hedged risk. The

Group discontnues hedge accounting prospectively in the follow-

ing cincumstances:

(i} the dervative is no longer effectie in offsetling changes in the
fair valee or cash flows of a hedged tem (including forecasted
{ransactions);

(i} the dernative expirés of is sokd, termirated or exerceed;

{ii} the dernative is no lenger designated as a hedging instrument
because it is unlikely that the forecasted transaction will ceur;
o

(i) the desigration of the dervatie as 3 hedging nstrument (s
otherwise no longer appropriate,

For dednatives thal are desigrated and qualfy as fair value hedges,
1he carrying value of tha underlying hedged items is adjusied lo
fair value for the nisk being hedged. Changes in the fair vake of
1hese deriathes are recorded in The same ling 2em of the conseli-
dated statements of operations as the change in fair value of the
risk being hedged for the hedged assets or kabdities fo the extent
the hadge is affectve. The changs n fair valus representing hedge:
ineffacivaness is recorded separately in trading reverues.

When the Group discontinues fair valie hadge accounting
because & delermines thal the dervalve no longer quakfies as an
effective fair value hedge, the derivalive will continue to be camed
in the consohdated balance sheets ot As far value, and the hedged
assat or labilty wil no longer be adjusted for changes in fair value
afirbutable fo the hedged rsk. Inferest-related fasr value adjust-
ments made to the underlying hedged dems wil be amorized to
the eonsobdated statements of operations ower the remamning life
of the hedged item. Ay vnamartged mierast-related fair value
adustment = recorded in the consalidated statements of spera-
tiens upen sale or estinguishment of the hedged asset or kability,
fespectively, Any ather fair vahie hedge adjustments reman par of
the carrying amaunt of the hedged asset or kability and are recag-
nized in the consolidated statements of operations upen disposi-
tion of the hedged dem as part of the gain or loss on dispasition

For hedges of the variabdity of cash flows from forecasied
transactions and fleating male asseds or iabities, the effectve por-
tien of the change in the fair valuve of a designated demative is
recarded in AQCI These amounts are reclassified inte the Ena
em in the consobdated statements of operations in which the
hedged dam i recorded when the vanabla cash flow fram tha
hedged tem mmpacts earnings (for example, when perodic seftle-
mants on 3 vanable rate asset or Eabildy are recarded in the con-
salidaled statements of operations or when the hedged item is
disposed of), The change in falr vakes represanting hedge ineffec-
{wenaess is recorded saparately in rading revenues.

When hedge accounting is discontinued on a cash fiow hedge,
the et gain of kess will rermain m AOCH and be reclssified ino the
consolidated statements of operations in the same period or pari-
ods during which the farmarly hedged transaction & reparted inthe
consabdated stalamants of operations. When the Group discontin-
ues hedge aceouring because d s probable that a ferecasied
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{ransaction will not ocour within the specified date or pemod plus
twe manths, he dermalam wil comtinue 12 be carmed n the con-
soldated balance sheets at its fair value, and gains and losses that
wire: previously reconded in ADC! will be recognzed immediately in
the consolidated staterments of operations,

Fer hedges of a net iwestment in a foreign operation, the
change in the fair value of 1he hedgng derative i3 recorded in
ADCHto the extent the hedge is effective. The change in fair vaiue
reprasenting hedge meffecteness is recerded in trading reve-
mees, The Group uses the forward method of determinng effec-
frvanass for net imestment hedgas, which rasufis in the fime vale
portian of a foreign cumency foraand beng reported m ADCH o the
exlent the hedge & effective.

Investment securities

Imvestment sacurities include debt securities classified as held-to-
maturity and debd and marketable equily securiies classified as
available-for-sale. Regular-way security fransactions are recorded
on a trade-dale basis.

Debt sacunties where the Group has the postive infent and
abdiy to hold such securities to maturity are classified as such and
are camed ot amoriized cost, net of any unamarized premium or
discount.

Debt and aquity securites classified as availabla—for-zale are
carried at fair value, Unreaized gains and losses, which represent
the difference bebween fairvake and amortized cost, am recoeded
in AQCI. Armounts reported in A0CH are net of income taces

Amerization of premisms or discownts is recorded in inferest
and dvidend income using the effective yield method through the
maturity date of the securdy,

Recognition of an impairmant on debl securdies & recorded n
the consolidated statements of operations i a decline in fair value
bebow amerded cost i considened olher-than-temparary, thal is,
amounts due according to the contractual terms of the security
ame naol considered collectible, typically due 1o detenoration in the
creditworthiness of the isswer, Mo impairment is recorded in con-
mection with declines resulting from changes in inferest rales lo
the axtent the Group does not intend o sell the rvestments, nor
is A moee lkely than not that the Group will be required to safl the
investments befese the recovery of thar amortized codt bases,
which may be malurily.

Recagnition of an impairment on equity secuntias s recorded
in the consobdated statements of operations if a declne in fair
value balow the cost basis of an investment is considered cthar-
than-temporary. The Group generally consders unrealized losses
on equity securilies 1o be ctherthan-temporary if the fair value has
baen below cost for mora than s months o by mare than 20%.

Recognition of an impairment for debt or equity securities
esiablishas a new cost basis, which is not adusted for subsagquent
recovenas,

Unreatized logses on madable-for-sale securfies are recog-
nized in the conselbdaled statements of oparations when a decision
Feas been made 1o g6l a secunty,
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Other investments

Other investments include equity method Fwestments and non-
markeiable equity securilies such as private equily. hedga funds,
ard reglricled stock imestments, certain imvestments in non-mar-
kelable mutual funds for which the Group has neither significant
infleance nor contral over the investes, and real estate held for
irnesbmend.

Equity method iwesiments are imvesiments where the Group
has the abdty te signficantly nfiuence the operating and financial
policies of an imvestes, Significart mfluence is typically charastes-
ized by ownership of 20% to 50% of the woling stock or m-sub-
fance common stock of a corporation of 5% & mare of bmited
partnership inferests, Equity mathed swestments are accounted
for under the equity method of accourting or the fair value option.
Under the equity methed of accounting, the Group's share of the
profit or loss, as wel as any impairment on the imvestea, if appl-
cable, are reported in other revenues. Under the fair value oplion,
changes in fair value are reported in other revenues. The Group
has eleciad the far value basis of accounting on some of is equiy
mathod reestmends,

The Group's ciher non-marketabla equity securties are car-
ned at cost less elher-than-temporary mpairmend o at fair value §
alected under the far value aption. Mon-markelable equity secu-
rities hald by the Group's subsidiaries that are detesmined fo ke
imvestment companies as defined by ASC Topic 946 - Financial
Sandaces — Imvesiment Companies are carmed at fair valea, with
changes in fair value recorded in other revenues,

Equity method swestments and non-marketable equity securi-
ties held by brokar-dealer entilies as defined by ASC Topic 840
- Financial Services — Brokers and Dealers are measured at fair
value and reported in trading assels when the mtent of tha brokes-
dealer entity is 1o hold the assel temporarily for irading purposes.
Changes n far valie are reported in tradng fevenues,

Real estate held for mestment puposas is carried af cost less
accumulated deprecadion and i depreciated ower ils estimaled
useful [ife, generally 40 to 67 years. Land is carried at hastorical
cost and is not deprecated. These asseds are tested for impairmant
anmazlly, or mane froquently, # events or changes in crcumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Recogni-
ticn of an impairment on such assets establishes a new cost basa,
whech is not adjusted for subsequant recoveries invalue,

In connection with the iife finance business, the Group ilvests in
sngle premium immediale annufties (SPIA) which are camied af far
value wilh the related fair vake changes repored in trading revenues.
The Iife firamce business also imvests in e satilement contracts,

Loans

Loans, which the Group infends to hold until maturity, are carried
at outstanding principal balances plus accmeed inferast, et of the
following fems: unamarized premiums, descounts on punchased
lans, deferred loan origination fees and direct loan origination
eosts on anginaled laans, Interest incoms i accrued on the unpaed
principal balance and nei deferred premwms/discounts and fees”
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costs are amortized as an adjustment to the loan yield over fhe
term of the related bans.

Loans are divided in two portfolio segments, “consumer” and
‘corporale & institulional’. Consumer loans are disaggregated into
the classes of mortgages, leans collateralized by securities amnd
consumer finance, Corporate & institutional loans are disaggre-
gated into the classes of real etate, commerncal and industrial
loans, financal instdutions and govermmeants and public instiludions.

Lease financang transaclions whare the Graup s (he lasser ane
classified as loans, Unsarned mcome i amorized lo inlerest and
dradend income gver the lease term using the effecthe interest
rethod,

In accordance with Group policies, impawed keans mchsde non-
performing loans, non-inferest-earning bans, restruciured loans
ard polentsal problem loans.

= W e i i drd o ualsy o

The allowance for loan bsses i comprised of the folowing com-
ponents: probable credit losses inherant in the porifolio and those
ossas spectficaly dentified. Changes in tha alowance for loan
Inssas are recorded in the consobidated statements of cparations
in provision for credit lossas and in inflerest income (for prosasions
on past due mterest).

The Group evaluates many factors when estimating the allow-
ance for lean losses, ncluding the valatilty of defaut probabilities,
miing chamges, the magnitude of polentzl loss, mternal risk rak-
ings, and geagraphic, mdustry and alher economic factars, The
companent of the allowance rpresenting probable losses inharem
in the partialio is for loans not spaciically dantified as impaired
and that, on a porfolio basis, are consdered to contain probable
mharart loas, The estirate of this comganent of the allowance for
the consumer loans portfolio isvohes appling historical and cur-
rerd defauit probablities. histoncal recovery experience and related
current assumphions to homogenous loans based on infternal nsk
rafing and product type. To estimate this component of the allow-
ance far the corporate & insttutional kans portfolio, the Group
sagregales lcans by risk, indusiry or coamtry rating. Excluded from
this astimale process ame consumes and corperate & matiutional
loans that have been specifically ientified as impaired or ane held
gt faw valua. For lending-related commémends, a provision for
losses s eslimated based on tustorical boss and recovery exper-
ence and recordad in cther labdties. Changes in the estimate of
sses for lending-relaled commitments are recordad in the con-
solidated staterments of operations in provision for credi bosses.

The estimate of the component of the allowance for spe-
cifically identfied credd losses on impaired kans i based on a
ragular and dedaded analysis of each loan i the partielic con-
sidering collateral and counterparty risk. Tha Group considers a
loan impared when, based on cutent information and events, i
is probable that the Group will be unable to coliact the amounts
due accarding 1o the contractus! terms of the lan agreement. For
certan non-collateral-dependent impaired loans, an mpairment &

o
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measured using the present vake of estimated futwre cash flows,
except that as a practical expadient an impairment may be mea-
sured based on a lean's observable market price. For collaleral-
dependent impatred loans, an mparment s measwed using {he
fair value of fhe collateral

A boan is classified as non-performing no kxter than when the
contractual payments of principal andsfar inlerest are more than
90 days past due except for subprime resideniial lans which are
clagsfied a3 non-performang ne keter than when the contractual
paymends of principal and/gr infterest are mare than 120 days past
duse, The addiional 30 days ensure that these loans are nol incor-
rectly assessed a3 non-performing during the time when sericing
of them typically is being transferred, However, managemen! may
determing thal a lan should be classified a3 non-performing not-
withstanding that contractual payments of prncipal and/or infer-
est are less than 90 days past due of, in the case of subprime
residential loars, 120 days past due. For non-performing leans, a
presision is recorded in an amount aqual o any accreed but unpaid
interest al the date the laan is classified as non-performing, result-
ing in a charga to tha consclidated statemants of operations. In
addition, the Group continues to add accrued mterast receivable
ta the lsans balance for collechion purpases; howeves, a provision
is mcorded resulling in na interest income recognition. Thareafiar,
1he outstanding principal balance is evaluated 2t leasl anrsally for
collectibilty and a provison i established as necessary,

A loan can be further downgraded to non-inferesi-eaming
when the collection of interest i considered so doubiful that fur-
1her accrual of interest s deemed nappropriate. A1 thal tme, and
on at least a quarlerly basis thereafier depending on vamous nsk
factors, the outstanding pringipal balance, net of provissans previ-
cusly recorded, is evalusted for collectibaity and addilional prowi-
sians ane establshed as required.

Generally, man-performang leans and aon-inlefest-earming
leans may be restored lo performing status only whan delinquent
principal and inferest are brought up bo date in accordance wih
the terms of the kan agreement and when cerdain performance
criterta ara mek.

Inferest collacted on non-performing kaans and noneirkerest-
eaming loans is accounted for using the cash basis or the cost
recovery method or a combanation of boih.

Loans {hat were modified in a troubled debt restructuring ame
reported as restructured loans. Generally, a restruciured ban
would have been consddered impared and an associaled allow-
ance for kan lassas would have bean established prior to the
restructunng. Loans modified in a troubled debt restructuring are
reporied as restructured loans to the end of the reporting year
in which the loan was madified or for as long as an allowance
for koan losses based on the terms specified by the restruchunng
agreement is associated with the restructured loan or an interest
cancession made & the time of the restructuring exists. In mak-
ing the delerrminalion of whelher an inferest rale concession has
bean made, markel inferest rales for loans with comparable rsk
o berrewers of the same credd qualily are eonsidered. Loans that
have been restruclured n a troubled debt restructuring and are
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performing according to the new terms continus to accrue mterest.
Lean restructunngs may inclode the recept of assets n satisfac-
tion of the loan, the modificalion of lean terms (e.q.. reduction of
inferest rates, extension of malurily dates at 2 slated inlerest rale
ket than the current marked rate for new loans with smilar risk,
of reduciion in principal amourts and/or accrued inferest batances)
or a combination of both

Potential problem loans are impaired loans where contraclual
paymants have been recenved according fo scheduls, bul whene
doubt exists as 1o the colection of fulure condractual payments.
Polentml problem loans are evaluated for mpairmant on an indi-
vidual basis and an allowance for lean losses i esfablished as
necessary. Potential problem leans continue 1o accmes mlesas!,

The amerizalion of net lnan fees or costs on impased loans
is generally descontinued during the periods in which matured and
ungar] inferest or principal is oulstanding. On settlemant of a loan,
if the loan balance & not collected in full, an allewance is estab-
lishd for the uncollacted amount, if necessary, and the lan is
then writben off, net of any deferred loan fees and costs.

Virke-off of a bban sccurs when & B8 considesed cartain that
there is no posshilty of recovering the outsianding principal.
Recovenes of lnans previsusly writben off are recerded basad on
the cash or estimated fair value of other amounts recenved

ITa—— i sy by wardha=cdd of @

oans, which the Graup intends to sall in the foreseeabls fulure,
afe considered held-for-sale and are carned a the kower of amor-
tized cost or markel vakue delermined on either an individual
method basis, or in the aggregate for pools of similar oans if sold
of securticed as 2 pool. Leans held-for-sale are mcluded m olher
assets. Gains and bsses on bans held-for-sale are recorded n
olher reverues,

Purchased kans for which it is probable at acquisdion that all
contractually required payments will nol be receded are recorded
al thesr nel purchass price and no allbwances are carried over
The excess of the estimated cash flows to be collected over the
amount pakd is accreled inte interest income over the estimated
recovery perod when reasonable estimates can be made about
tha timing and amount of moovery. The Group does not considar
such kans to be impaired at the fime of acquisition. Such kbans
am deamed impared only if the Group's estimate of cash to be
receivad decreasas below the eslimate al the time of acquisition.
Increases in the estimated expected recovery are recorded as a
reversal of alkewances, if any, and then recognized as an adjust-
ment of the effective yield of the loan,

o al Tal fakr val

Loans ard loan commitments for which the fair value aption is
elected are reported at fair value wih changes in fair value

526/690

oOoOooodn



reparied in frading revenues. The application of the fair valus
opticn does not change the lcan’s classification. Lean commit-
ments carried at faw value are recorded in clher asseds or other
lixbilitees, respectively.

Premises and equipment

Framzes are cartied ol cost less accumulated depreciation and
are depreciated on a siraight-ine basis over ther estimated useful
Ives, ganerally 40 to 67 years. Land & cared al histoncal cost
and 15 not deprecialed, Alteralions and improvemaents to renbed
premises are depraciated on a straight-line basls over the shorter
of the lease term or estimated useful Be, which & not 10 exceed
ten years, Other tangibla fixed assels such as computers. machn-
ery, furreshings, vehicles, other equipment and building smprove-
ments are depreciated using the strasght-line methed over their
estimated useful lves, genaraly thres to ten years.

The Grewp capitalies costs relating to the acquistion, instal-
lation and development of software wilh a measurable sconomic
benefit, but only i such costs are identifiable and can be relably
maasured. The Group depreciates capdalized software costs on
a straight-line basis ower the estimated useful life of the software,
generally nol excaading thee years, taleng inlo consideration the
effects of obsolascence, technology, competition and othar ece-
namic factors.

The Group reflects finance leasng actndies for which # 5 the
lesses by reconding an assel in premises and equipment and a
comresponding abilty in ofher kabities &t an amount equal fo the
smaller of the presert value of the minenum lease payments or fai
value, and the leased assat is depreciated over the sharter of the
asset’s estimated useful e o the lease term,

Goodwill and ather intangible assets
Goodwill arises on the acquisdion of subsidiares and equity
method e stments, it is measured as the excess of ihe fair value
of the considesation fransferred, the fair vakee of ary moncorirel-
fing intarest in the acquiree and the fair value of any prewiously held
equity irterest in the acquired subsadiary, ower the net of the acqui-
ston-date fair values of the dentfiable assets acqured and the
liabilities assumed. Goodwill is ot amortized; instead it is tested
for mpanment annually, or mede frequently if svents or changes
in circumstances indicate thal goodwill may be impared. Gocdwil
i allocated to the Group's reporing unis for the purposas of the
impairment test

Orthar iflangible assats may be acqueed indiidually or as part
of a group of assels assumed in a business combanation. Other
intangible assels include bud are not fmiied toc patents. boenses,
copyrights, trademarks, branch nelworks, morigage sarvicing
nighls, customer base and deposil relalionships. Acqueed intan-
gible assats am inflially measwed at the amoant of cash disbursed
ar the far value of olher assets distrbuted. Other inftangble assets
that have a finte ugeful Me are amenized cvar that pericd, Othes
intangible assels acquired after January 1, 2002, that are deter
rrned to bave an indefinde useful lfe, are nol amortzed; nstesd
they are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
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evenls or changes in circumstances indicate thal the indefinite
mlangible assel may be impaied. Mortgage senating nghls ane
included in non-amortzing olher intangible assets and are carried
at far value, with changes in far value recognized through earn-
ngs m the pericd in which they ocow. Mortgage senicing nights
represent ihe right 1o perform specified mortgage senacing activi-
ties on behalf of thed parties. Mortgage seracmg rights are either
purchased from third paries or retained upon sale of acquired cr
ariginated lsans.

Recognition of an impairment on tangible fixed assets and
finite intangible assets

The Group evabimles premises and equipment and fmite ifangible
assels for impairment at least anmally and whenever everts or
changes in circumsiances indicate thal the camying amount may
not be recoverable. B the assel is considered nol to be recow-
erable, an impairment i recorded in general and admaustrative
exparses to the extant the fair valwe of the asset is less than is
carrying amount. Recognition of an impairment on such assets
establishes a new cosl base, which is not adusted for subsequent
recoveries n value,

Incomae taxes

Deferred tax assets and kabiities are recorded for the expacted
future tax consequences of femporary differences betwean fhe
carrying amounts of asseis and kabdities at the dales of the con-
solidated balance shaets and ther respacive fax bases. Defarred
tax assets and liabildies are computed wsing currently enacled
tax rales and are recorded in other assets amd other labilises,
regpacively. Income Lax expense or berefil s recorded in incame
tax expansasbenafi), excapt 1o the exdent the lax effect ralates
to transactions recorded directly in total sharehokders’ equily.
Deferred lax assets are reduced by a vakabon allwance, f mnec-
essary, fo the amourt that management bebaves will mare fikely
than not be realized. Deferred fax assels and kabdties are adusted
for the effect of changes in tax laws and rates i the perod n
which changes are approved by the relevant authority. Deferred
tax assels ard labditses are presented ona ned basis for the same
tax-paying component within the same tax prisdiction.

The Group follews the guidance in ASC Topic T40 - Income
Tames, which sets cut a consistent framework to defermine 1he
appropriate lenel of tax resanias to maintain for unceram tax pesi-
tions, The Group determines whether & & mare filkely than nat that
an income tax posibon will be sustained upon examinafion based
on the technical merits of the position. Sustainable income tax
positions are then measured fo defermine the amount of bensfil
eligible for recognition in the consclidated financial stalements.
Each such sustainable income tax posiion is measured at the targ-
esl amount of benefit that is more Bkedy than not to be realzed
upon ullimate settlement

Life settlement contracts

Le settlement contracts are intialy recognied al the fransac-
tien price and subsequently carried at fair valee unless the Group
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elects to apply the irvestment method. The contracts that are not
accountad for under the investment mathed are carred at far
value and are recerded in trading assets.

Under the ivesiment method, the contracts are infially rec-
ognized at the transaction price plus any directly relsted edar-
ral costs amd are recorded in olher imvasiments. Subsequently,
all confinuing premium paymerts made are capialzed wnless the
aggregated carrying valee exceeds fair value, in which case an
impairment allswance 5 estabhshed so thal fhe carrying valus
dogs nat eeceed fair value,

Brokerage receivables and brokerage payables

The Group recognizes racarables and payables from transactions
in fingncial instruments purchased from and sold to customers,
banks, and breker-dealers. The Group is exposed bo rsk of bss
resufiing from the inabdity of counderpartias lo pay for or dalkver
financial instruments purchased or sold, n which case the Group
would have to sall or purchase, respaciaely, thasa financal instru-
ments at prevailing market prces. To the extent an exchange or
cleanng ormancation acls as counterparty do a transaclion, credi
risk is generally consadered to be Bmited. The Group eslablishes
credit imits for each customer and requires tham fo maintain mar-
gin coliatenal in compliance with applicable regulalory and internal
gudelines, In erder fo conduct trades with an exchange or & third-
party bank, the Group is requred to maintain a margm, This i3 usu-
ally inihe form of cash and depesiled in a separate margn account
with the eschange or broker, If svaiable information mdicates that
il is probable that a brokerage receivable is impaired, an allowance
is astablished. Wrie-offs of brokerage receivablas oceur i the
outglanding amoums are condidersd uncallectible.

Other assels

Darivative instruments are carreed at fair value. The fair values
of dervaive mstraments held for hedging are included as other
assats or other labities in the consolidated balance shests. The
accounting freatment used for changes in fair value of hedging
dematves deponds on the dessgnation of the dervative as either a
fair value hedge, cash flow hedge or hedge of a net iwestmant in

a formign aperation, Changes in fair value represantng hedge inad-
fectivenaess are reported in trading revenues,

Leng-term dabt

Total long-tarm debt is compnsad of dabt issuances which do not
confain dernative features (vanilla debl). as well as hybrid debt
instruments with embedded derivatives, which are issued as
part of the Group’s structured product actiiies. Long-term debl
includes bath Swiss frane and foreign currency denominated fixed
and vanable rale bonds.

The Group aclively marages the interest rate risk on vanilla
debl theough the we of dernatve contracts, prmarily inteses! rate
and currency swaps. In parficular, fixed rafe dabt is hedged with
recene-fieed, pay-floating inferes! rale swaps. The Group elecled
o fair value this fixed rate debt upon implementation of the far

EDINETOOOO

OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

value oplion an January 1, 2007, with changas in fair value recog-
need as a componant of trading reveanues. The Group did not elect
to apply the far value option to fixed-rate debt issued by the Group
since January 1, 2008 and instead apphes hedge accounting per
tha guidance of ASC Topic B15 - Dermvalives and Hedging.

The Group's long-lerm debt alse mcludes various equity-nked
and clher indexed instruments wih embedded dervative features,
whose payments and redemplion values are inked fo commodi-
fies, Slocks, indices, currencies or other assets, The Group alecled
to account for substantialy all of these instruments af far walua,
Changes in the far valee of thess nsteuments are recagnized a2 a
companent of trading revenues,

Cther liabilities

In cases whara tha Group acls as a guarantor, the Group recog-
nizes in other Eabiities, at the inception of a guarantes, a liabdily
for the fair value of the obbgations urderiaken in issuing such a
guarantee, including its ongoing cbligation to perform over the
tarm of the guaranrtes in the event thal certain evends or condi-
tions ecour

The Group usas the projected unit credd actuarial method fo
determine the present value of it projected benefit obSgations
({PBCO) and the currerd and past service costs or credits relied
to #s defined benefit and other post-retirement benafil plans.
The measwement date used fo perform the acluarial valuation is
December 31,

Ceram key assumptions are used m performaing the acluar-
ial waluations. Thase assumptions must be made conceming the
future events that will determine the amaunt and timing of the ben-
eft paymants and (hus requine significan pdgment and estmales
by Group management. Among others, assumphons have 1o be
miade with regard to discourt rates, expected retum on plan assels
and salary increases.

The assumed discount rates reflect the rates at which the pen-
sion benefits could be effectvely settied. These rales are doter-
mined based on yields of high-quality corporate bonds currently
available and are sxpected lo be available during the pensd to
maturity of the pension banefits. In couniries whare no deep mar-
ket in high-qualily corpamte bonds exists, the astimate is basad on
governmental bords adjusted 1o mclude a rsk premium reflecting
tha addisanal risk for conporate bonds.

The expected lang-ferm rate of refurn on plan assets i dafer-
minad on a plan-by-plan basis, faking info account assel alloca-
tion, historical rale of retum, benchmark indices for simiar-type
pension plan assets, long-term expectations of fulure refurns and
imasimant strateqgy.

Health care cosi trend rates are determined by reviewing
external data and the Group's awn histoncal trends far healils care
costs. Salary increases are determined by reviewing exiernal data
and considanng internal prapsctians.
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The funded stalus of the Group's defined benefit post-retirement
and pension plans s recogneed in lhe consoldabed balance sheets.

Actuarnial gains and losses in excess of 10% of the greater of
ihe PBO or the marked value of plan assels and unrecognized prior
sarvice cosls or cradits are amortized te net penodic pension and
other posi-retirement benefil costs on a straighi-line basis over
the average remaining senace Ife of aclive employees expeched
to recede bensfits.

The Group records pensan éxpense for defined comribution
plang when the employee renders serace 1o the company, essen-
tially eoineading with the cash contributions to the plans.

Shere-based compensation

For all share-based awards granted 1o emplyyees and exising
awards modified on or afler January 1, 2005, compensation
expense is measured al grant date or modification dale based
on the far vakee of the number of awards for which the requisite
sarvice is expecled to be rendared and is recogneed in the con-
solidated statements of oparations ower the required service paricd
on a siraight-hne basts. For all oulstanding unvested shame-basad
awards as of January 1, 2005, compensation expanse is mea-
sured based on tha onginal grard date fair vales of the wward ard
is recognized over the remaining requisite service period of sach
award on a straight-fine basis.

The Group uses the Lax law ordefing approach to determing the
portian of the tofal tax expense that relates fo windfall tax banefits
thal are to be recorded in additional paid-in capital In addiion,
it ehected to use the practical transtion oplion in determining the
amound of wandfall tax benefits recorded in additional paid-n capial
arisang on pwards thal were fully vested pror (o January 1, 2006,

Compensation expenss for share-based awards that vest in
annual instaliments (graded vesting), which only contain a gae-
vice condition that affects westing, is recognied on a shiasghl-ne
basis over the sarvice period for the entire award. However, if such
awards contain a peffermance condition, then each installment is
axpensed as if @ were a separate award {“froni-kaded” expense
recognition). Furthermare, recognition of compensation expense is
accederated 1o the date an employes becomes elgible for retire-
mant. For awards granted to employees eligible for retirement price
to January 1, 2005, the Group's policy i3 to recond compendation
expanse over the requisie sendce pariod,

Carfain share-based awards also contain a parformance con-
dition, whare the number of shares the empioyes is 1o recene &
depandent an the performance {a.g., nat income of retum on equity
(FOE]) of the Group or a division of the Group. i the employes is
also required fo provide the senice stipulated i the award terms,
the amount of compensation expense attributed to the incrementad
adddional units expected fo be recedved al vesiing due fo this pes-
formance condition is estimated on the grant date and subsegquant
changes in this estimale are recorded in the consoldated state-
ments of cparations ower the remamng service pariod.

When awards contain market conditsons, where the number
of shares the employes recahes vanes based on changes in the
Group share price, the incremental amount of extra shares the
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employee is expected to recene due to the market condition is
agtimated on the grant date and (he tolal compensalion expenss
i5 nod adjusted thereafter for changes i the Group share price.

Certain employess own non-substantive equity inferests in the
form of carried inlerests in prvate equity funds managed by the
Group, Expenses recognized under these ownership interess are
reflacted o the conscbdated statements of operaticns in compen-
sation and benafis.

The Group has cerlain splisn plans outstanding, primarily
related to 1999 and prior years, which include a cash settlement
feature. For those plans, labilly award accounting & applied untl
sattlement of the awards,

Own shares, own bonds and financial instruments on own
shares
Thee Group may buy and sall own shares, own bonds and financial
mstruments on own shares within its normal trading and market-
making actiities. In addition, the Group may hold its own shares
to satisfy commiments arising from employes share-basad com-
pensation awards. Own shares are recorded at cost and reported
as treasury shares. resulling in a reduction to total sharehold-
erg’ equity. Financeal instraments on ewn shares are recerded as
aszats or kabilities or as equity when the criteria for equity classifi-
cation are met, Diedends recered by subsdianes on own shares
and unrealized and realited gans and losses on own sharnes clas-
sified in fotal shareholders’ equily are excheded from the consali-
dated slatemenis of operations.

Any holdings of bonds issued by any Group emity are elimi-
naled in the consolidated financial statements.

Metintarast income

interest income and interest expanse arising from intere st-bearing
assats and kabifies other than those carmed at fair valus o the
lower of cost or market are accrued, and any related net deferred
premiums, discounts, engnation fees of costs are amortoed asan
adpstment o the yield over the life of the related asset and labil-
ity. Imterest from debt securties and diedends on equity secur-
ties carned as trading assels and trading kabilfies are recorded
inerest and dividend income.

Commissions and faas

Fee rovenue is recognized when all of the followng criferm have
been mat: persuasie evidence of an arangement axsts, services
hawe bean rendesed, the price is fixed or delerminable and col-
lectibilty is reasonably assured. Fee income can be divided into
twe broad calegores: income earnad from senaces that are pre-
vided over a certain period of time, for which customers are genes-
ally biled on an annual or semi-annual basis, and income earned
from providing transaction-lype services. Feas eamed from see-
vicks fhal are provided over a certain period of tene are recog-
nized ratably over the service pericd. Fees earned from providing
transaction-lype senices are recogned when the service has
been complefed, Performance-inked fees or for compenants ane
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recognized at any contractual measurement dale when the con-
{raclually agreed thrasholds are mel

Revenues fram undarwriling and fees from mergers and acqui-
sitions (ME&A) and olher corporate finance advisory serices ase
recorded at the time tha underlying fransactions are substantialy
completed and there are no other contingencies associated with
the fees,

Transacton-related experses are deferned untd the relafed rev-
enue i fecognized, assuming they are deemed diecl and mcre-
mantal; stharwise, they are sxpensed as incurred, Underwting
fees are reported nel of relaled expenses. Expenses associaled
with financal advisery services are recorded m optraling expenses
unde s raimbursad by the chant.

In cocumstances where the Group contracts 1o previde mul-
liple products, services or rights 1o a counderpardy, an evahmlion
is made as to whether separate revenue recognition evenis have
occwred, This evaluation considers the stand-alone value of 2ems

2 Recently issued accounting standards
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akeady delvered and if there is a nght of refurn or warranties on
delvered items and services, and the probabilty of delvery of
remaining undelvered tems or services. This evahation is made
on a transaction-by-transaction basis,

If the critera noted are met, then the transaction is considensd
a multiple-deliverable arrangement where revenue recognition
i determined separately for each delnerable. The consderation
recaived on fhe lotal arrangement is allocated to the mulliple deds-
erables basad on the saling prce of aach delverabls, The seling
price wsed for each defverable wil be based on vendor-specific
obecive svidence i available, thind-party evidence if vendor-spe-
cific chigcive evidence i3 red avaiable, or estmated seling price of
reither vandor-specific objectve evidence or third-party ewdence
is maaitabile,

Taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental
authorifies ane accounted for on a net basis.

Recently adopled accounting standards

In March 2013, the Financal Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2013-05, *Par-
anl’s Accounting for the Cumudative Transkation Adjustment upon
Derecogmtion of Certain Subsidianes or Groups of Assats withn a
Foreign Entily or of an Inve stment in a Foreign Entity” (ASU 2013-
05}, an update to ASC Topic 830 - Foregn Curvency Matlers. The
amendments in ASU 2013-05 provide guidance for the ireatment
of tha cumulaiive translation adjustmant when an enfity ceases
1o held a controling financiad inlerest n a subsidiary or group of
assals within a foreign ently. The Group elecled 1o early adopt
ASU 2013-05 on January 1, 2013 which did not have a material
impact on the Group's financial postion, results of operations or
cash flows.

In Juna $013E, the FASE ssued ASU 2013-08, “Amendments fo
the Scope, Measurement, and Disclosure Requirements” (ASL
2013-08), an updale to Topic 946 = Financial Sarvites = Imest-
mant Companies. The amendmeants change the approach o tha
investmend company assessment in Topic 948, clarify the char-
actenstics of an mvestment company and provide comprahensae
gudance for assessing whether an entity i an ivestment com-
pany. The adeplion of ASL 2013-08 on Jaruary 1, 2014 did net
harve & matesial impaci on the Group's financial posfion, results of
operalions or cash flows.

Standards te be adopted in future periods

In August 2014, the FASE issued ASU 2014-15, "Dischsure of
Unceraintas abaud an Entity's Abdly to Cortinue as a Geng Con-
cam’ (ASL 2014-15), an update 1o ASC Topic 2056 - Presenialion

of Financial Statements. The amendments in ASU 2014-15 pra-
vide guidance in US GAAP about managament’s responsibilty to
evaluate whether thare are conddions and events, considared in
fhe aggregate, thal raise substantal doubt about an entdy's abil-
ity to continue as a going concern and to provide related discho-
sures in the notes o the firancial stalements. The amandmerts
ame expected to reduce diversity in the timing and content of such
disclosures, ASU 2014-15 is affective for the annual raporting
pencd ending after December 15, 2016, and for the interim and
annual reporting panods thereafter. Early adoption is parmithed.
A5 these amendments refate only to disclosures, there will be no
impact of the adopton of ASL 2014-15 on the Group's financal
posdion, resulis of operations and cash flows.

In April 2014, the FASE mswed ASL) 2014-08, “Reporting Decon-
tinued Operations and Dischosures of Disposals of Companents of
an Entdly” (ASL) 2014-08), an vpdate 1o ASC Tepa: 205 - Pre-
serdation of Francial Statemants and ASC Topic 360 - Properdy,
Plant, and Equipment. The amandments. in ASL 2014-08 change
the requirements for reporting discontinued operations and require
addiiconal disclosures aboad disconfired operations. ASU 2014-
08 is effective for interim and annual reparting penicds baginning
after December 16, 2014 with early adoption permitted. The Group
will evaluale the impact of the adoplion of ASU 2014-08 an the
Group's financial position, resulis of eperations and cash flows
when any future dscontineed operations or dispesals ane dantified.
In January 2015, the FASE issued ASU 2015-0M, *Simplify-
ing Income Slatement Presentation by Elminating the Concept
of Extracrdinary Hems™ (ASU 2015-01), an updale to ASC Topc
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225 - Income Statement. The amandments eliminate from WS
GAAP the concept of extracedinary dems. Sublopic 225-20,
Income Statement — Exiraordinary and Unusual Hems, required
that an ertify separately classify, presend, and disclose extracdi-
nary events and transactions. Presarily, an event or fransaction
is presumed to be an ordinary and usual activity of the report-
ing emiy unkess evdence clearly supports its classfication as an
extracedinary item. ASU 2015-01 is effectve for annual pericds
beginning after December 15, 2015, An enity has the option te
adopt the changes earlier provided that the guidance = applied
fram the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption, The Group is -
rantly evaluating the impact of the adopion of ASU 2015-15 en
the Group's financal posiion, resulls of oparations and cash flows.

I January 2014, the FASE issued ASU 2014-04, *Reclassifica-
ticn of Residential Real Estate Collateralized Consumer Marigage
Loans upon Foreciosure” (ASU H014-04), an update to ASC Topic
310 - Recewables. Tha amendments require inferim and annual
disclosure of both (1) the amount of foreclosed residential real
esiate proparily held by the credilor and (2) the recorded invest-
rverit in consumer mortgage leans colateralzed by resident il real
astate property that are in the process of foreckswre according to
local requrements of the applicable jurisdiction, The adoption of
ASL 2014-04 on Janwary 1, 2015 did nol have 3 mabernal smpact on
tha Group's financial postion, results of operations and cash flows.

In August 2014, the FASE issued ASU 2014-14, *Chassifi-
cation of Cerlain Govemnment-Guaranteed Morlgage Loans
upon Forachasure’ (ASU 2014-14), an wpdale to ASC Tepic 310
- Recervables, ASU 2014-14 requires thal a mortgage an be
derecogneed and that a separate clher recevable be recognzed
upen foreclosure if ceain conditions are met and provides guid-
ance Tor the meassemend of the separale olher recenable. The
adoplion of ASU 20§4-14 on January 1, 2015 did net have a
rateral mpact on the Group's financial position, resulls of opera-
ticns and cash flows.

In May 2014, he FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from
Contracts with Customars’ (ASU 2014-00), an updale 1o ASC
Topic 606 = Revanue from Corfracts with Customers, The core
principla of the guidance is that an enfity should recognize revenus
to depict the transfer of promisad goods of sarvices to customers
in an amouni thal reflacts the consideration to which the anlidy
expects o be enlflled n exchange for those goods or semvices.
The ASU cutlinas key steps that an entily should follow fo achieve
the core principle. ASU 2014-09 is effectve for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2016, The Group s currently evalu-
ating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2013-0% on the Group’s
fimane @l posilion, resulls of operations and cash flows.

Ini Jure 2014, the FASE wsued ASU 2014-12, "Accounting for
Share-Basad Payments When the Terms of an Award Provide
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That a Performance Targel Coukd Be Achieved afler the Requisite
Sarvice Penod” (ASU 2014-12), an update to Topc 718 - Com-
pensation — Steck Compensation. The amendmants in ASLU 2014-
12 require that a performance tanget that affects vesting and that
could be achieved after the requisite service pericd be trealed
as a performance condition, ASU 2014-12 is effectve for interim
and anmsal perieds beginning after December 15, 2015 with early
adoption permitied. The Group is curently evaluating the impact
of the adeplian of ASU 2014-12 an the Group’s financal pastion,
resulls of operatons and cash fiows,

In February 2016, the FASE issued ASU 2015-02, “Amendments
to the Consoldation Analysss” (ASU 2015-02), an update 1o ASC
Tepic 810 = Consolidation. The amendments in ASU 2015-02
rescind the indefinite deferral for certam imeestment funds, which
is included m A5 2010-10, Consolidation (ASC Topic 810),
“Amendments for Certam Imvestment Funds”. The amendmerts in
ASU 2015-02 also require a re-evakmstion as bo whether certain
kzgal entities require conseldation under the revised consalida-
tion medel, specifically as # relates o whether limited pariner-
ships and similar lagal entites ane variable ierest entdies (VIEs)
or voling intere sl entitias, the aliminaticn of tha presumptian thal
a genesal partner controls a parinership, and the consolidation
analyss of VIEs, particularly those that hane fee arangement s and
related party relationships. ASU 2015-02 & effective for interim
and anmual reporting penods beginning after December 15, 2015
with early adoplion pesmidied. The Group is currenlly evahmlng
the impact of the adoplion of ASU 2015-02 gn the Group's finan-
cial pogfion, resulls of operations and cash flows

In August 2014, the FASE issusd ASL T014-13, *Measuring
the Financial Assets and the Financial Liabiities of a Consobdated
Cofateralized Financing Ertdy” (ASU 2014-13), an update to ASC
Topic 810 = Conscldation. ASL 2014-13 applies to reporling anti-
ties that are required ko conschdale a collateralized financing enfity
(CFE) under the varable interest entfies guidance. These enti-
ties may slect to measura the financal assats and the financial
kabiltees of the CFE at far value using ether ASC Topic 820 = Far
Value Measwements or an altemnative provided in ASL 2014-13,
Whan using the measurament alernatve prowded i this update,
the seporting entity should measure both the financial assets and
the financial liabdtias of the CFE, using tha most observabla of
(i) the fair value of the financial assels and (i) the fair value of the
firancial labities. 25U 2014-13 & effective for interim and annual
pericds beginmng afler December 15, 2015 wilh early adoption
permitiad as of the beginning of an anmual pericd. The Group &
currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of 45U 2014-13 en
the Group's financial pasition, resulls of eperations and cash flows,
In Movember 2014, the FASB & ASU 2014-16, *Datarmining
‘Whether the Hosi Conlract in a Hybrid Financial Instrument [ssued
i the Farm of 3 Share 15 Mare Akin to Debt or to Equy” (ASL
2014-18), an update to ASC Topic B15 - Dervalives and Hedging.
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The amendments m ASU 2014-16 clarify that for hybred firancial
instrumants ssued in the form of a share, an entity {an ssuer or
an imvestor) should determine the nature of the host contract by
consudenng all staled and mplied substantive terms and fealures
of the hybnd financial instument. weighing each lerm and featurs
on the basis of relevant facts and chcumstances, ASU 2014-15 s
effective for inlerm and anmual penods beginning after Decem-
bar 15, 2015 with early adoplion permitted as of the beginning of
an annual or inferim pened, The Group is cumantly evaluating s
impast of the adoption of ASU 2014-16 on the Group's financial
pasitian, resulis of eperations and cash flows.

ASC Topic BEL ranslers and
In Jume 2014, the FASE issued ASL 2014-11, “Repurchase-to-
Matursly Transactiens, Reparchase Financings, and Disclosures’
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(RS 2014-11), an updale o ASC Topic BS0 — Transfers and
Seracing. ASU 2014-11 amends the accounting guidance for
repurchase-lo-matwdy lansaclions and repurchase financing
amangements. As a resull of these amendments, repurchase-
lo-maturdy transaclions wil be reporled as secured borrowings.
For repurchase financing arrangements. the amendments requie
sepamate accountmg for a fransfer of a fimancial assel exscuted
contemporanesusly with a repurchase agreement with the same
courdarpardy, which will resull in secured barrowing accounting far
the repurchase agreement. The amendments alse speciy new ds-
closures that enfities must include. The adoplion of ASU 2014-11
enJanyary 1, 2015 did nat have a matenal impast on the Group's
financial pesiion, rasults of operations or cash flows.

3 Business developments, significant shareholders and subsequent events

The Group's significant business devalopments for 2014 a3 well as
the Group's significant shareholders are discussad below.

Business developments

In July 2014, the Group enterad inffo an agreement to sell Private
Banking & Wealth Managament's lecal affluent and upper affiuent
busnass n Raly to Banca Generali S.p.A, The transaction included
appradmately 50 agents of Credit Suissa (ltaly) S.p.A., with over
EUR 1.2 billien of assats under managemant, The transaction
claged in the faurth quarter of 2014,

In July 2014, the Group announced that it had decided to ext
its small commodilies trading business with respect fo the global
macro products busness, The Group plans to re<focus its foreign
exchange business towards a combination of electronic trading
and wice offering for larger and mone complex trades and plans.
to simplty #s rates product offering to focus prmarily on salistying
cham iquidty needs mn cash products and dernvatves

In August 2014, the Group announced the sale of Prime Fund
Services [PFS), inchuding the esxisting PFS team, to BNP Paribas.
The transacton is expected 1o close in 2015, subject 1o customary
closing conditions, including antitrust and mgulalory clearancas.
Revenues, expenses and the expected pre-tax gain on the dis-
pasal from this sale are mmatanal,

In the second quarter of 2014, tha Group completed the acquisi-
tien of Margan Ranley's privale weallh managemenl busnasses.
in the Europe, Muddle East and Adrica (EMEA) region, exchuding
Swizerland. The business is based in the Uk, Raly and Dubai,
ganang predomirantly ntermatanal © ulE-high-net-werth indi-
viduals {UHMNWI) and © high-nef-worth indiadual (HNWI) clients

acress Eurcpe, The transaction was structured as an asse! deal
with multiple closings, the first of which ocoured in Decembar
2013.

I April 2014, the Group entered into an agreement with the
then head of Credil Suisse Hadgng-Griffo Assel Management
pursisrd to which he became the controling shareholder of a new
firm, Varde Asset Maragameant, and the Group became a minarity
shareholder, The fransaction closed n the fourth quarter of 2014,

Significant sharehalders

In a disclsure notrfication that the Group published on Aprl 5,
2013, the Group was naotified that as of February 25, 2013, Tha
Clayan Group, thraugh s registered entity Crescent Holding
GrabiH, bald 88.5 million shares, of 6.7%, of the registersd Group
shares issued as of the dale of the notified transaction. Mo further
duschosure natification was recened from The Dlayan Group retad-
ing to holdings of registered Group shares n 2014,

In a disclosyre notification that the Group published on Octo-
ber 31, 2013, the Group was netified that as of Oclober 23, 2013,
Qaftar lmvestment Authority, through s registered ey Qalar
Helding LLC, held 82,0 millon shares, of 5.9%, of the registersd
Group shares issued as of the date of the notrhed transacton. Mo
further disclosure nofification was recaived from Catar Invesiment
Authority relafing to holdings of registered Group shares in 2014,

Ini 2 discloswa notification that the Group published on Movam-
ber 9, 2013, the Group was nolified that as of Movember 4, 2013,
Harris Associates LP. hald 81.5 milion shares, or 5.2%, of the
registared Group shares issued as of the dale of ihe notified trans-
action, Mo futher disclosure notfication was recened from Harris
Associates L.P. relating to holdings of registered Group shares in
2014,

In a disclosure notfication thal the Group publshed on
June 19, 2014, the Group was notified that as of June 16, 2014,
Marges Bank held 80.0 millon shares, or 5.0%, of the registersd
Group shares ssved as of the date of the nelified fransaction,
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No further disclosure netfication was recetved from Morges Bank
rakating to holdings of mgistered Group shares in 2014,

Subseguent events

On January 15, 2015, the Swiss National Bank (SMB) dacided to
discontinwee the minimum exchange rate of CHF 1,20 per ewro and

4 Discontinued operations
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to lewer the interest rate by 50 basis points to (0.75)% on sight
deposits that exceed a certain threshold. It also decreasaed the
target range for the three-month Swiss franc LIBOR., These deci-
suns led o a significant strengthening of the Swiss franc agamst
il major curencies and a decrease in Swiss franc inferasi rates.

Ins Janisary 2014, the Growp compleled the sale of &5 Custamized
Fund Investment Group (CFEG), A3 private equity fund of furds and
co-rvesimant busness. to Grosvenor Capilal Management and
recognized a pre-tax gain on disposal of CHF 91 milion in the frst
quarter 2014, nel of allocated goodwill of CHF 23 million. As of
December 31, 2013, CFIG had total assets of CHF 31 million that
wang held-for-sale. The Group continued te hold investments in,
and have unfunded commitments te, mesimant funds managed
by CFIG. Groswenor Capital Management is a company unrelated
to the Group.

In March 2014, the Group complated the spin-off of DLJ Mer-
chant Banking Partners, the Groups mid-market leveraged buy-
out business, for no consideration to aPriori Capital Partners LIP,
an independent advisary firm esiablished and controlled by mem-
bers of the business’ management, The transaclion was com-
pleted with no gain or loss from disposal and insagnificant impact
on nel revenues, operaling expenses and nat ncomeloss) from
discontimeed operations in 2014 and poor pericds have nat been
rastated. The Group retained carfain caried interest nghts. aPrien
Capdal Partners L. 3 a company unnetated fo the Group,

In August 2014, the Group completed the sals of ds domaes-
tic prevate bankeng busmess beoked in Gesmany (German private
banling business) 1o Bethmann Bank AG, a subsidiasry of ABN
AMRO, and recognized a pre-tax gam on disposal of CHF 109
mallion in the third quarer 2014, As of June 30, 2014, the Ges-
man private banking business had tolal assets and total liabilties
of CHF 878 milkon and CHF 742 milion, respeciialy, thal wene
held-tor-saie. Bathmann Bank AG and ABMN AMRO are companes
unretated o the Group.

Assets held-for-sale

wnd of S
German private banking business (THF miliord
Cash

Liare
Critar axasls

1L

Tolal aviali hald-lod-sals

CFIG (CMF miftion)

Fows 1evanabie E
Gaoosdw i
Tolsl sssals hadd-lod-saks n
Growp (CHF rllbsn

Total assels held-for-sabe 1,884
Liabilities held-for-sale

W of il
German privaie banking business (CHF millkor)

[Chamaert, &5 i1

itk fia bl b
Talal habildias held-lor5ale 1,140
Group (CHF mallion)

Tobal lsbilities held-loe-s sl 1,140

For operations discontinued in 2014 and 2013, the revenues,
expanses and gains from disposals were mcluded in the results
of the Private Banking & Wealth Management segment. The
reclassification of thess revenues and expensas from (he $eg-
mant results 1o discontinued operations for Group reporling was
affected throwgh the Corporate Centar.

The results of operations of the businesses sold heve been
refleciad in income/{loss) from discontineed operafions in fhe
consolidated siafements of operations for the relevant periods
prasanted. The assels and liabilities of discontinued operations
for which ihe sale has nol yet been compleled are presenfed as
asseds of discentinued operabons held-for-sale and kabilies of
discontinued operations hald-for-sale, respectively. and prier peri-
ods are mot reclassified.
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Income/(loss) from discontinued operations

Dperabons-refated {CHF miliond
Hal revenmes

d wabich E

Inessmalees), nat of lax
# wihl

Transaction-refated (CHF million)

Ahain on dispasal

Incomasiless), net of tax
it
Discontinued cperations — total {THF miliony
Inecama/Teia) lrom discontmusd sperabiond, med of tan
d vatuch ET
o whiet

o wihack =
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5 Segment information
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The Group 15 a global financial services company domiciled in

Swilzerdand, The Group's business consists of two segments:

Private Banking & Weatllh Management and Imvesiment Bank-

ing. The two sagments are complemented by Shared Services,

whach provides support in the amas of finance, operations, human
resaurces, lagal and compliance, risk management and IT.

The segment nformation reflects the Group's repartable sag-
mants &5 Tollows:

* Privale Banking & Wealth Management offers comprehensie
advice and a wide range of firancial solitions 1o prerate, cor-
porate and instRutional chenls, The Privale Bankng & Wealth
Management division comprises the Wealth Managemant Ch-
enls, Corporate & Instdulional Chents and Asset Management
businessas. YWealth Management Chenis serves © UHNWI
and = HNWI around the globe in additien to © affluent and
refail chents in Switzestand. Corporate & Institutional Clents
sarves {he needs of corporafions and instdutional chents,
maindy in Swizerland. Assal Management offers a wide range
of investment products and solions across assel classes and
for all investment styles, sarving govemmeants, instilutions, eoe-
posations and individuals workdwida.

= Investment Banking offers imvestment banking and secun-
ties products and sensces lo corporate, instititional and gov-
emmaent chents around the world. s products and services
include debl and equiy underwrifing, safes and trading, M&A
advice, dhestures, corporale sales. restructuning and invest-
meant resaanch.

Corporate Conter includes parend company aperations such as
Growp firancng, expenses for projects sponsared by the Group
and certain eapenses thal kave net been allocated 1o the seg-
mants. In additon, Corporate Center mcludes consohidation ard
eliminatan adjusiments required to eliminate intercomparny rev-
enues and expenses, For the operations discontinwed, the rev-
enues, axpanses and gains from disposals were included in the
resulls of the Prvate Banking & Wealth Managemen! segment,
The reclassification of thase revenuas and expenses from the seg-
ment results to discontineed eperations far Group reporiing was
affected throwgh the Corporate Center.

MNoncontroling interast-ralated revenues and expensas rasull-
ing from the consolidation of certain provate equity funds and other
antdias o which the Group dees nel have a significant economic
imerest (SEI) n such revenues and expeanses are reporbed as non-
confroling inferests without SEI. The consolidation of these enti-
fies does not affect net income attribut able to sharehalders as tha
amounis recerded in nel revenues and tolal operating expenses
are offset by comesponding amounts reported as nonconirolling
inferasts. In addition, the Group's lax expense is not affected by
thess revenues and sxpanses

Beginning in the sacond quarter of 2014, the majority of the
balanze sheel usage related 13 a portfole of high-guably hguid
assels managed by the Treasury function and previcusly recorded

in the Corporate Center has been alocated to the busness divi-
sians to allow for more efficient management of their business
actwities from an overall Group perspeciive with respect to
 hquidiy coverage ralio and Swiss leverage requirements arising
from the portfolic of assets, Pror pericds have been resiated for
the related impact on tofal assels.

Revenue sharing and cost allocation
Responsibdity for each product is allbcated 1o & segment, which
records all retabed revenues and expenses, Revenue-sharing and
sarvice level agreaments govern the compensation racewed by
ane segment for generaling revenue of providing Services on
behalf of ancther. These agreemenis are negotialed pericdically
by the relevant segments on a produci-by-product basis.

The aim of reverue-sharing and cost allocation agreements &
to reflact tha pricing structure of urrelated thind-party transactions.

Corporale services and business support in finance, opera-
tiens, human resources, legal and complance, risk managemant
and [T are provided by tha Shared Services area. Shared Services
costs ae allocated to the sagments and Corpaeate Cender based
an their requirements and other relevant measunes.

Funding
The Group certrally manages its funding activlies. New secuni-
ties for funding and capital purposes are issvad primariy by Credit
Suisse AG, the Swiss bank subsidiary of the Group {the Bank).
The Bank lends funds 1o is eparaling subsidaries and affiliates
on both a semor and subordinated basis, as needed, the kitter
typically fo mest capidal requiraments, or as desired by manage-
meant to capitalee on opportunises, Capital is disiributed fo the
segmants condidenng faclors such as regulatory capial requre-
mments, utifzed economic capital and the histonc and fulwe poten-
tial redurm an capial

Transfer pricing, using market rates, is used to recond net rev-
enmpes and expenses in each of the segments for this capital and
funding. The Group's furds fransfer pricing system i designed
to allocate fo ds businessas funding costs in a way that incen-
tvizes therr efbicmrl use of fundng, The Group's funds transfer
pricing system is an essenlzal ool thal allocates to the businesses
the shart-term and long-term cosfs of funding ther balance sheet
usages and off-balance shee! contingencies, The tunds transfer
pricing framework enswes the full funding costs alocation under
normal business conditions, but il is of even greater mporiance
in a slressad capital markets emironment where raising funds
is more challenging and expensive. Under this framework, the
Group's businesses are alsy credited to the extent they provide
long-term stable funding,

Taxes

The Group's segmants are managed and reported on a pre-tax
Brsis.
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Net revenues and incemeas(lass) from continuing aperations before taxes

FLLL]
Het rewenues (CHF milllion)
F & Wenlil Marage i bR E
}flll revenues 26742
Irsarme/(lossh Team conlinuing operatiant befess taxes (CHF millisn)
lingoeme from contmuing operakion bolore faues TERT
Tatal assots
Taisl sssstn (CHF maliom)
iz P T T ————
i delroding Heatests veihgad
Torlal aunaks
Net revenues and income/{loss) from continuing operations before taxes by geographic location
mia
Wt revenues (CHF mlliaa)
Nal revamund 28242
Ingorma/ lossl frem continuing cperalisns betore taxes (CHF milliea)
1
lIncome from contimuing operations bolore lases JERT
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Total assets by geographic location

Toial wsseis (CHF rdlion)

EUES
Tolal assels

& Net interest income
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FLIES

o2 462 BT 06

014
Mt interast incame (CHF millban)
1 L
e L
Fed inbere sl inoome 9,004 8118 7143
7 Commissions and fees
2014
Cornmissions and fees (CHF mallar)
targd
0
Commissions and laes 13,081 LB 12,734
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Trading revenues (CHE million)
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Trading revenues nchedes revenues from trading financial assets

and liabilties as follows:

= Equiies;

* Commodites;

# Listed and o OTC derivalves;

» o Dersvatives linked to funds of hedge funds and providing
financing facities to funds of hedge funds;

®  Market making in the government band and assackted OTC
derivalive swap markeds;

* Domesiic, corporate and sovereign debt, comvertible and non-
comvertible preferred stock and shor-term secwties such as
floating rate nodes and © commercial papar (CP)

»  Market making and positisning n fareign exchange products;

= Credit dervatpees on invesiment grade and high yield credis;

* Trading and sacwitizing all forms of securiies that are basad
on underlying pools of assets; and

» Life sattlerment contracts.

Tradeng rvermees alio wcludes changes in the © fax vakse of finan-

cial assafs and kabitie s elecled lo Tair value under US GAAP. The

main compenants inchude certain instruments from the following

categones:

= Cerfral bank funds purchased/sold;

" Securities purchased/seld under resale/c repurchase
agreements;

o Speurties bermowinglanding transactions;

®  Loans and lean commilmeants; and

* Customer deposits, short-term beerowings and long-larm dabi.

Managing the risks

As a rasull of the Group's broad imechement in financal products
and markels, 25 trading strafegies am cormespondingly diverse and
expasuras are genarally spread across 3 diversified range of nsk
factors and locations. The Group uses an economsc capital bmit
structura fo limit overall nsk faking, The level of risk mcurred by is
divesians is further restncted by a vanety of specific mits, includ-
ing consobdated controls over trading expasures, Alse, as par of
its overal risk managemant, the Group holds a portiolo of eco-
nomic hedges. Hedges are impacted by market movements, simi-
lar to trading securilies, and may resull in gans of lbbsses on the
hadges which offset losses ar gains on the portfolos they were
designed to economicaly hedge. The Group manages its trading
risk with regard 1o both markel and credi nisk. For market risk, i
uses lools capable of caleutating comparabla exposwres across its
many activities, aswel as focused tools that can specifically model
uniqua charactenstics of cerfain metruments or portfolios.

The princspal measurement methedology for irading assats,
a5 wall as mod instruments for which the far value oplion was
elecled. is © value-at-risk. The Group holds securilies as colateral
and enters mbo © credit default swaps (COS) to mitigate the credit
nisk an these products.
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9 Other revenues

2004
Ofther rovenues (CHF milliond
._. 5
t
& | s =3
Oifler revanuad 211 1,778 2548
10 Provision for credit losses
2014
Provision for eredit fosses (CHF miltion)
Proviion lor cradil losses a8 167 1M
11 Compensation and benefits
2004
Compersaton end benefits (CHF mulior)
Campendalion and benafis® 11,334 11258 12,300
i o 1 ¥ v a I}
12 General and administrative expenses
204
General and admanigtrative axpensss (CHF mdliand
ATy 8
i
Genei sl snd adminislrative sipenias 8,534 8,500 7248
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13 Eamings per share
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Basic natincame atiributabie ta sharahaldars (GHE millisnl
Inceama from contimuing oparations

o o T k) froen dscortinued opssmibons, e -

Het income attribulable to sharsholders

Mt income attributalyie to sharehalders for basio eamings per shane

Airglabim fo et AFirE-bchad purrrand gwdrd

Dibutsd net incame attributable ts sharehalders (CHF rmilllicn)
Het income atfribulable o tharsholders for Basic sarnings per tham

¥ ok of a ] 3 ¥ tracts i bl

Het income altribulable hlh.lhﬂ!rllnrmd samings per shars

phie S e ] 4

Weighted ‘avarage dnares aulsianding (milkom
Weighled -awesage thares cwlslanding for basic
warnings pervhare availsble for common shares

[ vty Eral sy b St baed s Tha -

Dbt hare cplions and warant

Weighled -awvnrage shares calvlanding for dilubed

warnings per vhare available for common shares *

Walghled sy sharas calslanding lor basic/dilulsd &amings
pai shate ilakibe doe tod sh B &d p t amaids
Welghted-average shares outslanding for basic/diluted samings
mar share s allabie lor mend slory comvertible securities '

Besic earndngs per share avadiable for comman shares (CHF)

£ LT {hoen) g sharg t v o il Copeest i by

Badic sarnings par dhare avadibls lor o cn ihared
Dibuted sarrdngs per share avadable for common shaeres (CHF)Y

L & & ¥ ¥ e SFEIE el WL el oA

Dilutsd ings ped shane seailable e shares

2014 b
1,773 2,181 1,288
1870 2,328 1348

¥ _ri) '."m 1.118

1422 24 1,118

142 080 1114

106164 1578 13204

1484 1LAEE 10270

T2y 1250 973

- L0 &1
1.08 1.22 o
107 1.22 078
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14 Securities borrowed, lent and subject to repurchase agreements

2014 2
Secwilies borrowed or purchased under agreemants o i'!l:r 1CHF malliond
Fazed
ale 44
Marrrills bl b paculties hernaisd &3
Cantral Bank funds sobd, securilies purchasad under
redale agreements sad sacuiibiog basrowing bransactions 183,208 160,022
Securities lend or sold under ogreesments to repuwrchase (CHF milliord
ariegl hars Puncdy porchasad and &k Joad urdle
S EE D T T =¥
Dhpaalt ehed for 2acu 1
Canlial Bank lunds purchasad, fcurlias 1ald undar
roparchade agraamenls and decudibes lending lrandsclicen oS 4,032
Repurchase and = reverse repurchase agreements repoe- in the event of courterparty defaut, the reverse repurchase

sant collateralzed financing fransactions used fo eam net inler-  agresment or sacurities lending agresment provides the Group
esi income, increase bquidity or facilate trading aclivity. These  wih the right to liquidate the collateral held. In the Group's nor
instrumends are collateralioed prncipally by government securities,  mal course of business, substantilly all of the collateral recemed
maney market instrumenis and corporate bonds and hawe terms  that may be sold or repledged has been sold or repledged as of

ranging fram sverraght 1o a longer ar unspecified pedod of tme. December 21, 2014 and 2013,

15 Trading assets and liabilities

Tradeng assets (CHF million)

{iae
Trading sssels
Trageng Lisbdities (CHF redllan)

Trading akbilifian

Cash collateral an derivative instruments

Cash collsigrad = netiad (CHF millior) '
hicofabers| paid
A3 M Cacrla b g
Cash calldtaral = ngt Aetted (CHF milien) ®
ash godatersl pad

U Dipcordad o clths colatendl ratbng on Seckaive Fanarmarte i flak 08 - CHFpattneg of fangmelal mussby gl Brascial Rabsbtben

¥ Saronded a5 Cath coliial on derafve ratumenin in Mode 59 « O gnasts and oS Bt Se

541/690

2014

2014

204 I_:I

78,815



16 Investment securities
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Investrant socusities (GHE miliand

Total investmant securities

Investment securities by type

Investrnant securities by type (CHF milliony

i (e

‘:l-!_l:u-i‘hﬂ rﬂ_ll.lbh-hl:-uh ;.m

Gross unrealized losses on Investment securities and the related fair value

20148 (CHF million)

[haii sgmgt @ s o Bep | dcraie et
Dabl secwities avadable -tor-sale

2013 (EHF million)

bt r b e b foreinn poneiraman
T ey

Dbt sacumibies avadable-for-sale

Managemen! delermined that the wrealized bsses on debl secun-
ties are primardy attribuiable to general market interest mte, credi
spraad or eschange rate movements, Mo significant impairnent
charges were recorded as the Group does not infend fo sell the

dHEd

.Im ?.Hi!'
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il Falr  Asciided v s vk Fu
AN S ki ot 3 gL vl ¢
2 Vi = g i
10 i 1 1:.]"91 _Eﬂt_ 9 i _IJH?
" o " Tatal
r i Fa ..:. Fu .l i
_IIB 1 a o g 1
a7 4 LU U 287 L]

inesdments, nor & it more Holy than ot that the Greup will be
required fo sell the investments bafora the recovery of their amor-
fized cost bases, which may be maturiy.
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Proceeds from sales, realized gains and realized losses from available-far-sale securities

4 ] :
z £ gty Che 31y
5 = - = LT g
Additianal infesrmatien (CHF milliant
B = & L
Amertized cost, Tair value and average yield of debt securilies
I..1 a .:' I.-
Sewrag
Area Far :
2014 (CHF malland
Do with T : 0.z
| 1o B ymar i Ls] T
\ o
| aar 1 '
Fﬂ‘ﬂ dabl securities 2,818 2,883 1.38
17 Other investments
ot o 2014 o
Qther investmerts (CHF milli onj
Equity masthad mretsimanis | 3 AR 3t |
2 rh
o '
8, C brbis ey T - - -
= ¥ i . o 5 - w ' Qg ¥

Mon-marketabls equity securities hald by subsdiaries that are con-
sdered imvestment companies are held by separate legal entities
that are within the scopa of ASC Topic 846 - Financial Senices -
Invesiment Companies. In addition, non-marketable equity securi-
ties held by subsidaries thal are considered broker-dealer antities
are hald by separate lagal entilies thal are within the scope of ASC
Topsc 840 - Firanceal Services — Brokers and Dealers, Non-mas-
ketable equity securities include imesiments in entities that ragu-
tarly calzulate net assel value (MAV) per share ar Bs equivalent.

Substantially all non-marketable equity sacuriies are camied at © fair
value. There wede no nan-marketable equity secuntses ot carned at
fair value that heve bean n 3 continuous unrealzed loss postion.

The Group perfonms a reguiar impairment aralysis of real eslate
portfolios. The carrying values of the impaived properties ware wril-
tem down 1o their respaciive fair values, establishing a new cosl
base. For these proparies, the fair valees were measured based
on efiher dscounted cash flow analyses or extarnal market apprais-
als, Impairments of CHF 10 milion, CHF 48 milion and CHF 13
rrillian ware recorded in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively

The accumulated depreciation related to real estate held for
imestiment amoured to CHF 354 milion, CHF 340 million and
CHF 330 milion for 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectvely,
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18 Loans, allowance for loan losses and credit quality
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Loans are divided iniwa podfolio segments, "consumer” and “cor-
porate & institutlonal’. Consumer kans are disaggregated imo the
classes of morigages, leans collaierakzed by securiies and con-
sumer firance. Cosporaie and instiutional loans are disaggregated
ino the classes of real estale. commercial and industral leans,
financial instiutions and governments and puble nstilutions.

The determination of the loan classes 1 primarily driven by
the customer segmentation m the two busness dvisons, Private
Banking & Wealth Managamen! and Ivesimeant Banking, both of
which aré engaged in credit activiles

Loans

Loans (CHF mllion)

B e anes Lar koan o
Het loans
Gragd laand by lacstian (CHF rallianh

Airess bnans
impadred boan portfelia (CHF maliien

Grows impaired leans

The Group assigns both counterparly and transaction rai-
ings fo ds credit exposwres. The counterparly rating reflects ihe
> probatdiy of default {PD) of the cownterparty. The transaclion
rating refiects the expecied loss. considering collateral, on a ghven
fransaction if the counterparly defaults. Credi risk is assessed
and monderad on the single obligor and single oblgation kevel as
well as on the cradit partfolic level a3 represanted by the clagses
of kans, Credd Emits are used to manage courlerparty credd rigk

ATTA2T 8014
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2004 1
ST Tk Aorg! Tokwl Totwl Total
Allewance fer loan lessas (CHF millicn)
Balsnee at begening of penod 267 filrr ] 288 L=} Bz 289 621 #10
4
£ '}
Balsnoe at end of period F4 | sar 1a 257 B0z B3 288 L=l 722
| wfich imdivedua by e buied & g gt « 4 Ha per Frry >
Gross loans held al amortized cost {CHF milion)
Ealsses ot wnd of persd 142,828 107587 250508 132470 BE08F  TIBSAT 176,124 7,080  IIII0M
wop = P - : — - - e
Purchases, reclassifications and sales
2004
T T Toksl ! 1 Totsl ! EAR Toksl
Laans held 51 amasrtized east (CHF millian)
§ 1
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Cradit quality of loans held at amortized cost

Management mordors the credit qualty of leans through s credit
risk management processes, which are strectured to assess, mea-
sure, mordor and manage risk on a consistert basis, This process
requires careful consideration of proposed extensions of credit, tha
sedling of specific irmits, monitoring during the life of the exposure,
actiee use of credd mitigation tools and a disciplined approach to
recognizing credit impairmeant.

Management evaluates mary facters when assessing the
crodit qualily of loans, These factors mchede the volatity of default
prebablities, rating changes, the magnitude of potential loss, inlar-
nal risk ratings, and geegraphic. industry and cther econom fac-
tars. For the pirposs of credd quality disclosures, the Group uses.
detaied imermal rsk ratings which are aggregated o the credi
quality ndicators mestment grade and non-invesiment grade.

The Greup employs a sel of credit ralings for the purposa
of intemally rating counterparties. Credat ratings are intended lo
reflact the risk of default of each abligor or counterparty. Ratings
are assigned based on irernaly developed rating models and pro-
cassas, which are subject fo gowernance and indernaly indepen-
dent validation procedures,

Infernal ralings are assygned 1o all leans reflecting the Group's
inarnal wenw of (he credd qualty of The obligor. Internal ratings may
differ from a counterparty's external ratings, if one is available.
Irbernal mtings for cansumer oans and for corporales managed on
1he Swiss platform aze regularly reviewed depending on loan iype,
client segment, coflateral or evert-driven developments. Inter-
nad ralings for all other corporale and nstitulional credit facilties
are reviewed at least anmually. For the calculation of nternal nsk
estimates and © rsk-weighted assets, a PD is assigned to each
lear. LUntil the and of 2014, for corporate and nstiuticnal loans
exchuding corporates managed on the Swiss platform, the PD was
determmed thasugh an intermal rating assgned on the basis of a
struciured exper! approach. The PD for each intemal raling was
cabbrated to histonc defaull sxperience using imernal data and
external data from Standand & Poor's. For corporates managed
on the Swiss platform and consumer loans, the PD & caloulated

EDINETOOOO
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directly by propristary statistical raling modets, which are based
on imternally compilad data comprising both quantiative factors
{pramarily loan-to-value ratic and the borrower's income level far
mortgage lending, and balance sheet nformation for corporates)
and qualitative factors (eg., credit histories from credd reporiing
bureaus). For models caleulating a PD an equivalent rating based
on the Standard & Foor's raling scale 8 asagned based on the
P band associated with each rating, which is used for disclosue
purpasas, Effecive January 1, 3015, tha interral ralings appeasch
for the majordy kan facdiies will be based on propristary statistical
tating madels.

Ini the third quarter of 2014, Group credd risk maragement
enhanced its mlemal credit raling methodology for & lombard
loans. on the Swiss platform across all lban classes by considering
fhe qually and dversification of collateral securilies as a bass for
delermining tha internal risk raling both for regulatory and financial
reparting purpeses. The change n the internal rating methodology
for lombard loans on the Swiss platform did not have a significant
impact an the Group's tofal investment grade and non-imesimeant
grade laans.

© Reverse repurchase agreements are fully collateralized and
in the svent of courderpanty default the reverse repurchase agree-
ment provides the Group the right 1o guidate the coliateral held.
The Group risk manages these instruments on the basis of the
value of the undedying colireral, as opposed to loans, whith ane
risk-managed on tha ahility of the counterparly to repay. Thems-
fore the underlying coffateral coverage is the most appropriate
credil qualty indicator for reverse repurchase agreements. Also,
tha Group has elecled the © fair valee option for the majerty of
i3 reverse repurchase agreements, As such, reverse reparchass
agreamants have not been included i the foliowing tables.

The folkewing tables present the Group's recorded investment
in keans held at amadized <os! by aggregated indérmal countarpady
credil ratings iwvestmant grade and non-investment grade that am
used as credit qualily indicators for the parpose of this disclosure,
and a related aging analysis.
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Consolidated financial slatements - Credit Suisse Group

Gross loans held at amortized cost by Internal counterparty rating

# 1} a Total
2014 (CHF miliord
Ioard g g a0 1 o3, B0
a eyl ‘ t- - R L -} .-. L
T 158 ] & 30
¥ | S E 0 Q0%
Fe o 28,176
T e al ko 1,565 o7 &1
ancial mitution 03 D80 i 4523
Ry " i a1 1 408
Gross boans held at smorized cost 186,633 &2 G40 1238 280,508
Vs of colalaral 4 33 i1 83T e
2013 {CHF miliand
A el LA 122
al il 574 vich i 6.8
Al ardg 1 il . Ao a1
U1 £ i 19 S0 3,0 4
¥ A puib L 2, LT T 1464
Coepomts & matbacral 341 7 2 ans, o
Girown boana held at amortized coat 166,314 60,837 1408  T36,557
_'-'_,.':- e i i |_.- 8,861 T _
! ke T e aieral up B0 T dmount of Be cshis i F Al a withy e 1hy waluds ol T ar: ol sk

In Private Banking & 'Wealth Management, all coliateral values for
laans are requliarly reviewed according fo our risk management
policies and directives, with maxsmum revew penods delermined
by rarkel lquidiy, marked iransparency and appraisal cosis. Fer
axample, traded securibes are rvalused on a daily bass and prop=-
arly valuas are appraised over a pericd of more than one year
consdenng the chasaclaristics of the barrower, current devalop-
meants in the releant real estate market and the curment level of
credit expasure fo the bomower, If the credd exposure to & bor-
rawer has changed significantly, in volatile markets or in times of
incraasing genaral market risk, collateral valses may be appraised
mere freguently. Management judgment is appled in assessing

whither markels are volabie or gentral marke! sk has increased
to a degree that warrants a more frequent update of collaleral val-
ues. Movements in mondored risk metnics that are statistically di-
ferent compared to historical expenence are consdered in addition
to analysis of externally-provided forecasts, scerario techmgques
and macro-economic research. For impaired loans, the far walue
of collalaral is daterminad within 30 days of the date the impai-
mant was dentibed and thereafter regularly revalued by Group
cradit rsk management within the impairment review process,

In Imvestment Banking, few loans are coliateral dapendant.
The collateral values for these kans are appraised on at least an
annual basis, or when a loan-relevant event coours.
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Grass loans held at amortized cost - aging analysis

2014 (CHF millisn)

AGress boans held ot amortized cost 248 182 1220
2013 (CHF million)

Bl i a1 2326 230,508

aerate & sl ongl

Gr o%d baans hald & amortized cosl 228,183 1,029 03 168 284 2384 228557
Impaired loans As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, loans held-to-matirty car-

ried at amortized cost did not include ary subprime residential

In @ecordance with Group policses, mpaired kans include non-  mortgages. Accordingly, mpaired lcans did nol nclude any sub-

parfonming koans, non-mlerest-garning loans, restruciured lbans  prme resdental medgages. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013,

and polental problem bans. {ha Group did ned have any matenal comméments o lend addi-

v Feh Mt fignal funds to deblors whase loan terms had been modified in
troubled debd restruciurings.
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2014 (CHF srallisnd

Gross impaiad loans
2013 {CHF miliond

poiale & ratheoral

fiross mpased loans

Wife-off of a loan occurs whan i is considered ceriain that thera
& o possibdiy of recovering the outstanding principal. In Invest-
ment Banking, a lan is willen down 1o #5 neld baok value once
the lean provision is greater than 80% of the kban notional amont,
unless repayment of the bban is anlicipated 1o sccur within the next
two quarlers. In Private Banking & Wealth Management, wrte-
offs are made, based on an indhidual counterpany assessment
performed by Group credi risk management, f it i certain that
parts of a loan will not be recoverable. For collateralived loans,
the colateral is assested and the unsscured expasure is writhen
off, VWiite-offs on uncollateralized loans are based on the bornaw-
ar's abilfy to pay back the cutstanding loan out of free cash flow.
Tha Group evakiates the recowerability of the bans granted, f a

& T Tekal
4% 11 43 1 40 &
2 1
d FE): ] 1032 m 187 ana 1,260
L i &f
¥ &5 £
[ ¥ [ [
194 a 1
4 1 a3 G o el -y
L1 28 1,143 L] EL L A4 1488

borrgwer i expected 1o defaul whally or partly on ifs payment
obbgations or to mest thesa only with third-pary support. Adjust-
meants are made 1o reflect the estimated realizable value of the
kg of any collateral. Tnggeds lo assess the cradiworllmess of a
borngwer to absorb the adverse developments inchede i) a defaull
an irderest or prncipal payments by mone than B0 days, i) a waver
of interest or principal by the Group, m) a downgrade of the lcan lo
non-ireresi-garning, i) the cobechon of the debt theough seaure
onder, bankruptcy precesdings or realzation of collateral, or v) the
insolency of the borrower. Based on such assessment, Group
cradil nsk managament svakmles the nesd for write-ois indsidu-
ally and on an ongaing basis.

Recovenas of loans previously wrtten off are recorded bazed
on the cash or estimated fair vakes of other amounts meceved

549/690



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

268

Grass impaired loan detalls

o
- i o0
Gross impaired boan detad| (CHF million)
Wt i a
ar
1 15
Of & g aired laans with & specilic allawancs 1287 1,225 0 1412 1,319 a5
Geoss impaired leans witheul specilic sllewance 3 ] - 7 7 -
Oeeid impaired foans 1,360 1,318 540 1485 508 and
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Consolidated financial slatements - Credit Suisse Group

Gross smpaired loan datall (CHF millien)
e . e
| dsaloed by ¥ s £ [
r =
2 LT B
1,388 -]
5
Bmal asta
e 1 al ko F
e Ao o
Coipoiale S ratht el o7
fiross mpawed loans withoul specific allowance 143 =]
Girows Empairad loann 1AM 5

The Grewp considers 2 lean impaired when, based on currend infor-
mation and events. it is probable that the Group wil be unable to
coliect the amounts dus acconding o the contractual ferms of the
loan agreament, The Group performs an in-depth review and anal-
ysis of impared bans consiering faclors such as recovery and
exit oplions as well as coliaferal and courterpany risk, n general,
all mpared loans are ndividualy assessed. For consumer loans,
the trigger to detact an impaired loan & non-payment of infarast.
Corporate and institubonal kans are roviewed al least annualy
basad on the bomower's financial statemants and amy ndications
of difficulties they may expenence. Loans thal are not impaied,
but which are of special concern due to changes in covanants,
downgrades, negative financial news and other adverse develop-
menis, are mcluded on a watch list, Al loans on the walch kst
are reviewed at least quariedy 1o daterming whethar they should

e
grired Wi Dt
54 T
[ B [ 1
¥ ?
s : [
4 1,488 @ -] 1.447 i &
[ T
O =
1] 147 a o 125 1 1
4 1,833 -] -] 1,772 13 mn

be moved lo Gioup recovery management, al which paint they
are reviewed quarterdy for mpairment. If an individual koan specifi-
caly denlified for evaluation is consdered impared, the alowance
& delermined a5 a reasonable estimale of credit losses existing
as of the end of fhe reporting pencd. Thereafter, the alowance
is revalued by Group credt nsk mamagement at least anmelly
or more frequently depending on the msk profile of the bormower
of credd relevant evenls, For certam non-collateral-dependen
mpared loans, an mparmant is measured using the present value
of estimated fulura cash flows, excepl that as a practical axpedi-
erd an impaiment may be measured based on a loan's obsarvable
markel price. if tha prasent valua of estimated fulure cash flows
is used, the impaired loan and related allowance are revalued al
least quarderly fo reflect passage of lime. For collateral-dependert
impaied leans, an impairmant is measured using the fair value of
the collataral,
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Restructured loans held at amortized cost

oM
e R 5] R 1

Restrctured loans (CHF milion)

Toital 1" 0 1_!_2_ ] “‘,l-_ i l} L] tl

In 2014, a majority of ban modfications of the Group mcleded In 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Group did nol experence a

interast rale reductions to rales kower than the current market  defaull on any lan which had been restructured within the prev-
rale for new kans with similar risk, partially in combiration with  ous 12 months,

extended repayment terms and/or amended colixlesal terms Cer-

fain restnactunngs incheded a reduction of the poncipal loan bal-

ance andlor accrued inerest,

19 Premises and equipment

F 1T
Premises and aguipment (CHE milliord

Bigidirgs and | 418
Peamitsas and sguhpmes| 13,773 13,058
Tebsl pramisas and sgulpment, nel 4,641 B0

Depreciation and impairmant
004

CHF millicn

T o i ]
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20 Goodwill

Gross amount of gaodwill (CHF millior)
Balsnce at Begisning of pediod

1 during 1he year

| T

Bslsnes st and ol parisd

Accurmulated img airment (CHF mitlion)
Balsnce ot Bagirming of pedod

Irragam rrred ok 4

Balsnes at end ol parssd

Met book value {CHF miliond

teet bock valus

ELIES bl
By N ;Iﬂ até

Barking & Cradit  Ewdeng d Credit
Weslhs Iveiment Swimin b OO .
MAaragemant Elgnd g Graup Manugemet Earking Gioap
478 5817 8,083 2,409 8062 BATY

o i £

142 £99 645 [ g 141 &

(34 1 o i £ (&
2,328 BA12 8,738 2178 5m7 B,0%1
12 Fr] ) o 82 a2
12 Bz 84 12 82 a4
2314 B330 B 2,184 5835 FE ]

In accordance with LIS GAAR, the Group continually assesses
whather or not thera has bean a triggering event. As of December
31, 2014, the Group's market capilalzation was below book valus
and as of December 31, 2013, the Group's market capialzation
was above book value.

The carrying value of each reporting und for purposes of the
goodwill impasment test is defermined by considenng the report-
ing units’ © risk-wemhted assets usage, leverage ratio exposwe,
deferred lax agsets, cumulative transtation adjustments, goodwil
and ntangibls assets. Any residual equily, after considering the
total of these elements, is allocated to the reporting urds on a
pro-rata basis,

In estmaling the © fair vake of s reporting umts the Group
generally apphed a markel appreach where consderation is given
to price 1o prajecied earming mulliples or prce to book value multi=
ples for siméarly traded comparmes and prices paid in recent trans-
aclons thal have cccurred m ds industey or in refaled indusines.,

In determining the estimaled fair vakse, the Group relied upen
s three-year strafegic business plan which included significant
management assumplions and estimates based on s view of our-
ranl and fulure econamic condiions and regqulalory changes.

Based on its goodwill impairment analysis perfermed as of
Decamber 31, 2014, the Group concluded that the astimated fai
value for those reporting unids i the Private Banking & Wealth
Management division with goodwill substantially exceeded their
ralaled carrying values and no impaiment was necessary as of
Decernber 31, 2014. The fair vake of Privale Banking & Wealth
Management's non-sirategic reporing unié at the date of &5 cre-
ation in the fourth quarter of 2013 was lower than the eslimated
book value and a3 a resull the Growp recarded a CHF 12 malien
goodwill smpairment charge.

Thete was alss ne impavment necessary for the Group's
Imsestment Bankmg reporting unt as the estimated fair value

substandialy exceeded s carrying valug, The Group engaged
the senaces of an independent valuation specialst to assist in the
valuation of the reporting und as of December 31, 2014 using a
combination of the market approach and income approach. Under
the market approach, consideration is given to price to projected
eamings multiples or prce to book value muliples for simiarly
traded companies and prices paid in recent transactions that hawve
oceurmed in its induslry or in related indusiries. Under the income
approach, a discount rale was appbed that reflects the nsk and
uncartainty related to the reporting und’s projected cash flows,

The results of the impairmen? evaluation of each reparting
urid's goodwill wauld be sgaificamly mpacted by adverss changes
in the underlying parameters wsed in the valuation process, If
aclual outcomes adversely differ by a sufficiert margin from s
best estimates of the key economic assumptions and associbed
cash flows applied in the valuation of the reporting unit, the Growp
could potentialy incur material mmpairment charges in the fulure,

As a result of acquisitions, the Group has moorded goodwil
a5 an asset in s consobdaled balance sheats, tha most signifi-
cant componant of which argse from the acquistion of Donakdsan,
Lartkin & Janrette Inc. in 2000. In 2014, the Group complated the
acquisiion of Morgan Stardey’s private wealth management busi-
nessas in EMEA, excluding Swilzerand, which generated goodwill
upan consolidation. In December 2013, a firs? closing of this trans-
action also generated goodwill upon conscobdation.

Goodwill was also positively impaciad by foreign exchange
fluctuations in goodwil denomirated in US dollars in 2014,

The Group does not expect the SNE decision in January
2015 to discontinue the minmum exchange rate of CHF 1.20 per
sure and 1o increase negalne imerest rates wil lead 19 a goodwill
mpaiment as the far vakse of the reparting unds with gaodwil will
continie 1o exceed ther relaled camyng valuss

553/690



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

21 Other intangible assets

o

Het £ -.'- i Hel
ramying CarTying i LEying
amount arsnt 4 Wi ot

O ther intangible assals (CHF million)

Totad aenoatizing obhar intang®de assels 238 T1ug) 120 54 (128} 130
e b i 2 o ] 2 :
# vt by g ag i fihy 3 &g, at L & -

Total oliver intangible sssels 168 nE 248 Fig A F 10

Additional information

mis
Aggregate amarbization and impairment (CHF millios)

Estim ated amartization

Esterrated semertzation (CHF rillicn)
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Ofther assets (CHF million)

Dlfer aissls
Osher Habditias (CHF rrallon

Oibar hsbililies
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23 Deposits
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Tatsl y Total

Deposits (CHF millian)
i fereet -f 0] rid s ! ;
Toilsl depasits 238515 154,550 J98,087! 24757 13440 3881970

o whde b dizs o Bar fiy 3

il 4 2
i T % 1 we o e 1 s e
‘N ] 1F TN ] L] [ - 2 T - ] i Al &
L 2 Dhe ! iw
24 Long-term debt
11

Long-term debt (CHF milkon)
Long-term debt 17TBE8 130,042

W 0 il 511, 16 fockc o]
Struclured noles by product
ar 4
Structured nate s (CHF millicn)

st e
Totsd sbruchaied noles 50,488

Tatal long-term debt is comprisad of debl issuances managed by
Treasury which do not contain derivalive features (vandla debt),
as well as hybrid debt instruments with embedded © derpatives,

34,815

which are issued as part of the Group's structured product actm-
lies. Leng-lerm debt includes both Swiss franc and foreign
exchangs denominaied fised and varable mate bonds,
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The interest rale ranges presenied in the table below are  below as thesa coupans are dependent upon the embadded deriv-
baszad on the contractual terms of the Group's vanilla debl. Inferast  alive and prevailng marke! conditions at the time each coupon i
rale ranges for fulure coupon payments on structured products for  pand. Inadddion, the effects of dervalives usad for hedging are not
whazh © fair value has been elected are not included in the fable  included in the interest rate ranges on the associated debt.

Long-term debt by maturities

wd ol b 18 i e G Thessatisr Tokad

dru IJD.DIri-'I:Il 1: nn:lpli'i'p l:'.‘.HF. I'rl||ItH:IP.

Subordinsted dabd )

Fioed rabs Ll [ s 4 Sl $ 0K

) rbes fraraem i W

Subletal - Group parent company

Subsidiories ICHF milber)

Sandor debt

1 ratr 13,774 L 554 13804 14,548

Subordimatad dekd
F remd 1ate
riawit rahes {rars i Sl O6=1312 0 1=135 3 1= F

Hon-recaurae liabdities from comialidated VIES

2 " L hY
et e o P 113 4 &l - -

Subtolal = Subssdianies Pl 0, e bt kL) G DK B4 568 173 e
Total lang berm debl T T

i e fik 51 1004 5534

8 peirmvitin | e bA b B o

The Group and the Bank maintain a sheff regisiration statement  The Group maintains a eurs medium-term note program that
with the US Securties and Exchange Commission (SEC), which  allows #, certam finance subsidiaries (guaranteed by the Group)
allows them lo ssue, from time fo time, senics and subordinated  and the Bank to issue sanior debt securities noles.

debt securties, warrants and related guarantees. The shelf regis- The Bark mainains a JPY 500 bilbon Samurai shelf registra-
tration stalemaent also allows certan subsidianes of the Group to tien statemont that aliows it 1o sswe, from tme to time, sanior and
ssue exchangeable or comertible debt securilies which are guas-  subordinated debt securfties.

arteed by the Group and are exchangeable or comearidles inls aadi-

nary shares of the Group

P FY
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25 Accumulated other comprehensive income and additional share infermation
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Accumulated other comprehensive income

2014 (CHF millian}
Balance s baginming of paricd {11y (13,674) 52 (2757}

Ealancs o and of paried (3 (11,478 84 (40103
2013 (CHF million)
EBalance ot beginning of period (28 (12,7870 B4 (3.800)

Balance  and of paricd A (13,6743 52 (2,787
2012 (CHF rillicng
Balante 3 beginning of paricd oEEy (11,78 fout] (2,781)

Balance at and of pericd (e OR7eT e (38040

Datails of significant reclassification adjustments

Re<lassfication adjustmants, included in net income (CHF million)
Cumulakive franslalicn adpzsiments
o i 3

Aelissrial gains/ Jossash

INet prior sereice creditilzost)
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26 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

The disclosures set oul in the tables below include © deriatives,

 rewersa repurchase and © repurchase agreaments, and securi-

ties landing and borrowing transactions that:

= e offset in the Group's consolidated balance sheels; o

" are subject to an enforceable master netling agreement or
sirmlar agreement (enforceable master natting agreements),
irmgspactve of whathes they ane olfssl n the Gioup's consal-
daled balance sheats,

Simitar agreements include deswvative clearing agreemaents, global
master repurchase agreements and global master securities lend-
ng agresments,

Derivalives

The Group transacks bilsteral © OTC dervatives (OTC deriva-
tives) mainly under Inlermnatioral Swaps and Denvatives Associa-
tion (1504} Master Agreements and Swiss Master Agreements
for OTC derwvative instrumends. Thase agreaments provide for the
net sefflement of ali fransactions under the agreement through
a single payment in the event of default or termination under the
agreement. They allow the Group to offsel balances from deriva-
thve assets and liabdties as well as the recehables and payables
to related cash coliateral transacled with the same counterparty.
Cofateral for OTC dertvathes is receied and provided in the form
of cash and marketable sscunties. Such colileral may be subpect
to the standard induslry terms of an ISDA Creddl Supporl Annes.
The tarms of an ISDA Cradit Suppart Annex prevede thad securies

recenmd or provided as colateral may be pledged or sold during
the term of the transactions and must be returned upon matusty of
the transacton. These ferms also give each counterparty the right
to terminate the relkxed trarsactions upsn the other counterpany’s
failure 1o post coliateral Financial collateral recened or pledged
for OTC demvatives may also be subject fo cobaleral agreements
whach rastrict the use of financal collateral

For derivatawes transacted with exchanges (exchange-traded
dervatives) and central cleaning counterparties (OTC-cleared
derivalives), posiive and negatve replacement vahees (MEY) and
related cash cofisteral may be offset if the terms of fhe rues and
megulations governing these exchanges and central cleanng coun-
terparties parmit such netting and offsat.

Whare no such agresmeants sxist, fair values are recorded on
a gross bass.

Under LS GAAF, tha Group elected to account for substan-
tially all firancial instruments with an embedded dervative that &
nol considered clearly and closaly relaled to the host contract at
fair value, There i an exception for certain bifurcatabie hybeod debl
instruments which the Group did not elect to account for at fai
value. However, thase bifurcaled embedded dervalives are genar-
ally not subject 1o enforceable master netting agreements and ane
nod recorded as dervative instruments undar trading assets and
kabilitees or other assels and other kabdities, Information an bifue-
caked ambeddad dernatives has therefors notl been included in the
offsetting disclosures.
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The foliowang table presants the gross amount of derivalives  dervalves nat subject to enforceable master netting agreemants
subject o enforceable masier netting agreemants by contract  and tha net amount presenied n the conschdated balance shests.
and transaction type, the amouni of offsetting. the amount of

Oifsetting of derivatives

Gross derivatives subject to enforcesble master netting agresments (GHF bilior

lUnterest rate products 4714 . & dda 4402
Forekgn & hange products &7 a0l A6 [P
Equityendes-islsled products 272 0 3 33T
Cradit darivalives 83 258 i ] 3
Tl ] 0 (W)
Enghars-raded + 3 0% 1
Hher prodscts a0 1 LE:] 4.4
Talal gross derivatives subject Io enforceabls maiber nelling agresmenkd B3 o=} S8R5 5r14
Offeatling (CHF Eilkord
CHisetiing (580,09 (59800 (54,50 ihdT.8)
Nel derivatives presariad in tha consolidaled Balance shaals (CHF billien)
Tt mil & bt 3 Sulgect B al bile miaslesr nedting sofesmenls 0.8 283 ) e
Tolsl derrvabived mol subject U saleicsabla masher nelling sgrasmants ' a8 af (LS| 11.3
Totsl pet denvatives presented in the consolidated Balance sheeks 8.8 a4 7 3548
of wihach reconds tepieng et An {racng bt i 1 8 0 1 .
J'w e i & i ¥ bl K B i
! Rapraaa 4 wi wheste g bagu =g @ abetty = s ds by - o B g e
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Reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements and general, mast securilies lending and bedrowing transac tions do nel
socurities lending and borrowing transactions el the crtanon of kawng the same selllement date specfied
Reverse repurchase and repurchase agreaments are generally  inceplion of the fransaction, and therefore they are not eligibke for
covered by global master repurchase agreements, In cedain stu-  neting in the consolidaled batance sheels. However, securnties
ations, for example, n he event of defaut, all contracts underthe  lkending and bormowing fransaclions with explict maturly dates may
agreements are tesminaied and are seltled nel i one single pay-  be eligible for nefiing in the consolidated bakance sheets.
mnt, Glabal master repurchase agreaments also mchide payment Rewverse repurchase and repurchase agresments are collaler-
aor settlement netling provisions in the normal cowse of business  alzed principally by government securfses, money market instru-
that state that all amourts in the same curmency payable by each  ments and corporate bands and have terms ranging fram evermight
party 1o the other under any transaction or otherwise under the o a longer or unspectied penod of time. In the event of coun-
global master repurchasa agreament on the same date shall ke terparty default, the reverse repurchase agreemant or sacurflias
st off, lending agreement provides the Group with the nghl to hqudate
Transactions under such agreemends are notted inthe consol-  the coBateral hald. As i the case n the Group's nosmal cowrse
dated balance sheets if they are with the same counterparly, have  of business, substantially all of the collateral recened that may b
the same malurily date, settle through the same clearing institu-  sold or repledged was sold or repledged as of December 31, 2014
tion and are subject lo the same master netting agreement, The  and Dacember 31, 20M3. In certain circumstances, financial col-
amourits offset are measured on the same basis as the underlying  lateral recetved may be restricted during the term of the agreement

transaction {iLe.. on an accrual basis or fair value basis) fe.g.. in tri=party arrangamants)

Securdies landing and borrowing transaclions are genaraly The follewing table presents the gross amount of secusities
axpcuted under global masier securties lendmg agreements with  purchasad under resals agreements and securities bomowing
natting lerms samifar to ISDA Master Agreements. In cerain s&-  transactions subject to enforceable masier neling agreements,
uations, far example in the everd of defaull, all contracts under  the amownt of offsetting, the amount of securities purchasad
the agreamenl are lerminaled and are seiiled net in one single  undes resale agreaments and securities borrowing transactions
payment. Transactions under these agreements are netled inthe  not subject io enforceable master netting agreemants and the net
consolidated batince sheets if they meet the same nght of offsel  amourt presented in the consohdated balance sheets,

crileria &5 for reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements. fn

Offsetting of securities purchased under resale agreements and securities borrowing transactions

mi4

CHtaatiing M=t o
Secuitins purchased under resale agresments and o -
securities borrowing ransscSons (CHF billicn)
s len punthated o el ) R el 115 mam a1.3 119
S ien bo owing 1 T = @ (LR o o
Tobal subpeck to anforceable master nabling agrasmanis 1479 [ 5] 173.2 124.7
Total not subject to enforceable master natiing agreemasts ' 50 - 1.0 521
'I'D.t- ) ) . ) o ) o - 'I'Bll ) (34.8) 1!5.-.".” 1aé.n

A1 2000 ared O3, recipend vy, aie Dapor o aft e waloe

tHisttrag Hat

521

5
1 v
(.8 1075
i1 16007
e

The following table presents the gross amount of securties sokl  agresments and securfies lending transactions not subject fo
under rapurchase agreaments and securiies ending transactions  enforceable master netling agreements and the net amount pre-

subgact to enforceable master nebling agreements, the amount  sented in the corsobdated balance sheets.
of offsetting, the amount of securities sald under repurchase
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Oifsetting of securiles sold under repurchase agresments and securities lending transactions

Seduritios seld under repunthase agheemants and
sacuritien landing Srandst bans (CHF Bilien)

Securities 1okl undet reparchise sgresment

am securfes recehed st collateral ot farvalee

Tolsl subject to #nlorceshls master netling sgresments
Total mot melject to enlerceabls master nelting agresments '

The fobawing tables presants tha net amourd presented in the con-
solidated balance sheets of financial assels and kabities subject
to enforceable master netting agreements ard the gross amount
of financial nstruments and cash collateral not offset in the con-
solidated balance sheets. The fable excludas dernvatives, revarsa
repurchasa and repwrchasa agreaments and securiles lending and

Amounts not offset in the consolidated balance sheats

FLL =
HiaTr) Het 30 O maitineg Het

[ r i iy
16 185 g
L (34.8) BdE 11L8 (28, &) 4.8
I = A bty = 0
1318 (34.6) arn 1436 C20.8) 1168

i i 1] ) @
s i bl g £t Fu o - 5 "
U1 g 20T, raapss W, e repeted at far welue

barrowing transactions nod subject te enforceable master neting
agreemeants where a legal opinion supporting the enforceabilty of
netting i the svent of default or termination under the agreament
is naf in place, Mel esposure reflacts nsk miligation in the form of
collateral

Fimamcial uﬁ!: il.;hlﬂﬂl.i urlur.ulbln rna s her
fellifg agréarmants (CHF bLliand
Dherivativers 209

et bomow g trarsachor

Tobal Financisl assels swbject bo enforce sbis

mailer natling sgresmants 1431
Financial Eabdities subject 1o enfarc aable masler
netiing agreerments (CHF biltond
i oa
AN IO Al SUr Rt el S b il nl @ ey vl
Totsl linancial Nabilites subject o snforce abde
mailer nattieg sagrasmants 0n.e
T tirial wvicaats r W ot i arcind wivets ir A
ralted " anbad i T oo s ety and B

Mel exposure is subject to further credit miligation theough the
{ransfer of the exposure fo other market counterpartes by the
use of @ CDS and credit insurance cantracts. Therefore the et

e
ar Hel Fraraia Het
. ! el Fiel  riruments poame
35 1 1 T
118.1 L8 ] LK 131.5 2o L8 ] 154
] = 170 i

T2 LA T LRI 833 L] i1
labdtien. ard roe-Cath Traredull ¢oditerad) and Cath Colate mited 8 Te gnousrd of e

shyteralingSon of Pate [-oamong i ral b isded

expasure prasanbed in the table above is not representatve for the
Group's counterparty Bxposune,
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Details of current and deferred taxes

Currant and deferred taxes (CHF malliony
Cumant income tax sxpanse

Defarred mcoms Lax sapensesibenslil)

Imcome lax szpenss

Reconcillation of taxes computed at the Swiss statutory rate

Income from continuing eperations belore taxes (CHF million)

Ineome Irom conlinuing operalicns Balors Laves

RecancilisBon of taxes campuled 51 the Swiss statutery rate (CHF Fallisr

Ivcome tax sapenss
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2014

Foreign tex rate differential of CHF 314 million reflected a for-
eign tax expanse in respact of profils earned in hagher tax juris-
dictions, maindy Brazd and the US, partially offset by foreign tax
rate differartial related 1o profits earmed in lower tax jurisdictions,
mainky Guernsey and the Bahamas. The total foreign tax expenss
of CHF 1,627 milion was not only impacted by the foreign tax
expensa based on statufory 1ax rates but also by tax impacts
related bo additicnal recanciing hems as expliined balow,

Cther non-deductible expenses of CHF G658 milion
incheded the impact of CHF 300 milion relaling to the non-
deductible portion of the Itigation provisiens and selllement
charges, nen-deductible inlerest expanses of CHF 179 millien,
non-deductible bank levy costs and ether nen-deductible compen-
sation expenses and management costs of CHF 59 milion, and
olher various smaler non-deductible expenses of CHF 38 milkon.

Lower taxed income of CHF 272 millon ncluded a fax ben-
efit of CHF 84 million relaled to non-laxable dividend income,
CHF 56 milkon related to non-taxable life insurance income, CHF
35 millicn in respact of incoma taxed at rales lower thanthe statu-
tory tax rate, CHF 34 mifion mlaled to exempt offshore income
and vanous smallar fams,

Changes in tax law and rates of CHF 151 million reflected
a bax expense related to the change in Mew York state tax law.

Changes in deferred tax valuation allowances of CHF
1,054 millizn included the nat impact of the increasa of valua-
tion allowances of CHF 427 million, mainly in respect of six of
1he Group's operating ertities, three in the UK and one in each
of Genmarny, Haly and Switzerland, nelating 1o current year eamn-
ings, Additionally, 2014 nchided an increase invaluation allwance
for previously recognioed deferred fax assels m respact of two of
the Group's operating entilies in the UK of CHF 862 milion, Alse
included was 3 tax benefit of CHF 25 milion resadling from the
releasa of valuation allowances on deferred tax assats from one of
1he Group's aperaling entities in Spain,

Change in recognition of outside basis difference of
CHF 450 milion reflecied a tax benefit related fo the enactment
of a Swiss GAAP change impacing the expected reversal of the
oulsde basis differences relaling to Swiss subsidary imestments.

Other of CHF 158 million inclsded a lax benefit of CHF 189
mighon following audd closures and tax seltiemants, fogether with
a benafl of CHF 7 millon relating to the decrease of tax contin-
gency accruals, partally offset by CHF 30 milban return to accrual
adustmants and a tax expenss of CHF 27 milion ralafing to non-
recoverable foreign and withholding taxes. The remaining bakance
included varaus smaller fems,
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Foreign tax rate differential of CHF 189 mdien reflecled a for-
eign tax expense in respect of profits eamead in igher tax jurs-
dictions, maink Brazd and the US, partialy offsed by foreign tax
rate differential related fo profits earned in lower tax unsdictions,
mainfy Guemsey and the Bahamas. The total forsign fax expense
of CHF 1,242 million was not only impacted by the foreign tax
expense based on statufory tax rales bul alse by tax impacts
refatad o adddional recenciing Aems axplaned balow,

Cther nen-deductible expenses of CHF 482 million
included non-deduciible interast expences of CHF 247 millian,
mertaxable offshare expenses of CHF 9 milkon, men-deducible
bank levy cosis and other non-deductible compensalion expenses
and management costs of CHF 23 milion, non-deduciible provi-
sien accnuals of CHF 103 millien and other vasous smaller non-
deduciible axpanses.

Lower taxed income of CHF 381 million included a net tax
benafil of CHF 49 milion resulting from the reversal of a defered
tax kability previously recorded to cover for a taxable timing differ-
ence ralated 1o a re-imestmant rebad. In addiion, 2013 included a
Swiss income 1ax benefit of CHF 41 million as a resull of foreign
branch earmings beneficially impacting the eamings mi, alax ben-
efit of CHF &1 million relaled to nan-taxable ife insurance incoms,
CHF 58 million related to exempl offshore income, CHF 45 millon
in respect of non-taxable dividend income, CHF 18 milion related
to non-faxable foreign exchange gans, CHF 67 milkon refated fo
tax credits and CHF 19 million ralafed to pesmanent fax benefits
from tax deductible gocdwill amortzation. The remaining balance
included vanous smaller §ems.

Changes in tax law and rates of CHF 184 milbon reflected a
tax axpense causad by tha reduction of defesred tax assels manby
due to the impact of the change in UK corparation tax,

Changes in deferred tax veluatien allowances af CHF
385 million included the impact of the increasa of vakation alow-
ances of CHF 249 mifion, manky in respect of four of the Group's
oparating enfities, three m Evrope and one in Asi, relating o cur-
rent year earnings. Additionally, 2013 included an increase in vals-
ation allowance for previously recognized deferred tax assels in
respect of cne of the Group's operating entities in the UK of CHF
278 million, Also included was a tax bersfit of CHF 143 millon
resuRing from the release of vakation abowances on deferned fax
assats, mainly for two of the Group's operating enfifies, one in
Japan and one in the LK.

COthar of CHF 1 milion included a tax benefd of CHF 57 mil-
lian relating to the currend year's earnings mix and the re-assess-
merd of deferred tax assels m Switrerland reflacting changes n
forecasted fulure profitabiity related 1o defarred {ax assets and a
CHF 36 rillion income tax benefit fallwing a change in the tax
status of one of the Group's LIS entities, offset by a tax expense of
CHF 44 millian relating to the intrease of tax confingency accruals
and a tax expense of CHF 56 million ralating to non-recoverable
foreign and withholing taxes. The remaming balance inchuded
varLs smaller dems,
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Foreign tax rate differential of CHF 242 millon reflected
a foreign lax esxpense in respact of profits earmed in higher tax
jurisdictions, manly Brazil and the US, partially offset by foreign
tax rate differential related to profits aamed in lower fax unisdic-
tions, mamly Guemsey and the Bahamas. The total foreign tax
expense of CHF 448 milion was nal only smpacted by the foreign
tax expense based on statudory tax rates bud also by tax impacts
rabted bo addiional recancling tems explained balow,

Other non-deductible expenses of CHF 393 million
included non-deductible inlerest expanses of CHF 260 millon,
non-taxable offshore expenses of CHF 8 million, non-deductible
bank levy costs and other non-deductible compensation expensas
of CHF 5T milion and other varous smaller non-deductible
PSS,

Lewer taxad income of CHF 422 milion included a Swiss
incormse lax benefit of CHF 114 milkon as a resull of foreign branch
samings beneficially impacting the earmings mix. In addftion, 2012
included a tax benefit of CHF 48 million related to non-taxable
ffe nsurance incoma, CHF 29 million ralated to exampt offshore
income, CHF 40 millicn in respect of non-faxable dividend income,
CHF 11 milan related 1o non-taxable forelgn eschangs gans ard
CHF 100 milion related to tax credits. The remaining balance
inchuded various smaller lems, amengsi others related 1o perma-
nent tax benefits from tax deductible goodwill amortization and lax
holidays.

Changes In tax law and rates of CHF 182 milion reflected a
tax expense caused by the reduction of deferred tax assels maindy
due fo the impact of the change in UK corperation tax

Changes in deferred tax valuation allowances of CHF 13
mallion included an increase 1o the valuation allowance of CHF 834
mellion in respect of five of the Group's operating enlilies, three in
Euiape and two in Asia, mainky rebaling to deferred tax assels en
currant year tax bosses and pra-existing koss carry-forwards. Addi-
tienally, 2012 inchaded a tax benefit of CHF B20 million resulting
from the release of valuation allowances on deferred tax assets for
one of the Group's operating antifies in the LIS,

Other of CHF 160 milkon ncluded a fax benefit of CHF 48
mitkan relating 1o the re-assessment of deferred lax assels in
Switzerland reflecting changes in forecasted fulwe profiability
refated to such pre-axisting deferred tax assets. Also nchuded was
a benafil of CHF 70 millon relating te return lo accnual adjust-
ments following the close of a tax awdit cyche and the mmpact of
the closure of an advancad pricing agresment and CHF 40 milicn
relating 1o the release of tax contingency accruals following the
favarable resalution of lax matbers,

&z of Decamber 31, 2014, the Group had accumulated undis-
tributed eamings from foregn subsidiares of CHF 5.8 billion. Mo
deferred tax liabdity was recorded i respect of those amounts
as (hese eamings are considered ndefindaly rervested. I i not
practicable to estimate the amaunt of wnecogniced defesed tax
leabilitens dor these undistributed foregn eamings,
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Datails of the tax affect of temporary differences
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The increase in nei defemed fax assets from 2013 fo 2014 of
CHF 239 mallion was primarily due bo the impact of total CHF 798
millan fram the recogniion and re-measwemant of defemed tax
batances in Swilzerland and the release of valuaticn allowances in
Spam, the tax impacts deestly mcorded in equity, manly relaled
to the net impact of share-based compensation, pension plan re-
measurement and ciher tax recorded directly in equdy of CHF 460
millicn, and foreign exchange transhtion gains of CHF 447 mil-
ion, which ane inchaded within the currency translation adustments
recorded in ADCI, These increases wen parialy offsel by taxable
income in 2014, reducing deferred tax assets by CHF 654 milion
and the recognition of a valuaton allwance agamal pre-existing
deferred fax assets, maindy in the UK, of CHF 662 milbon. In addi-
tion. the mevement also included & decrease of deferred Bax assets
of CHF 151 milion as a result of changes 1o the corporation tax kw
in Mewr York

The most significant net deferred fax asssts ansa in the US,
Switzertand and UK and thase dacreazed from CHF 5.732 milion,
nel of a valuation alowance of CHF 1,713 million as of the and of
2013, to CHF 5,582 milkon, net of a valuation alewance of CHF
3,184 milion as of the end of 2014,

Dwe to uncertainly concermng its abilily to ganerale the nec-
essary amourt and mix of taxable income in future perieds, the
Group recarded a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets
in the amaurd of CHF 4.7 billlen as of December 31, 2014 com-
pared to CHF 2.7 billion as of December 31, 2013
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Amounts and expiration dates of net operating less
carmy-forwards

Tax benafits associated with share-based compensation

FLIT] Lia bt
wred of 3014 Total i'.l‘.-ill'ﬂ-l‘fl-ll liio{.lltﬂd‘w‘;‘ﬂ.‘! ﬂ;ut-.l.:uudul.:urmum;l.:.nn {;:H.le. um'l
et cporatng loss camy-Tarwards (CHF rrillienl T . bates)
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Mevements in the valuation allowance If, upon settlement of share-based compensalion, the tax deduc-

- tron exceeds the cumulative compensation cost that the Group had

. 2014 1z w12 mecognized in the consolidated financial statements, the utilzed

Movemenis im the valuston alowanse (CHF rilllcnd {ax benefl associated with any excess deduction is considered

Balance st heginsing of pericd 2708 258 2890 3 “windfal and recognized in sharehoklers’ equity as additisnal

Heet change 1,400 151 11250 pasd-n capital and reflected as a financing cash inflow in the con-

Balance st erd of pericd 4107 2,708 2584 solidated stalemenis of cash flows. H, upen settlement the tax

As pari of its normal practice, the Growp has conducied a detaled
evaluation of its expected fulure resulis. This evaluation is depen-
danl on managemen! estimates and assumplions n developing
the expacted future eaults, which are based on a siralegic busi-
ness planning process influenced by current econamic canditions
and assumphions of future economic condftions that are subject lo
change, This evaluation teok inla accaunt bath positve and nega-
i sadence related to expected future taxable income and alss
considered stress scenaries. This evaluation has indicated tha
expected fulure results that are likely to be sarned in prsdetions
whete the Group has sigiehcant gross deferred lax assels, prmar-
ity v the US, the UK and Switzerdand. The Group then comparned
ihese expected future results with the apphcable lw govemning
utilization of deferred tax assets. US tax bw allows for a 20-year
carry-forward penod for net operating losses, UK tax law allows
for an unbmited carry-forward period for net operaling losses and
Swiss lax law allows for a seven-year carry-forward period for net
operaling losses,

The Group does nat expect the SHB decision in January 2015
to dscontinue the minimum exchangs rate of CHF 1.20 per ewrg
and 1o increase negative intenes! rales will lead 1o a materal mpact
on the evaleton of the camying vales of the Group's deferred tax
assat pasition,

deduction & lower than the cumuiative compansation cost thal the
Group had recegnized in the consolidated financial statements,
the tax charge associated with the lower deduction & considered
a “shartfall’, Tax charges ansing on shortfalls are recegnized in
shareholders’ squily lo the exdent that any shortfalls are lower than
the cumulatnve windfalls, ofherwise the tax charge is recognized
in the consolidated statements of operations. However, windfall
deductions and dwvwlend equialents aggregating CHF 1.1 bilken
and CHF 0.9 billion for 2014 and 3013, respectively, did not result
in 3 reduction of income taxes payable because cerfan ertities
were in a net operating loss pesition. When the income tax benefit
of these deductions is reakeed, an estimated CHF 220 millien tax
benefil will be recorded in adddional paid-in capital.

Uncertain tox positions

US GAAP requires a two-step process in evahating uncertain
incoma fax postions. [n the first step, an emerprise determines
whether it is more lkely than not that an income tax postion wil
be sutained upon samination, noluding resshution of any related
appeals or Wigation processes, based on the technical merds of
tha posion. Income tax positions meseting the mon-lkely-than-
md recognition threshold are thon measured 1o determane the
amaunt of banafit aligibla for recogndion in the conscldated finan-
cial staternends. Each income tax position is measured ai the lang-
est amound of tax benefd 1hat is more Blkely than not to be realized
upon ulimala satilament.
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Reconciliation of the beginning and anding ameunt of gross unrecognized tax banefits

2014 ik dontd
Movermarts in gross urrecogrezed iax benalits (CHF million)
Ealance at Begioning of periad 413 430 M

W ot {p it e r 1
Balsnce at end of period 388 423 420
Intarast and penalities It s reasonably possible thatl there will be a decreass of
- betwean zero and CHF 55 milien in unrecognied tax benefits
ELLN el 1% within 12 months of the reporting date.

Interest and penaites (CHF million) The Group remains open lo examinalion from federal, state,

provincial or similar local jurisdictions from the following years
omward in these major countries: Swilzerland - 2010, Brari -
ool sy e 2000: Japan — 300D: the UK — 2006: the US — 2008: and the
Metharlands = 20085,

Interest and panakies are reporied as tax expense. The Grouwp =
curmantly subject 1o ongoing 1ax audils, inquiries and Ifigation with
the tax authorfies in a number of jurisdictions, including Brazi, the
Metharlands, the LIS, the UK and Switzertand. Although the timing
of completion is uncertain, & is reasonably possisle that some of
thesa will be resabed within 12 manths of the reparting dafe.
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28 Employee deferred compensation

Payment of deferred compensation te employees is deferminad
by the nature of the business, role, location and performance of
1he employee. Unless there is a contractual obkgation, granting
defarred compensalion is solaly at the discretion of sensar man-
agement. Special deferred compensation granted as part of a
contractual abligation is typically used o compansale new samisr
employess in a gingle year for forfeited awards from previeus
amployars upan jaining the Group. |t = the Group's policy not to
make mulli-year guararees

Compendalion expends recognied in the consalidated sate-
ment of operations for share-based and cther awards that wese
grarfed as defered compensalion is recognized in accordance
with the specific terms and conditions of each respective award
and is primanly recognized over the fulure requisite senice and
viesting period, which is determined by the plan, retiement eligi-
bilty of employees, two-year moratorium pericds on early retine-
ment and certain other terms. All deferred compensation plans are
subject 10 non-compels and non-selicl provisions, Compensation
axpanse for share-based and other awards that were granted as
deferred compensation also includes the curren estimated out-
coma of applicable performance critesia, astimated fulure forfai-
tures and mark-to-market adjustments for certain cash awards:
1hat-are sl cutstanding,

The following lables show the compensalion expense for
deferred compensation awards granfed in 2084 and prior years
that was recognaed in the consolidated statements of operations
dunng 2014, 2013 and 2012, the total shares delvered, the esti-
mated unrecognzed compansabion expenge fur deferred compen-
sabon awards granted m 2014 and prier years outstanding as of
Decamber 31, 2014 and the remaining requisite senace penod
over which the estimated unrecognized compensation expense
will be recognized. The estimated unretognized compensation
expense was based onihe © fair vahse of sach award on the grant
date and included the current estimated cutcome of relevant per-
formance criteria and estimated fulwe forfeilures but no estimate
for fulure mark-lo-market adjustments. The recognftion of com-
pensation axpanse for the defared compensation awards granted
in January 2015 began in 2015 and thus had mo impact on the
2014 consolidated financial statemants.

Deferrad compensation expensa

Fond
Defered compansalion sxpenss 1":.-‘HF.' mmiliond 3
et = —
Pt mupnes thate feanis E1t 2 T
214
5 ¥ 31 &
% | 4
} 1
5
A0E 2 ¥
Ty P S e =) 14 gy
Totsd deferrad compens slion expanse 2382 2242 IS
Tatal shares deliverad (millian
Todal ahuirery kvt ST 1 =7

wucd e WV ) T pubioed

Estimated unrecognized deferred compensation

3ol M
Ewtirmated unrecoghized compantation expenis (CHF milbian

Tedal

o granty made
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Daferred compensation swards for 2014

In January 2015, the Group granted share awards, performance
share awards and Contingend Capital Awards (CCA) as defermed
compensation. Deferred compensation was awarded to employees
with tofal compensation above CHFEUSD 250,000 or the kcal
currency equivakent,

Share awards

Share awards graried in January 2015 are simitar 1o these granted
in Jarmsary 2014, Each share award granted enttles the hodder of
the sward o recenve one Group share, does nol contain a keerage
componenl or a mullipler effect and 15 subject to serice condi-
fions as & vests over three years, such that the share zeards vest
equally on each of the three anniversaties of the grant date. Share
awards granted in January 2011 vest over a four-year peried. The
value of the share awards is solely depandent on the Growp share
price at the tlime of delvery.

The Group's share awards inchude other awards, such as
blocked shares and special awards, which may be granted to new
amployees. Othar share awards entilhs the holder 1o receive cne
Group share, ame subject 1o conlinued emiphayment with the Group,
comain resinglive coverants and cancelation provisions and gen-
arally vast batwean zere and five years.

On Jarary 16, 2015, the Group granted 37.2 milkon share
avards with a fotal valuee of CHF 642 milkan. The number of shane
awards was determined by dividing the defered component of vari-
able compansaton being granted as shares by the avarage price
of a Group share cver the twoe busness days ended Jaruary 16,
2015, Share awards granted after January 1, 2014 do nad include
the right 1o recene dividend squaalems dunng the vesting pencd,

Share award activities
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The fair value of each share award was CHF 16.84 on the grant
date. The far vahue was based on a valualion uding the Growp
share price on the date of grant and discounted for expected divi-
dends for 2015, 2016 and 2017 of CHF 0.66, CHF 1.03 and
CHF 1.39, respecively. The estimated wirecognized compensa-
tion expanse of CHF 543 million was determined based on the fas
value of the award on the grant date, mcludes the cument estimate
of fulwe forfeitures and will be recognized over the three-year
vesting periad, submel 1o early refirement ruas, On Jamary 18,
2014 and Jamaary 17, 2013, the Group granted 30.2 milion and
37.9 million share swards with a tolal vales of CHF 827 millon and
CHF 950 milkan, and a fair value of sach share award grarted of
CHF 28.13, the Group's clsing share prce on the grant date dis-
counted for fulure expected divadends, and CHF 26.44, the clos-
ing share price on the grant dabe, respectiedy.

In arder to comply with regulatery requirements, the Group
awarded an alernative form of share awards as a component of
unrestricted cash to sanior employess in a number of EU coun-
tries. For 2014, 2013 and 2012, these employess receivad 50%
of tha amount thay ctharwiss would have recetved in cash in the
form of blocked shares. The shares remain blecked for a pericd
of time, wheh ranges from six months to theee years, depending
on the kcalion, after which they are na longer subgect to restnc-
tiens, O Jamueary 16, 2015, the Group granted 1.8 millon blocked
shares with a fotal value of CHF 36 millian that vested immedately
upon grant, have no future senvice requrements and were atirik-
uted to services parformed in 2014, On January 16, 2014 and
Janwary 17, 2013, the Group granted 0.6 milkon and 0.2 milien
blocked shares with a total value of CHF 1B milion and CHF 8
milkan, respectiiely,

Share awards

Perfalsit f

-Em at begewing of period

C i

Frefadead
Balmnce al end ol paiisd

il mfuth v bad

Tae 3008 55.8 . ant are
176 o7 60 3.4 N 43 o8 1 73.44
V2 20,43 05 H 00 '] 4
39 C AR M[a 21 M mEY el
T 28.84 2.9 0.0 558 34,28
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Performance share awards

Members of the Executive Board, managing directors and all
material risk takers and controllers (employees whosa achivities
are considered to have a polentaly material impact an the Group's
risk profile) recered a portion of their deferred variabe compensa-
lien in the form of performance share awards, which are subject
1o explicd parformance-related clawback provisions, Each perfor-
mance share award granted enfitles the holder of the award o
recane one Group share. Performance share swands vest aver
three years, such that the performance share awards vest equally
on each of the three annsersaries of the grant date. Unble fhe
share awards, outstanding performance shares are subgect to a
negative adjustment in the event of a divisional loss, urless these
is a negatiee ROE that would call for a negative adjustment greater
1han the divisiznal adjustment for the year, in which case the nega-
tive adjustment is based on a negalie ROE. For employeas in
Shared Services, the negative adjusiment enly applies in the event
of a negative ROE and is not Inked to the performance of the
divisions.

The performance share awards granted in 2015 are dentical
to those granted in 2014, 2013 and 2012, wih the axcepbon of
the perfarmance criteria, which in 2015 and 2014 were based an
strategic ROE, compared 1o the parformance criteria in 2013 and
2012, which wese based on underlying ROE and reported ROE,

respectively,

Performance Share award activities
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On January 16, 2015, the Group graned 30.7 million parfor-
mance share awards with a tolal value of CHF 520 milkon, The
number of parformance share awards granted to employees was
defermined by dividing the deferred cemponent of varable com-
pensation beng granted as performance share awards by the
average price of a Group share over the iwo business days ended
January 16, 2015. The far value of each performance share award
was CHF 16.94 on the grant date, Parformance share awards
granted after January 1, 2014 do nat include the right 1o receie
divdend equratents during the westng pericd. The farr value was
based on a valuafion using the Group share price on the date of
grant and ducounted for expecled dvidends for 2015, 2016 and
2017 of CHF 066, CHF 1,03 and CHF 1.39, respectively. The
estimaled unrecogneed compensation expanse of CHF 533 mil-
lien was delermined based on the far value of the award on the
grani date, includes tha cument estimated ocutcome of the rel-
evant performance ceteria and estimated future forfeitwas and
will b= recognized over the three-year vesting penod. On January
16, 2014 and January 17, 2013, the Group granted 24.2 milkon
and 264 milkan performance share awards with a lotal value of
CHF 5563 mfion ard CHF B8O milion and a fair value of sach par-
farmance share swand granted of CHF 2812, the Group's chiging
shara price on the grant dafe discounted for future expected divi-
dends, and CHF 26,44, the closing share price on the grant dale,

respectively,

Ji‘crhfrfdlm‘# shire dwasds
Balance af beginning of pariod
T

Sedtied

Foxteiied

Balance s and of paricd

Herries o
PTG

Centingent Capital Awards

CCAwere granfed in Jameary 2015 and 2014 as part of 2014 and
2013 deferred variable compensation and hawe righls and risks
similar to those of certain contingent capital instruments issued by
ihe Group in the market, CCA provide a condilianal right 1o receie
sami-annual cash payments of interest equivalents at a rate of
4. 85% and 4.75% per annum over the so-month Swiss franc
* Lendan Interbank Offersd Rate (LIBOR) or 575% and 5.33%
per annum over the si-month US doliar LIBOR, for Swiss franc
and US-densminaled awards for 2015 and 2014, respectively,
until settled. Employees whe recemed compensalion in Swiss

francs could alect to receive CCA denominzted n Swiss francs or
US doltars, and all olher employees received CCA denominated n
US dallars.

CCA are scheduled to vest on the third anniversary of the
grant date and wil be expensed over three years from the grant
date. Howewver, becauss CCA qualfy as addilional tier 1 capital of
the Group, the fimng and form of distribution upen seltiement is
subgact to approval by the © Swiss Fimancal Maket Supenasory
Authority FINKA (FINMAL At settlemant, employees will receie
efher a contingent capital instrument or 2 cash payment based
on the far vahee of the CCA, The Group will determine that fair
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value al is discretion. The Group inlends to grant CCA as one of

its annual deferred variable compensation awands in flure years.
CCA have boss-absorbing features such that prior fo sattle-

ment, the principal amourd of the CCA would be written down fo

zera if any of he following trigger evenis were fo oCour:

= ihe Group's reported common equily tier 1 (CET1) ratio faks
bedow T3 of

* FENMA determines that cancellation of the CCA and cther
similar contingent capial instruments & necessary, of that the
Group requres publs seclor capilal suppert, n either case 1o
prevent it from becoming msohent ar otherwise fallng.

On January 16, 2015, the Group awarded CHF 380 milkon of
CCA, that will be expensed over the three-year peniod from the
grant date. CCA were awarded as deferned variable compensa-
ticn lo managing directors and directors. The estimated unrecog-
niged compersation expense of CHF 418 mibon was defermined
basad an the fair valee of the award on the grant date, inchdes
the current estimated cutcome of the relevant performance cri-
teria. asfimated future forfeitures and the expected semi-annual
cash paymenis of nterest and will be recognized over the three-
year vesting penad. On Jameary 18, 2014, the Group swarded
CHF 291 million of CCA.

Flus Bond awards

Managing directors and drectors in the Imestment Banking dra-
san recened a portion of their 2012 deferred variable compensa-
tion in the form of Ples Bond awards. The Ples Bond award is
essentially a fred income instrurnant, denominated i LIS dollars,
whech provides @ coupan payment that & commensurate with mas-
ket-basad pricing. Plus Band award holders are entitled 1o recene
sami-annual cash payments on ther adjusted award amounts at
the rale of LBOR phis T.8TE% per annum urld setllemerd, The
Pius Band will setile in the summer of 2016 based on the amaount
of the mfil award less portfobs losses, if any, in excess of a first
loss portion retained by 1he Group of USD 600 milkon. The value
of the Plus Bond awards is based on the performance of a port-
fobo of unwated and sub-invesiment-grade asset-backed securiies
that are held in iwventory by various trading desks of the nvest-
mnt Banking deasicn, Wiis the Flus Band award s 2 cash-based
instrument, the Group reserves the right 1o settle the award in
Group shamas based on the share price ai the tima of final distnbu-
tign, In addison, subject to oversght prosedures, the Group retains
the night 1o prepay all or a partion of the Plus Bond award i cash
at any time and, in the event of certain regulatory developments
or changes in capdal treaiment, exchange the award info Group
shares. The Plus Bond award plan conlrbules fo a reduction of
the Group's © rsk-weighted assets and consitutes a risk iransfer
from the Group fo the Plus Bond award holders.

The Plus Bords provided fo Imestment Banking employees
had a fair value of CHF 187 million and were fully vested and
expensed on iha gran dale of December 31, 2012,

Managing directors and directors culside of the Imestment
Bankmg division ware given the apportunity in eady 2013 to
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voluntarily reafocate a portion of the share award component of
ther deferred swards mlo the Phs Bond award. The Plus Bond
awards resulling from the voluntary reallocation offer had a
notional value of CHF 38 milkan, will vest on the thid anntersary
of the grant date in January 17, 2016 and wil be expensed cver
the vesting period.

Restricted Cash Awards
Mamaging dreclars and dreclors in the Imestment Banlkng divi-
sion recenad the cash companan of therr 2012 variable compen-
sation i the form of Restricted Cash Avards, These avands ane
cash payments made on the grant date, but are sublect to a pro-
rata repaymant by the employes in the event of walurtary resigna-
tion or tesrnination for cause within three years of the award grant,
The Restricled Cash Award is reporied as part of the deferred
compansabion award for the Group even though the award is fully
settled at grant date. The expense recognition will eccur over the
thraa-year vesting peried, subject te service condiians.

On January 17, 2013, the Group granted Restricted Cash
Awrards with a total value of CHF 289 millian.

2011 Partner Asset Facility

Az parl of the 2011 annual compensation process, the Group
awarded a porlion of their deferred vanable compensation for
senior employees in the form of 2011 Partner Asset Facilty
(PAF2) units. PAFZ units are essentially fised income structured
notes thal are exposed lo a porion of the credil nsk that arisas
in the Groug's © derivative activitias, including both cument and
possible future swaps and other derivative transactions. The value
of the award (for both the mberest accrial and the final redemp-
tien) will ba reduced if the amount of realzed credit bosses from a
specric reference porifolo exceeds a pre-defined threshold, The
Gigup will bear the firgt USD 500 milion of such laases and [he
PAFZ helders will bear any losses in excess of USD 500 milion,
up to the ful amourd of the deferred compensation avarded. As
a resull, the PAF2 plan is a transfer of nsk from the Group 1o
employees.

Employess at the maraging directar and director levels, nclud-
ing ceriain members of the Executive Board, receied PAF2
awards, The PAF2 awards vested in the first quarter of 2012,

The PAF2 unds have a stated maturity of four years, but may
ba exdanded 1o nina years at tha election of afther the Group or
thi holders acting collectsmaly, This election will not be made later
than the end of the third year following the grant date. PAF2
units are denominated in Swiss francs and US dollars. Holders
will recaive a semi-annual cash interest payment equialent to an
annual retum of 5% (Swiss franc-dencminated awards) ar 5.5%
{US dolar-denominated awards) applied to the then cuent bal-
ance of the PAF2 units. At matuity, PAF2 holders will receive a
firal settlemant in an amount equal to the arigiral sward value less
any bosses. The Group can setile the PAFDT units in cash of an
equivalert value in shares & its dscretion.

I Jamsary 2012, the Group awarded PAF2 unils with a far
value of CHF 499 mifign and the assocmted compensation
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expensas were fully expensed in the first quarter of 2012, as
the awards were fully vested as of March 31, 2012, Compensa-
tion expensae will continue to be updated at each repariing peniod
dale fo reflect any change in the underlang far value of the PAF2
awards untl the awards ame finally sattled.

PAFZ awards were Inked 1o a porifolio of the Group's credt
exposres, providing nsk offsel and capdal rebef, Due 1o regula-
tory changes, this capital rebef would no longer be wvailable. As a
resull, the Graup restrectured the awards in March 2014, requr-
g PAFZ halders to reabocate the exposure of their awards from
the peol of counterparty credit nisks i the orgiral PAF2 structure
1o one of the following optians, or a combarmticn thereof: ) Capital
Opportunily Facilty (COFY: pafcipants alect for their award to be
referenced 1o 2 COF. The COF i a seven-year facifty that i lnked
1o the perdormance of a portfolic of nsk-lranster and capital miliga-
tion fransactions to be entered mbo wilh the Group chosan by a COF
management team, The vale of the COF awards wil be reduced
if thera are lossas from the COF portiobo, up ta tha full amount of
the award, Participants who elect the COF will receie semi-annual
US dolar cash destributions of 6.5% par annum until settlement m
cash in 2021, and such semi-annual distribations will reduce the
cash sattlemant amount payable in 2021; and §) CCA: participants.
elect to receive CCA, with simiar terms o the instruments granted
as par of the 2013 compenszalion awards. The principal differances
between the two forms of CCA are that these CCA are expected 1o
selile approximately one year earber and provide semi-annual cash
payrants of nberest equivalents o sightly lower rates. Setliement &
expecied to occwr in Febnaary 2016, subject 1o regulatory approvals.

In March 2014, 5,084 smployees comerled thair PAF2 hold-
ings of CHF 684 milion inte OCA (CHF 516 millien) and COF
{CHF 168 million),

Adpstable Performance Plan awards

The Adjustable Performance Flan is a deferred compensation plan
fer the Exsculhe Board, managing direclors and direclors, The
Group introduced and granted Adjustable Performance Plan cash
awards as part of defemed compansation for 2000 (2009 Adjust-
able Performance Plan) and 2010 (2010 Adpestable Performance
Plam),

The 2009 Adjustable Parformance Plan cash awards ware
fully vested and expensed as of December 31, 2012 and wem
dabverad in the first half of 2013,

The 2010 Adpestable Perfsrmance Plan cash awards vest ovor
a fowr-year pariod, with tha final payout vahss subjsct 1o an upward
of dowerward adjustment, depending on the financial performance
of the specific business areas and the Group ROE. The adjust-
ments are defesmirad on an annual basis, increasing or decreasing
the cutstanding batances by a percentage equal to the repored
ROE, unless tha division that granted the awards mcurs a pre-tax
less. In this case, outstanding awards in that division will be subject
1o 2 negatve adjustmant of 15% for svery CHF 1 bilkan of ks,
undess a negative ROE apples for that year and is greater than the
drvizanal adjustment, For employess in Shared Senaces and ather
support functions, as well as for all Executre Board members, all
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cutstanding 2010 Adustable Parformarce Plan cash awards are
linked to the Group's adjusted profd or loss and tha Group ROE,
bast are not dependent upon the adjusted profil ar oss of the busi-
ness areas {hat they support,

I July 2012, the Group exmscuted a voluntary exchange offer,
urder which employees had the nght 1o volntanby comvert all or a
portian of ther respective urvested Adjustable Performance Plan
cash awards into Adjustable Performance Plan share awards at
a cerwersion price of CHF 16,20, Adjustable Performance Plan
heddars alected to comvert CHF 498 millon of their Adjustable
Perfarmance Plin cagh awards mbo the new Adjustable Perfor-
mance Plan share awards duning the electon penod, which rep-
reseriad an approimate comversion rate of 50%. Each Adjust-
able Performance Plan share award bad a grant-date fair value
of CHF 16.7% and contains the same contractual term, vesting
period, parformance criferia and other terms and conditions as the
enginal Adpstable Performance Plan cash award

Upcn comeersion, CHF 453 million of the Eabilty rekated to
Adpstable Perfermance Plan cash awards that were comverted
indo tha Adjustable Parformance Plan share awards was reclissi-
fued fo total shareholders' equity.

Adpstable Performance Plan share award activities
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Scaled Incentive Share Unit

The Scaled Incentre Share Unit {SISU) plan is 3 share-bazed,
keng-term incentive plan for managing directors and dwectors.
EISUs were granted in January 2010 as part of the 2009 defered
compeansation. SISUs are simiar fo Incentee Share Unis (I5Us)
(refer to Incentive Share Unit balow) excapt with a four-year vest-
ing perniod, subject to earty retirement rules, and the leverage com-
penent contains an addilional performance condition which could
increase of decrease the number of any adddional shares. The
SISLY base urd vests equally on each of the four anniversanes of
fhe grant date, whereas the SISU leverage und will only vest on
the fourth anniversary of the grant date. Tha new performance
conditian knks the final delvery of adddional shares 1o an average
of the reperied ROE. Hihe average ROE over the four-year vesting
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pericd is higher than a pre-set target estabkshed as of the grant
dale, the number of addiional shares calculated by reference to
the average Group share price ncrease will be adjusted positiely,
and if it & below the target, the number of additional shares wil
be adjusted negatively, but nol below zero. The final numbar of
adddioral shares o be delvered i the end of the four-year vest-
ing penad will be determined first on the basis of the Group share
price development {share price multipbar) and then on the basis of
the average ROE development (ROE mulliphied). Group shares ane
delvered shortly after the 515U base component and SISL lever-
age component vast.

The number of adddional shares per SISU was capped at a
maxamum of three times the grant dale value, with a delvery of no
maee (han three shares. prior to 1he apphication of the scaling fac-
tor, which can be as high as up to 2.5

Scaled Incenlive Share Unit activities
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Incentive Share Unit

13Uz were the mam form of share-based deferred compensa-
ticn for all employeas from 2008 to 2000, For 2008, 15Us wers
used for the deferred compensation awards granted {0 employess
up bo and including vice presidents. An 15U i simiar 1o a share,
but offers additional upside depending on the development of the
Group share price, compared to predefned targets set on the gran
date. Far each 5L grarded, the employee will recere at least one
Group share (ISU base uni) over a three-year vesting penod and
could recere addiional shares (15U leverage uni) at the end of
the three-year vesting pencd. The number of ISU levarage unds to
be comverted to additional shares o calculated by mulliplying the
tofal number of |SU base unds granted, bess forfedures, by a share
price mutiplar. Tha share price mulliplier is determined basad on
the actual increase N the weighted-average monthly share prce
during the contraciual term of the award versus the share price
on the grant date, The ISU basa unit vests equally on each of the
three anntversaries of the grant date, whereas the 15U leverage
unil wil enly vest an the third anniversary of the grant date. Group
shares are delvered shartly after the [SUI base units and the ISU
leverage units vest,

In 2013, the 15U leverage unfis granted for 2009 were sel-
tled but did not have a value of settiement as the Group share
price parformance was below the minimum predefined target of
CHF 53.71, In 2012, the ISU kwerage unds granted for 2003
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were seltled with a value for each cutstanding leverage unit aquiv-
alent 1o 0.938 Group shares.

Incentive Share Unit activities
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2008 Partner Asset Facility

As part of the 2008 annual compensation process, the Group
granted employees in [mestmeant Banking with a corporate tille of
managing director or director the majosty of the defered compen-
sation in the form of 2008 Pariner Asset Faciily (PAF) awards,
derominated in US dellars. The PAF awards are indecad to, and
represent & firsl-loss irterest in, a specified pool of diqued assets
(Asset Poof) that criginated in Investment Banking.

The nofipnal value of the Assel Pool was based on the far
rrarket vahse of the assets within the Asset Pool on December 31,
2008, and thoss assets will remain static throughout the contrac-
tual farm of the Fvard or undil kyuidated. The PAF halders wil par-
ticipate in the potential gains on the Asset Pool if the assets within
the pool are lquidated at prices above the indial faer markst valuae.
H the assets within the Assel Pool are iqudaied at prices balow
the initial fair market vale, tha PAF halders will bear tha first loss
on the Assel Pool As a resull, a significant portien of risk posi-
tiens assocaled with the Asasl Pool has bedn transberred to the
employees and removed from the Group's nsk-weighled assets,
resutting na reduction in capital usage,

The PAF awards, which hawe 3 contractual term of eight vears,
are fully vested. Each PAF holder will recese a semi-anmaal cash
mierest payment of LIBOR phs 250 bass points applied to the
notional value of the PAF award granted througheut the contrac-
tual term of the award, Begirning in the fifth year after the gramt
dale, the PAF halders will receive an annual cash payment equal
to 20% of the maticnal valie of the PAF awards if the fair markst
valug of the Asset Pool in that year has not dechined below the
infiml fair market value of the Assat Pool. In the final year of the
contractual berm, the PAF helders will recesve a finall settlement in
cash equal to the notional value, less all previous cash payments
made ko 1he PAF halder, plus any related gains or less any refated
lnsses on the igudaiion of the Assat Pool,

In Juna 2012, existing PAF holders were given a woluntary
election to make a valie-forvaiue exchange of their existing PAF
awands for @ new BAF award linked to an expanded porfobs of
reference assets. The new PAF awards are subject to the same
contractial tarm, vesting peniod, perlarmance crilerm, seltiemean
and other terms and condiians as the oniginal PAF awards and
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canstitube an addilsonal risk transfer to employess on the expanded
porifolic of assets that was removed from the Group's msk-
weighled assats, resulting in a reduction in capital usage. As of the
June 2012 election date, approximately 41% of employees holdng
PAF awards efecled o exchange their sxsting PAF awards for {he
new PAF awards. Compensation expense for the new PAF awands
will ba updated af each reporing perod date to reflect any change
in 1he underlying far vakes of the expanded portfolio of reference
agsats m addtion 1o the original portfolic of PAF assets untl the
awards are finally settled. There was no mpact on compansation
axpenss on the axchange dates.

Other cash awards

Other cash awards consist of voluntary deferred compensation
plans, syslematic market making plans and employes imvestment

‘29 Related parties
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plans. The compensation expense relaled lo these awards was
premarty drivan by mark to markel and performance adjustiments,
as the magprity of the awards ane fully vested.

Delivered shares

In 2014, ihe majordy of the Group's share delivery obligation was
covered by market purchases. During 2013 and 2012, share obb-
gations were covered primarily through the issuances of shares
frem condfmnal capital. In the second half of 2013, the Group
resumed parchasing shares in the market 1o cover a portion of its
share delhvery cbligation. The Group intends 1o cover The majonity
of #s future share delvery obhgations through market purchases

Executive Board and Board of Directors loans

h 04 Mz 2012
Loans o rrsrbera of the Exseutive Baard (CHF millisn)
Balancs sl beginning of paried 1! 8 22
'."E'E'I'Ill 3 4
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Executive Beard and Board of Directors loans

The majorily of kans outstanding to members of the Execulive
Board and the Board of Dwaclors are merlgages or bans aganst
securities. Such leans are made to Executive Board and Beard of
Diractors members on the same larms avalable fo third-party cli-
ems of, m the case of kans o members of the Execulve Board,
pursuant to widely avadable employes benefit plans. The highest
loan outstanding to an Executive Bcard member was LISD 3 mil-
lion 1o Joachim Oechslin as of December 31, 2014,

All mortgage boans to Exacutive Board members are granted
efther with varable or fied inferest rates over a certain period.
Typically, morigages are granted for pericds of up to len years,
Interast rates appled are based on refinancing costs plus a mar-
gin, and irered rales and other lerms ane conasient with thoss
applicable to other employees. Loans against securties are
granted al inerest rates and on terms apphcable te such bans
granted fo ather employess. The same credil approval and resk

assessment procedures apply to Execulive Beard members as for
olher employees. Unless oiherwise noled, all leans to Executive
Board members were made in the ordinary course of business and
substantialy on the =ame terms, including nterest rates and col
lateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transaciions
with other persons and in consideration of the terms which apply
to all Group employess. Thase leans did net irvolee more than the
el risk of coliectabiliy or prasent other urfaverable features.
Board members wih loans do not benefit from employee
conditions, but are subjecl o conditions appled to clients with
2 comparable credit standing. Board of Directors members who
were previously amployess of the Group may slill kave outstand-
ing lang, which were provided at the time that employee condi-
tiors apphed 1o them, Urbess clharwise noted, all loans 1o Boasd
of Deectors members are made i the ordinary cowrse of business
and substantally on the same terms, including interes! rales and
collateral, as those prevaiing at the time for comparable transac-
fions with other persons. Swch loans do not meole mare than the
reormmal risk of colliectabildy or prasent other urfavorable features

Banking relationships

The Group is a giobal financial services provider. Many of the
members. of the Execuive Beard and the Board of Directors ar
companies associaled with them maintain banking relationships
with the Group. The Growp or any of its banting subsid@nes may
from time to time anter into financing and olher banking agree-
merds wilh companies in which cument members of the Execulive
Board or the Board of Directors have a sgneficant influence as
defined by the SEC, such as holding exequtive and/or board level
rodas in {hese companies. Al bans to membars of the Exsculie
Board, membars of the Board of Direclors or companses associ-
aled with them were made in the ordinary course of business,
wera made on subsiantially the same ferms, incheding interest
rates and collateral, as those prevadling at the hime for comparable
fransactions with other persons, and dd net imvahe mone than the
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normal risk of cobactabilly er present ofher unfavorable features.
Wi the exceplion of the transactions descnbed below, al other
barking relationships with members of iha Execulive Board and
the Board of Dweclors and such companies are in the ordinary
cowrse of business and are enfered inlo on an arm's length basis.
A of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, there was no loan
exposure 1o such relabed partes that was not made n the ordinary
cowrse of business and al prevailng market condilions.

Related party transactions
In Fabruary 2001, the Group entered info definitve agreements
wilh enfities affilated with Oatar Imestment Authorty (Q14) and
The Olayan Group, each of which has signficart holdings of
Group shares and ofher Group financial products, bo issue tier |
high-trigger capdtal mstruments (new Tier 1 Capilal Notes). Under
the agreements, CllA and The Olayan Group agreed to purchase
USD0 3,45 bilkon new Tiar 1 Capilal Motes and CHF 2.5 bdion new
Tier 1 Capital Motes in exchange for their holdings of USD 3.45
bilian 11% tier 1 captal nates and CHF 2.5 bilbon 10% fier 1
capdal notes issved in 2008 (fogather, the Tier 1 Capital Notes),
or in tha evanl that the Tier 1 Capital Males had been redeamed
in full, for cash.

In July 2012, the Group entered nte an amendment agree-
et with the entily affilited with The Olayan Group to accelerate
the exchange of LISD 1.725 billien of the 11% tiar 1 capital noles
for an equavalert principal amourd of new Tier 1 Capital Notes.
In October 2013, based on the prior agreement with an enlity
affilated with QA the Group exchanged such entity’s holding of
LISDH 1,72 bilbon 11% tier 1 captal netes and CHE 2.5 bdlion 10%
tier 1 capftal notes mto equialent prancipal amaunts of new Tier 1
Capital Notes, These transactions were approved by FINKA,

Under ther terms, the new Tier 1 Capdal Moles wil be con-
varted into Group ordinary shares if the Group's repored CET!
ratio, as determined under © Basel Commites on Banking Super-
vision (BCBS) regulations as of the end of any calendar quartes,
falls balow T (or any lower appicable minimum threshold), unless
FIMNNA, at the Group's request, has agreed on o poor to the pub-
lication of the Group's quarterly resulls that actions, circumstances
aor events have restored, or will imminantl restore, the ratio 1
above the applicable thresheld. The new Tier 1 Capital Motes will
also be comverded i FINMA defarmines that comeersion is neces-
sary. or that the Group requines public sector capdal support, lo
prevent the Group from bacoming msobent, bankrupl or unabls
to pay a material amownt of the Group's debls, or oiher similar
circumstances. In addfion, comversion of the new Tier 1 Capi-
tal Motes sswed fo the enfities affiliated wih The Olayan Group
will be triggered if, in the everd of a request by FINMA for an
interim repoet prios 1o 1he and of any calendar guarier, the Groups
raparied CET1 rafio, as of the end of any such interim penod, faks
below 5%, The comersion pice will ba the hgher of 2 gren floer
price per share (subject to customary adjustments) or the daily val-
urne wesghted sverage sales price of the Groug's ordinary shares
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over a five-day period preceding the natice of comerson. In con-
nsctian with the July 2012 exchangs, the conmeranon flosr price
of the new Tier | Capdal Noles defvered inthe exchange as well
as the remainang new Tier 1 Capital Notes thal were exchanged
in October 2013 was adjusted to malch the comersion price of
the MECCS described below, The new Ter 1 Capital Moles e
deeply subardinated, parpefual and callable by the Group no eas-
fier than 2018 and in certain other circumstances with FINMA,
approval, Imerest i pavable on the LISD 3.45 billen new Tier |
Capital Motes and CHF 2.5, bdbon new Teer 1 Capdal Notes ol
fiad rates of 8.5% and 9.0%, respectively, and will resel after
the first call date. Interest payments will ganerally be dscretionary
[unless inggered), subject to suspension in cartan crcumstances
and non-cumutative.

At the time of the onginal fransaction, the Growp determined
that this was a malerial transaction and deemed OIA and The
Olayan Greup 1o be refated parties of the Group's cwrvent Board
of Dwactors mambar br. Bin Hamad J.J. Al Thani and the Group's
then Board of Directors member Mr, Syriani, respectively, for pue-
poses of evaluating the terms and conparate governance of (he
original lransaction. A} that fima, the Scard of Directors (excepl
for Mr. Bin Harad J.J. Al Thani and Mr, Syriani, whe abstained
from participating in the determination process) delermined that
the terms of the original frarsaction, geen its see, he nature of
the contingent capital instrument, for which there was no estab-
kished market, and the terms of the Tier 1 Capdal Notes issued
in 2008 and held by QA and The Clayan Group, were far. As of
April 26, 2013, Me, Syrmani eetired from the Board of Directors and
no athear parson affiliated with The Oleyan Group has besn elected
as a Board of Directors member.

In Juby 2012, the Group isswed CHF 3.8 billon mandatory and con-
tingent comertible securities (MACCS) thal mandatonly comeerted
mio 233.56 mihon shares at a corversion price of CHF 16.29 per
share on March 28, 2013, The selilement and delvery of shares
occurred on April 8, 2003, Strategic and institulional investors
purchased CHF 2.0 bilkan of MACCS and shareholders exercised
prefarental subscrption myhts for CHF 1.8 Billisn of MACCS, The
comersion price cammesponded to 95% of the volume weighted
svarage market price for tha two trading days preceding the Erans-
action. Irvestors in the MACCS included entities affiiated with
QlA and The Olayan Group, which alss have been desmad by
the Group 1o be relaled paries of the Group's cumrent Board of
Dhrecters’ member Mr. Bin Hamad J.J. Al Thani and the Growp's
then Beard of Directors member r, Syriand In addilion to QLA
and The Clayan Group. a number of other imvestors of the Group
purchased the MACCS, mciuding Morges Bank and the Capital
Group Companies, Inc., which, like 0iA and The Olayan Group,
have signdficant holdngs of Group shares. The ferms and condi-
tiens for the comversion of the MACCS were equaly applicable to
all purchasers,
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In 2013, the Group awarded Plus Bonds to certam empkyees as
deferred variable compensation in respect of their 2012 compen-
safhon, The Group provided members of the Execuive Board who
did not parficipale & the structunng of the Plus Band the opporu-
nily fo irwest their own funds in instruments with substantially the
sama ferms as the Flus Bond awards granted to employees. A5 a
resull, cerlain Exacutive Board members acquired an aggregate of
CHF O millisn in Plus Band instruments in February 2013,

Liabilitias dus to ewn pension funds
Lebdties dus 1o the Group's awn defined benefit persson funds
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 of CHF 3,131 milion and

CHF 3,381 milion, respectvely, were reflected in vanous Eabil-
fly accounts in the Group's consolidated balance sheets. Ceran

30 Pension and other post-retirement benefits
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uncensohdated SPEs whelly owned by the Group had labilties to
the penson funds of the Group with notional values of CHF BO
milkon ard CHF 77 milkon as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,

respectiely,

Leans outstanding made by the Group or any subsidiaries
to equity mathod investess

4] 4 Faidk 2

Loans cutslanding made by the Group of sny subsidanes
b2 aquity mathed rvesbeat (CHF milficn)

Balans 3t baginning of sariod Ty 12 13
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Balance af end of period 13 i 12

The Group sponsars defined contribution pansion plans, defined
benefit pension plans and other post-relirement defined benefit
plans such as post-relirement health cane.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAMS

Defined contribution plans provide each parlicipant with an individ-
ual account, The benefits to ba provided to a participant are solsly
bazed on the contribulions made 1o that employee's account and
are affected by income, expenses and gains and losses allocated
to the account. As such, there are no stipulalions of a defined
annaly benefit ¥ retirement and the participams bear the full
actuanal as wall as imvestmend risk.

The Group confribules to vanous defined confribulion pension
plans primanly in the US and the UK a8 well 35 sther courtries
{heoughout the waedd. During 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Group
cantributed to these plans and recogneed as expense CHF 182
milion, CHF 178 milion and CHF 221 milkon, respecively.

DEFIMED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POST-
RETIREMENT BEMEFIT PLANS

Defined benefit pension plans

Defined benef? pansicn plans are pensicn plans that defne spe-
cific benafis for an employes wpon thal employes’s retiremant.
Thesa benefits are usualy determined by taking nte accourt the
employes's salary. years of service and age of retimmaent. Ratir-
eas bear nefher the acluarial nisk (jor example, the risk that the
refireas of the plan live longer than expected), nor the imvestment
risk (that is, that plan assels irvested and associated refurns will
be insuffickent 1o meel the expected benefils dus to bw or nega-
tive returns on contributions), The Group's funding policy for thesa
plans is in accardance with lecal lanws and tax requirements.,

The Group's most significant defined benefil pension plan i
located and covers its employees in Swilzerland and is sef up

a5 a trust domicdad in Zurich, The plan provides banefis in the
event of refirement, death and disabdity and meets or exceeds
the minmum benefits required under Swiss taw. Historically, this
plan provided fradiional defined benefi pensions under the annu-
ity section. In 2010, & new savings section was introduced and as
of January 1, 2013, all active employess were fransferred 1o the
savings section and the annuity section has ceased acoming new
benafits. In the savings section, the benefls are determined on
tha basis of the accumulated employer and employes contributions
and accumulated interest credited. Although the plan is largely
defined contribution in nature, # is treated a3 2 defined benefit
plan under US GAAR, mainly dua o a guarardesd minimum return
on contributions and guarantesd payment of ketime pensions.
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Group's pension plan
in Switzerland comprised 7% and 79%, respectively, of all the
Group's employees participating in defined benef plans. 80% and
B83%, respectively, of the © far value of plan assets. and 81% and
B2%, respectively, of the pension benefit obligation of the Group's
defined benefit plans

Employee contributions in the savings saction depend on their
age and are determined as a percentage of the pensiorable salary.
The employees can select batween three ditferant levels of contn-
badions which vary betwean 5% and 14% depending on their age.
The Group's contrbution vanes belwean 7.5% and 25% of the
pensionable salary dapending on the employes's age.

‘Waricus defirad banefit pension plans cover tha Group's employees
cutzade Switzedand, These plans provide benefits in the event of
retirement, death, dsabity or lermination of amployment. Retie-
ment benefits under the plans depend on age, confributians and
salary. The Geroup's principal defined benefit pansion plans cutude
Switzerland are located in the US and in the UK. Both plans ame
funded, clased fo new participants and have ceased aceruing new
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benefits. Smaller defined benefl pension plans, bath funded and
unfumded, are operated in other kcalons.

Other post-retirement defined benelit plans

In the US, the Group's defined banefit plans provide post-refire-
meni benefits other than pension benefits that primardy focus
on health and walfare benefits for certain retired employees. n
exchange for the current services provided by the employes, the
Greup promises 1o previde health and welfare benafits aftes the
amployes ratires, The Group's obligation for that compensation &
incwrred as employess render the services necessary 1o earn ther
post-relirement banefts,

Components of total benefit costs
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Benefit costs of defined benefit plans

The net pericdic benefit costs for defined benefit pension and
olher post-retirement defined benaf plans are the costs of the
respective plan for a periad during which an employee renders
sarvices. The actual amount to be recognized is delenmined using
the standasd actuarial methodology which considers, ameng other
factors, current senace cosl, interasd cost, expected relurn on plan
assets and the amonization of both prier sendce cost/icredit) amd
actusrel lsses/ gains) recognized m AQCIH,

n L]
Toin! benefit cosis (CHF millior)

IO LSS ¢ COG M Bt TJanal o SHNTT
Heet pericdic benafif coats " M

Cattherrart Iodsed o)

Tota bamatt costs ws

Tetal beneht coats reflected m compansation and benefts — ather
for 2004, 2013 and 2012 were CHF 177 milon, CHF 358 milicn
and CHF 360 milion, respectively.

Since the second quarter of 2011, as part of its strategic ptan,
the Group has launched 3 member of cost efficiency measures
intiuding headcount reduction. This resulted in curtaiiment gaing
of CHF & million, CHF 28 malion and CHF 35 milkon in 2014,
2013 and 3012, respactively, reflectng the mmeduate recogni-
ticn of a credd relating to the years of sanice no lenger expached
to be rendered. Additional costs of CHF 44 millien, CHF 40 mi-
on and CHF S0 millien in 2014, 2013 and 2002, respectively,
ralafed to tha seftlamant of the pension cbigation for employeas
i Swilzerland whose employment has effectively bean terminabed
or whe have left the Group due to a sale of their business. Special
termination benefit costs of CHF 17 milion, CHF 19 milion and
CHF 13 milion have been recognezed in 2014, 2013 and 2012,

Defnmi &

awe o so  aek  w

: e
V7 17 185 L 164
s : .
o g a4 88 T 21 30
!F_-l- !_ﬂ: _u H T i | il

regpecively, mlaling o early relsements n Swizerand inthe con-
text of the cost efficiency measures.

The benefit obigaton is expressed as either accumutated benefi
oblgation (ABC) or PBO. While the ABO refers to the actuaral
present walue based on employes servicas rendered prior o that
dafte and takes ima accourt current and past compansation bvels,
the PBO also applies an assumption as to fulure compansation
lesals,

The follewing fable shows the changes in the PBO, the far
valua of plan assets and the amounts recognized in the consali-
dated balance sheets for the defined benefit pension and other
post-retremant defined benafit plans as well as the ABO for the
defined benafi pansion plans.
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Obligations and funded status of the plans
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US GAAP requires an emplayer to recagnize the funded slafus
of the defined benefit pansion and cther post-retirement defined
benafit plans on the balance sheat, Tha funded stalus of thesa
plans is determined as the difference between the fair value of
plan assets and the PBO. The funded status may vary from year lo
year dua to changes in the fair vales of plan assels and varations
of the PBO following changes in fhe underlying assumptions and
cansus data used lo determina the PBO. In 2014 and 2013, the
curizilments, settlements and special termination benefits in Swit-
reckand, which impacted the PBO, related to the hasdsaunt reduc-
tien in the context of the cost efficiency measures. Due (o a plan

amendment in the US postratrament medical plan, the PBO of
this plan decreased CHF 32 milkon in 2014, Under the amended
plan, tha Group will na longer pay for future medical claims for
coverad refirees older than 85 years and will instead provide a flat
subsidy to these mtirees to purchase their own medical insurance.

The fotal net amourt recognized in the consohdated balance
sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 was a net overfunding
of CHF 132 milion and CHF 1435 millon, respectively.

In 2015, the Group expects to confnbute CHF 398 millon
1o the Swiss and interrational defined benefl pension plans and
CHF 10 millian to other posi-retirement defined benefil plans.
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The following fable shows the aggregate PBO and ABD, as well
as the aggregate fair value of plan assels for those plans with
FEO in excass of plan assels and thase plans with ABO in excess
of plan assels as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respecimvely.

Defined benefit pension plans in which PEQ or ABQ exceeded plan assets

D LR a3 FLAES el ma 204
CHF mifion

The following table shows the acuarial gainsflosses) and prior
service credit/cost) which were recorded in A0C) and subse-
quantly recognized as camponants of net perodic benefil costs.

Amounts recegnized in AQC, net of tax

Total

. 1014 o E oA e 2014
Ameunils recognized in F_ICICI PCHF millien)

Total 3,535y {2208 L] 3Ty (3.558) (2.242)

The foliowing tables show the changes in other comprehensie
incame due o actuarial gains/{losses) and prior service cradit/
(cost) recognized m ADC] duning 2014 and 2013, and the amarti-
zaton of the aforementioned #ems as components of net peniodic
benefit costs for these perieds, as well as the amounts expacted
to be amorlized in 2015,
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Amounts recognized In ether comprehensive incoma

réal Tokal nat

2074 (CHF millical

a o 5 - ;
Tots! senownts recogrized in obher comprehenshs iIncome £1,708) 188 £1,320) T (k4] 4 £1,318)
20113 (CHF millicn)

i i o,
Talsl ameunts racagrezed in olher comprahantie incoms 1,280 (354} 538 21 {8} 13 0

et e drehacd from B eruabors plowancs r e o del s ed e apieh on ore of Fa Gosg'y erdBan n tha L

Amounts in AQCI, net of tax, expected to be amortized in 2018
i 3015 " paiiply
CHF rdllien
Takal a7 [E0)
Assumplions future event, Whee apphcable, they are in ine with the expecled

The measuremen of both the nel penodic beneft costs and the
benafil obligation s delermined using explicit assumplions, each
of which indaadually represents the best estimate of a parhicutar

markil deerages and benchmarks, the expeciad frend n the mar-
ket and historical rales, parficularly plan experience.

Weighted-average assumplions used to delerming nel periodic benalit costs and benefit obligation

o a3 F 1T
Het paricdic Banafit cost (%)
X ke
g -1 a=h ol refuin o plan a
Benalii obligation (35)

00 M 12 2004
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The assumplions used fo determine the benefi oblgation as of
the measurement date are also used o cakulate the ned per-
odic benefit cosis for the 12-monih period following this date. The
discount rate is one of the factors used to determine the presant
vatlue as of the measurement date of the future cash outflows cur-
rantly expected io be required 1o satisfy the benefit cbligations
whan due.

A5 a resull of the Swiss National bank announcement in Janu-
ary 2016 to furthar lower inferest rates, the reduction in appli-
cable discount rales in January would have reduced s LIS GAARP
equity and CET1 capital by approximately CHF 600 millien as of
the end of January 31, 2015,

The assumption pertaining to salary increases is used o caku-
lale the PBO, which is measured using an assumption as lo future
compengation leels,

The expected long=term rate of return on plan assats, which is
usad to calculale the axpected retum on plan assels as a compo-
nant of the net paricdic benafft costs. reflacts the average ate of
returns expected on the funds imested or to be imested to pro-
vide for fhe benefits included in the PBO. In estimating that rate,
apprapriale consideralion is given lo the retums baing samed by
the plan assets and the rales of relurn expecied o be aailable for
i stment,

The axpected long-term mte of retum on plan assefs is based
on lotal retun forecasts, expacted volalilly and correfation esti-
mates. reflecting interrelationships between and within assel
classes held. Where possible. smiar, if nol relafed, approaches
are folowed to forecast returns for the variots asset classes,

Health care cost trend rates and sensitivity
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The expected long-term rate of relurn on debt securities
reflects both accruing iMerest and price returns. The probable
ong-term refationship between the total return and ceram exog-
encus varables & used, which Brks the total relurn forecasts on
dabt securities to forecasts of the macrogconomic amvironmant,

The expecled lbng-term rate of refurn on equity securities
5 based on a two-stage dividend discount model which consid-
efs economic and market forecasts to compute a market-implied
equty rak premium. Dividends are estimaled using market con-
sansus eamings and the lstoncal paysart ratio. A subsequent soe-
narnia analysis is used to sirass test the kel of the retum.

The expected long-term rate of return on real estate is based
on economic madels thal reflect both the rental and the capital
markef side of 1ha direct real estate markat. This allews for a repli-
cable and robust forecasting methodology for expected returns en
real estate equity, fund and ditect market indices.

The expecied long-term rate of return on private equity and
hedge funds is estimaled by delermining the key factors in their
historical performance using pivate equity and hedge fund bench-
rrarks and ndices. To capture ihase factors, multiple inear regres-
=on medels with lagged relums are used.

The health care cost frend is used to defermine the appropnate
olher post-retirement defined benefit costs. In determining 1hose
costs, an annual weighted-average rafe is assumed inthe cost of
covered health care banefits.

The following table provides an overview of the health care
cost trend rates assumed and the sensitiily of 2 one perceniage
point norease of decrease of the rate,

! g o
Health care cost trend rate (%)
-l:--...'u W] Pl et e :|~|"|; are cond inaned |.|:|-.'

Incra

l.'td-ul:.r;u.-n.r in .D:II!I-F;LITH';;'.M l-a.:pm-u -I:C‘-HF rrl'liin-r;}-.

Oine peicardage posrd MCHELYS

Dine pescerdage poind decigase in e = o o] it
Incresse A{decrassed in post-retrement benedit obligation (CHF milliond
)} Fengata b e b ca0m o

Cine prcantage posnt sk el Rabars

pecendnge poind decrsans in bealh cars covl trend i

bl Pl P75 £ die CORT Dhied] AiFle 6 @il 80 deildad i ' S0y

The annual health care cost trend rafe used to delermine the
definad benefd cost for 2015 is B.00%.

Plan assets and investment strategy
Plan assets, which are assels thal have been segregated and
rastricied to provide for plan banefits, are measurad at their far
value as of the measurement dale.

The Group's defined benaft pension plans empley 2 latal retumn
imneestment appmach, whereby a decarsified mix of debt and equiy

1% T T |Oay

2014 L

EY a

03 3 b4
¥ 1 i
& i (X

T Pl G DAL L] e oF B by SYEST

sacurities and alternalive imestments, specifically hedge funds
and private equity, are used 1o maximize the long-term retumn of
plan assets while incurning a prudert level of sk, The intent of
this strateqy is to meel or culparform plan kabidies over the long
term. Risk tolerance is established through carefu consideration
of plan habikties, plan funded slafus and corporate fimancial con-
ditien. Furiharmore, equily securfiees are diversified across dif-
ferent geagraphic regons as well as acress geowth, value and
small and large capiakiation stocks, Real estate and akternative
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investments, such as private equity and hedge funds, are used to
enhanca bng-ferm refurns whila improving pertfolio dversffication.
¢ Dervatives may be usad to hedge or increase market expo-
sure, bid are nod used bo leverage the portfolio beyond the market
value of the underlying imestments. Invesiment nsk s measured
ard mondored on an engoing basis through periodic asset/liabiily
studies and quarterly imesiment portfolo reviews, To limif irest-
ment rick, the Group pension plans folow defined stralegic asset
aliseation guidelnes, At times of majper markel uncertainties and
stress, these qudehnes may be further restrcted
Ag of Decernber 31, 2014 and 2013, the lotal fair value of
Group debt secunties included o plan assets of the Group's
defined banefit pensson plans was CHF 124 milkon and CHF 129

Plan assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis

—rl

Plan assets at fair value (CHF millien}

of witich hedae fund
P LT, S 5

Sweitzeriand AT

506
7053
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milkan, respectively, and the total fak value of Group equily secu-
fities and aptions was CHF 131 millon ard CHFE 147 milbon,
respactively.

Fair value hierarchy of plan assets

Fair value of plan assels

The folowing tables presert the plan assets measured 2t fair value
o & reciaming bass as of Decamber 31, 2014 and 2013, for the
Group's defingd beneft pengion plans

Ioie 23
Tokal Lo | el (e Total
i L
o 4 TR
| 5 g
= o
& E 4 | ]
] 1 2 L)
5 o EBEn P
i [ i AT
ar £ r, ¥ s

& Th2 I 306 15635 5074 TarE 1,862 14812

10 [ i =]
2 438 442 3876 550 2079 278 3,007
&EM FE38 18,511 E524 9355 2,140 17019
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Plan assats measurad at fair value en a recurring basis for level 3

2004 (CHF srallisnd

T T ——

" E T
Total plarn ssseis at [air valus 2,140
al which Swiseeland
ol wie by b rak ora)
2013 {CHF milion)
Faal egiat f
L ¥ HEE
| m iy (i}
Total plan sviels at fair value 1036

al which Sel serlard 1,745

. nenal - Batance
oL T i odd g L' 1 end
E s the g et of paried
' T
1,380 i a8 1] e a 34838
1978 = 1 g 3 X
i I 147

#
=4y i
14 [ L 13 r44
oy 4 47 v 7
g 4 i 134

) s LT

140

Cualitative disclosures of valuation tachniques used to
measure fair value

Cash and cash equivalents ncludes money market instruments
such as bankers' acceptances, cerlificates of deposs, o CP. book
clasms, treasury bills, other nghts and commingled funds. Valu-
atiens of money markel nstruments and commingled funds are
generaly based on observable inputs.

Debt securities include gowernmant and corporate bonds which
are generally queled in aclive markels. Debt securities for which
marked prices are nol avalable, are valued based on yields reflect-
ing the perceied risk of ihe issuer and the maturity of the sacurity,
recent disposals in the marked or other modeling techniques, whch
may irohe judgment

Equty securities held inchade commen equily shares. comvertible
bonds and shares in imestment companies and unds m mutual
funds. The commeon equity shares are generaly traded on public
stock exchanges for which quoted prces anme regularly avaiable,
Comwertible bonds are genemlly valued using obsenmble pricing
sowrces, Shares in investment companies and units in mutual
furds, which are nat directly quoted on a public stock exchangs
and/or far which a far value i nol readdy delerminable, are mea-
sured at faer value weng NAY.

Derivalivas inchede both o OTC and mchange-lraded derivalives.
The fair value of OTC derivalies is determined on {he basis of
puts that include those charactenstics of the derivative that have
a bearing on the economics of tha instrument. The determinaticn
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of the fair value of many derivatives invohves andy a limied degree
of subjectvily since the required inputs are genarally cbsenable in
the markeiplace. Other more complex dervalives may use unob-
servable inputs, Such inpuds nclude long-dated volalilty assump-
tiens on OTC option transactions and recovery rale assumplions
for credi derivative transaciions. The fair value of exchange-traded
dernaties is typically derved from the obsenable exchange prices
andsor absanvable inpuls.

Real pstate inchdes direct real estate as well as imestrmeants n
real estale mesiment companies, Irusts or mutual funds, Direct
real estate 5 mitally measuwed at is fransaction price, which & the
best estimate of fair value, Thereafter, direct real estate & indi-
vidually measured at far vakm based on a number of faclors that
include any recent rounds of financing imobang third-parly irves-
1ors, comparable company iransactions, multiple analyses of cash
fiows or book values, or discounted cash fiow analysas. Tha avail-
abdity of information used in these modeling fechniques is ofien
limited and imvabaes significant judgment i evaluating these dif-
ferent factors over lima. Rieal estate imestment companies, frusts
and mutusl funds, which ane net directly quated on a public steck
exchangs andsor for which a fair valee is not readiy determinable,
are measured &t fair value using NAV.

Privale equity inchedes direct invesimants, imestmants in parinar-
ships that make private equdy and related imestments in various
parifolio companies and funds and fund of funds parinerships. Pri-
vade squity conssts of both publcly traded securities and private
saciities. Publicly traded imvesimends that are resincted or that
ane rot quoted in active markets are valued based on publcly avail-
able quoles with approprate adjustments for bquiddy oF trading
restrictions, Priate equity is valued taking mto accoun a rumbsar
of factors, such as the most recent round of firancing imvebang
umnralled new invesiors, eamings mulple analyses using compa-
rable companies or discounted cash flow analyses. Priate equity
for which a fair value is not readily determinable is measured of far
value using MAV provided by the ganeral pariner,

Hedge funds thal ane not directly quoted on a publs steck
exchange, and/or for which a fair valuee is not readdy determin-
abla, are measured at fai value using MNAY provided by the fund
admanistralor.

Plan asset allocation

The following table shows the plan assel allocation as of the
measurement dale calcuiated based on the far vaiue at that dete
including the performance of each asset class.
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Welghted-average plan asset allecation
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The follawing table shows the target ptan assel allocation for 2015
in accordance with the Group's investment sirategy. The target
plan assal aliocation is used to determine the expected rebum on
plan assets 1o be considered in the net periadic benefil costs far
2015,

Weighted-average target plan assot allocation for 2015

wilpilied i i
ol 'xl
] i3
19
| A0
10 3]
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Estimated fulure benefit payments for defined benefit plans
The following table shows the estimated future benefid payments
far defined beneft pension and other post-relirement defined ben-
eft plans.

Estimated fulure benefit payments for defined benefit plans

. arl Mre vkl

=

Estimated future benefit payrmants (CHF millenk

E 1,50 [i]

defrad bt A plare
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o Drerwvalives are generally either privately negotiated < OTC
conlracis or standard contracts transacted through regulated
exchanges. The Group's most frequently used freestandng
dervative products, eriered mto for trading and nsk manage-
ment purposes, include inerest rate, credit default and cross-cur-
rancy swaps, nterest rate and foregn esxchange options, foreign
exchange forward coniracts and foreign exchange and inferest
rale fulures

The Greup also entars inte contracts thal are nat considerad
dervatives ; ther entirgly but inchade embedded dernatem fea-
fures. Such transactions pnmarly mchede issued and purchased

Aruciured debl instrurment s wherse the retum may be cakulated by

referance to an equty securily, index r thid-parly credd risk, o

that have non-standard imerest or foreign exchange terms.

On the date a demative confract is enlered into, the Group
designates it as belonging to one of the following calegories:

= frading mclivities;

* a risk managemant transaction that does not qualfy as a
hedge wnder accounting standards {refemed to as an sconomic
hedge);

* a hedge of the © far value of a recognized asset or Eabiliy;

= a hedge of the variabilily of cash flows to be received or paid
refating to a recognized asset or kabilty or a forecasted trans-
action; or

® 3 hedge of a nal imestment in a foraign operation

Trading activities

The Group is active in most of The prncipal trading markeds and
transacts in mary popular frading and hedging products. As nated
abewe, this includes the use of swaps, futures, oplions and struc-
tured products, such as custem transactions using combanations
of dervatves, in conneclion with its sales and trading activities.
Trading actiilies nclude markel making, postioning and arbirage
aclvities. The maprity of the Group's demvatives were used for
trading actaities,

Economic hedges

Economic hedgas anse when Lhe Group erters inbe deralive con-

tracts for &5 own nsk management purposas, bl the contracts

entared into do not qualify far hedge accounding urder US GAAR.

These economic hedges mclude the folkwing types:

® ipferest rate dervalives to manage ned intera st rate risk on cer-
tain core banking business assets and Eabiliias:

= fomign exchanga dervatives fo manage foreign exchange risk
on cartain core banking business revenue and expanse lems,
as welas on core banking busness assets and liabdiies;

= gradil dervalhes lo manage credit rsk on certain loan portio-
ligs; and

o fulures to manage fisk on equty poations including comertible
bomds.

Derivatives used in economic hedges are included as frading
assets of trading kabddies in {he consolidated balance sheets,

Hadge accounting

The Group designates fair value hedges as part of an overall intes-

eyl rate risk managersent strtegy that incorporates the use of

derivative instrements to minimoe fluctuations in earnings that are

cauged by interes! rale valutlity, In addition fa hedgenyg changes in

fair value due to inberest mte risk associated with fied rate loans,

= repurchase agreemaents and long-larm debl instruments, the

Gingup uses:

= gross-currency swaps lo corvert foreign-currency-denomi-
nated fised rate assets or l@bities 1o foating rate funclional
currency assels of labikes: and

= foreign exchange forward contracts 1o hedge the foreign
exchangs sk assocated with avaiable-for-sale securities.

The Group desigrates cash flow bedges as part of s slrategy lo
mitigate its risk 1o vanabidily of cash flows on leans, deposits and
other debt cbbgations by using imlerest rale swaps fo comert vari-
able rate assels or kabilties to foed rates. The Group also uses
cross-cumency swaps lo comverd foreign-currancy-denominaled
fired and floaling rate assats or kabities io fad rate assets or ka-
biitias based on the curency prefile to which the Group elacts to
ba exposed. This includes, but 5 not Imfed 1o, Swiss francs and
U3 doltars, Further, the Group uses demvatives 1o hedge s cash
flows associated with forecasted transactions. As of the and of
2014, the maximum knglh of tme ower whach the Group hedged
its expoiase 16 the varabily in fuluie cash flows for forecasted
transactions, excluding those forecasted transactions related 1o
the payment of varable interest on existing firancial instruments,
was fioe years,

The Group designates net imestment hedges as part of s sbrak-
ey to hedge selected nel investments in foreign operations
against adverse movements in foreign exchange rales, typically
using forward foreign exchange contracts.

The Group assessas the effectiveness of hedging relatonships
bath prospectively and refrospectively. The prospeclive assess-
mant is made both at the imception of a hadging rekationship and
an an ongaing basis, and requires the Group fo justify s expec-
tation thal the relationship will be highly effective over future
pariods. The retrospective assessment is also performed on-an
angoing basis and requines the Group to determang whather of
not the hedging relationship has aclually been effectiva. If the
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Group conchudes, through a retrospective evalualion, tha! hadge
accourting is ap propriate for the current peried, then & measures
the amount of hedge ineffactvenass to be recognzed in earnings.

Fair value of derivative instruments

The tables below present gross dervative replacement values
by type of contract and balarce sheet kocaton and whether the
demvatve is used for frading purposes or in a qualfying hedging

Fair value of derivative instruments

el of F014
Dertwative instruments {CHF Bilion)
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relatianship. Motional amounts have also been provided as an indi-
cation of the vohema of derivative actvity within the Group.

Informatian on bifurcaled embedded dervatives has not been
included n these tables. Under US GAAR the Group elected to
account for subslantially all financial instruments with an ambad-
dad dermative that s not considered clearly and closaly refated fo
fhe hosl contract at far value

a4 i
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Fair value of derivative instruments (continued)

wnad of S0 gmourk  walue PR s (P rt v (TR whos (PR
Barivative instruments (CHF billion)
marcty ared Forwand 1% a2 raarnsn) e, 2 f
'] nhd a F] £
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Cradil derrealivas * 1463.3 258 23 i 1B 0.0
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Cash Mow hedges
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The nel loss assecialed wilth cash flow hedges expeciled to be
reclassified from ADCH within the next 12 maonths was CHF 31
millian.

MNet investment hedges
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Contingent cradit risk
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The Group includes all dervalive instruments nol included in hedge
accouniing relalionships in ils frading actmties.

Disclosures relating to contingent eredit risk

Certain of the Group’s derivalee instruments contain provisions
that require it to maintain a specified credit rating from each of
fhe majer credit rating agencias, If the ratings fall balow the level
specified in the contract, the counterparties o the agreements
could requast payment of additional collateral on those denvatie
ingtrumants {had ane ina net kabdty posstion, Certan of the derma-
tive confracts alse provide for termination of the contract, gener-
aly upon a downgrade of ether the Group or the counterparty, at
the existing mark-lo-markel replacement value of the dervative
contract,

The following lable provides the Group's current nel! expo-
sure from contingant cradit risk relating to demvative contracts
with bifateral courterparties and SPEs thal include credit support
agreemants, the related co¥aleral posted and tha additmonal col-
lateral required in a one-notch and a twa-notch downgrade evend,
respactively, The table alss incledes dervalive contracts with con-
tingert cradit risk fealures without credit supporl agreements
that have accelerated termination event conditions. The cument
ned exposure for dervative cantracts with bedateral countesparties
and contracts with accelerated termination event conditions is the
aggregate fair value of derivathe instruments that were in a nat
iabildy posticn. For SPEs, the current net exposure is the comrac-
fual ameunt that is used te detarmine (he collateral payable in the
event of 3 downgrade. The conractual amour could inchade bath
tha NRV and a parcentage of the notional value of the dermvative,

Contingent credi isk (CHF bilion)

A rel L

FLL] oy

bt
Totall o ir e Total
o] a3 151 1.7 1.1 a1 2.8
o8 131 19 c 1.8
an ot 1.3 aa as fi 1.4
& 32 g 11 1 3.4

Credit derivatives

Credit dervatives are contractual agreements in which the basyer
generally pays a fee in exchange for a contingent payment by the
sabar if thers is a credd event on the undetlying refaranced entity
or assel. They are genesally prvately negoteled OTC contracis,
with numrous: setthsment and payment larms, and mad! are stnc-
tured so that they specify the cccurrence of an entfiabde credi
avert, which can mclude bankrupley, ingohency, receharship,

matarial adversa resiruciuring of debd or fadure 1o mest obligations
when dua,

The Group enders irko credil dersalive contracts in the narmal
course of business, buying and seling protection fo faciitale chent
transactions and as a market maker, This inchudes providing strue-
fured credit praducts for s chants bo anable them 1o hadge ther
credil risk. The referenced nstruments of these structured credit
products are bath imestment grade and non-ivesiment grade
and could include corporale bonds, soveraign dobt, assel-backed

588/690

oOoOooodn



securifes (ABS) and loans. These instruments can be formed as
smngle tems (single-named msiruments) er combined on a portfolie
basis (multi-ramed instruments). The Group purchases profec-
tien to economically hedge vanous forms of credit exposure, for
example, the sconomic hedging of loan portfolios or other cash
positions, Finalfy, the Group also takes proprietary posisons which
can take the form of eiher purchaged or sold protection.

The cradit derrvatives most commonly transacted by the Group
are © COS and credit swaplions, CDSs ane contraciual agree-
mants in which the buyer of the swap pays an upfront andsor a
periedic fea in relurn for a conlingam payment by the seliar of the
swap following a credd event of the referenced enldy or asset,
Credit swaphions are options wilh a spacifed matuwity to buy or
sell protection under a CDS on a specific referenced credit event,

In addition, to reduce s credit risk, the Group enters inte
legally enforceable © netting agreements with is dervathe coun-
terparties. Collateral on these derivative contracts is usually posted
on a nat counterparty basis and cannot be allecaled to a particular
dertvalive contract.

Credl protection sold is the mammum potential payout, which
is based on the notional valee of dervatives and represents the
amount of future payments that the Group would be required to
make as a resull of credil nsk-relaled events. The Growp believes
that the masdmum potential payout is mot representative of the
aciual loss exposire basad on hstorical experience. This amaount
has not been reduced by the Group's nghts fo the underlyng
assets and the relafed cash flaws. In accordance with most cradil
dernvalive confracts, should a credit event (or settiament trigger)
accur, the Group 15 uslly kable for the difference between the
credit pratection sold and the recourse & holds inthe value of the
underlying assels. The maximum potential ameunt of future pay-
mants has not bean reduced for any cash collateral paid to a given
counterparty as such payments would be cakuated after nething
all dernative axposures, including amy credit deraalives with that
counterparty in accordance with a relsled master neling agree-
mnt, Dus o such nefting precesses, determinng the amount of
coliateral that comesponds to credit dervalive axposures only s
nat possibla,

To reflect the qualty of the payment risk on coeddl protection
sold, the Group assigns an internally generaled rating to thosa
instrumems referenced in the conracts. Infernal ratings are
assigned by experienced cradil analysts based cnasperd judgment
that incorporales analysis and evaluation of both quanditaive and
qualitative factors. The specific factors amalyzed, and their refa-
tive importance, are dependent on the typs of counterparty, The
analys:s emphasees a forward-looking approach, concentrating en
econarmic trends and financial fundamertals. and making ws of
peer analysis, indusiry comparisons and other quantitalive tools.
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External ratings and market information are also used in The analy-
5% process whire avaltible,

Credit pretection purchased represents those instruments wheare
the underdying reference instrument is dentical 1o the referance
mstrument of the credit profecton sold, The maxmum potential
payoad amount of credit profecton purchased for each indiadual
idertical undedyng referance instrument may be greater o lower
than the netional ameunt of protection sold,

The Group alse considers estimated recoveries that & would
recere f the specified credd event occurred, including both the
anticipated value of the underymg referenced assel that would, in
mas! instances, be transferred to the Group and the impact of any
purchased protection wilh an identical reference instrumend and
product type.

In the normal course of business, the Group purchases protection
to offset the risk of credd protection sold that may have similar, but
nof identcal, reference msiruments, and may wse similar, but nol
dentical, products, which reduces the {olal credf daniatie axpe-
sure, Other protection purchased is based on the notional valus of
the instrumenis,

The Group purchases #s protection from banks and broker
dealars, cther financial institulions and other counterparties.

The fair values of the credit protection sold gave an indication of the
amourt of payrment risk, as the negative fair valses increase when
the potential payment under the dervative contracls bacomas
mare probable.

The foliowing tables do nel include all credil dernaties and differ
from the credit derivathes in the “Fair vakee of dervative instru-
ments’ table. This is due to the exclusion of cerlain credit dera-
tive instruments under LIS GAAR, which defines a credit dedvative
as a derivalive instrument (a} in which one or more of s underly-
ngs are related to the credd nisk of 2 specrhied entily (or 3 group of
ariities) or an index based on the credit risk of a group of entflies
and {b) that exposas the seller to potential loss from credi nsk-
refated everts specified in the cortract

Certain cash © collateralized debt obligations (COOs) and other
mstruments were exchuded as they do nol fall within the scope of
US GAAP rules. o Tolal return swaps (TRS) of CHF 2.6 bilien
and CHF 74 bilion as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respac-
tively, were also excluded bacause a TRS does not expose fhe
saller to pelantial loss from credit risk-related evenis specified in
the contract, A TRS only provides protection against a boss in assel
value ard nat against adddional amaunts as a resull of specific
credit events.
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Cradit protaction sold/purchased
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The follawing table recancles tha notional amound of credit deriva-
{ves incliuded in the tabls “Far vakie of dessrat e instruments” (o
the tabls “Credd protection sold/purchased”.
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The segregation of the future payments by maturity range and
undetlying risk gves an indication of the current status of the
potential for parformance under the dervative confracts

Maturity of credit protection sold
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32 Guarantees and commitments
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Guarantaes

Im the crdinary cowse of business, guarantees are provided fhat
confingently obigate Credit Suisse to make payments to thind par-
ties if the counlerparty fals to fulfill 45 obligation wnder a bornow-

paymert under 1he guarantees. The carrying value reprasants the
higher of the intial farr valuy {generally the retated fee recetved
or receivable) less cumulative amarfization and the Group's cur-
rem best eslimate of paymerds ihal will be required under exdsting

ing of ather contraciual arrangement, The fotal gross amourt dis-  guaranbes arrangements
closed within the Guarantiess lable reflects the maximum pobential
Guarantees
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" Labwpsr Db g N Tooksl Toky
L =] 3 o T s T Codglaryd
L il ¥ Vi i il wrert ! vk o vl
2014 (CHF milliand
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# Priar parkad his b comected

Credit guarantees and similar nstruments are confracts that
require fhe Group fo make payments should a thied party fad fo
do 50 under a specified existing credt ebligation. The postien
inciudes standby leflers of credit, commercial and ressdantial mort-
gage guaraniees and other guarantess assocated with VIES
Standby latters of credd are made i connaction with the cor-
porale lending business and other corporate acthities, whera the
Group provides guarantees to counterparties in the form of standby
lettars of cradit, which represent obligations to make payments to
third parties if the counterparties fai fo fulfil their chligations under
a borrowing arrangamend or olhar corfraciual obligation,
Comemercal and residential mergage guaranfees are mada
in connection with the Grewp's commercial marigage actiilies in
the US, wheme the Group sells certain commercial and residential
marigages {0 the Fanres Mas and agrees to bear a percentage
of {he losses triggered by the borrowars fabng o perform on the
mortgage. The Group alse issues guarantess that regquire it to
reimburse Fanne Mae for lbasss on certain whole bans undes-
king mortgage-backed securties issued by Fanme Mae, which

are inggered by borrewers failing to perform on the underling
marigages.

The Graup atso provdes guarantees to VIEs and other coun-
terparties undar which #f may be required 1o buy assets from such
enlities upon the occowrrence of cerlain triggenng evenis such as
rafing downgrades and/or substantial decreases in the © fair valus
of those assels.,

Parformance guarantess and similar instrumenis are arrange-
manis thal require comlingent payments to be made when cer-
tain performance-related targets or covenants arm not met. Such
covenants may include a customer's oblgation to delver certain
products and senices or to parform under a construction contract,
Parformance guaranteas are frequently executed as parl of peoj-
ect finance trarsactians. The pasition includes private equity fumsd
guamniess and guaraniees related 1o residental morkgage secu-
ritization actiiies.

For peivate aquity fund guarantess, the Group has provided
irvestars in provate equity funds sponsored by a Group entity
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guarantees on potential ebhgations of cerlain general partners to
relurn amounts previcusly paid as carned nterest to those ganeral
parinars if the parformance of the remaining imesiments declinas,
Te manage s exposure, the Group generally withhalds a por-
tion of camied interast distributions fo cover any repayment obliga-
lions, In additson, pursuant to certain contractual armangements,
the Group s oblgated o make cash payments to certan imvestors
in cartain private equity funds i specified performance threshalds
ane net met,

Furlhar, as part of the Group's residentzal mergage securiza-
tien actiities in the US, the Group may guarantes the collection
by the servicer and remilfance to the securdcation trust of pre-
paymert penalties. The Group will have lo perform under these
guarantees n the evert the servicer fails to remd the prepayment
panalties.

Securities landing ndemnifications inchude amangemants in which
the Group agreed to indemnify secwrities lending customers.
against keses nowred in the event that securty borrowers do nct
relurn secunties subject to the landing agreement and the collal-
aral held i mnsufficant 1o cover he markal vakee of the sacirties
bomowed. As indicated in the Guarantess table, the Group was
fully collateralzed in respect of securdies lending indemnefications.

= Dervatves are issued In the ordinary course of business, gen-
erally in the form of written put optiens. Disclosures aboul deriva-
{e contracts are not required under US GAAP if such contracts
may be cash setiled and the Group has no basis to conclude # s
prebable that the counterparties hald, at inception, the undery-
ing instrumants retated to the dervative confracts, The Group has
conchuded that these condtions wene med for certain actee com-
mercial and irvestment banks and cerain other courderpariies,
and accordingly, the Group has nel included such contracts as
guarantaes,

The Group manages ds exposure to these dernatives by
engaging in various hedging stralegies 1o reduce s exposure,
For some contracts, such as writlen interest rate caps or foreign
exchange cplons, the maximum payoul s ndt delerminable as
imeres! rales or suchange rates could theorelically nse without
limf. For these confracts, notonal amaunts ware disclosed in fha
table abowe in order (o provide an indication of the underhying expe-
sure. In addilion, the Group carnes all darvalies at far value inthe
consolidated balance sheels and has considered the parformance
{riggers and probabilities of payment when determining those fair
wvalues, [ is moe likely than not that written put oplions that are
in-the-rraney to the counterparly will be exercised, for whach the
Group's exposure was imited to the carrying value reflected in the
tabla,
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Hher guaraniees mclude bankers' acceplances, residual value
guaraniees, deposit insurance, contingent considerations in busi-
ness combinations, the minmum value of an mmvestment n mutual
funds or private equity funds and al oiher guarantees that were
et allocated to one of the calegories above,

Deposit-taking banks and sacunties dealers n Switzerand and
ceriain ether Ewopean countres are required to ensure the papout
of prvileged depoasts in case of specified restrictions or compul-
sory Bqudation of a deposi-taking bank. In Switzerkard, deposit-
taking banks and securities dealers joinlly guarantee an amount
of up to CHF & balion, Upon occurrence of a payout avent ing-
gered by a specified resiriction of busness mposed by © FINMA
of by the compulsary Iquidathon of anather deposd-taking bank,
the Group's confributian will be cakculated based on its share of
privibaged deposds in proportion to tolal privileged deposits. Basad
on FINMA's estimate for the Sroup’s banking subsdiaries in Swil-
zeriard, the Group's share in the deposi insurance guarantea pro-
gram for the peried July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015 & CHF 0.6
bilien, Thesa dopost insurance guarantess wais reflected in olhar
guaranees.

Representations and warranties on residential mortgage
loans sald

In connection with Imvestmen! Banking's sala of US residential
mertgage leans. the Group has provided cerain representations
and warraries relating fo the loars scid. The Group has provded
these representations and warrantes relating 1o sales of leans
ta: the US government-sponsored enferpnises Fannie Mae and
Freddwe Mac (GSEs); instiutional irvestors, primanly banks; and
non-agency. of privabe label, securitizations. The kaans sold are
prarreanily baans that the Group has purchased from ather parses.
The scope of representations and warmanties, f any, depends on
the transaction, bul can include: ownership of the morgage lbans
and legal capacdy to sell the bans: ban-to-value ralics and olher
charactenstics of the property, the borrower and the loan; valdity
of the bens securing the loans and absence of delinquent taxes
or ralated lens; conformity to underwriting standards and com-
pleteness of documentation; and originalion in compliance with
law. W it &5 determinad that representations and warrarties were
breached, the Group may be required to repurchase the milated
lbans or indemnify the Ewestors 1o maka them whale for losses.
Whether the Group will iIncur 2 kess in connection with repurchases
and make whola payments depends on: the axtent i which clams
are made; the valdity of such claims {ncluding the Beelihood and
abdlly to enforce claims); wheiher the Group can successfully
claim against parties that sol loans to the Group and mada repra-
serfations and warranbes 1o the Group; the resadential real estate
market, inchuding the number of defaults; and whether the obliga-
fions of the securitization wehichas were guaranieed or insured by
{hird parties,
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With respect to its outstanding repurchase claims, the Group
5 wnable fo estimate reasonably possible losses in axcess of the
amounts accrued because of the heterogeneity of its porifalio,
the complexity of lagal and factual delermirations relaled to each
claim, tha imited amount of discovery andor other factors.

The following lables present the total ameount of residential
marigage lans sokd dunng the pencd from January 1, 2004 1o
December 31, 2014 by counterparty iype and the development
of sutstanding repurchase chims and provisions for sutstanding
repurchase claims in 2014 and 2013, mcluding malized ksses
fram the repurchase of residential mortgage loans sald,
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Residantial mortgage loans sold

Januasry 1, 2004 ta Decembaer 31, 2014 {USD billion)
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W4 el
Prnn:l-un'i f&lr uml.rn-:img r\fpurl:.l.1 asa :l.llml- l.’UEE-l mbor) i )

Badmnca at bagasing of paiod 148 e

reat Td 4L

Representations and warranties relating lo resideniial mortgage
loans sold 1o non-agency secwilization wehiclas are more Bm-
#ed in scope than those relating lo residential mortgage loans
sold 1o GSEs, and fl can ba more difficul 1o establish causation
and standing in making a repurchase claim for breach of rep-
resentations and waranties on residental morlgage leans ol

amp by DR 01 3 pilor lar whict formual legal precesdmgi had commarced in pnar ey

in non-agency secwitzations. The Group is ivobed i litigation
refating to representations and warrardies on residentsl mortgage
loans soid.

HRepurchase claims on residental morigage loans sold that are

* subject lo arbidration or Iligatian proceedings, or bacome 50 during
* the reporling period, are not included in the Guarantess ard com-

mitmeants disclosure of repurchase claims and relaled loss contin-
gencies and provissons but are addressed in Wigation and relaled
loss contingancias and provisions.

Repurchase claims relaling to residential morigage leans sold
may increase inthe fulure based on the karge number of defaults
in resadental mortgages, inchiding those sold or securitized by the
Girgup,

Disposal-related contingencles and other indemnifications
The Group has certain guaranrtess for which s maximum con-
tingent liabilty cannol be quantifed. These guaraniees are noi
reflacted in the *Guararess’ fable and are docussed balw,
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In connection with the sale of assets or businessas, the Growp
sametimes provades the acqurer with cerlain indemnification pre-
visions, Thess indemnification provisions vary by counterparly in
scope and duration and depend upon the type of aszsels or busi-
nesses sokd, They are designed to iransfer the pofential risk of
certain unquantifiable and unknowable loss contingencies, such as
litigation, tax and intelleciual propery matters, from the acquirer
1o the saller. The Group closely moenitars all such confrastual
agreemants in order to ensure that mdemnification provisions
are adequately provided for in the Growp's consabdated financial
statemants.

The Group provides indemnifications o cerain courerparties
in connection with its normal operaling activibes, for whch i is
ned possible lo estimate the maximum amount that A could be
obigated to pay. As a normal par of issuing fis own sacurias,
the Group typically agrees fo reimburse helders for additional tax
wilhholding charges or assessments resulting frem changes in
applicable tax ws or the interprefation of those bws. Secuities
that include these agreemeants to pay additional amours generaly
also mclude a related redemption or call provision i the obliga-
fien to pay the addiional amounts resulis from a change in law
of its irferpretation and the obligation cannot be avoided by the
issuer taking reascnable steps to avoid the payment of adddioral
amewnts. Since such patential cbgations are dependant on futune
changes in lax laws, the relaled kabdibes the Group may ncur as
a result of such changes cannot be reasonably estimated., In light
of the relabed call provisions bypically inchaded, the Group does net
expect any potential Ebilties in respect of tax gross-ups to be
malerial,

The Group is a member of numerous secuies exchanges and
cleanng housas and may, as a resull of its membership arrange-
menls, be required to perform i ancther member defaufls and
available amounts as defined in the relevant exchange's or clear-
ing house's default waterfalls are not sufficient fo cover losses
of anather membar's defaull, The exchange's or cleanng house's.
defau management procedures may provide for cash calks lo
men-defauling mambers whech may be bmited bo the amount {or
a multiple of the amount) of the Group's contribution to the guar-
aniea fund. Howevar, if these cash calls ars mol sufficient fo cover
lessas, the defaud waterfall and defaull management procedures
may forasea further loss allacation. Futharmars, some clearing
house arrangemants require mambers to assume a proporticn-
ate share of non-defaull lasses, i such losses eceed the speci-
fied resources abocaied for such purpose by the claaring house.
Mon-defaull lsses resull from the clearing house's imestment of
guarantes fund centribulions and indial margin or are olher losses.
unretated to the defaull of a clearing member. The Group has
determmed that # 18 nol passible 1o reasonably estimate the max-
mum potential amount of fulure payments dwe urder the mem-
bership arrangements, [n addiion, the Group bebeves that any
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pential requirement 1o make payments under these membarshp
amangemens is remole.

Leass commilmaents

Lease commitmants (CHF millien}
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Operating leass commitments
The Group has confraciual commilments under cperating lease
arangements fer cerlain premises and equipment. Under opar-
aing ases, the leased properly i nod reporied on the bakince
shaet of tha lasses. Leasa payments required by the contract are
generally expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. The relabed commaments for fulure remtal expanses under
operating leases are included in the table *Lease commiments’,
From time fo time, the Group may enler into sale-leaseback
transactions. in which an asset is sold and immedately leased
back. If specific criteria are met, such assel is derecognized from
the balance shest and an cperating lease is recognaed. If the
present value of the lease payments is equal fo or higher than
10% of the far vakm of the property sold, any resulling gains up
te an amount equal o the present value of the lease payments am
daferred and recognized in the statement of operations owver tha
torm of the kease as a reduction of rental expense, Gans an sala-
leazeback transactions for which the leass paymenis are lower
than 10% of the fair value of the properly sold or gains in excess
of the present value of the lease paymenis are recognized in the
stalements of oparabions upon complation of the sale.

There were no significant transactions in 2084,

I the first quarter of 2012, the Group sold the office complax
of #s European headquarters at One Cabot Square in London to
CCS Imvestment 540l and lzased back thes property under an
operating lease arangement for 22 years, with two oplions o
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extend the lease by fve years each, OCS Imvestment Sarl s a
company wholy owned by the Oatar Investment Authonfly, which s
a minaeity shareholder of the Group.

In the faurth quarter of 2012, the Group sold the Ustlibof
office complax in Zurich, the Group's principal office bulding
waodidwide, to Morges Bank, a minarity shareholder of the Group,
ard leased back this properly under an operating lease amange-
ment for 25 years, with 1he option to extend the lease by up to 15
years, Morges Bank, through s Imwesiment Maragemeant unit,
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was acting as the buyer on behalf of the Norwegian Government
Pension Fund Global

Dwring 2014 and 2013, the Group entered into several smallar
sale-leaseback transactions in respect of own property, which
were all recognized as cparaling lease amangements with ase
terms of between two and ten years and between five and ten
years, respactively. The total contraciual rental expensas were
CHF 17 emillion for the 2014 sale-leaseback fransactions and
CHF T& milion for the 2013 sale-laaseback transactions,

Other cammitments
Waturivy Wby Wbty [THr
. [ o o o i Tl Toca
tha 0 St P o [ Cilariaral
el ol L u P a amzunt wninny ! s
2014 (CHF miliord
[T A £ oMM Tty Lender doc ety Credtds - 1 4 T34
= TE &5 &5 10 e S0 il b o GG
499 8000 g e
Uit comand il T THE 43 a9 1.7 I
Total other oommEments 43, 7TR I3, 50 & 534 11,218
2013 {CHF miliond
4 o
35481 7073
n o ' o | are 3001 i

lirevec able commimants under documentary credils mchide expe-
sures from trade finance refated fo commercial letters of credi
under which the Group guarantess payments to exporbess agains
presantation of shipping and cther documants,

Irrevocable lban commitments are Erevocable credit facilties
extended 1o chems and include fully or partally undrawn com-
meimants thal are lagally binding and cannot be unconditioraly
canceled by the Group. Commiiments to onginate morigage leans
that will be held for sale are considered dersatmves for account-
ing purposas and are nof included in this disclosure. Such com-
mémants are reflecied as dervalives in the consolidated balance
shants.

Farwand revards repurchase agreements represent LRansactans m
which the inflial cash exchange of the © reversa repurchase trans-
aclions takes place on specified future dates. The commitment
balance for forward reverse repurchasa agreaments decreased in
2014 primarity as a resull of a change in the calcutation method-
alogy. The Group enters into forward reverse mpurchase agree-
mants with counterparties that may hawve existing funded reverse
repurchase agreements. Depending on the datads of the counles-
party confract with Credit Suisse, the new methodelogy considers
both a courterparty’s existing funded reversa repurchasa agres-
mant and any forward reverse repurchase agreemants under con-
tract with tha same counfarparly.

Other commitments inchude privale equily commitments, firm com-
midmenis in underwrding securties, commdments arising from
deferred payment letters of credit and from acceptances in cir-
culaton and liabifties for call and put options on shares and other
equiy nstruments
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33 Transfers of financial assets and variable interest entities

In the normal course of business, the Group enlers nbo transac-
tions with, and makes use of, SPEs. An SPE is an enfity in (he
form of a trust or other legal structure designed fo fulfill a spe-
cific imited need of the company that organced i and is gener-
ally structured to isclate the SPE's assels from crediors of other
enlities, inchading the Group. The principal usas of SPEs are fo
asgst {he Group and its cherts in secundizing financial agsels and
creatmng imvestment products. The Group alse usas SPEs for ather
chien-driven actiity, such as to faciltate financings, and for Group
tax of regulalony purposes,

Transfers of financial assets

The majority of the Group's securtization actiilies imobe mort-
gages and morigage-ralxled securities and are predominantly
{ransacted using SPEs. In a typical securitization, the SPE pur-
chases assels financed by proceeds receied from the SPE's issu-
ance of debd and equily instruments, certificates, & CP and othar
neies of indebledness. These assels and Rabilties are recordad
an the balance sheet of the SPE and nol reflacled on the Group's
consolidaled balance shesl, unlass either the Graup sold the
assets fo the antity and the accounling requirements for sale were
ned met or the Group consalidates the SPE,

The Group purchases commercial and residential morigages
for the purpose of securdization and sells these morigage loans to
SPEs. Thase SPEs issue O commercial marigage-backed secun-
ties (CMES), © residential mortgage-backed securfties (RMBS)
and ABS that are collateralzed by the assels transfarred lo fhe
SPE and that pay a retwn based on the returns on those assels,
Irvestors in these mengage-backed securiies ar ABS typleally
have recourse bo the assets in the SPEs, unless a thed-party guar-
anles has been receied to furher anhance the creditworthiness
of the assels, The mmestors and the SPEs have no recourse o
the Group's assels. The Group is typically an undeswriter of, and
makes a marked in, these securities.

The Group also transacts i re-securilizations of previously
issuad RMBS sacurifies. Typically, certificates issued cad of an
existing securtization vehscle are sold nto a rewly created and
saparate sacurifizalion vehicle. Often, thess re-securiizations
are mitated n order fo repackage an exsling secuty o give the
ineesior a hagher rated lranche

The Group also uses SPEs for other asset-backed financings
refating 1o client-griven activily and for Group fax or reguiatory
purposes. Types of struclures included in this category inchude
2 CDOs, leveraged finance, repack and other typas of transsc-
fians, including Iife insurance structunes, emengng markel struc-
turas sef up for financing, lean participation or koan arigination pur-
poses, and cther alternalve struclures created for the pupose of
ivesting in ventwe capital-like imestments. COOs are collateral-
ized by the assets transfered to the COO vehicle and pay a return
based on the rlurng on those assels, Leveraged hnance struc-
tures are used fo assis in the syndication of certain bans held by
tha Group, while repack struclures are designad to give a client
collateralized axposure to specific cash flows or credit rsk backed
by collaleral purchased from the Group. In these asset-backed
financing slructures investors typicaly only have recourse to the
coliateral of tha SPE and do nol have recourse lo the Group's
assats,

When the Group transfers assets inte an SPE, d must assess
whather that transfer is accounted for as a sale of the assats.
Transfers of assels may nof meet sale requirements if the assets
b ot bean legaly isolated fram the Group and/or i the Group's
continung invobement is deemed to give il effective control
ower the assets. If the transfer s nol deemed a sale, # is instead
accounied for as a secured borrowing, with the fransfened assets
as coliateral.

Gaing and losses on securlization transactions depend, in
part, an the camying values of morgages and COOs imobed n
tha trangfer and are alocated between the asgels sold and amy
benaficial mberests refained acconding to the relatve © fair values
at the date of sabe.

The Group does nad retan material servicing responsibdibies
from sacurftization actities.

The folowing table provides the gams or losses and proceeds
fram the fransfer of assets relating 1o 2014, 2013 and 2012 secu-
rilizations of financial assets that qualify for sale accounling and
subsequent derecognition, along with the cash flows between the
Group and the SPEs usad in any securiizaticns in which the Group
still has coentinuing involement, regardiess of when the secunfiza-
tian accurred,
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Securitizations
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The Group may have continuing imohement in the firancal agsets
that are transferrad o an SPE, which may take several forms,
inchuding, bul not imied to, saricing, recourse and guaranies
arrangaments, agreemenis to purchase or redeem transfecred
assets, dervative instruments, pledges of collateral and beneficial
irderasts in the transferred assels, Benefical nterests, which are
valued al farr value, mchade rghts to recene: all or portions of spec-
ified cash inflows received by an SPE, including, but net limited to,
sanior and subsrdinated shares of interest, principal, o other cash
inflows to be “passed through’ or “paid through', premiums due o
guarantors, CP obligations, and residual infarests, whathar in the
form of debt or equty,

The Group's exposure resulling from confnuing rvolemeant
in transferred financial assets is generally limited to beneficial
interests typically held by the Group in the form of insfruments
swed by SPEs that are sensor, suboedinated or resadual tranches.
These instruments are held by the Group typically in connection
with undenwriting or market-making activities and are included in

trading assels in the consolidated balance shests. Any changes
i {he fair vake of these baneficial infterests are recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Irvestors usslly have recowrse 1o the assets in the SPE and
often benefit from other credit enhancements, such as collateral
accounts, o from ligudilty faclithes, such as nes of credit or liguid-
ity put option of assel purchase agresments, The SPE may abo
erler into a derivative contract in order to comvert the yield of cue-
rency of the underlying assels to match tha needs of the SPE
immestors, ar b0 lmil or change the credd nsk of the SPE. The
Graup may ba fhe provider of certain eredd enhancements as well
a3 the counterparty 1o any rebiled dematie contract.

The following table provides the cutstanding principal balance
of assets to which the Group continued to be exposed after the
transfer of the financial assels te ary SPE and the tofal assets of
the SPE as of tha and of 2014 and 2013, regardiess of whan tha
transfer of assets occurred,

Principal amounts outstanding and total assets of SPEs
resulting from continuing invelvemant

ol o 2014 JE
CHF mrillian '
CMBS

Prircipal amoa ek cuinisnding 212016 =l r
Tkl arests of SPE

RMES

Frireqaal asmonrd ctvinnediog 45,884

Tril azises of SPE BT 4R 741

Ciler sutel-backed linsncings

Privgipal afmount Sulriand tated B @ Dartared B the Gio oo dowr Tk
Wk ph e gl @

The faw valus measurement of the beneficial inlerests held at the
time of transfer and as of the reporting date that resull from any
confinung Irelament i determined wing G valus estimation
techniques, such as the present value of estimated fulure cash
flows that incorporate assumplions that market parlicipants cus-
tomanly use n these valuation techniques. The fair walue of the
assats or kabdities that resu® from any continung imohemant doas
nod include any benefits frem financial instruments that the Group
may ulilze to hadge the inherant risks.
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Key aconamic assumptions used in measuring fair value of beneficial interests at ime of transfer
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The folowing table provides the sensitivily analysis of key eco-
nemmie asasmplions used in measuring the fair valua of banaficial
inarests held in SPEs as of the end of 2014 and 2013,

i (ST i ERE
1

L] 1 =4
F f i I

y o A B
...... i 5 . e

3 i
b

Key economic assumptions used in measuring Tair value of beneficial interests held in SPEs
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These sensdivities are hypothetical and do not reflect economic
hedging aclwities, Changes in far value based on a 10% or 20%
variation in assumplions generally cannot be exfrapolated because
the relalionship of the change in assumplion to the change in fair
value may not be knear. Also, the effect of a varialion in a particular
assumption on ihe fair value of the benaficial intaresis is caloulated
without changng ary other assumplian. In practice, changes in
ane assumption may resull in changes in ofher assumplions (for
exarmple, increases in markel mberest rales may resull in lower
prepaymants and increased credit losses), which maght magnify o
counteract the sansithefies.

Secured borrowings

The fallowing table provides the carrying amounts of transferred
firanc il assels and the relabed labdities where sale treatmant was
not achieved as of the and of 2014 and 2013,

Carrying amounts of transferred financial assets and
liabilities where sale freatment was not achieved

wod ol 004
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Liabaty 13 SPE, inchuded in Other kbt o) (453
Ottt avsebbschad financings
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SPE rebadend in Ot labis w fiir 1] 373

Variable interest entities

Az a normal part of s business, the Greup engages n vanous
transactions thal include entities that are considered VIEs and are
grouped nto three primary categones: COOs, CP conduts and
fimancial inermediation. VIEs are SPEs that typicaly either lack
sufficient aquily to finance ther aclivities without addiional sub-
ardinated financial suppart or are strectured such that the holders
of tha voling nghts do nod substantively participale in the gans
and losses of the antity. VIEs may ba sponscred by the Group,
urretaled third partees or clients. Such enlties are required to be
assessad for consolidation, compeling the primary baneficiary to
consolidale the VIE. The consolidation assessmenl requires an
antity to determine whethar it has the power lo direct the activties
that most sgnificantly affect the economics of the VIE as well as
whether the reporting entity has potentially significant benefits or
lossas in the VIE. The primary beneficiary assessment must be re-
evaluated on an ongoing basis.

Appieation of the requirements for consolidation of VIEs may
require the exercise of significant management judgment. In the
event consolidation of a VIE is required, the exposure to the Group
& imited 1o that portien of the VIE's assets atirsbutable fo any
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variable interest hald by the Group prier to any risk management
activibes to hedge the Group's net axposure, Any interests hald n
the VIE by third parties. even though consolidated by the Group,
will not iypacally impact its resulls of operations.

Transactions with VIEs are generally execuled 1o facilitate
sacwifization activities or to meet specific chenl needs, such as
prowiding liquidily or rvesting opporbunities, and, as part of fhese
aclivities, the Group may hold interesls in the VIEs, Secuwriliza-
tion-related transactions with VIES imelee selling of purchasng
assels as well as possibly entering ino related dematives with
thosa VIEs, providing liguidity, credit o other support. Otihar Erans-
actions with VIES inchede dernatve trangactions in the Group's
capacity as the prame broker, The Group also enters info banding
arrangements with VIEs for the purpese of financing prejects or
the acquisition of assels. Typically, the VIE's assets are resinicted
in nature in that they are held primarily to satisfy the obbgations
of the entity. Further, the Group is involved with VIEs which were
formed for the purpose of offering alemative ewestmant solutions
to clients. Such VIEs relate primaridy to private equily imestments,
fund-linked vehicles or funds of funds, where the Group acls as
struciurer, manages, distributor, broker, market maker or hquidity
provider,

As a consequence of these acliities, Tha Group holds van-
able inferests in VIEs. Such variable interests consist of finan-
cial instruments issved by VIEs and which are held by the Group,
cerain derivatives with VIEs or leans fo VIEs. Guaranfeas issued
by the Group to or on behalf of VIEs may also quaify as variable
irterests. For such guarantees, inchuding derivatives that act as
guarantees, the notional amownt of tha respactive guarantess s
presered to represent the exposung. In general, imaesors in con-
salidated VIEs do nol have recourse to the Group in the event of
a default, except where a guarantes was provided to the imesiors
of where Ihe Group & the courlerparty 1o a dervalive Iransaction
mwohing WIEs.

Total assets of conschdated and non-consobdaled WIEs for
which the Group has mvolement represent the tolal assets of the
VIEs even thowugh the Group's involvemeni may be significantly
less due bo imterests held by thind-pary imvestors, The asset bal-
ances for non-consalidated VIEs where the Growp has significant
mechament reprasent the most current information avaitable to the
Group regarding the remaining principal bakance of assets owned,
In most cases, the asset balances represent an amortzed cost
basis without regards to mpaiments in fair value, untess fair value
mformation is readily availabls.

The Grewp's maximum exposure 10 loss is different from the
carrying value of the assets of the VIE, Thes maxmurn exposure
to loss consists of the camying value of the Group variabla inter-
ests held as trading assets, dervatives and lans and the nofional
amount of guarantees to VIEs. rather than the amaunt of tetal
assets of the VIEs. The maxdmum esposure to loss does nol
reflect the Group's risk management acthibas, including effects
from fmancal instruments that the Group may dilice te economi-
cally hedge the risks inherent in these VIES. The scanomie faka
associabed with VIE exposures hald by the Group, fogether with all
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redevant © risk mitigation ind@lves, are included inthe Group's sk
maragement framework.

The Group has not provided firancial or other support to con-
salidated or non-consolidated VIEs that & was not cordractually
required to provide.

The Group engages in CDO transactions to meet clent and imses-
tof naads, sarn fees and sell financial agsels. The Group may
act as underwiiber, placemaent agent or assel manager and may
warehouwse assels priof to the closing of a transacteon. As part of
s structured fimance basiness, the Group purchases lans and
other dabt abligations from and on behalf of clients for the pur-
pose of secunfizaton. The loans and cther debd obbgations are
sald to VIEs, which in turn issue CD0Os to fund the purchase of
assels such as emesiment grade and high vield corporate debt
inglrurment s,

Typically, the colateral manager in a managed COO is deemad
1o be the entity that has the power to direct the activities that most
affect the sconomics of the enlity. In a static COO this “power”
rode is mane difficult to analyze and may be the sponsor of the
ety or the < COG counterparty,

COOs provide credil nsk exposune to a portfolio of ABS (cash
CDOs) or a reference portfobo of securities (synhetic CDOs),
Cash CDO transactions hold actual securilies whereas syrihetic
CDO fransactions use CDS to exchange the undertying cradit sk
instead of using cash assels. The Group may ako a2t as a derma-
tive courterparly to the VIEs, which are typscally ot varsable inter-
ests, and may invest in portions of tha notes or equily isswed by
ihe WIES. The COO enfities may have actly managed portfalios.
of slatic pertfalics,

The securities issued by these VIES ane payable solely from
the cash flows of the related colltateral, and third-pasly creddors
of these VIEs do not have recourse to the Group n the evend of
defaull.

The Group's expesure 1 COO transactions s fypicaly limited
1o interests refained in connection with its underwrifing or market-
making actiities. Unlkess the Group has been deemed to have
“power” over the entity and these nterests are polentally signifi-
cant, the Group is not the primary baneficary of tha vehicle and
does nol consolidate the entdy. The Group's maximum exposuns to
less doas not ncheds ary effects frem financial instruments usad
o econamically hedge the risks of the VIEs.

The Group continues to aci as the administrater and provider of
liquidity and credff anhancement faciities for one asseb-backed
CP conduil, Alpine, a client-focused multi-seller condull vehicle.
Alpina publishas portfolic and assel dala and submits its portfolia
to @ rating agency for public ratings based on the cash flows of
1he portfolo taken as a whale, This CP condud purchages assels,
primarily loans and recenables, from chents and finances such
purchases {hiough the saance of CP backed by these assels,
For an assel o qualdy for acquestion by the CF condutt, it must
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be rated at least imesiment grade after giving effect o the ralated
assat-specific credit anhancement pnmanly provaded by the cliant
seller of the assel, The cliends provide credid support lo imves-
fors of the CP condut in the form of over-collateralization and
olher assel-specific enhancemants. Further, an unaffiialed ives-
for refains a limited first-loss posiion in Alpne's entire portfolic.
Alpine & 2 ssparate kegal enfity that is wholly cwned by the Group.
However, its assels are available fo satisfy only the claims of its
eradilors, In addamn, the Group, as adminsiraiar and liquidily and
credil enhancement facilies prowder. has signficant exposure to
and power over the activilies of Alpine. Alpine & considered a VIE
for accountong purpeses and the Group & deemaed the pramary
benaficiary and consobdates this antity.

The overall average maturty of the condull’s cutstanding CP
was approximalely 49 days and 19 days as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively. As of December 31, 2014 and
2013, Alpirwe had the highest short-term ratings from Moady's and
Dominion Bond Rating Sarvice and was rated A-1 by Standard
& Poor's and F-1 by Ftch. Tha majority of Alpine’s purchased
assets were haghly raled reverse repurchase agreemants as wel
as advance financing receiables, egupment loans of leases and
arcraft leans. As of Decamber 31, 2014 and 2013, those assals
had an average rating of AA, based on the lowest of each assel’s
internal rating and, where aailable, external rafing, and an average
maturily of 1.5 years and 2.1 years as of December 31, 2014 and
2013, respeciively. On February 6, 2015, Diominion Bond Rating
Serace lowared the shor-larm rafing of Alpna from R-1 {high) [sf}
1 R-1 {midde) (s7).

The Group's commitment lo this CP condull consisis of obli-
gations under liquidily agreements and a program-wide credit
enhancemant agreament, The bpudity agreements ane assel-spa-
cific amangements, which require the Grewp to purchase assets
from the CP condudt i cerlain circumslances, mehading a tack of
liquiddy in the CP market such that the CP conduit cannot refi-
rance its obligations or, in some cases, a defaull of an undedy-
ing asset, The Group may. at its discrefion, purchase assels that
fall bedow iwestment grade in crder to support the CP condud. In
bath ciumstances. the assel-specific credd enhancements pro-
vided by the chent selier of the azsels and the firsl-loss imestor's
respactive exposures to those assels remain unchanged. In anfer-
ing mte such agreements, the Group reviews tha credi risk assoc-
ated with thasa iransactions on the same basis thal would apply to
other extensions of credit. The program-wide credil enhancement
agreamant wilth the CP conduft would absork polantal defaulis of
{he assets, bad is semar fo the credit profeciion provided by the cli-
el seber of assets and the firsi-loss rvestor.

The Group believes thal the Belhood of incuming a loss equal
fo the maximum exposure & remole because the assels held by
the CF condut, after gving effect 1o related asset-specific credit
enhancernant primandy provided by the chents, are classified as
investment grade. The Group's econamic rishs assocmied with fhe
purchased assets of the CP condu are mchaded i the Group's
nisk management framework including counterparly, aconoms:
capital and scenanc anahysis,
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The Group has sgnificant irvolement wilh VIEs i its roles as a
firanc @l interme-dsary on behalf of clents.

The Group considers the lkelihood of incurring a loss equal to
the maximum exposure fo be remole because of the Group's risk
meligation efforts, including, bui not limited fo, econemic hedg-
ing strategies and colialeral arangements, The Group's economic
risks associated with consolidated and non-consolidated VIE
exposures ansng from financial intermedation, lagather with all
rakevant risk mitigation intabives, ane included in the Group's risk
rrsanagement framewark.

Financial intermediation consista of securitizations, funds,
loans, and other vehicles.

Securtizations are primanly © CMBS, © RMBS and ABS vehicles.
The Group acts as an underwriler, markel maker, bquadity provides,
derivative counterparty and/or provider of cradit enhancemants to
VIEs related to cerlain securitization fransactions.

The maxmum exposure to loss is the carrying value of the loan
securfies and derivalive positions thal are variable nterests, if any,
plus the exposure ansing from ary credit enhancements the Group
prowided. The Group's maximum exposure to bss doss not includs
ary effects from financal instruments used to econemically hedge
the risks of the VIEs.

Tha aciivifies thal have the most significant Eempact on the
sacudization vehicle are the decisions relating to defaulted loans,
whach are cortroled by the servicer. The party that controls the
servicing has the abiliy 1o make decishons that signficantly affact
the result of the acthaties of fhe securitization wehiche, If a secu-
rtizalion vehicle has multiple parties tha! conirol servicing over
specific assets, the Group defermines it has power when it has
comtral over the servcing of greater than 50% of the assels in the
securdization vehicle, When a sarvicer or its retated party also has
an economic nferest that has the patential to absarb a significant
porticn of the gains and/or losses. it will be deemed 1he primary
beneficary and consolidate ihe vehicle, If the Group determnes
that & controls the rebsvant servicing, f then determines i & has
the oblgation to absorb kosses from, or the rght to receive benefits
of, the securiization vehicls that could patentially ba sgnificant |o
the wehicle, primarily by evaluating the amount and nalure of secu-
rities issuad by the vehicle thaf it holds. Factors considared in thes
aralyss mchde the level of subsrdination of the securities held as
well as the sze of the posflion, based on the percentage of the
class of securities and the tolal deal classes of sacurities ssued.
The more subordinated the kwvel of securifies hald, the mare Tkely
it is that the Group will be the primary beneficiany. This consolida-
tion analysis is performed each reporting period based on changes
in irventory and the levels of assats ramaining in the securilization.

EDINETOOOO

OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

Consolidated financial slatements - Credit Suisse Group

The Group typcally conscldates securitzation vehicles when il s
the servicer and has heldings stemming fram 13 mole as undes
witer. Short-term market making holdings in vehickes are nod typi-
cally considered fo be potentially sgnificant for the purposes of
this assessment,

In the case of re-securdizations of previously issved RMBS
securties, the re-securilzation wahicles are passie n nature and
do not have any signéficant angoing activilies that requre manage-
mant, and decisions relating 1o the design of the securtieation
trangachon at A% incephion is the key power relating te the wehicle,
Activities at inception nclude selacting tha assels and detarmining
the capdal structure, The powsr over a re-securiization vehatls &
typically shared between the Group and the imestor(s) ineled n
the dasign and creation of the vehicle. The Group concledes that
it & the primary beneficiary of a re-securdization vehicle when i
owns substantially all of the bonds issued from the wehicle,

Funds include imestmant structures such as mutuad funds, funds
of funds, prrvale equiy funds and fund-linked products whars ths
imeestors” intera st is typically in the form of debt rather than equity,
thenaly making them VIEs. The Group may have vansus relalion-
ships with such WVIEs in the form of structurer, imestiment advisos,
ivesiment manager, administrator, custodian, underwriler, place-
rroarit apent, markel maker and.or as prime broker, These activilies
include the use of VIEs in structuring fund-Enked producis, hadge
funds of funds or private equily imvestments to provide clients with
mesiment oppoarfunities in akernative imestments. In such trans-
actions, a VIE holds underlying irvesiments and issues securilies
that provide the mastors with a return based on the perfermance
of these mvestmeants,

The maximurn exposure 1o loss consists of the fair value of
mstruments usued by such structures thal ane held by the Growp
a3 a result of underwriting or markel-making actwities, financ-
ing provided fo the velucles and the Group's exposure resuling
from principal protection and redemplions features. The mwes-
tors typically retain the risk of bss on such transactions, but for
ceramn fund types, the Group may provide prncipal protection on
the securities to Emit the mwestors’ exposure to downside marked
risk, The Group's maximum exposure 1o lss doss nat nchads any
effects from financial instruments used to sconomically hedge the
risk: of tha VIEs.

Anather madel i5 used to assess funds for consalidation under
S GAAP. Rather than the consobdation model which incorporalas
powar and the potential to abserb significant risk and rewards, a
previous consolidation model is used which results in the Group
being the primary baneficiary and conscldating the funds if it holds
rnare than 50% of their oulstanding issuances.
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Loans are single-financing vehicles wheare the Group provides
financing for specified assels or business ventures and the respec-
ihve cwner of the assels ar marager of the businesses provides
1he equily inthe vetecle. These laiored landing amangements are
established fo purchase, lease or otherwise finance and marage
clierts’ assets.

The maximum exposure to bss is the canying value of the
Group's lean expasure, which & subjeet to the same credil rk
maragemant procedures as kans issued dirgclly 19 cherds, The
chems’ creditworthingss ts carafully reviswed, loan-lo-vakes ralios
ang stnctly 36t and, in addtion, clients provide equity, additional
collateral or guarantees, all of which significanily reduce the
Group's exposure. The Group consders the ikelibood of incurting
a loss equal to the maximum expasure (o be remate because of
the Group's risk milagation efforts, which includes over-collateral-
wation and effective moniloring 1o ensure thal a sufficient loan-te-
walue ratio is mainiained

The third-pary sponsor of the VIE will typically have conlrol
ovar the assats during the life structure and have the patential to
absort significant gains and losses; the Group is typically nat the
prirary beneficiary of these structures and will not have te consali-
date tham. However, a change in the structure, such as a defaul
of the sponsor, may result in the Group gainng control over tha
assels. If the Group’s lending is sgnificard, & may then be requined
o consalidate the entity.
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Other includes additienal vehicles where the Group provedes
financing and frust preferred msuance vehickes. Trust preferred
issuance vehicles ase ulilized fo assist the Group in raising capial-
efficient financing. The VIE issuas preference shares which are
guaraneed by the Group and uses the proceeds fo purchase the
debt of the Graup, The Group's guaraniee of 15 own debt is not
considered a variable irerest and, as it has no holdings in these
vehicles, the Group has no masimum axposure 1o loss, Non-con-
sohdated VIEs include only the tolal assets of trust preferred issu-
ance vehazles asg the Grouwp has no varable inberesis with thasa
enlitias,

The Group has significant imeohement with VIEs in ifs role as a
financial intermediary on behalf of clients. The Group consolidates
2l VIEs refated to financial intermediation for which i was the pri-
mary benaficiany,

The consolidated VIEs tables provide the camying amounts
and classifications of the assels and liabikties of consobdated VIEs
a5 af he end of 2014 and 2013,
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Consolidated VIEs in which the Group was the primary benaficiary

2014 (CHF milliand

d dum from bar

b T
ettt seloia
2013 {CHF miliiond

ol wivich ioang beid - for-1ale
Tolal avieli &l comialidabed VIES

Total liabilities of consolidated VIEs

The nen-consclidated VIEs tables provide the carryng amounts
ard classrfication of the assels of vanable inferasts recorded in the
Group's consolidated balance sheets, maximum exposare fo loss
and total asseds of the non-consolidated VIEs.

Maximum exposure to loss represents the variable inferests
of pon-consolidated WIEs that are recorded by the Group (for
example, direct heldings in wehickes, locans and other recenables),
as wel as notional amounts of guarantees and oif-balance sheet
commitiments which are varable imenests that hene been extended
to non-censolidated WIEs. Such amourts, particutarly noticnal
amounts of demal ves and guarantees, 4o nof represent the ani-
ipated bases n connechon wilh these transactons as they do not

5, Ao Fur - Total
(v} 1 _I’ ¥
4% . M it 19,5ty
10,453 aal 5,007 1,835 2,300 3854 25,350
% )
nTE 108 1aK S | 7o
e L LS. i L L B
¥ ' F.
E BT EAE i
1.4 B
N &7 TANT i 435
0,087 5,540 4243 1,787 3,777 3,164 27854
I, I DR DEE
3 o
=4 7 g 435 I
110 4313 3254 88 254 1227 18345

taks into consieration the effect of colialeral, mcoveries or the
probabilty of loss, In adddon, thay exchade (he effect of offselting
financial mstrumants that are hald to mitigate thase risks and have
nol been reduced by unrealized losses previously recorded by the
Sroup in connection with guarantees or derivatives.

Mon-conschdated VIE assats are related o the non-conscl-
idated VIEs with which the Group has varable inlerasis, These
amounts represent the assets of the enlities themsahes and are
typically urralated to the exposures the Group has with fhe erfity
and s are nol amounts that ame corsidered for nsk manageman
pUIpDSes.

Certain VIEs have not baen included m the follovang table,
inchuding VIEs structured by thind parties in which the Group's
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inerest is i the form of securities held in the Group's irmventory,
cartain single-assat financing vehicles nod sponsored by the Group
to which the Group provides financing but has very ittle risk of loss

Nen-conselidated VIEs

&l of
2014 (CHEF million
Tradiry aztets

Fiest fnars

Total variable interest svsets
Mazimisn saposure 1o loss
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due to over-collateralzation and guaraniees, faded sales where the
Group dees nod have any other holdings and other entilies cud of
sCope.

180 7,285 4438 2145 2358 16,582
o2 12,770 4568 7326 2,208 27800

#lad VIE srisals

Hor-consolidsted VIE sussts BAM 20157 38413 J&S1B 33360 147,35
2013 (GHF million)

Tradieg assets 4 5o P & 1= TR0
Hist bar &1 22 — pies A =]
Ot bt assel i E .
Tatal varisbls intarest siiels 3638 3581 2,001

Maximsm sxaposurs bo loss s 7433 2080

Haa-eansal

31044 19,450

34 Financial instruments

The disclosume of the Group's financial instruments bedow includes

1he folowing sections:

*  Concentration of cradit risk;

*  Fair value measurement (nchuding fair value hierarchy, trans-
fors bitwin bevels; el 3 ieconcibation; qualitative and quan-
fitatme disclosures of valsation techniques and nonrecumng
fair walue changes)

=  Fairvalue option; and

* Discloswres about © fair valee of financal instruments not car-
ried at fair value

COMNCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Credil risk concentralions arise whan a number of counterparties.
are engaged in simdar business activities, are located in tha same
geographic region or whan there are smiar economic features
that would cause thair abidy 1o meet confractual obbgabions to be
similarly impacted by changes in economic conditions,

The Group regularly monilors the credit risk portfobo by coun-
terparties. indusiry, country and products fo ensure thal such
poterial concentrations ase ientified, using a comprehenshve
range of quantitalive tools and melrics. Cradit bmis relating to
counterparties and products are managed through counterparty
limits whach et the maximum credit exposunes the Group is will-
ing o assume lo specific counterparties over spacified pariods.
Country bmits are established 1o avoid any undue counrtry sk
cancentralion,

From an industry point of view, the combined credit expocuwe
of the Group & dversified, A large porlion of the tredi exposue
is with indeadual clierds, pardizularly through residential martgages
in Switzerand, or reiates to iransechions with financial institulons.
In bath cases, the customer base 15 extensne ard {he member and
vanety of transactions are broad. For transactions wilh financial
insdfulions. the busness i3 also geographically diverse, with aper-
ations focused n the Americas, Ewrope and, to a lesser exten,
Asia Pacific

FAlR VALUE MEASUREMENT

& significant partion of the Group's financial nstruments are car-
ried & < fair value. Deteroration of financial markets could signifi-
cantly impact the fair valua of thase financial instruments and tha
resuRts of operations.

The far valus of the majordy of the Group's financial instru-
ments is based on quoted prices in aclve markels or cbservable
inputs. These instruments include govermment and agancy securi-
ties, cerain © CP, most imestment grade corporate debt, certan
high yield debt securities, exchange-traded and certain © OTC
darivative nstruments and most isted equily securites.

In addition, the Group holds financial instruments for which no
prices are avaitable and which hase il o ne obsenable nputs.
For these instruments, the determination of faik value requres sub-
et assessment and judgment, depending on bquidity, pricing
assumptions, the current econamic and competitive envirenmant
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and the risks affecting the specific instrument. In such crcum-
stances, valualion is determined based on management's own
judgments about the assumptions thal marke! participants woukd
usa in prcing the assel or llabilty, including assumpliens aboul
risk. These instruments nchede cerlain OTC dervatives, includ-
ing equdy and credit derivatives, certain corparate equity-linked
sacurties, mortgage-retated and © CDO securties, privale squlty
investments, certan loans and credit products, incheding leveraged
fimance, certamn syndicated loans and certain high yield bonds, and
it finance insruments.

The fa value of financial assels and habilfies & impacted by
factors such as benchmark interest rates, prices of financial nstru-
ments issued by thind parles, commodity pricas, foreign exchangs
rates and ndex prices or rates. In addition, vakmtion adjusiments
are an inlegral part of the valuation process when market prices
are nod indicative of the credit qualty of a counterparty. and are
apphed 1o both OTC dervalives and debt instruments. The impact
of changes in a counterparty’s credit spreads (known as © credit
valuation adjustmienis) is considered when measuring the fair value
of assets, and the impact of changes in the Group's own credil
spreads (known as © debd vahstion adjestiments) is considered
whean measiring the fair valee of 85 labiiies. For OTC derwvatives,
the mpacl of changes in both the Group's and the counterpar-
ty's credit slanding is considered when measunng their fair value,
based an currerd & CDS prices. The adjustments also take inte:
account contractual fachors designed to reduce the Graup's credit
exposure 1o a counterparty, such as collaleral haid and master
& nedting agreements. For bybrid debt instruments with embedded
derivative features, the mmpact of changes in the Group's credit
danding & consdered when meaguring teir far value, based on
currant furded debt spreads

ASU 2011-04 permils a reporting entily bo measure the far
value of a group of thancal assets and firancal kabdibes on the
basis of the price that would be received 1o sall a net long position
o paid to transder a ned shod position for a parular rak exposure
in an ordery transachon between market participants at the mea=
surement date. Az such, the Group confinues 1o apply bid and offer
adjestments to nat portfolics of cash securtm s and/or dervative
instruments to adpst the value of the net posion from a mid-mar-
ket price to the appropriate bid or offer level that would be realzed
under normal market conditions for the net lang or nat shorl posi-
ticn for a specific market nisk. In addition, the Group reflacts the
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nef axposure fo credd risk for its derhative instruments whera the
Group has legally enforceable agreements with 13 counderpariies
that mitigate credit risk exposure in the event of default, Valuation
adpstments are recorded in a reasomable and consistent manner
that resulls in an alocaton to the releant dischosures n the noles
to the firancal statements as if the valuation adpsiment had been
aliocated to the indsidual und of accourd,

Fair value hisrarchy

The brvals of the fair value hisrarchy are defined as folows

= Level 1: Qusted prices (unadjusted) in aclive markets for
dentical assets or kabiltes that the Group has the abdity to
access. This level of the fair value hiesarchy provides the most
refable evidence of fair value and is used 1o measure fair valse
whenewer avalable,

= Level 2: Inputs othar than quoted prices included within level
1 that are chservable for the asset or kabilily, edther directly
of indirectly. Thesa inputs inchede: (1) quoled prices for similar
assets or labiities in active markets; (8) quoted prices for iden-
fical or similar assels or izbiltes in markets that are not actve,
that is, markets in which there are few transactwns for the
asget of ability, the prces are not curmend or price quatations
vary subslanimlly either over time or among markel makers, or
in which littk information is pubbicly available; (i) inputs other
fhan queded prices that ane obsenable for the assel or Eabiliy,
of (o) inputs that are darived principally from or corroborated by
observable marks data by correlation or othes means,

= Level 3: Inputs that are uncbservable for the assel or Eabil-
ity. These inpuls reflect the Group's own assumptions abou
the assurnplions that markel paricpants would use n prcing
the assat or labilly (mckiding assumplions aboud risk), These
inputs are developed based on the bes! niormaton avadable
in the crcumstances, which include the Group's cwn data,
The Group's own data used to develop unobservable inpuds is
adjusted if information indicabes that markel participants would
use ditferent assumplions.

The Group records net open posfions at bid prices f long, or a
ask pricas if shorl, unkess the Group is a market maker in such
posiions, inwhich case mid-pncing is utikzed, Fair value measure-
mants am not adjusted for transaction costs.
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Assets and lablliies measured at fair value on a recurring basis

eod of 2014
Ansets (CHF milliean)

.
Tolsl sssais ot Dair value

Asaaly ol lair valus axcluding nescontralling inberests
and sideds nold fik-weighted andes the Basel Iramewcdk

PRkt @ e S
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Assets and labilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)

end of 2014 Tetal

Liabilitses (CHF rdllom)

Totsl lishildias sl l3ir valao 81,381 TED, 487 24,583 (505017) 280,290
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Assets and liablliies measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continuad)

Ansets (CHF milliean)

Totsl sssels ot air value

Assals al lair value axchuding noscontrallmg inleresls
and sideld neld rik-oweighled undes tha Baiel Iramawsik
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Assets and labilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)

Liak it (CHF milliony

Transfers betwean level 1 and leval 2
All trangters bebween level 1 and level 2 are reported through the
fast day of the reporting period.

In 2014, transfers to level 1 ol of level @ were from trad-
ing assets ard trading liabilties. The transfers were primarily in
exchange ireded dervatives as they moved closer to matuity and
pricng mputs became mars obsenvable, Transfers oul of level 1 1o
leved 2 wera from trading assets and trading abities. The frans-
fars from irading assels wera primarily in debt and exchanged
traded derivalives as prcing inputs became less cbservable, The
transfers from trading Eabillies were primardy n deb! as pricing
inputs bacame less cheanable.

19 Bt =y
1,490 730,39 18,539 (S47.784) 371838

Transfers between level 1 and level 2

Azgets (CHF milion)

Tisding sidald 7408 1,424 8,028 T
Linkdlities (CHF millierd

Trading liabditiss 7 ey B3% 4 592 48
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Assets and liablliies measured at fair value on a recurring basis for lavel 2

o
Agsatd (CHF milligh)

1K i g
i wl L L

L fubr
Total susals al fair valus J50084 BBRS
Linbdities (CHF mruliom)

i i f

wh .

what by Fallad ks Ry
Talal liabdlition at Lair valus 18,530 5,100
et avwetn/fliabition) of fair vahsp 18545 1,785
¥ Eor ol raratery | . - 2 ik N
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Balancs

o end
of paricd

2002 Q S .8 R
281 3 1 1,390 24,581
1831 3 168 1348 14,851
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Assets and liablliies measured at fair value on a recurring basis for lavel 3 (continued)

Agsatd (CHF milligh)

1K i g
8 il i b .l

L fubr
Total susals al fair valus J5.680 TAZH
Linbdities (CHF mruliom)

i
w 4

w x .

whichy Fallsd gk £ o
Talal liabdlition at Lair valus 18,451 4,005
et avwetn/fliabition) of fair vahsp 17,238 TEFH

i 5 i
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Balance

Sarih 1 arkis u Mol e o end

Bt s L it . st A of puricd

(10,6800 #500 06,732y A28 782 (1 TTa (02520 J5,004
£50 7085 B0y 4T 1840 EL Fal] (57 18,509
(1,090 e 1454 185 (81} @ =1 (BT4) 18,543
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Galns and losses on assets and llabilfties measured at falr valua on a recurring basis using significant unobservable

inputs (level 3)

Gmines and bosses on assels and babdities (CHF milliony
b famy i hodesd i e et e

a8 o B oy e ik

i il

Tradeg 1t Tatal Tradiog Ea Tatal
reww  rewnn e e tesn s
1,656 1867 (46 53 @’
B3] 1 WLl 2B} 414 (2.408)

Both cbserable and unobserable nputs may be used to deter-
mine the far value of posflions thal have been classified within
lewal 3. As 3 resull, the unrealized gains and losses for assats and
liab#es within level 3 presented in the table above may include
changas in fair value that were attributable to both obsanabée and
unabservable inpuls.

The Group amploys varicus sconamac hadging techniques in
order to manage nsks, including risks in level 3 positions. Such
techniques may include the purchase or sale of firancial nstru-
ments that are classified in levels 1 and/or 2. The reakzed and
urvealzed gains and lesses for assels and kabilities in level 3 pre-
santed in the table above do nol refiect the related realized or
umrealzed gains and losses ansng on economic hedging instre-
ments classified in levels 1 and/for 2,

Transfars (m and out af lavel 3
Transfers mo level 3 agsels durng 2014 ware CHF 8,585 milion,
prirarily fram trading assets and loans held-for-sale. The transfers
were pamarnly in the corporate credt and allermatees imesiment
busanasses dus bo hmibed sbaervabilly of pricng dala and meduced
pricing information from extemal providers. Trarsfars out of level
2 assets durng 2014 were CHF 9.512 mdion, pronandy in irading
assats and loans held-forsale, The transfers out of level 3 assets
were primaridy in the corporale credi, aRernative imvestment,
emerging markets, secuteed products and prime services busi-
nesses due lo improved cbsenabilly of pricng data and increasad
avaiabilty of pricing information from axternal providers,
Transters inte leval 3 assels during 2013 were CHF 7,429
milian, primanly from foans hald-for-sale and trading assals. The
transfars wens primasty in the corporate crodit, private equily and
prime services busmassas due 1o imiled observabidy of pric-
ing data and reduced pricing svformation from exdernal providers,
Transters cud of level 3 assets during 2013 were CHF 9,781 mil-
lizn, primarily in trading assels, loans held-for-sale and koans. Tha
transfers out of fevel 3 assets were primardy in the Brazi frading,
private equity, corporate cred®, pnime sendces, rates and equity
derivalives businesses due to improved abservability of pricing
daty and increased avadabilty of preing mfermation from axtermal
providers.

Cualitative disclosures of valuation techniques

The Group has smplemenied and maintains a vakmtion control
framework, which is supported by policies and procedunes that
define the principles for contraling the valuation of the Group's
financial instrumens. Product Conrol and Risk Management cre-
abe, review and approve significant valuation palices and proca-
dures, The framework inchedes iheee main internal processes: (i)
valuation gevernance; (i) indepandent price verficaton and signifi-
cant uabservable inputs reviaw; and (i) a cross-funclional pricing
model review, Theough ihis framework, the Group determines fhe
reasanableness of the fair value of its financial instrements.

On a monthly basis, mestings are held for each business lne
with sanior representatiees of the From Office and Product Con-
trel o discuss independent price vernification resulls, valuation
adjustments, and other significant valuation imsues. On a guarterly
bagas, a review of significart changes in the fair value of financial
insirumants is undertaken by Product Contral and conclusions ame
reached regarding the reasonableress of those changes. Addi-
tomally, on a quartedy bass, meslngs are held o each business
line with senior representatives of the Front Office, Product Con-
fral, Risk Management, and Financzl Accounting te dscuss inde-
pendent price verification results, valuation issues, busness and
market updates, as well as a review of signdficant changes in fair
value from the pricr quarler, significant unobsenvable npuls and
prices used in valuation techniques, and valuation adpstmants.

The results of thass meetings anes aggregated for presentation
to the Vahmton and Risk Management Commitbes (VARMC) and
tha Audt Commiiea, The VARMC, which is comprnisad of Execu-
tve Board members and the heads of the business and contral
functions, meels fo review and ratify valuation review conclusions,
and to resclve signiicant vahsation isswes for the Group, Cversight
of the valuation contrel framework is through specific and regu-
lar reporting on valuation directly 1o the Growp's Execulive Board
{hraugh the VARMC.

Oina of the key components of the gowernance process & the
segragation of duties between the Frant Office and Preduct Con-
frol. The Front Office = responsible for measunng inventory at
fair value on a daily basis, while Product Conlrol is responsible for
indeperdently reviewng and vabdating these vahuations an a pen-
ods basis, The Front Office values the imentory usmng, whengver
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possible, ebservable market data which may include executed
transactions, dealer quotes, or broker quotes for the same or simi-
far instruments. Product Control validates this ilventory using inde-
pendently sourced data that also includes executed transaciions,
dealer quotes, and broker quotes,

Produci Contrel utilizes independent pricing senice data as
part of their review process, Independent pricing senvice data
analyzed to ensure that it is representative of fair value includ-
ing confinmeng that the data cemespends to axacuted transactions
or earcutabde broker quotes, revew and assessment of contnbu-
tors 1o ensure thay ane actie markel pascipants, review of sba-
tistical data and ublizabion of pricing chalenges. The analysis also
inchude s understanding the sources of the pricing service data and
ary madels of assumptions used n determining the resuts. The
purpese of the review is to judge the qualty and meliabilly of the
dala for far value measurement purposes and its appropriate level
of usage within the Preduct Contrel independent valuation review

For certain firancial mstruments the fair value is estimated in
full or in part using valuation techmiques basad on assumplions
that are not supported by market obsanable pnces, rales, or other
inputs. In additicn, there may be uncertainly about a valuation,
which resulls from (he cholce of valualion lechnigue or model
uzad, the assumplions embedded in those madels, the extent to
whaech imputs are not market obsanable. ar as a consequence of
ather efements affecting the valusation technique of modal, Model
calbration is performed when significant new market information
becomes avalable or a1 a minimum en a quarterly basis as part of
the business review of significant uncbservable inputs for level 3
instruments. For models that have been deemed to be significant
to the cverall fair value of the firanceal instrumerd, meodel validation
is performaed as parl of the penadic review of the ralated model,

The Group performs a sensidy analyss of its significant
level 3 fnancial netruments. This sensindy analyas edimates a
fair value range by changing the related significart unobsanable
inpuds valus, This sensiivily analysis 15 an mbernal mechanism to
manitor the impact of reasonable aRernative inputs or prices for
leved 3 financial instruments. Where a modal-basad technique is
used fo determine the fair value of the level 3 financial insirument,
an alernative input value is utilized fo derive an estimated far value
range. Whare a price-basad lachnigue is used fo delermine the
fair value of the leved 3 financial nstruments, Front Office profes-
saonal judgment s used 1o estimals a far value range.

The follewing mfermation an the valuaton bechnagques and sig-
nificard unobserabls nputs of the vanous financial nstruments,
and the sensiiaty of fair valie measurements fo changes in signi-
icant unsbsenable inputs, shoukd be read in conunclion with the
fables “Cuantiative imformation about level 3 assels at fair value”
ard *Quaniitatie information about level 3 Eabdities at fair value’,

Securities purchased under resale agreements and securities
sold under © repurchase agreements ane measured at fair value
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using discounted cash flow analysis. Future cash flows are dis-
counted using observabla market infarest rale repurchasa/resale
curves for the apphcable matunty and underiying collateral of the
instruments. As such, the significant majarity of both secwities
purchased under resale agreements and sacurities sold under
repurchase agreements are included in level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy, Structured resale and repurchass agreements include
embedded derivatives, which are measured using the same tech-
nigues as described balow for sland-alone dervative contrasts
held for trading purposes or used in hedge accaunting retation-
ships. If the value of the embedded derivative o delerminad using
significant unobsenable inputs, those structured resale and repu-
chase agreements are classfied within lewel 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. Significant unobservable input is funding spread,

Secunties purchased under resale agreements are usually
fully collateralzed or over collateralized by gowernment securites,
maney markel instrumerts, comporale bends, or other debt instru-
mants. In the event of courderparty default, the colateral service
agreament provides the Group with the right fo kquidate the col-
Bleral held.

Govermnment debl securiies typically have quoled prces in active
markets and are calegorzed as level 1 mstruments, For debd
sacurties for which marked prices are not avadable, valuaions are
based on yields reflecting cradit rating, historical performance,
delinguancies, loss severity, the maturity of the sacurfly, recent
transactions i the marnkel or other modeling techniques, which
mary irveba judgment, Those secunties whese the price or model
inputs are obhservable in the market are categorized as beval 2
instruments, whie thoge secunties where prices are not obsery-
able and sigribeamt model mpuls are unsbsenable are categarized
as level 3 of the fair value hierarchy,

Corporate bonds are priced to reflect current market levels
aither through recent market transaclions or broker or dealer
quotes. Where a market price for the particuar securty is nol
directly svaikable, valuaticns are oblained based on yiekls reflected
by other instrurments in the specific or similar enifly’s capdal struc-
tune and aduisting for differences in semorty and maturly, bench-
markmg o a comparatle securly where marked data is avaiabde
(taking info consideration differences in credit, ligudity and matu-
rty), or through the application of cash flow modeling technques
utilizing obsarabls inpuls, such as currant intarest rate curves
and cbsenable CDS spreads. Significant unobsarvable inputs may
inciude price, buyback probability, correlation and credit spread.
For securities using market comparable prica, the diffarentation
between level 2 and level 3 is based upon the refative signficance
of any yiel adjustmants as well as the accuracy of tha comparison
characteristics (i.e,, the observable comparable security may be in
the same coundry but a diiferent mdustry and may have a diffes-
ent sanicrty level - the lower the comparabilty the more Baly the
sacinty wil be level 3),
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Fair values of & RMBS, o CMBS arnd CDO may be available
through quoted prices, which are oflen basad on the prices at
which sim#arly struclured and collateralzed securifies trade
between dealers and 1o and from customers. Fair valees of RMBS,
CMBS and CDO for which there are signficard unabservable
inputs are valued using capalzation rate and discourt rate, Price
may nat be obsenable for fair value measurement purposes for
mary reasong, such as the length of time since the kast axecuted
{ransaction for the related secunty, use of a price from 2 simitar
instrurment, o usa of a price fram an indicative quate. Fair values
determined by market comparable price may nchide discounted
cash fiow models using the inputs prepayment rate, defaull rate,
loss severity and docount rate. Prces from similar observable
instrements are used to cakulate implied inpuls which are then
used to value unobservable instruments using discounted cash
flewr. The discounted cash flow price is then compared 1o the
unabservable prices and assessed for masonableness.

For most structured debt securilies, determination of fair vales
requires subjective assessmant depanding on iquidity, ownershep
concentrafion, and the curent sconomsc and competithe environ-
ment, Valuation |5 defermined based on the Front Office’s ewn
assumptians abaut hw market participants would price the assed.
Collateralized bond and loan obligalions are split info various stnc-
tured tranches and each tranche i3 valued based upan its indi-
viduzal rating and the underlying collateral supporting the struciure,
Valuation models ane used o value both cash-and synthetic CDOs.

The majpnty of the Group's positions in equity securlses ane traded
on publiz stack exchanges for which quated prices are readily and
reguiarly aaaitable and are therefore categorzed as kvel 1 instru-
ments, Level 2 and level 3 equities include fund-linked products,
comerlible bonds or equily securities with restriclions that are
et traded in active markets, Significant uncbservable mpuls may
include marked comparable price, sarnings before inferest, taxes,
depreciabion and amortization (EBITDAY mulliple, discount rate and
capilalzation rate.

> Dernvatives held for trading punposes or usad in hedge account-
ing relationships include beth OTC and exchange-traded dernva-
tves. The far values of exchange-traded dervatives measured
using chsarvable axchange pricas are includad inlevel 1 of the fair
value hierarchy. For exchange-traded derivatees where the vol-
ume of trading is low, the chservable axchange prices may not be
consadered execulable at the reporling date. These derivalives ara
vafued in the same manner as similar obserable OTC dervalives
and are included in level 2 of the fair value heararchy. If the simiar
OTC derivative used for valuing the exchange-traded derhaiive is
et observable, than the exchange-traded darnative i inchuded =
lewel 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
The fair values of OTC dervainves are determined on the
basis of either industry standard models or mternally develeped
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proprisfary models. Both model types use vanous cbeervable and
unabservable mpuls m onded to determing fair value. The mpuls
include those characteristics of the dervative thal have a bear-
ing on the economics of the instrument. The delermination of
the fair valua of many derivalires imodies only a limiled degree
of subjectivily because the required inputs are obsenvable in the
marketplace, whis mone complax dermatres may use unobsans-
abbe inputs that rely on specific proprietary modeling assumpticns.
Whare sbsenabla inpuls (prices from exchanges, dealers, brokers
of marke! consensus dala providers) are ned available, attempts
are made to infer valees from obsenable preces through madal
calibration (spot and ferward rates, mean reversion, berchmark
inderast rale curves and volatiity inputs for commonly traded oplion
products). For mputs that cannol be derved from other sources,
estimales from historical data may be made. OTC derivalives
where the majority of the value is derved from market cbservable
inputs are categorized as level 2 instruments, while those where
tha majorty of the value & derved from unobsanable inputs are
categoreed as beval 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Cur valuation of derataes includes an adjustmant for the cost
of funding uncollateraleed OTC darivalves.

OTC vanilla inerast rate preducts, such as interest rate seaps,
swaplions, and caps and floors are valued by discounting the
anticipaied future cash flows. The future cash flows and discount-
ing are derved from marke! standard yield curves and industry
standard wolalilly inpufts. Where applicable, exchange-traded
prices are akss used to valee exchange-iraded fulwes and aptions
and can be used in yield curve construction. For more complex
products, inputs inclde, but are not lmited to cormelation, volatiity
shew, prepayment rate, credit spread, basis spread, mean rever-
sicn and gap nsk.

Foreign exchange dervatives mclude vanilla preducts such as
spot, forward and option contracts whare the anticipated dis-
courted fulure cash flows are determined from foreign exchange
forward curves and industry standand optionaity madeling tech-
roquas. Whene applicabls, exchange-iraded prices are alss usad
for futures and option prices. For more complex products mputs
includa, but are not limited to prepayment mite and comelation.

Equity dervatives include vanilla options and swaps in addition to
differend types of exclic aptions. Inpuls for equily dervalives can
include corretation, wolatility, skaw and buyback probabilly.

Generally, the inferrelationship between the volatity and cor-
relation is postively comalated.

Credit dernvatives inchude index and singhe name CDOS in addition
ta more complex structured credit praducts, Vanida produsts ame
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valued using indusiry standard models and inputs thal are gener-
ally market cbsarvable mncluding credd spread and recovery rale.

Complex structured credil dervatives are valued using propri-
atary models requinng unabsenvable inpuls such as recovery rate,
credd spread, comelation and funding spread. These inputs are
generalfy impied from avalable marked obsznable data, Fair val-
ves delermined by prce may nchude decounted cash flow models
using fhe inputs prepayment rale, default rate, loss severity and
disceunt rate

Othier trading assets prmanty include RMES kans and e selftle-
ment and pramaum finance mstruments. Life settlement and pre-
meurn finance instrament s are valued using propretary models with
saveral inputs. The significant unchserable inpats of the fair value
for life setilement and premium finance instrumants is the estimate
of market implied e expectancy, while for RMBS lans it & mar-
ket caomparable price.

For §fe settlerment and premium finance instruments, indhadual
e expactancy rates are fypicaly cblained by multiphing a base
meariality curve for the general insured population provided by a
professional actuanial organization tegether with an irdiidual-spe-
cific mutiphar. Individual-specific multiphers are determined based
on data from third-party life expectancy data providers, which
examine the insured indiidual's medical conditions, family history
and other factors to arrive al a ife expectancy estimale.

Far RMBS loans, the use of market comparable price var-
s depending upen each specific loan. For some loans, similar
to unchsenvable RMBS securities, prices from simitar obsansable
instruments ane used 1o cakoulate impbed mpuls which are then
used fo value uncbsanable instruments using discounied cash
flew. The discourded cash flow price is then compared 1o the
unobservable prices and assessed for reasonableness, For olber
RMBS loans, the loans are categorized by specific characteristics,
such a3 loan-to-value ralie. average account balance, boan fype
(singte or multi-family), ban, seasoning, coupon, FICO score. local-
ity, delnguancy status, cash flow velocity, roll rales, loan purposa,
occupancy, senncers advance agheement type, moedification sta-
tus, Federal Housing Administration insurance, properdy value and
documanlation quably, Leans wilth unabssrvable prces are pud inlo
consistant buckels which ara then compared to market obsanable
comparable prices in erder to assess the reasonableness of those
uncbservable prices

iy

Other equily imesimants principally includes equily iwasiments
in ihe form of a) deect imvestiments in thied-pary hedge funds,
privale equity funds and funds of funds, b) equity-method invest-
memis where the Group has the abilly fo significartly influence
the operating and fnancerl policies of the rmestee, and c) dinsct
imvestments in non-markelable equily securilies,

Daget irvestments @ third-party hedge funds, praate aquly
funds and funds of funds ane measwred at fair value based on
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thei publishad MAVs. Most of these imestments are classified as
lerved 3 of the fairvaluee heranchy, as there are restrictions empased
upon the redemption of the funds at their MAY in the near tesm.
In some cases, NV may be adjusted where there is sufficient
evidance that the MAY published by the mestment manager is nol
current with obsarved market movernents, @ is probable that thesa
invesiments wil be sold for an amount other than MAY or there
exist ofher circumstances that would require an adjusiment to the
publshed My, Axhough rarely adjusted, sgnficant judgment s
imvohved in making any adjustments to the published MAVS.

Crrect imestments in non-marketable squity secunties consst
of both real estate rvestiments and non-real estale imesiments,
Equity-method imestments and direct investments in non-mar-
ketable equdy securities are initially measured af their fransac-
tien price, as this is the besl estimate of fair value, Thereafier,
thase mwestmants are indeidually measwred al fair value based
upen a number of facters that inchude ary recent rounds of firanc-
ing imoleng third-party imeslors, comparable company transac-
tiens, multiphe analyses of cash flows or book values, or discounted
cash flow analyses. Unobsarvable input may mclude contingent
probabilfy. The availabily of infermation used in these model-
ng lechniques is often limded and imabies significand judgmeant
n evaluating thess different factors over time. As a resul, thess
irvesiments are included in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Life finance nstruments include SPIA and olber premium finance
mstruments. Life finance insirements are valued in a similar man-
nier as describad for e setilement and premium finance instru-
mants under the othes trading assets section above,

The Growp's kean portfalic which is meased al far value prmandy
consasts of commerncial and indusirial loans and loans to financial
instAutions, Withn these categories, bans measured at fax value
nclude commercial bans, real estate lans, corporale bans. lever-
age finance loans and emenging market loans. Fas value is based
on racend trangactions and quoted prces, whene avalable. Wherne
recent {ransactions and quoted prices am nol available, fair value
riary ba determined by relalne valse benchmarking which ncludes
pricing based upon ancther postion in the same capital struciure,
ather comparable loan issues, gananc industry credil spreads,
mpliesd credit spreads derved from CDS for the specific bomower,
and anterprisa vakmtions) or calculaied based on the et price of
the colfaleral, based on current marke! conditions,

Both the funded and unfunded portion of revalving credi ines
on ihe corporate kending portfolic ‘are valued using a CDS pric-
ing moedel, which requires estimales of signficant inputs includ-
Ing credit spreads, recovery rates, credit comsmrsion factors, and
wexghted average life of the ban, Significant uncbsenvable inputs
rrary mchede cradi spread, recovery rale and poce.

The Group's other assets and kabdities include mortgage loans
held in comunction with secuntization actiities and assels and
Eabilitses of VIEs ard mortgage securizatons that do not meet the
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criteria for sale treatment under US GAAP. The fair value of mort-
gage lans hald in conpmchion with securlization actiities is detar-
mined on a wholke-lan basis and is consistent with the vahmation
of RMBS boans discussed m "Chher frading assets” above. Whole-
lcan valualions are calcutaled basad on the exit price reflecting tha
curreni market conddions. The fair value of assets and kabilties
of VIEs and mortgage securdizations that do not meet the crtena
for sale treafment under LIS GAAP are determined based on the
guated prices for securitced bonds, where available, or on cash
fiow analyses for secuntived bonds, when quited prices ame nolt
avaltable.

Accrizl based Private Barking & Wealth Maragement loans,
for which an estimated far value is disclosed n the lable *Carry-
ing value and fair value of financial nstruments not carried at fair
value” below, include consumer loans relating to morigages, boans
collaleralzed by sacurities or consumer finance, as well as compoe-
rate and instiutional leans relaling to real estale, commercial and
indusinal lcans, and loans to financial institutions, governments
and public instdutions. Fair vales for these koans are determinad
by using a discourded cash flow madel. Future cash flows are dis-
counted using nsk-adjusted discouni rates which are derived from
obsenable marke? inferest rates for the applicable maburity and
currency and from counterparty-related credit spreads.

Accrual based deposits with a slated malurily, for which an esti-
mated fair value = disclosad in the table “Carrying value and fair
value of financal instruments not camed at far value® balow, ane
generally fair valued by using a discounted cash flow model incor-
perating the Group's credd spreads. The estmated fair walue of
accrual accounted deposits withaut a stated matunty appresdimates
the canrying amoun; however, the value does et include an esti-
mate of the value attnbuled to the lag-term relationships with
its customers thal in the aggregate adds significart vahes to the
Group's stable deposit base.

The Group's shord-term borrewings and long-term debl include
structured notes (hybrid firancial mstruments that ame both bifur-
catable and non-bdurcatable) and vanilla debt, The fair value of
struciured notes is based on quated prices, whare available. When
quated pricas are nol available, fak value is defarmined by wsing
a discounted cash flow model mcorporating the Group's credit
spreads, the value of derivatves embeddad in tha debt and the
residual term of the issuance based on call eplions. Dervalives
struciured info the issued debt are valued consistently with the
Group's stand-alone darnalive confracts held for irading purposes
of used in hedge accounting relabionships as discussad above. The
fair vahee of structured debd is heavily influanced by the combinad
call aplions and performance of the underlying demative retums.
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Significant unobsenable inputs for lang-term debt include buyback
probabdity, gap risk, comatalion, volillly, credi dpread and price,

Generally, the intermelationships between volatilty, correlation,
gap risk and credit spread inpuls are positiely correlated.

These labdifies represent the financing of assels thal did not
achwave sabs accounting treatmeant under LIS GAAP Failed sales
ary valued n 3 mannes consistent with the related undedying
financial instruments,

Cerlain short-term financal instruments are not carried 2 fair
value on the balance sheet, bul a fair value has been disclosed
in the table “Carrying value and fair valee of financial mstruments
ot cannied at far value® below. These instruments inchade: cash
and duwe from banks, cash collateral recenables and payablas
and other recetvables and payables ansing in the cerdinary course
of business. For these financial instrumants, the carrying value
approxdmates the fair value due to the relalively shorl period of
firne batwizen their arigination ard expecied realization, as well as
e mirimal credd risk inherent in these instrumants.

grificant unebaarvable Inputs
For level 3 assets with a significant unobsanvable input of buyback
probabilty, EBITDA multiple, market mplied fife expectancy (far
life firance instruments), corredation, price, volatidy, volatiity slew,
funding spread and contingend probabildy, in genesal, an increase
inthe significant unchsenabla mput weuld increase the fair vakes.
For level 3 assets with a signficant unobserable inpul of market
impled |ife expeclancy (for e selllement and premium finance
instrurnents), capialization rate, discount rate, prepayment rate,
recovery rale, mean reversion and credd spread, in general, an
increase m the significant unobservable nput would decrease the
Fair wvalue,

For level 3 liabiities, in general an increase in the related sig-
nificant snabsenable inputs would have the iverse impact on fair
valys, An increase in the sgnificant unebsenable inpu gap mk
woukd mcrease the fair valee. An mcrease in the significant unob-
sarvable inpuls basis spread and skew would decrease the fair
valua

Excapt as nated abowve, there are no matenal interrelalionships
betwean tha signficanl unobservable inputs for the financial
instrumerts. As the signsficant unobservable inpuls move inde-
pendenily, genarally an ncrease or decreass in ona significant
unsbsenvable input will have no impact on the slher significant
unabsarvable inpds,
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Consolidated financial stalements — Credit Suisse Group aar

Cuantitative disclosures of valuation techniquaes

The following tables provide the representalee range of minmum
and maxmum values and the assacialed weighted averages of
each signdficant unobservable mput for level 3 assets and llabiltes
by the refaled valuation technique most significant 1o the related
firanc tal nsfrument,

Quantitative information abaut level 3 assets at fair value

#nd o 3914
CHF millon, excopt whers indec ated

¢remeng Iargaste - I s ST T Furvdrng el o
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Quantitative infermation about level 3 assats at falr value (continued)

3zs
eod of 2014
CHF raillien, ens ept wiksers imdic ated
Wl
= wahch
i
it
1
i
Taotal lavel T sasels at fair valus
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Cuantitative information about level 3 assats at fair value (continued)

CHF mulian, qicept whese indsz ated

621/690



340

Quantitative infermation about level 3 assats at falr value (continued)

CHF raillien, ens ept wiksers imdic ated

Toksl lawal T sisals at Mair valus

o
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Cuantitative information about level 3 liabilites at fair value

end of 2014 Fai vt o
CHF malian, gicept whese indsz ated

Tolal lewald F Rakililied af Tair valus
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Quantitative information about level 3 llabikities at fair value

CHF raillien, ens ept wiksers imdic ated

The following sections provide further mfcemation aboul the
ranges of significant unobsardable inputs ncluded in the lables
above, The level of aggregation and diversity within the firancial
instrumants disclosed in the fables above result in certain ranges
of significant inputs being wide and unevenly distnbuted across
asgat and habilly categanes.
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{continued)

b e ~ caradabar

The discaunt rale is the rale of ineresl wed lo calculale the pres-
enf value of the expected cash flows of a financial mstrument.
Thare are mulliple factors that vall impact the discount mte for amy
gien financial instrument includang the coupon on the instrumen,
fhe term and the urderlying risk of the axpacted cash flows, Two
instruments of similar term and expecied cash flows may hawe
significantly differerd dweaurd rates because the coupons on the
ingtruments ane defferent
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For fnancial instruments backed by resdential real estate or other
assets, diversity in the portfolo is reflected in a wide range for lass
severily due fo varying bevels of default, The lower end of the rangs
represents high performing or government guaranteed collaterad
with a low © probabidity of defaull or guaranteed timely payment
of prncipal and interest, whils the higher end of the range relates
coliataral with a greater risk of defaull.

Far financial instruments whera cradit spread = the significant
unobservable input, the wide range represants postions with
varying levak of risk, The lower end of the cred® spread range
typically represents shorter-dated mstruments and/or those with
better percaived credit isk. The higher end of the mnge typically
compaises longar-dated financial nstruments o those referencing
nan-perfoming, distressed or mpaied referance credits, Similarly,
the spread betwean the reference credd and an index can vary
sgnificantly basad on the risk of the instrument. The spread will ba
positive for nstrumants that have a higher nek of dafaull than the
index (which is based on a weighted average of its compenants)
and magative for instruments thal have a lower risk of default than
the index.

Simitarly, recovery rales can vary significantly depending upon
the specific assels and terms of each fransaction. Transactons
with higher senfority cr more vahrable collaleral wil have higher
racovery rates, while those transactions which are more subordi-
nated of with less valuable collateral will have lower recawery rates.

There ars many differant typas of corelztion inputs, including
credil comelation, cross-assel correlation (such as equily-inee-
e31 rale corelation), and same-assel comelation (such as inled-
est rate-interes! rate correlation). Comelation inputs are genarally
used to vakee hybrid and exolic instruments. Generally, same-assel
correlation inguds hawe a narrower range than cross-assat cor-
refation inputs, However, due to the complex and unique nature
of these instrumants, the ranges for corretation inpuds can vary
widaly across porfolios.

Prapayment rates may vary from collateral pool to collateral poal,
ard ang droeen by a vanety of coliateral-specihic faclors, including
the type and location of the underlying borrower, the remaining
tenas of the obligation and the level and type (2.g.. fixed or floating)
of interast rale baing paid by the bomowear,
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‘iolatiity and skew are impacied by the underbing nsk, term and
shrike price of the dernative. In the case of interest mie derivatives,
wolatiy rales may vary sgnificantly between different underying
currencias and expiration dates on the options, Similarly, equity
derhvatives’ volatiity may vary greatly depending upon the underly-
ing referance rame on the dermatve,

Market implied Ife expectancy i the primary significant unobsery-
able input en such products as be sebflement, pramium finance
and SPlA, and represents the estimaled mortaldy rate for the
underlying insurad for each contract. Thes eslimate may vary
depending upan mullipe factors including the age and specific
health characteristics of the insured,

Fair value measurements of investments in certain entities
that calculate NAV por share

rvestments in funds held in trading assets and labilties prmar-
iy mclude postions hald in equity funds of funds as an sconomic
hedge for structwed notes and dervatives issued to clients thal
reference the same underlying ek and Bquiddy ferms of tha fund,
A majoety of thasa funds have Emitalions imposed an the amouni
of withdrawals from the fund during the redemption peried due to
iligusdity of the imestmants. In other instances, the withdrawal
amouris may vary depending on the redemption notice pericd and
are usually rger for {he longer redemplion nolce penads. In addi-
tion, penalies may apply # redemption is within a cerain time
pericd from indial mestmeant,

Irvestment in funds held in other ivestments principally
imeches prvate sacunties and, 1o a lessar extent, publicly traded
secunties and fund of funds, Several of thase mvesiments have
redemplion resticlions subject o the dscration of the Board
of Directors of the fund and/or redemptlion is permitted withoul
restriction, but i imited to a cerlain percentage of tolal assels or
ordy after a ceram date.

Furthermare, for those imestments held in both trading assets
and ofher imvestments that are nonredeemable, the underlying
assats of such funds are expecied 1o be kquidated over the e of
the furd, which are generally up to 10 years.

The folowing table pedans lo mvestments in cedain enlflies
that cakulate NAV par share or its eguialant, primarily private
equty and hedge furds, These swestments do not have a readiy
delerminable far value and are measured at far valee usng NAV
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Fair value, unfunded commitments and tarm of redemption conditions
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Nonrecurring fair value changes

MNenrecurring fair value changes
Certain assels and Eabiltes are measured al fair value on a non-

recurring basis: that is, they are nob measueed af fair value on an §e 04
CRgong bass bot are S-l.lb'p!ll:l 1o fair value ad;udrnunls N cefan  Assels held-lor-sale recorded at feir value

circumstances, for example, when thers is evidence of impajr-  ©7 8 Merecurring basis (CHF Bilken)

ment, The Growp typically uses nonfinancial 2ssels MEISUIEE 3t v eonesay ey o4 # tair value T .
fair value on a recurring of nonrecuming basis in @ manner that 2 which Ll & 3 o
reflacts their highest and bast usa. ol wehia-h Torad 3 : 3
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FAIR VALUE QPTION
The Group has availed dself of the simplification = accountng
offered under the fair value oplion, prmardy in Imestment Bank-
ing and Private Banking & Wealth Maragement's Assel Manage-
ment business. This has bean accomplished ganeraly by alecting
the fair value option, both at mitial adoption and for subsequent
transactions, on tems impacted by the hedge accourting require-
ments of LIS GAAP: That i, for inslruments for which thare was
an mability to ackseve hadge sccountng and for which the Group
sconamzaly hedged, the Group has elected the fair value option.
Similazly, where the Group manages an actity on 2 O fair value
bass but previcusly has besn urable te achoeve fair value accoum-
g, the Group has dilized the fair valee oplion to align ds nsk
management reporting to B3 financial accounting.

The Group ebecied fair value for certain of its financial state-
ment captions as follows:

Central bank funds sold, securities purchased under resale
agraemeants and securities borrowing transactions

The Group has elected 1o account for structured resals agree-
ments and mast matched book resakle agreements al far value.
These activites are managed an a fax valke basis; thus, fair value
accounling is deemed mare approprate for mporling peposes.
The Group did not elect the fair value option for fem financing
rezale agreements as thesa agmemants are generally owernighl
agreaments which approimate fair value, but which are nof man-
aged on a fair value basis.

Other invastimants

The Group has elecled fo account for certain equity methed
imneestments 2 fair value, These activities are managed on a far
value basis; thus, fair value accounting i deemed maorne appropri-
ate for reporling purposes, Cerain similas instruments, such as
those relafing to equly method invesiments i strategic relation-
ships, for example, the Group's ownership inferest in cerfan clear-
ance organzations, which were eligibhe for the fair value oplion,
were not elecled due fo fhe strategic relationship.

Loans

The Group has elected 1o account for substantially all Imestment
Banking commercial loans and Ioan comm#ments and certain
Invastment Banking emarging markel loans at fair valua. Thase
acinvities are managed on a fair value basis and fair valus account-
ing was deamed more appropriate for reporting parposas. Addi-
tionally, recogndtion om a fair value basis eiminales the mismalch
that existed due lo the econcmic hedging the Group emplays to
manage thase koans. Cartain similar leans, such as projact finance,
lease finance, cash collateralzed and some brdge loans, which
were eligble for the fair value option, were not slacted dus to the
kack of cumently available infrastructuene to fair value such loans
and Aor the mabdily 1o econsmcally hedge such bans. Addimnaly,
the Group elected not to account for bans granted by its Private
Banking & Wealth Manageman! segment af fair value, such as
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domestic consumer fending, mortgages and corporate loans, as
thesa loans are not managed on a fair value basis,

Other assets

The Group elected the fair value oplion for loans heldd-for-zake, dus
to the shorl period over which such loans ame beld and the infan-
tion to sall such loans in the near term. Crlher assets also include
assets of VIEs and morigage securdizations which do mot meet the
eriferia for sale treatment under US GAAR The Group did elect
the fair vakue option for these types of transactons.

Due to banks
The Group alected the fair value option for certam teme deposis
associated wih A3 emerging markets activities,

Customer deposits

The Growp's customer deposits include fund-Inked deposds, The
Group elecled the far value option for these fund-linked depos-
its. Fund-Sinked products are managed on a far vahee basis and
fair value accounting was desamed mone approprata for reporting
PUTpESes.

Cantral bank funds purchased, securities sold under
repurchas e agreaments and securities lending transactions
The Group has elected to account for structured © repurchase
agreaments ard most matched book repurchase agreements al
fair value. These aclivities are managed on a fair valse basis and
fair value accounting was deemed more approprate for reporling
purpesas. The Group did not elect the fair value aption for firm
firancing repurshase agreements a5 these agreements are genes-
ally cvermight agreamants which approximate fair valsa, bt which
are not managed on a fair vakie basis.

Short-term borrowings

The Group's short-term borrewings mclude hybrid debl instru-
rants with embedded derative features. Some of these embed-
ded dervative features create briurcatable debt instrements, The
Group slected the fair value oplion for some of thesa instruments
as of January 1, 2006, in accordance with the provisions of LS
GAAR, New bifurcatable debl mstruments which were srfered
irdo in 2006 are carried al fair value. Some hybod debt instru-
mants do not result n bifurcatable debt instruments, US GAAP
permits the Group to elect fair vahes accounting for nencbifurcat-
abla hybnd debl mstrumants. With the exception of certain bifu-
catable hybrd debt inslruments which the Group did not elect to
account for at fair value, the Group has elecled to accourt for all
ybrid dabt instrumenis hald as of January 1, 2007, and hybrid
debd insbruments originated after January 1, 2007, at far value.
Theasa acliities are managed on a fair value basis and fair value
accoamting was deemed appropnate for reporting purposes. There
are two main populations of simitar instruments for which fas
value accounting was not elecied. The first relates to the lend-
g busness transacted by the Groups Private Banking & Wealh
Management segmenl, whah includes stmectured deposits and
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simiar imvestment products. These are managed on a bifurcaled ar
aconal basis and faw value accounfing was not consdered appre-
priate. The second is where the insiruments wene or will be maiur-
ing in the mear term and Their fair value will be realzed ab that tme.

Long-term dabt

The Group's leng-ferm debt includes hybeid debt instruments with
embedded dervative fealuwes as described above in Short-ferm
bomawings, The Group's lang-term debl alss mchudes dabl eu-
ances managed by s Treasury depariment that de not cortamn
defvatie festures (vanilla dabl). The Group actvely managas fhe
interast rate risk on these instruments with dervatives, In par-
ticular, fied-rate debt is hedged with recene-fixed, pay-floating
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inferest rate swaps, The Group elecied 1o far value this fived-rate
debt upon implementation of the fair value option on January 1,
2007, with changes in far valee recognized as a componant of
frading revenues. The Group did not elect 1o apply the fak vale
option to fised-rate debi isswed by the Group since Jamuary 1,
2008, and instead appies hedge accounting per the guidance of
LIS GAAP,

Other liabilities

Cther labilties nclude labides of VIEs and morgage securdiza-
tions which do nat meet the crterta for sabs reaiment under US
GAAR, The Group did elect the fair value optian for these types of
transactions,

Difference between the aggregate fair value and the aggregate unpaid principal balances of loans and financial

instruments

Laans (CHF millien)
Firsneis matrumand {CHF milion

et -beanng depoiity with bank

004
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Gains and losses on financial instrurments

Fimancial instrurrsents 4GHF million)

Interesl ncome and expense are calculaled based on contractual
rales specified in the transactions. Interest income and expense
are recorded inthe consoldated statements of operations depend-
ing on the nalure of the instrument and related market comen-
tiom. When inderast is included a3 a component of the change
in the instrument's far value, it & nckded in trading revenues.
COtherwiza, it & ncleded n interest and deidand income ar interest
axpense, Dindend income i recognived separately from trading
revenuas

The impacts of credd risk on debt securdlies held as assets pre-
sented in the table above have been calculated as the companent
of 1he total change in fair value, excluding the mpact of changes
in basa or risk-free inferest rates. The impacts of changes in own
credi risk on habilties pressrad in the tabls above have been cal-
culated as the differance between the fair values of thosa instru-
mants as of the reporfing dala and the theoretical far values of
thase nstrumants calculaled by wang the yield curwe prevaiing al
the and of the reporing peniad. adjusted up or down for changas
in the Group's own credit spreads from the transftion date fo the
reparling dabe.
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FINAMCIAL INSTRUMENTS NOT CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE  instrumants such as lease transactions, real estale, premises and
The felewing lable provides the camying value and © fair value of  equipment, equity method invesimends and pension and benefit
financial nstruments whach are not camied at fair valee in the con-  abigations.

soldated balance sheet, The disclosure exchides all non-firancial

Carrying value and fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value

2014 (CHF millien)
Financial sssets
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Assets pledged

The Group pledges assets manly for repurchase agreements and
other securities financing. Certain pledged assals may be encum-
bared, meaning they have the rght 1o be sold or repledged, The
encumbered assels are pmﬂﬂ'ﬂ'ﬂtﬂb‘ dusclosed on the consoa-
daled balance shest.

Assets pledged

o ol 014
ﬁl:c_ll:-slld'i!d PTHF rallien)

Total murety pladged or anvgred as collifer

Collateral

The Group recenes cash and securiees i conneclon with resale
agreements, securities borrowing and loans, derivative transac-
tions and margined broker leans. A substantial portion of the col-
Bleral ard securties receved by the Growp was sold or repledged
in connaction with repurchase agreemants, securities sald not yed
purchased, securfies borrgwings and loans, pledges to clearng
organizalions, segragalion requirements under Securilies ke s and
regulations, dervatve bransactions and bark lcans.,

Collateral
i 2014
Collateral (CHF miliond
Falr vahs of colatanl
Other information
5 ol 2014

Crther infarmation {CHF miliond
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36 Capital adequacy

The Group is subjgct to regulation by FINMA. The capital levels
of the Group are subject to qualitative jdgments by regulators,
including FiNkA, about the components of capital risk weight-
ings and other factors, Since January 2013, the Group has oper-
aled under the international capdal adequacy standards known as

Basel lll, as isued by the BCBS, the standard satting commit-
fee within the © Bank for Interraticral Setilements (BIS). Thesa
standards have affected the measurement of both tofal elighle
capital and © nsh-weighled assets, The Greup has based its capi-
tal adequacy cakulations on LIS GAAPR, a3 permitted by FINMA
Circular 200834

According to FINMA and BIS capdal requirements, total regu-
latory capdal is comprised of the following categones: CETI, ber
1 capital and tier 2 capiial. CETV capital consists of tolal share-
holders' equity, reguiatory adjustment s, including a cumulative divi-
dend accnal, and cerlain adjusiments subject 1o phase in, includ-
ing an adjustmen? for the accounting treatment of pansion plans.
Tier | capftal consists of CET1 and adddional tier 1 capital, which
includes high-trigger and lew-trigger capdal msiruments, certan
instraments subgect to phase oul and deductions from adddional
tier 1 capital. Deduclions from tier 1 capital during the phase-in
peniod include, among other tems, gocdwill and intangible assats
and ather capital deductions, including gains/(losses) due to
changes in own credit risks on fair valued financial liabilities, that
will ba deducted from CET! once Basal Il is fully implemeantad,
Tier | capial 5 supplemented for capital adequacy purposes by
tier 2 capilal, which consists primarily of unsecured, subordinated
inghruments thad are senior onfy (0 ber 1 instruments, The sum of
tiar 1 and fiar 2 capilal equals total elgible capital,

Risk-weighted assets include consclidated balance sheat
asgals, bl postions in seturties not hald in the tradng pedfalic,
off-balance sheet transactions corverled info credi equavalents,
market pesitions in the frading podfolio and operational risk from
precesses, people, systems and exiarnal events.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Group was ade-
quately capitaized under the regulatory provisions outlined under
beth FINMA and BIS guidelines.

BiS statistics = Basal Il

el i o4
Ehigible capital (CHF million) o
Cf 45372 ansn
Addtoml e 1 capda P ;
Tkl Bieer 1 I:._IDII.II a2 45051
Tier 2 caphal 0547 B 5T
Tolal aligabele capftal 0,751 6288
ﬂ'l:k-w-n.qli'ind.l::-;ott {EHE milion) T o
Cractil- i b -:.i,._,:_'. 17 A3
3l 448 3% 133

i e 41 LERe
Mor-copnterparty mk 5 B 6,007
Rrak-msighted sssats 410 273,848
Capital ratios (%

S o

Broker-deasler operations.

Certain Group broker-dealer subsidiaries are also subject 1o cap-
{al adequacy requiremants. As of December 21, 2014 and 2013,
the Group and #s subsidiaries, with one exceplion, complied
with all applicable reguiatory capilal adequacy requirements. As
of December 31, 2014, due te an operational delay i the retumn
of cash coltateral from an affilate, C5 Capdal LLC was left with
an unsacired recenabls that lad to a capital charga of the same
amamt. The capital charge resuted in C5 Capital LLC failng to
mesl the minmen mel capilal requirement as of December 31,
2014, On January 2, 2015, the cash collateral was refurned 1o C5
Capital LLC and the nef capital deficssncy was cuned.

Dividend restrictions

Certain of the Group's subsdiaries are subsect 1o legal resinc-
tions governing the amount of daidends they can pay (for exam-
ple, pursuart to corporate bw as defined by the Swiss Code of
Chiigations)

Under tha Swiss Code of Obligations, dhvidends may be paid
ot only if ard fo the extent the corporation has destnbutable profits
from prewvious business years, or i the free resarves of the corpo-
ration are sufficiend fo allow distribulion of a didend. In addition,
at least 5% of the annual net profits must be retained and booked
as ganeral leagal resanves for so long as thesa reserves amount to
less than 20% of the paid-in share capdtal. The reserves currently
exceed this 20% threshold. Furtharmore, dividends may be paid
oul only after shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting.

A of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Group was nol sub-
ject to restnclions on its abilly to pay the proposed dvidends.
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The foBowing disclosure provides infermation regarding assels
under management and net new assets as regulated by FINBA,

Assets under management include assets from chents for
which the Group provides investmend advisory or discretionary
asset management serices. Assets that are held solely for frans-
aclion-related or safekeeping/custody purposes are not consid-
ered assels under management. Assels of corporate clients and
public msttubions that are used primardy for cash management o
tranzaction-relaled purpases are alko not considered assals under
maragemert. The clissfication of assets under management s
indnadually assessed on the basis of each clant’s inlentions and
abjectives and the bankng services provided to the client. Reclas-
sfhications between assets under management and assets held for
transaction-related or safekeeping pwposes result i correspond-
ing net assels inflows or cutflows.

Met new assels measura the degree of success in acquiring
assets under management. The calkculation i basad on the direct
medhad. taking inlo accound indvidual cash payments, securdy
deliveries and cash flows resufling from loan increases of repay-
ments. Interest and divdend income crediled to chenis and com-
messions, nterest and fees changed for banking sanvces are not
taken into account when calculating net new assets, as such
charges are not directly related to the Group's success mn acqui-
ing assels under managemant. Similarly, changes in assals under
ranagement due lo curency and market volatilly as well as asset
inflows and outflows due 1o the acquisiton or divestdure of busi-
nasses are not part of nat new assets

A portion of the Group's assels under managemend resull
frem double counting. Double counting arises when assats under
management are subject io more than one level of asset man-
agement serices. Each such ssparale advisory or discretionary
service provides adddional benefits to the chert and represents
additional income for the Group. Specifically, doubla counting pri-
rrearily resuits from the mvestment of assels under management
m colactive immsimen nstruments managed by the Group. The
extend of double courting is disckysad i the following lable.

Assets under management

1 et il 204 G
Assets undar management (CHF billion)

fLeady inc

ol v vt brvebert

158 160.3

Crbesr assets unded rmaragemont AR ] il 7

Asiely undesd management
finchudieg deubls counting)’ 13773 1.262.4

o wikkch doils Couniing AT 4 o

Mt i B48ats (CHF blliand

miﬂl‘tnlh-ﬂ;;;[k;:mh double counting® 28.2 a2
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The Group is involved in a number of judicial, reguiatory and arbi-
tration procesdings concerning matlers ansing in connection with
the conduct of ils businesses, including those disclosed below.
Seme of these proceedings have been brought on behalf of vari-
ous classes of claimants and seek damages of material and/or
indeterminate amouns.

The Group accrues lkas coningency Itigation prevesns and
{akes a charge to mcome in connection with certain procesdings:
when bsses, additional lasses or ranges of las are probable and
reasanably estimable, The Group alss accrues litigation provi-
sions for the estimated fees and expanses of extamal lawyers and
olher serice providers in relation fo such proceedings, inchuding
in cases for which # has nol accrued a loss contingency provision,
The Graup accrues these fee and expensa [figalion provisions
and takes a charge to income in connection therewith when such
feas and expanses are probable and reasonably estimable. The
Group reviews its legal proceedings each quarter to detenmane the
adequacy of its iligation provisions and may increase or release
prowisions based on management’s judgment and the advice of
caunsel, The asfablishment of additional prevsons or releasas of
Ifsgation provisions may be necessary in the fulure as develap-
ments in such proceedings wamant.

The specific matters descrbed below include (a) proceedings
where the Group has accrued a loss conlingency provision, ghven
that it is probable that a loss may be incurred and swch boss is
reasonably estenable; and (b) proceedings whese the Group has
ned accrued such a loss conlingency provisien for vanous reasens,
including, bt not imited 1o, the fact that any related losses are not
reasonably estimable. The description of certain of the matters
bedow inchedes a staternant that the Group has established a bas
contngency provision and disckases the ameunt of such provision;
for the other matters no such stalement is made. With respect to
1he matlers for which no such statement is made, edher (a) the
Group has not established a loss conlingancy provision, i which
case the matter is treated as a conlingent liabilly under the appli-
cable accounting standard, or (b) the Group has established such
a provision bul beleves thal disclosure of thal fact would violate
confidantiality obligations to which the Group is subgect er other-
wisg compromise allomey-client privilege, werk product protection
or other protections against dsclosure or compromise the Group's
maragemant of tha matier. The future cutfiow of funds in respect
of any matler for which the Group has accread boss confingancy
presisians canncd be determined with certanty based on currently
awcadable information, and accordingly may uitimately prove fo be
subsiantially greater {or may be less) than the provision that is
reflected on the Group's batance sheet,

It is inherently difficull to determine whether a loss is prob-
able or even reascrably possible or to estimate the amourt of
any loss of loss range fer many of the Group's legal procesdings.
Estimates, by their nature, are based on udgment and currently
wailable mformation and imebe 3anely of factars, including, bt

nicd limited to, the type and nalure of the proceeding, the progress
of the matter, the advice of counsel the Group's defenses and fts
experence in similar matlers, as well as its assessment of mal-
ters, inchding setibements, imobing ofher defendants in similar or
refated cases or proceedmgs, Factual and legal delermmations,
many of which are complex, must be made before a bss, addi-
tiomal lesses of ranges of lbss can be reasomably estimated for amy
proceeding.

Mast matlers panding sgainst the Group seek damages of an
indeterminate amount, While certasn matlers spectly the damages
clamed, such clamed amownt may nel represant the Growp's rea-
sorably possible losses. For cerfain of the proceedings discussed
bedow the Group has disclsed the amewnt of damages claimed
and cartain olher quantifiabls information that is publicly availabla.

The followng table presents a roll forward of the Group's
aggregale Migation provisions.

Litigatien provisions

CHF rllign
Balance 8 beginning of period

aor

Fotsigr @ frarlylar k]

Bibdcs st ol paied i

The Group's aggragate Rtigation prowisions include estimates of
losses, additional losses or ranges of loss for proceedings for
which such lsses are probable and can be reasonably estimabed.
The Group does not believe thal it can estimale an aggregate
range of reagonably possible losses for cerain of ks proceedings
because of ther complendly, the nowelty of some of the clams, the
early stage of the proceedings, the limied amount of discovery
that has cccurred andsor ofhar factors. The Group's estemate of
the aggregale range of reasonably possible losses that are nat
covered by exsting provessons for the procesdmgs decussad below
far which the Group beleves an edimate is pessible is zers to CHF
1.8 bilkan.

After taking inte account s Wigation provisions, the Group
befieves, based on currently available information and advice of
counsel, thal the results of its legal proceedings, inthe aggregate,
will ned have a material adverse effect on the Group's financial
condiion. However, in light of the inherent uncertainties of such
proceedings, including those brought by reguisors or olher gov-
ermmental authomlias, the ullimate cost to the Group of resobang
such procesdings may excesd current iigatson provisions and any
excess may be materal to 43 operating resulls for any paricutar
pericd, depending, in parf, upon the operating results for such
e,
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Research-related litigation

Putative class action lawsuits were filed against Credit Suisse
Securities (LS4} LLC {C55 LLC) in the wake of publicity sw-
rounding the 2002 industry-wide governmental and reguiatory
imvastigations inte research analyst practices, with In re Credit
Suisse — ADL Securities Litigation, filed in the US District Cowd
for the District of Massachusetis, being the remaireng oul $landing
matter. The case was brought on behalf of a class of purchasers
of comman shases of tha formar ADL Time Warner Inc, (A0L) wha
hawe alleged that C55 LLC's equity research coverage of ADL
between January 2001 and July 2002 was false and misleading.
The second amended complaint = this action assered federal
securities fraud and control parson Babilty claims agamst C55
LLC ard certain afflates and former employees of C55 LLC,
Plaintitfs estimated damages of appreximately USD 3.9 bilion.
On Jaruary 13, 20102, the district court granted summary judg-
ot in faveor of the defendants upon its determination to preclude
a plaintiff expert witness, The plaintiffs appealed the summary
judgment decision and oral argument on the appeal was held on
March &, 2013, On May 14, 2014, the circut court affirmed the
grart of summary judgment. The plaintiffs fhen moved for rehear-
ing and rebeaning an banc, Subssquently, the cireult cowrt denied
the motion for rehearing and rehearing &n banc, and thereiore thes
case is now conchuded,

Enron-related litigation

Two Enmn-related aclions remain pending against C55 LLC and
certain of its affiiatas, both in the US District Ciourt for the South-
ern Distret of Texas. |n these actions, plantifs assart they relied
on Enon's financial stalements, and seek 1o hold the defendants
raspansible for amy naccuracies in Envon's financel statements.
In Connecticul Resources Recovery Authorty v. Lay, et al, the
plaidtlf seaks to mcover from maultiple defendants, pursuant lo
the Conneclicul Uinfair Trade Practices Act and Conmecticut state
common kaw, appremately LSD 130 milian to USD 180 milion in
losses it allegedly suffered n a business transaction it entered into
with Enron. A motion to damiss s pending, In Sivercreek Man-
agement Inc, v. Ciligroup, Inc., of al., the plantiff seeks 10 assen
fedaral and state law claims refating to 5 alleged LUSD 280 milion
in losses relaing to s Enron imesiments. A mabian o dismiss
parding.

Mortgage-related matters
Various financial institutions, inchuding CSS LLE and certain of
its affiiales, have received requests for information from certain
regulators andfor govarnment entities, inchuding several mambers
of the RMBS Warking Group of the LS Financial Fraud Enforce-
ment Task Force, regarding the onginataon, purchase, securitiza-
tion, servicing and frading of subprime and non-subprime rasiden-
tial and commercial martgages and related issues. C55 LLC and
s affiliabes are cooperating wih such equests.

Following an imwestigation, on Newember 20, 2012, the New
Yok Attoiney Genesal, on behalf of the State of New York, filed
a cwvil astion in the Supreme Court for the State of Mew York,
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Mew York County (SCHY) against C55 LLC and affiliated enlilies
n ther roles as issuer, sponsor, deposter and/or underwriter of
RMBS transactions prior to 2008. The action, which references
B4 RMBS issued, sponsored, deposited and underwrilten by C55
LLC and ds affiiales in 2008 and 2007, alleges that C55 LLC
and iis affilafes misled swestors regarding the due diligence and
quality control performed on the mortgage loans underymng he
RMBS al issue, and seeks an wnspacified amount of damages.
On December 18, 2013, the Mew Jersey Miormey General en
bahalf of the State of New Jersey (MNJAG), filed a cril action in the
Superiar Court of Mew Jersey, Chancery Dwision, Maresr County
(SCMJ), agamst €55 LLC and affilated emities » their roles as
ssuer, spensor, deposdor and/or underwrder of RMBS trans-
aclions prior 1o 2008, The action, which references 13 RMBS
msund, sponscred, deposfed and underwritian by C55 LLE and
its affiliates in 2006 and 2007, abagas that C55 LLE and #s affii-
ales mished ivestors and engaged in fraud or deceil in connec-
tion with the offer and sals of RMBS, and seeks an unspecified
amourt of damages. On Augest 21, 2014, the SCHJ dismissed
without prejudice the action brought against C55 LLC and is athi-
iales by the MJAG. On Saplember 4, 2014, the NJAG fled an
amended complasnl against C55 LLC and its affikxtes, asserting
additional allegalions but not expanding the number of claims or
RMBS referenced in the orgnal complaint. On September 18,
2014, the Commonwealth of Virgina (Commamwealth), on bahatf
of the Virginéa Relwement System, filed an action against C55
LLC and other financial institfuions in Virginia state court redat-
mg Lo an unstated amownd of RMBS at ssue in connection with
losses allegedly incured by the Virgina Relrement Syslem. On
October 18, 2014, the Commanwealth's clams against CS5 LLC
and cther financial insthtions based on offerings issued by affili-
ales of Countrywide Securities Corporation were remawed to the
US District Court for the Eastern Distrct of Virginsa. The Com-
mamwealih's other claims against CSS LLC and cther financial
ngtfudiens remain peading in Virgina stale courl. All actions are ol
early procedural points.

C355 LLC andfor cartan of is affliates have also been named
as defendants i various ol Bligation matters related to their roles
as issuer, sponsor, depositor, underwriter andfor servicer of RMBS
transactions. These cases include a class action lawsuil, actions
by inderdual investors in RMBS, aclions by manaline nsurance
companies that guaranteed payments of peincipal and interest for
cerain RMBS, and repirchase actins by RMBS trusts, trusiees
andfor imvestors. Akhough the allagatons vary by lawsult, plain-
tiffs in the class action and individual imvestor actions generally
alege tha the offering documents of secunties lssued by vanous
RMBS secwifization frusls contained maleral misrepresentations
and amissions, mcluding statements regarding the underwriling
standards pursuant to which the underlying mortgage loans were
iszued, monoine nsurers allege that loans that collateralize RMBS
they irsurad breached representations and warmnties made with
respect o the loans af the time of sacwrization and that they were
fravdulently mduced 1o enter inbo the transactong:; ard reparchase
action plaintitfs genenally allege breached representations and
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warranties in respect of mortgage kbans and faslure to repurchase
such morgage loans as requred under the applicable agreemeants,
The amounis disclosed below do naot reflect aciual realized plain-
1iff losses lo date or anticipated fulure Migation exposure, Rather,
uniass otherwisa sialed, these amounts reflect the onginal unpaid
prinzipal balance amounts as aleged in these actions and do net
include any reduction N pancipal amounts since wsuance, Furthar,
amewnts attributable fo an "operative pleading” for the individual
irvestor actions are ol alered for settlements, dismissals or athar
eooumances, f any, that may have caused the amounts te change
subseguent o the aperative plaading. In addiion te the mortgage-
retated actions discussed below, a number of other entities have
threatenad to assert claims aganst CSS5 LLC andsor ds affilates
in connection with vanous RMBS issuances, and C55 LLC and/
of ils aftiates have enlered into agreements with some of those
enfities fo foll the relevant statutes of imitations.

% ackon llbgation

In class actions and pulative class actions against CS5 LLC as an
underwriter of clher issusrs’ RMBS offerings, CSS LLC genar-
ally has or had contraciual nghts to indemndfication from the issu-
ers, However, some of thase lssuers are now defunct, incheding
affiliates of IndyMac Bancorp (Indylac). With respect to IndyMac,
C55 LLC was named as a defendant in a class action, In re Indy-
Wac Marigage-Backed Securities Litigation, in the US District
Court for the Southem District of Mew York (SDMY), brought on
behalf of purchasers of secunites in vanous IndyMac RMBS offer-
ings. C55 LLC and five other underwriter defendants agreed to
a satilamant of the IndyMac class achion for 3 total of USD 340
milsan, In an order dated Seplember 30, 2014, the SDNY granted
prefminary appreval to the settlement and hald a final approval
hearing on February 3, 2015, On February 23, 2015, the SDNY
emered 3 hral pdgment ard order of dismissal with prejudice, dus-
continuing the In re Indybdac Morigage-Backed Secwrities Lfiga-
tion, A further clags aclion lwsull perding in the SONY agang
C35 LLC and cerfain affiliates and employeas, Mew Jersey Car-
perters Heallh Fund v. Home Equity Morgage Trust 2008-5,
retates to two BMBS offerings, totalng approsamately LISD 1.6 bil-
lion, sponsored and undarwritben by the Credd Suisse defendants.
On March 17, 2014, the SDNY granted plamtd#fs’ motion for class
cartification for the second of the two RMBS offerings. having pre-
viously certified the class for purchasers of the first offering.

C55 LLC and, in some instances, its affiates, as an RMBS
issuer, underwriter and for other parficipant, and in some instances:
its employees, akong with other defendants, are defendants in: cne
action browght by The Charles Schwab Corporation in Calforna
state court, in which claims against CS55 LLC and its affiiates
refate to USD 125 million of the RMBS at issue (approximately 8%
of the LISD 1.4 bilien 21 issus against al defendants in the opera-
tive pleading); cne aclion brought by the Federal Deposit Insur-
ance Corparation (FDIC), as receder for Clizens Matlonal Bank
and Strategic Capdtal Bank m the SONY, in which claims aganst
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C55 LLC and its affiates relate to approximately USD 28 milkon
of the RMBS at issue (approximately 20% of the USD 141 mil
liam at issue against al defendants in the operative pleading), four
actions brought by the FDIC, as recener for Colontal Bank: one
dismissed action in the SDMY, which is now on appeal, in which
claims against CS5 LLC relate to approximately USD 52 milion of
the RMBS o ssue (approomately 3% of the USD 394 million at
issue against all defendants in the cperative pleading), one action
in the Cirewt Court of Monlgemery Counly, Alabama, in wiich
clams against £35 LLC and fs affiliates refale to approximately
USD 153 milkon of the RMBS at ssue (appreaomately 40% of the
LSD 311 milion at issue against 2l defendants in the operatve
pleading), and one action in the US Destrict Court for the Canilral
Drstrict of California, in whach claims against C55 LLC relate to
approximately LSO 34 milion of the RMBS at issue (approximalely
12% of the LI5D 283 millien at issue against all defendants in the
cperalive pleading), and one dismissed action in the US District
Court for the Cerral District of California, wiich is now on appeal,
in which claims against CS5 LLC relate fo approsximately LISD 12
milkan of tha RMBS at issus (approcmately 5% of the USD 269
milkon at isue against all defendants o the operative pleading):
one action brought by Commerzbank AG London Branch in the
SCNY, in which claims against C55 LLC and its affates relate
o apprexmately USD 121 milion of the RMBS al issue (approw-
mately 6% of the USD 1.9 bilkon al issue against all defendants
in the opemiive pleading): four ndividual actions brought by the
Federal Home Loan Banks of Seatils, San Francisco and Bosion
in vanious state and federal courts, in which chims agamst C35
LLC and its affiliates relate to approximately USD 240 milion n
the Seallle action, apprecemately USD 1.7 bilkon in the San Fran-
cisco actions (approumately 18% of tha LISD 9.5 bilkon at issue
against all defendants in the operative pleadings) and USD 373
milkan = The Boston aclion [appeccamately T% of the USD 5.7 bil-
lian & issue againsd af defendants in the operative pleading); two
actions brought by Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company
inthe US District Cour for the Chsinict of Massachusetts, n which
claims against C55 LLC and &s empleyeas relate to approcdmataly
LISD 107 milion of the RMBS at wssue (approximately 97% of the
USD 110 milion at issue against a¥ defendants in the operafie
pleadings), one action brought by Watertown Savings Bank in the
SCHY, inwhich claims against ©535 LLC and A5 affiates relate to
an unstated amount of the RMBS at issue; and one action brought
by thee Tewas County and Distrct Retrement System in Texas state
court, in which claims against C55 LLC relale to an unstated
amomt of the RMBS af issue. In addition, on February 6, 2015,
Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System filed an action agamnst
C55 LLC and oiher financial instdutions in Tennessee state court
refating to an unstated amount of RAMBS at tssue.

C35 LLC and certain of ds affiiales and/or employees am
the only defendanis ramed in: one action brought by CMFG Life
Insurance Camparry and affliated erfities in the LS District Court
far the Western District of Wisconsin, in which clims againg C55
LLC selate o apprecamately LISD 7O milliea of RMBS; one action
brought by Deutsche Zentral-Gensssenschafisbank AG, Mew
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York Branch in the SCNY, in which clams against C55 LLC amd
its affiliales relate fo approximately USD 111 miion of RMBS:
one action brought by IKB Deutsche Indusiriebank AG and affi-
aled entiles in the SCHY, m which claims against C55 LLC and
its affiiates ralafe 1o approdmately LUSD 87 million of RMBS; two
actions browght by the Matioral Credit Unson Adminisiration Board:
one as bquidating agent of the US Central Federal Credit Union,
Vestern Corporate Federal Credit Unson and Southwest Corpo-
rate Federal Credd Unsan in the LIS Distrie! Court for the District
of Kansas, mwhich clasms against C55 LLC and s affilade relabe
to apprawenately LISD 211 milian of RMBS, and one as liquidating
agent of the Soulhwest Corporate Federal Credd Linion and Mem-
bers United Corporate Federal Credit Unson in the SONY, in which
claims against 35 LLC and its affilates relate to appronmatedy
USD 229 milbon of RMBS; one action brought by Phoenix Light
5F Ltd. and affilisted enfities in the SCHY, in which claims against
C55 LLC and #ts affiiates relate 1o approsimately USD 362 mil-
fion of RMBS; ona action brought by Royal Park Investmants SA7
WV in the SCHY, in which claims against C55 LLC ard its affli-
ate relate to appeoomiately USD 360 millon of RMBS; and cne
dismissed action infially brought by The Union Central Life Insu-
ance Comparny ard affilated erfies (Union Centeal) o the SDNY,
which is now on appeal, in which claims against C55 LLC and #s
affikates and emplyees relate to approximately USD B5 millien
of RMBS. These actions are al early or intermediate procedural
points.

As discioged in Credd Suissa's quarterly Financial Reports for
2014, individual irvesior actions descontinued duning the cowse
af 2014 included the felewing: follvwing a settlement, ona action
brough by Alstate Ingurance Company againg CS5 LLC and #s
affiliates; following a saitlement, bwo aclions brought by Cam-
bridge Place Imestmen Management [nc. against C55 LLC amd
t5 athliates; following a selllement, one aztion by the Federal
Homa Loan Bank of Chicago againsl ©55 LLC; folowing a seftle-
rment, one aclion by the Federal Home Loan Bank of Indianape-
fis against C55 LLC and s affiiates; following selibaments by
C55 LLC and other financial mstitulions, one action brought by
the Federal Housing Fnance Agency (FHFA), as consenator for
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, against C55 LLC and its affiiales
and employees and other financial institutions: following a wolun-
tary discontimmance with prejudce, the two consehdated aclions
brought by Landeshank Baden-Wirttembesg and afflsted entities
aganst S35 LLC and other financial institutions; following a set-
tlamart, one action brought by Minnescta Lifes Insurance Company
and affiiated enlities against CS5 LLC and its affiliabes: folow-
ing @ selilarment, one action brought by The Prudental Inswance
Company of America and affitaled enfities against C55 LLC and
its affisates; following a settiement, the action brought by Sealink
Funding Limited against C35 LLC and 3 affiates; and following
a settlerment, one action brought by the Westem & Scuthern Life
Ingueance Company and affiiated entites against C55 LLC and
its affiliates.

I pdddion, on December 10, 2014, the SONY presading in the
action brought by Unian Central, densed Union Central’s mation (o
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prepase a secend amended complaint and dismissed in its entinety
all chams againgt C55 LLC and i3 affilates and emplipees with
prequdice, relating to approximately USD 65 million of RMBS. On
Janwary 8, 2018, Union Cendral appealed the SDNY's Decem-
ber 10, 2014 order, On Decembar 17, 2014, following a setthe-
ment, the LIS Distrct Court for the District of Minnesota presiding
in ke achon brewght by the John Hancock Life Ingurance Co,
(LL5.A.) and affilialed entilies dismissed with prejudice all chims
against TS5 LLC, relating to an unstated ameunl of RMBS o
s agansl C35 LLC. On January 26, 2015, the Calkforna state
cowrt prassding in the action brought by the Federal Homa Loan
Bank of San Francisco dismissed with prejudice claims pertaining
to cerlan RMVBS offerngs. including cardain BMBS offerngs on
which C55 LLC and iis affiliates were sued, reducing the RMBS
al isswe for CS5 LLE and its atiliates from appresimately USD
22 bilion to approssmately USD 1.7 billion. Further, as reported in
owr 2013 Arnual Repor, on February 14, 2014, as & resuli of a
sattlement, the SONY dismissed with prejudice one of the actions
filed by the FHFA in the SONY against C55 LLC ard its affiliales
and empleyees, and on March 21, 2004, CS55 LLC and certain
gffiliates and emplyees entered into an agreement with the FHEA
to setthe all claims in bwe actions filed by the FHEA i the SDNY,

C5S LLC and cedain of s affiliates are defendants in two pend-
ing monaline insurer actions, ane commenced by MBIA Inswance
Corp. (MBLA), the other commeanced by Financal Guaranty nsue-
ance Company (FGIC), each of which guaranfeed payments of
principal and interest related to approximately USD 770 milken
and USD 240 mabon of RMBS, respectively, issued in offerngs
sponsored by Credit Suisse. Ona theory of liabilly advanced by
the monchng insurers i that an affilkale of C35 LLC mus repue-
chase cerlain merlgage lbans from the frusts al issue. In each
action, plaintiffs claim that the vast majprity of the underlying mort-
gage lkans breach cerlain representations and warranties, and
that the atfiliate has faded to repurchase the allegedly defectve
loans. In addition, the monckne msurers allege claims for fraud,
fraudulent mducament, matenal misrepreseniations, and breaches
of warranties, repurchase cbligations, access rights and semvicing
abbgations, and rembursemen. MBIA and FGIC have submithed
repirchase demands for loans with an engnal principal batarce of
approxdmately USD 549 million and USD 37 millon, respectivaly.
Thase actions are pending in the SCNY and are at early or intes-
madiate procedural points.

In adddion, C55 LLC and certain of #s affilates were sued by
Assured Guaranty Corp. and Assured Guaranly Munscipal Corp.
(Assured) which guaranteed payments of principal and irterasi
related to appreximately USD BT0 milien of RMBS ssued in
offenngs sponsored by Credit Suisse and submitled reparchase
demands for loans with an original principal balance of approsi-
rrately USD 2.2 bilien. On November 20, 2014, U.S, Bank,
Mational Association, as trustee of six trusts, filed a mation to
mlerene &5 4 was nol previcusly a party in this actan. Folowing
a settlement. on November 25, 2014, a stipulation dscontinuing
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the actian brought by Assured was filed inthe SCHY. On March B,
2015, the SCNY dersed U.S. Bank, National Association’s motion
to imersene. Thus, the action is dismissad.

Furthar, CIFG Assurance Medh Amenca, Ine. (CIFG) filed an
action against C55 LLC in the SCNY. relating fo firancal guar-
anly insurance issued by CIFG on a CDS guaraniesing payment
on appraamately USD 306 mitlon of notes of a collateralized debt
oblgation. CIFG aleges material misrepresentation in the induce-
ment of an insurance corract and frawd retating 1o alleged affir-
malive misrepresentalions and matenal emissions made to mduce
CIFG to guarantese the CDS. The SCMY granted CS5 LLC's
matien b dismiss the action and that ruling is on appeal,

CLJ Mortgage Capital, Inc. (DLJ) is a dedendant in: one action
brought by Assal Backed Secunties Corporalion Home Equily
Loan Trust, Series 2006-HET, in which plaintil abeges damages
of nat less than USD 319 milion; one action brought by Homa
Equity Asset Trust, Series 2006-8, in which plaintiff alleges dam-
ages of nat less than USD 436 million: one aclion braught by
Heme Eguity Asset Trust 2007-1, in which plaintiff allages dam-
ages of nol less than USD 420 millien; ane action braughl by
Home Equily Assed Trust Serias 2007-3, in which plantiff alleges
damages of nof less than USD 208 millien: ane action brought
by Asset Backed Securities Corporation Home Equity Loan Trust
Seres AMO 2007-HEZ, in which no damages ameunt is alleged;
one action brought by Home Equily Assat Trust 20:07-2, in which
plairdiff aleges damages of nat less than USD 485 milion; and
one action brought by CSMC Asset-Backed Trust 2007-NC1, in
which no damages amount s alleged, DL and £3 affiliale, Select
Portfolis Servicing, Inc. (SPS), are defendants in: one action
browght by Home Equity Morigage Trust Seres 2008-1, Home
Equity Morgage Trust Senes 2006-2 and Hame Equity Margage
Trusd Series 2008-4, inwhich plantiffs allege damages of not less
ihan USD 730 milien, and allege that SPS obstructed the irves-
tigation into the full extert of the defects in the mortgage pooks by
refusing to afiord the frustee reasonable access to certain ongma-
tion fas; and one action brought by Home Equiy Mortgage Trust
Serias 2006-5, in which plaintéff allages damages of nat less than
USD 500 millicn, and alleges that SPS likely discovared DLJ's
alaged breaches of representations and warranties bul did nat
nicdify the trustes of such breacheas, in allegad violabion of &5 con-
tractual obligations, These actions are brought i the SCNY and
are 8t early or inlermediate procedural points,

#As daclosed in Credit Susse’s fourth quarier Firancial Report
of 2013, the following repurchase actions were dismissed with
prejudice in 2013: the three consobdated actions brought by Home
Equity Asset Trust 2006-5, Heme Equdy Asset Trust 2006-5 and
Home Equity Asset Trust 2006-7 against DLJ. Those dismissals
are on appeal.

Refea-related litigation
In Mareh 2008, C55 LLC was named, long with other finan-
cial services firms, accountanls, lawyers, officers, directors and
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coniralling persons, as a defendant in an acton fad in New York
state court {later ramoved to the SONY) by the Joint Official Lig-
uilators of vanous SPhinX Funds and the trestes of the Sphink
Trust, whach holds chaims thal belonged to PhsFunds Group,
Inc. (PlusFunds), the imestmant manager for the SPhin Funds.
The operatve amerded complaint asserbed clamms against C35
LLC for ading and abetting breaches of fiduciary duly and ading
and abetling frawd by Refco's insiders in connection with Refeo's
Avgust 2004 nates offering and Awegust 2005 indml puble offar-
ing. Plaintis soughl to recover from defendarts more than USD
BOO0 milion, conssting of USD 263 millian that the Sphin Man-
aged Futures Fund, a SPhinX fund, had on depost and lost at
Refco, several lundred milken dollars i alleged additional “lost
enterprise’ damages of PlusFunds. and pre-judgment interest, In
Mevember 2008, £S5 LLE filed a motien to dismiss the amended
complaint. In February 2012, the cowt granfed in part and deniad
in part the motion 1o dismiss, which left ntact part of phairtiffs’
claim for aiding and abetting fraud, In August 2012, C55 LLC filed
a motien for summary judgrent with respect to the remaining part
of plaintifs’ aiding and abetting fraud claim. In December 2012,
the court granted the meion, thus dismissing C55 LLC from the
case, The court entered a final judgment dismissing the clams
agains! C55 LLC on Augus! 16, 2014 and, on September 16,
2014, plaindiffs appealed to the US Court of Appeals for the Sec-
ond Circuit, Briefing of the appeal & ongoing, and oral argument is
expected in 2015,

Bank loan litigation

On January 3, 2010, the Bank and elher affilates were named as
defendards in 2 brwsuit fied in the US District Court for the District
of ldaho by homeowners in four real estale developments, Tama-
rack Resort, Yellowstone Club, Lake Las Vegas and Ginn Sur her.
The Bank aranged, and was the agem bank for, syndicaled kans
provided for all four developments, which hanee been or ane now
in barkmuplcy of foreclosure. Plantitfs generally allege that fhe
Barik and other affilates committed fravd by using an unaccepled
appraizal method fo ovenabe the properties with the intention to
b the borrowers take out lbans they could et repay because it
woulkd alow the Bank and other affillates fo later push the borrow-
ers o bankrupley and take swneeship of the praparties. Phundiffs
demanded LSO 24 bifion n damages. Cushman & Wakefield, the
appraiser for tha properiies at isswe, is alsa named as a defendant.
After the fiing of amended complaints and motions to dismiss, the
claims wera sigrificantly reduced. On Septamber 24, 2013, the
court denied the plaintiffs’ molion for class certification so the case
cannet proceed as a class action. On February 5, 2015, the court
granted plaintifs’ meolicon for leave to file an amended complaind,
adding additional ndidual plamtiffs,

Tha Bank and othar affiliales we also the subject of certan
olher relafed Wigation regarding these four and other similar real
estate developmants, Such lgation mchides two cases brought in
Texas and Mew York siate courls against Bank affiliates by enti-
ties retated to Hightand Capital Management LP (Highland), In
the case m Texas stale coun. a jury trial was held on one of the
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claims in December 2014, A verdict was issved for the plaindifi on
that claim; judgment has not yel baen entered. In the case in New
‘York stale courd, the courl granted in part and denied n part the
Bank's summary judgment motion. Bank affikates separately sued
Highland-managed funds on relsled trades and received a favor-
able judgement which has been appealed.

Tax and securities |aw matters
Beginning in 2011, Credfl Suisse responded o subpoanas and
other requests for mésrmaltion from the Unded States Department
af Justize (DOJ), the SEC and ather autharfies mobling histon-
cal Private Banking services provided on a cross-border bass lo
US persens. LS aulhorities were mvestigating pessible vickitions
af US tax and securities taws. In particutar, the DOJ was imes-
tigafing whether S chents viclated their US tax obbgateans and
whather Credit Suisse and certain of its employees assisted such
chents. The SEC mvestigated whether cerlain of cur relationship
managers triggered obligations for Cradit Suisse or the ralalion-
ship managers in Switzerland to register with the SEC as a broker-
dealer of invesimant adviscr. A mited number of curent or Sormer
employees were indicted and two former employees pled guilly {in
one case. a5 to eonduct while amploved at ather financial instibu-
tigns that did not imehe Cred®t Suisse and inthe other case as to
conduct while employed at a former Credd Suisse subsidiary prior
to 2006 and other financial nsttulions after 2008). Credit Suisse
recaied a grand jury target better from the DOJ in July 2011

On Fabruary 21, 2014, Credit Susse AG reached a salilemeant
with the SEC that resobred the SEC's investigation megarding reg-
istration as an inesiment advisor and broker-dealer, In a settled
adminssiralore and cease-and-desst procesdng, the SEC charged
Credit Suisse AG with violating Section 15(z) of tha US Securties
Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) and Section 203(a) of the
US Ivestment Advaers Act of 1040 (Advisers Act), Spacificaly,
the SEC's Order found that from at least 2002 through its exit
from the LS cross-border securfies business winch Credit Sulsse
Al began n 2008, Credil Susse AG, through actions of certain
of its relationship managers, viclated the fedeml securties laws by
prowiding cartain cross-border brokerage and invesimen advisory
services lo US chents at a time when Credi Suisse AS was not
ragistered with the SEC as a broker-dealer or imestment advised.
Az part of the setllement of the invesligation, Credit Suisse AG
agread, amaong cther things, o cease-and-desist from committing
or causing any fulure vislations of Section 15a) of the Exchangs
At or Section 203(a) of the Advisers Act and to pay approcmately
USD 196 mifion, inclusive of disgargement of approximately LSO
82 million. prejudgment interest of approximaltely LSO 64 milkon,
and a cwil money penally in tha amount of UISD 50 milion. Credit
Suisse AG abo agreed to the appoiniment of an independert con-
sultant to review #s cross-border compliance policies with respact
to the US securitees ws and verify that Credit Suisse AG has
exited the U5 cress-border busness, The indeperdent consulant
has issued fis repor and Credd Suisse ASG is addressing cerlain
adddioral Aems,
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On May 19, 2014, Credd Suisse AG entered inlo a settie-
rrent regardng all sutslanding LIS creas-berder matters, inchidng
agreements willh the DO, the New York State Department of
Fnancial Services {DFS) and the Beard of Governces of the US
Federal Reserve System (Fed), As part of the settlement, Credi
Suisse AG entered a guilly plea 1o one count of conspiracy o
aspal US customerns m presenting false income fax returns 1o the
U5 Infermal Reverwe Sanace (IRS] in violation of Tile 18, S Code
saction 371, in connactian with the former Swiss-bagad cross bar-
der Provale Banking busness. In total, Credit Suisse AG agreed
to pay USD 2,815 million comprised of the following components:
fa) USD 2000 milien for the DO, including USD 686.5 mil-
kon in restibetion (o the IRS and USD 1,333.5 milkon as a fine
{including LSD 196 million for the SEC as described in the pre-
ceding paragraphl; (b) USD 716 milion for the DFS: and (¢) USD
100 million for the Fed. In prior quarters. Credit Suisse had {aken
Higation provisions lotalng CHF 822 milkan redated o this mat-
ter. As a result, the pre-tax impact of the final settlement in the
sacond quarter of 2014 was CHF 1,518 milion and the after-iax
impac! was CHF 1,508 milkan, The amounls due to the SEC,
Fed and DFS were paid in May 2014, The amount due to the
DO, including the part theresf alocated fo the IRS, was paid fal-
lowing the senfencing heanng for Credt Susse AG, which book
place on Movember 21, 2014, In adddien to such payments, Credi
Suisse A5, amang other things, engaged an independent corpe-
rale manior that reports to the DFS (a separate postion from the
mdependent consulant agreed 1o in the selilement wih the SEC),
provides ongoing reports fo various agencies and termirated the
employment of certain individuals at Credd Suissa AG associted
with the improper conduct, Credit Suisse AG 15 paying for the cost
of the monitor,

Rales-related matlors
Regulatory authorities n a number of junisdiclions, including the
US, UK, EU and Swilzertand, have for an exlended period of time
been conducting investigations mo the setting of LIBOR and other
reference rates with respect 1o a number of currencies, as well as
the pricing of certain related dervatives. These ongoing inestiga-
tions have included information requests from reguiators regarding
LIBOR-s#lling practices and reviews of the actiias of wanous
financial nstitutions, including the Grewp, The Group, which is a
mamber of three LIBOR rate-sstting panels (US Dellar LIBOR,
Swiss Franc LIBOR and Ewre LIBOR), &5 cooperating fully with
these imwestigabians. In particular, it has baan reportad thal regula-
tors are imestigating whether financial nsfitulons engaged inan
efforl to maniputate LIBOR, either indpidiually or in concert with
olher inslitutions, in order o mprove markel parception of these
instindiens' financial health and/or to increase the value of thekr
proprietary trading posftions. In response lo regulatory inguines,
Credit Suisse commissonad a review of thass isspes To date,
Credit Susse has seen no evidence to suggest that & i3 Bely 1o
hawe any material exposure in connectian with these ssues.

The reference rates imestigations bave alse included mfor-
matian requests from reguiators regarding trading activities,
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informatsan sharing and the setting of benchmark rates in the for-
eign exchange and commodities markels. On March 21, 2014, tha
Swiss Competion Commission announced a formal investigation
of numercus Swiss and international financeal institulions, includ-
ing the Group, in relation to the selling of exchange rates in for-
eign exchange frading. The Greup is cooperating fully wilh thess
investigations, The investigations are ongong and i is teo $on 1o
predict the final autcame of the imestigations.

In adddion, mambars of the US Dollar LIBOR panel, includ-
g Credd Suisse, have been ramed in vanous il lawsuds fed
in the LIS, AN but two of these mattess have bean consoldaied
for pre-trial purpeses imo a malti-destnct ltigation in the SONY.
On March 29, 2013, the courl dismissed a substantial portion
of 1he case against the panel banks, dismiasing the claims under
1he Racketeer Influenced and Comupl Crganizations Act and the
Sherman Antitrust Act, as well as all siate law claims, kaaving
only cerfain claims under the Commeddy Exchange Act based
on LIBOR-related mstruments entered nto after May 20, 2008,
Plasntiffs appealed part of the decision. and after a federal appeals
court dismissad the appeal as prematurs, the US Supreme Court
granted review and reversad the federal appeals courl. The federal
appeals court has sat a briefing schedule for plaindiffs’ appaal of
the dismissal of their claims. Subsaquently, on August 23, 2013,
1he tral court rejacted plantiffs’ requests to replaad the dismissad
causes of action, except for certan of plairtdfs’ state law claims,
which were replead by ihe plaintiffs. The court held a hearing on
defendants’ motion 1o dismiss the remaining claims on February 4,
2014 InJune 2014, the court denied most of defendants’ metien
to dismiss. Plaintifis filed amended comphints and briefing on
defendants’ metions 1o dismiss these complaints either & complele
of i axpaclad to be complate m the firsl quarter of 2015, One of
the maiters not consobdated in the muti-distnct Itigation i also in
the SONY and a motion to dismiss & pending, The cther matler s
proceedng n slale court in Mew York and a molion to dismiss has
been fully briefed.

Additionally, Credit Suisse Group AG and an affiliate as wellas
other financial insfitulions have bean named in three panding cid
class actian lawsuits in the SONY relating to the alleged manipu-
lation of foraign exchange rates. On January 28, 2015, the court
denied defendants’ motion to dismiss the class action brought
by US-based imwestors and foreign plaintiffs who fransacted i
the US, but granted their mefion to dismiss the two class actions.
brewght by foreign-based mmestors,

Furtharmare, in Fabreary 2015, various banks that servad
on the Swiss franc LIBOR panal, inchuding Credit Suisse Group
AG, were ramed in 2 ewvil putalve class aclion lawsud fled in (he
SDONY, aleging manipulatiocn of Swiss franc LIBOR to benafi
defendants’ trading postions,

Credit Suisse A=, New York Branch and other financial nstiu-
tions have also been named in a pending consolidated cad class
achion bveurt rekating to the alleged manipulation of the 1SDAFIX
rate for LIS dofiars in the SONY, On February 12, 2015, the class
plaindiffs filed 2 consebdated amanded ¢liss action complaint
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Singapore MAS matter

On June 14, 2013, the Monatary Authorfy of Singapore {MAS)
anncunced il was laking supenisory action against 20 banks for
various deficiencles retating to the benchmark processes regard-
ing the Singapore dofiar mterast rale benchmarks, Singapore
Interbank Offered Rates and Swap Offered Rates, and the for-
eign exchange spot benchmarks commonly used to selthe MNon-
Delsverable Forward foreign exchange conracts. Credil Suisse
AG Singapare Branch (CSSB) was one of tha namead banks, The
MAS cansured the banks and directed them fo adopt measures
1o addreas these deficiencies. The MAS has alsa required 19 of
the 20 banks, mchuding C35B, to set aside additional statutory
reserves for a pemod of one year. CSSE, along with s other panel
banks, has been caibrated in the third of five teers by the MAS and
required to set aside additional stalutory reserves of SGD 400-
S00 million, which were daposited with the MAS in 3 non-interest
bearing account. During the second quarter of 2014, having com-
plated remadial actions to strangthen governance, intemal conirols
amd surveillance systems for these benchmark submissions and
frading oparations, the MAS returned these adddional statutory
reserves fo CS5E.

CDS-rolated matters

In July 2013, the Direclorate General for Compedition of the Eun-
pean Commzsion (DG Comp) issued a Stalement of Ohjections
{50) to varicus entities of thirteen COS dealer banks, certain
Markit entfes and IS0 in retation o DG Comps imvestigation
info possible violations of competition w by certain CDS market
participants. Certan Cradit Suisse enlifias wene ameng the named
bank entiies, The 50 marks the commencemert of enforcement
praceadings in respect of whal DG Comp allsges were unlaw-
ful atternpls to prevent the development of exchange traded plat-
forrns for CDS betwesn 2006 and 2000, DG Comp has sent sut
requasis for information and the named Credl Suisse entities ane
cooperating with such requests.

In addition, cerlan Credd Suisse entilies. as well as other
banks and erdies, have bean ramed defendants in a consol-
dated multi-distinct caal Bigation proceeding in the SDNY alleging
vickations of antifrust law related to COS. In September 2014, the
court ovarsaeng the chil Mgatsan granted in part and denied n
part tha defendants’ motion to dismiss, which aliowed the case to
proceed to discovery. Further, a Credi Suisse entdy has receked
civil rvestigative demareds from the DO

Net new assets-ralated mattars

On February 26, 2014, the United States Senate Permanent Sub-
commiites on Invesligations issued a repord thal included a discus-
sien of Credd Susse’s determinations about and disclosues of net
new assels and, as previously disclosed, Credit Swuisse is conduct-
ing a review of thes topic. The SEC is alsa conducting an imestiga-
fior, The disclbswe of net new assels is requined by banks operal-
ing in Switzerland pursuard fo Guidefines on Accounling Stardards
issued by the FINME,
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Altarnative rading systems

Credit Suissa is responding to inquines from vanous govemenantal
and reguiatery aulhorities concerning the operation of its alle:-
naire trading systems, and is cooperating with those requests.
Credit Susse Group AS was also among more than thety defen-
danis named n putative clss action complaints filed in the SDMY
snce Apnl 2014, alfeging vickations of US securties brws related
to high-frequency frading. Cradit Suisse Group AG was newver
sarved with he complarts in wineh # was mamed as 2 defendan
and thase complaints have been superseded by a consolidated
amended complaint filed in September 2014 thal is now opera-
tive, Srce n Credit Suisse entily was mamed in such consolidated
amended complarnt, Cradit Suisse Group AG is no kager a party
to the wsait,

Caspian Enargy litigation

A bawsait was brought against Credil Suisse International (C51) n
Englsh court by Rosserfane Consultants Lim#ed and Swinbrook
Developments Lenited. The liigalion relates fo the forced sale
by CSl in 2008 of Casplan Enargy Group LP (CEG), the vehicls
threugh which the plaintiffs beld a 1% stake in the Kyurowdag il
and gas field in Azerbaian, CEG was sold for LISD 245 milion fal-
lowing fwo unsuccassful marger and acquestion processas. The
plaintifis allege that CEG should have baen sold for at least USD
TOO milian. The tral took place at the end of 2014 and en Febru-
ary 20, 2016, the case was dismissad and judgment given in favor
of C5I.

ATA litigation
A brwesid wips filed on Nowember 10, 2014 in the LIS District Court
for the Easlarn District of Mew York against & number of banks,
including Credit Swisse AG, aleging chuims under the United States
Anbi-Terrensm Act (ATAL The action alleges a consparacy belween
Iran and various infemational financial insldutions, mcleding the
defendarts, in which they agreed to alier, falefy, or omit informa-
tion from payment messages that imohmd Iranian parties for the
express purpose of concealing the lraran pares’ financil actrd-
ties ard transactions from detection by LS authorites, The com-
plaint, brought by approximately 200 plainiffs, allages that this
conspracy has made i possibie for kan to transfer funds to Haz-
bollah and other terrorest organgzations actively angaged in harming
US milkary personnel and civilians. On March 16, 2015, Credi
Suissa AG and the cther defendands filed motions to dismiss,

MP3

Ini kate 2014, the Monte dei Paschi di Siena Foundation (Founda-
tion) filed a lawsurt in the Chal Court of Mian, Raly seeking EUR
3 bilbon in damages jeintly from Credit Susse Securiles (Europe)
Limited (C55EL), Banca Leonardo & Co 5.p A. and former mem-
bers of the Foundation's management commities. The lawsuit
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relates to the faimess opiniens CS5EL and Banca Leonardo &
Co S p.A. dekvered fo the Foundation in connaction with the EUR
9 bilkon acquisition of Banca Antonvensta 5.p A by Banca Monte
del Paschi di Sena Sp A, (BMPS) in 2008. BMPS funded the
acquisition by a EUR & bidlion right s offer and the issuance of unre-
deemable securities comerdible into BMPS shares, in which the
Faundation irvested ELIR 2.9 bdllion and ELR 490 millisn, raspec-
tively. The Foundation allages that the fairness cpinons were
saued n the absence of key financial sformation, CSSEL balevas
that the claim lacks mart and & not supported by the available
evidance,

Icelandic banks

CSSEL is defending clawback claims of USD 16 milkon and EUR
22 milbon brought by the Winding Up Committeas ('WUCs) of the
Icalandic banks Kaupthing Bank hf and LEBI hf (previcusly Lands-
banki Islands hf) in the District Count of Reykjavik, losland. The
claims concern the buyback by tha lcalandic banks of thair own
bonds frem CSSEL in the months priar to the lcelandic banks'
insobmncy. The pramary basis for the clawback & that the buy-
backs constiiuted early repayments of debt to CSSEL. In addition,
CHl s defending a EUR 170 milbon clawback claim Brought by the
WUC of Kaupthing Bank hf in the District Court of Reykjavik, lce-
land. The claim rekates to C5l's issuance of ten credd Inked noles
in 2008, wiach the WUC s seeking to chalenge under vanous
prowisions of lcelandic nsolvency kaw i arder {o claw back funds
paid to CSI. The WUCs are also claiming signeficant penaity infe-
e under lcelandic bw in respect of both the CSSEL and CSI
chims. CSSEL arguas that the buyback fransactians are governed
by Enghsh or Mew York bow and C51argues that the purchase of
the credil linked notes is governed by English bw, naithes of which
prewades a legal bass for such clawback actions, In October 2014,
thi Court of the Evopean Free Trade Assocaation Stales ssued a
non-binding decision supporting C3l's and CS5ELs position that
the governing kaw of the transactions is relevant. A trsal is currently
expected to take piace m respect of the CSSEL claims in the sec-
ond half of 2016 and in respect of the C3l claim in 2017, Sepa-
rately, C3l is pursuing a claen for USD 226 millien in the Dustnct
Coart of Reykjavik, lceland against Kaupthing Bank hf's WUC in
arder o enforce cerlain securly righls amsing under 2 2007 strue-
tured frade. CS| acquired the security rights following Kaupth-
ing Bank hf's insohancy in 2008. A iral of this claim is currantly
axpected to take place in 2017,

talian investigation

In Italy, @ criminal imestigation into allegations of vnauthonzed
exgrcise of financial activly and related offenses has been infliated
against subsidianes and branches of Credil Susse. Credil Suisse
is cooperating in the immstigation.
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39 Significant subsidiaries and equity method investments

Significant subsidiaries
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Significant subsidiaries (continued)
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Significant equity method investmeants
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40 Subsidiary guarantee information

Certain wholly ownad finance subsidmnes of the Group, includ-
ing Credil Suisse Group (Guemsey) | Limded and Credi Suisss
Group (Guernsey) Il Limited, sach of which is 3 Guernsey incor-
porated non-cellular company bmied by shases, may ssue contin-
gent convertible securties fully and uncondtionaly guaranteed by
the Group. Theare are vanous legal and reguixtery requirements,
including the satistaction of a sobency fes! under Guerrsey law,
applicable te some of the Group's subsidarnes thal limd their abity
1o pay dividends or disirbutions and make loans and advances bo
1he Group.

On March 26, 2007, the Group and the Bank issued ful,
uncondiional and several guarantees of Credit Suisse (USA),
Inc.'s outstanding SEC-registersd dabt secunties. In accordance
with the guarantees, if Credit Suisse (LISA), Inc. fails to make

any timaly payment under the agraements governing such debt
securities, ihe holders of the debd securities may demand payment
fram eher the Group or the Bank, without fest proceeding against
Credt Suisse (LISA), Inc. The guarantea from the Group s subor-
dinated 1o senior kabiities. Credit Suisse (LISA), Inc. is an ndirect,
wholly owned subsidiary of 1he Group.

Ini 1he fourth quarer of 2014, as part of anannounced program
o evahie the Greup's legal entily structre lo mesl developnyg and
future reguiatory requirements and Fed regulation on establsh-
ing Intermedsate Holding Companies in the LS for non-US banks,
several existing legal entilies were re=pareried as subsidaries of
Credd Suisse (USA), Inc. In the {ables balow, prier periods have
bean restated to conform 1o the current presentation to reflect the
impact of these transactions.
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Condensed consolidating statements of eperations
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Condensed consolldating statements of operations (continued)
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Condensed consolidating statermnents of eperations (continued)

Condensed consolidating siatermants of operations (CHF millionk

et ravenues
Provision o cradl losses

#al oFhest operat e = e

Tolsl opersting axpensss

Income/loail liem conlinuing oporationd belore Lases

Ineame(losel frem canlimaing oparationd
Feed incoena/{Tens)

g UL e ¥ ¢ ) ekl

et incoemas{loss) slirbulable by sharsholdars

Condensed consolidating statements of comprehensive income

Compraheniive incoms (CHF mullion)

Camprehaming mcama o)

i o T w5k afribulabl oNCor

Camprehamiivg inddma (boid) albrbulable 1o sharehcldars

647/690

5T

{4560

Bask

9

1,210
o

LE20]
1,354
1,349
1,348

1,348

(&5}
B2

(345

Credit
Haiee
Grsap

EN
17

Cradit
Subiia
Graup

T

Sl



366

Condensed consolidating balance shests

end of 2014
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Condensed consolidating balance sheets (continued)
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Condensed consolidating staterments of cash Nows (continued)
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Condensed consolidating statements of cash flows (continued)

4 Candit
et o Suisee
i 1 il ' Bank ¢ by | G p

Cparsting sctmties of contiruing eperateons (CHF mlllan)
Hat cavh provided by'ioved I_nCI operaling ldi'fllill_ll of comlinuing wlrlil_on': tl..?g&l-r tl'!l_!ﬂ.'l} (12,217 3;!?_= I:l-ll} {13 6)
Imiesting a< tvitios of continuing operaticns (CHF million)

Mot cash providad bytlused in) imealing sclivities of continuing ope ialicns 18,497 17,850 44347  (2292) 763 42,818
Finaneing setivities af comlinuing operatiand (CHF millisa)
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E}'hl-rtor oxchange rate changes on cash and due from banks (CHF melion) o
Effect ol excharge rale changes on ¢ash and dua from banks (130 (1,084 ) £1,184) a7 (115 01,2421
Het cash provided by'(used ind discontirmed cperabons (CHF millien) .
el cash provided by'(sed in discontinued egerations G a8y (248 o o (248
Hetincreate/idecroats) m cash and dus from Bamks (CHF millicnk . .
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42 Significant valuation and income recognition differences between US GAAP and Swiss GAAP banking

law (true and fair view)

The Growp's conselidated financal statements have been prepared
in accondance with US GARAF,

FiMMA requires Swiss-domiciled banks which present thes
firancial statemenis under ether LIS GAAP or Infernational Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to provide a narmative explanation
of the major differences bebween Swiss GAAP banking law (true
and faw view) and its primary accounting standard.

The principal provisons of the Banking Ordinance and the
FINMA Circutar 200872, *Accounting = barks”, governing fnancial
repoeling for banks (Swiss GAAF) differ in cerain aspects from
US GAAP The following are the major diferences:

Scope of consolidation

Under US GAAP, the Group does not consolidate certain entilies
that issue redeemable prefemed sacuities. Under Swiss GAAR
these entities wauld continue to be consolidated as the Group
holds 100%. of the vating rights.

Undar Swiss GAAF, majority-owned subsiiaries that are
not considered long-term irvestrments of do ned operate in the
core business of the Group ase efher accounted for as financial
investments or as equily method invesiments. US GAAP has no
such exceplon relatng 1o the consslidation of majorily-cwied
subsidianes,

Fair value option
Unike LIS GAAP, Swiss GAAP generally does not allow the o fair
valug ophon concepl that creates an oplional allernative measure-
mant treatment for certain non-trading financial assels and liabd-
ties, guararmess and commidmants. The far value opbon permis
the use of fair vahm for indial and subsequent measwremert with
changes in far value recorded in the consolidated siatements of
T

For issusd struclured products that include own debt and meet
certain restrctive conditions, fair value measurement is apphied en
a case-by-case basis. The related changes in far vahkm of bath
the embedded darivatee and the host conlract are recorded in
trading revenues, except for fair value adjustments relating to own
credit that cannct be recognized in the consolidated statements of
incame.

Orther msued structured products whash ane ot in the scope of
this inferprefation or for which fair value accounding is nat elected
urdar Swiss GAAP bt for whezh the far value oplion & alected

under US GAAP contewe to be bifurcated for Swes GAAR pur-
pasas. This means thad the embadded dervative s carmed af fair
vatlue and the host contract & acoounted for af amorized cost,

Other non-trading assets measured at fair value

Under US GAAP, all of cur mortgage servicing nghts and mest of

our e satilemenl cortracts are reported at far value, with changes

in value reported in the consolidated statements of opesations.
Under Swiss GAAP, morigage senvicing rights and lifa settie-

mant contracts are camied at the lower of cost or market.

Goodwill amortization

Under US GAAP, goodwill & net amor ised bad must be fesled for
impaament annualy or mare freguently if an event or change in ce-
cumstances indicates thal the goodwill may be impaired.

Under Swiss GAAP, goodwill & amariized over ds useful e,
generally not exceeding five years, except for justified cases whene
a maximum wseful e of up to 20 years & acceplable. In addifion,
goodwill & tested for impaiment.

Intangitle assets with indefinite lives
Under LS GAAP. intangible assets with indefinite lves are not
amariized but are lested for impairment anmsaly or more fre-
quently f an evert of change in drcumstances indicales that the
assat may be impained.

Urder Swiss GAAP, nfangible assels with indefinde lves are
amortized over a useful ife, up to a maximum of five years. In addi-
tion, these assets are lested for mpairment.

Pensions and post-retirement bonefits

Under US GAAP, the kabaly and rebiled pensson axpense is deles-
mined basad on the projected und credit actuanal cakcuiation of
the benefit obligaticn.

Linder Swiss GAAR, the Eabity and related pension expenss &
primariy deiarmined based on the pansion plan vaheation n accos
dance with Swiss GAAF FER 28. A pansion asset is recorded if a
stalutory everfunding of a pension plan keads to @ fufure econcmic
benaf, and a pension kabilty s recorded if a statutory under-
furding of a pensien plan leads 1o a fulure economic obligation.
Pension expenses ncluda the required contrbutions defined by
Swiss law, any adddional contnbuticn mandaled by the pensien
fund trustees and any change i value of the pansion asse! or ha-
by between two measwement dates as determined on the bass
of the anmual year-end pension plan vahstsn
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Loan arigination feas
US GAAP requres the deferral of cerfain fees received upfront ;m
caonnection with the loan onigination for bbans not held under he
fair value option

Under Swiss GAAP, only upfrond paymenis or fees that are
cansidered interest-relaied companents are deferred (e.g., premi-
umg and discounts), Fees recenmd from fhe bormower which are
considered senica-related fees such as commiémeant fees, stnc-
furing feas and arrangement fees are immediately recognized in
COMIMISSen intome.

Sale of financial instrurments held at amortized cost

Under LIS GAAP, the gan o loss on sale or early redemplion of a
financial insdrument is immediately recognized in the consoldated
stalements of operations.

Under Swiss GAAFR. 1ha gain or loss on sale of early redemp-
tien of an mterest-related financal merument held 2t amortized
cost is defarred ower the remaining origmal farm of the firancial
instremant.

Extinguishrment of own debt

Under LS GAAP, repurchased of reacquired cwn dabl inslrumant s
are extinguished and gains or losses from exdinguishment are
immediately recognized in other income,

Under Swiss GAAP, repurchased own debt is only exdine
gueshed if the respactive securnfies am legally extinguished. Gains
of losses from extinguishment of cwn debt that was accourted for
at amorlized cosf are deferred and amortized over the original term
of the repurchasad instruments. For reacquired own debl instru-
ments that are net legally extinguished, the repurchased own debt
instremants ane efher held as financial mvesimants at the lower of
cost or market of as trading assels af fair vake. The canrying valus
of the tepurchased mdlruments i offsel agandl the fespecine
liab#y of cwn debt instruments issued,

Real estate held for investment
Under LS GAAP, real estate held for irvestment is valued al cost
less accumulated depreceation and amy mparmaent.

Under Swiss GAAP, real estate held for imestment that the
Growp indends 1o held permanantly is alse valied ol cost less accu-
mulated deprecialion and any other-than-temporary impairment.
If the Geroup doss not indand 1o hold real estate parmanently, & is
carried at the kower of cost or market,

Sale and leaseback transactions
Under LIS GAAP, gains from the sale of property subject to a sale
and keaseback agreement are deferrad and amorized over tha
leazeback perd.

Under Swiss GAAP, gains from ihe sale of property subject fo
a sake and leaseback agreement are only deferred if the provisions.
of the leasaback contract indicate thal the leaseback is a capi-
tal beasa; if the leaseback contract meets the reguirements of an
speraling lease, such gains are immediately recognzed upon sal
of the property.
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Investments in securities
Under US GAAF, available-for-sale securities are valued at fair
vabue, Uneealzed gains and losses due o fhectuations n fair value
{inchuding foreign exchange) are not recorded in the conschdaled
statemants of oparations but included ned of tax in ADCH, which is
part of tolal shareholders” equly, Declnes in fair vakos balow cost
deemed to be other-than-temporary are recognized as imparments
in tha corseldaled stalemants of operations, excepl for amounts
relating to factors olher than credit kess on debl secunties with no
interd of requiremient to sel that contire to be nchated in ADCL
Thie rew cost basis will not be changed for subsequent recoveries
in far value.

Under Swiss GAAP, avadable-for-sale securities are accounied
for al the lower of cost or market with wahation reductions and
recoveries due o market fluciustions recorded in other ordinary
expenses and income, respeciively. Foreign exchange gains and
losses ane recognized in ned trading income.

Under US GAAP, non-marketable equily securfies are valued at
cos! lass siherdhan-lemporary impaimant of 3 far value,

Under Swiss GAAP, non-marketable equity securities are car-
ried af the lower of cost or market.

Linder US GAAP, decines in fair value of held-to-maturity secun-
ties below cost deemed fo be otherdhandlemposary are recog-
nized as impaxments in the consolidated statemenis of oparalions
excepl for amounts relating to faclors other than cred kss on
dabt securities held with na intent or requirement to sall that ame
included in AQCI. The mmpairment cannol be reversed in fulure
prods.

Under Swiss GAAF, al impairments are recognized in the con-
sclidated slalements of income. Impasments recognized on held-
{o=-maturity securties are reversad up 1o the amortized cost if the
fair value of the instrument subsequently recovers, A reversal is
recorded in the consolidated statemernts of ncome.

Trading positions

Uinder bath US GAAP and Swiss GAAP, postions classified in
the trading porifolo are valued at fair value. Under US GAAP,
this classfication is based on management’s inent conceming the
spacific instrument, whareas undar Swiss GAAP the prevaling
critera is the actve management of the specific instrument in 1he
context of a documented trading strategy.

Derivatives used for cash flow hedges
Under US GAAP. the effective portion of a cash flow hedge is
reparted n ADCH

Under Swiss GAAP, the effective pertion of a cash flow hadge
is recorded in the compensation account in other assels or olher
labilties
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Security collateral raceived in securities lending
transactions
Undar US GAAP, secuny collateral received in securilies kending
trarsactions are recorded as assels and a corresponding kabilily to
return the collateral is recognized.

Under Swiss GAAP, securily collateral received and the obl-
gatan {0 return collateral of securties lending transactions ane not
recagnized on the balance sheel.

Derecognition of financial instruments
Under US GAAP, financial instruments are enly derscognized if the
Iransac bon meels certam cnbema,

Undar Swiss GAAP, a financal instrument 15 derecognized
when the economic contrel has been transferred from the saller
to the buyer.

Discontinued operations

Undar US GAAP, the assets and habifties of an operation hald-
for-sale are separated from the ordinary captions of the consoli-
dated balance sheets and are reported as discontnued operations
measured at the lower of the camrying value or fair value less cost
to sell, Accordingly, incama and expanss from discontinued opera-
ticns are reporled in a saparate kne dam of the consobdated state-
ments of operations.
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Consolidated financial slatements - Credit Suisse Group

Under Swiss GAAP, these posilions remain in thair nitial bal-
ance sheet caphons until dispesed of and confinue to be valued
accerding fo the respective caplions.

Extraordinary income and expenses

Unidee US GAAF, Swiss GAMP does report cerfain axpenses of
reveniues a5 exdraordsary, Eﬂﬂﬂfﬁlhﬂﬁf income and expenses ane
repartad net of tax.

Reserves for general banking risks
US GAAP does nol allsw general unaliscated prowvisanng.

Under Swiss GAAP, resarves for general banking risks are
recorded a5 a separate component between labifes and share-
holders' equily. Reserves for general banking risks are estab-
lishid or released through edraordinary expense and extracrdinary
mncoma, respaciively, or resull from the realocation of provisions
which are no langer ecenomically requined,

Loan commitments
Undar US GAAP, the Group mcludes unused credit faciities that
can be revoked at its sole discretion wpon notice 1o the chent in
laan commifments

Under Swiss GAAP, credd facilities that can be revocked al
the Group's sola discretion are only disclosed if the notice peried
exceeds S weaks,

655/690

ar3

oOoOooodn



374

43 Risk assessment
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In accordance with the Swiss Code of Obbgations the following
disclosure provdes information reganding the risk assessment pro-
cass, which was in place for the reporfing percd and followed by
1he Board of Directors.

The primary objectives of risk management are 1o protect the
financial strangth and reputation of the Group, while ensuring that
capital s well deployed to suppert business acthalses and grow
sharehokler valwe. The risk managemen! organzation refiects the
specific nalure of the vanous nsks in order fo erdure (hal nsks an
maraged within ot Imis in a transparert and timely manner

The Board of Dreclors is responsible o the strategic dvec-
fian, supervision and control of the Group and for defining its over-
all tolerance for risk inthe form of a risk appetile statement and
owerall risk imits. The Board of Dwectors has delegated cerlain
responsibilties reganding risk management and oversight to the
Risk Committes, the Audd Commatee and 1o the Exacutie Board,

The Risk Commalies is responsible for assisting the Beard in
fulfiling fs cvarsight responsibilitias by providing guidance regand-
ing nsk governance and the development of the risk profile and
capital adequacy, including the regular review of major risk expo-
sures and overall risk Bméts. In addiion to its other responsibilities,
such as reviewing the quarterdy and annual financal stalements
and the performance of intemal and exfernal auditors, the Audit
Committee reviews management’s reporl on infernal control over
firancial reporting (SOX 404), the anmeal report on the nterrnal
cantred system and the anmual compliance report

Within the Exacutive Board of the Group, the Chief Risk Officar
{CROY s resporsible for providing sk management oversght and
for establishang an organcational basés to manage and report onal
risk maragemeant matiers. The Capilal Alocalion & Risk Manage-
ment Committes [CARMC), the Valumtion Risk Management Com-
mittae, the Risk Processas & Standanrds Commdtee and the Repu-
tational Risk & Sustaonabiity Commifles hae been astablshed at
semiar management level to further support the nisk managemant
function. CARMC s comprised of at laast five members of fhe
Exgcutvs Board and senior management appointed by the CEQ
and operates rotating through the following three cycles: (i) assat
& kabidity management including capital, funding and hiquiddy; (s}
market & credd risks; and (ig) internal contred systems inchading
operational nsks, legal and complance issues and ntemal control
matiers, CARMC may delegate #s authority to se and approve
cartain imils for posttion risk, funding. hguadity and capital to the
CRO or divisional risk management committess. Divisional and
legal antdy risk managemant committees review risk, legal and
compliance and inlernal centrol matiers specific to the divisions
and ndividual legal entities, respectively,

Dwuring the reporting period, the Beard of Directors received
tha gquarierly risk reperts from the CRO and the annual mternal
cortrol system and compkance reports from the office of the Gen-
eral Counsel, which formed the basis of the Board of Directors’
risk reviews. Addtional sk information was provided at each mesl-
ing of the Risk Committes and at most Beard meelings. The Board
of Directers, assisted by s Risk and Audit Committess, parformed
2 gysternatic risk assessment in accordance with established poli-
cies and procedures.
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Parent company financial stalements — Credit Suisse Group aa1

Parent company financial statements

Statements of income
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Balance sheets
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting principles

The financial statemants of Credit Suisse Group AG are prepared
in accerdance with the regulaions of the Swiss Code of Obliga-
ticns and are stated in Swiss francs (CHF). The firancial year ends
on December 31,

Standards to be adopted in future periods

On December 23, 2011, the Federal Assembly of the Suiss Con-
federaton enacted a new law on commenal accountng and finan-
cial reparting. These new provisans ane confained in the 32nd title
of the Swiss Code of Cbsgations. The rnew kaw was effectve as of
Jamary 1, 2012, The new accountng law n the 32nd title will be
apphcable to firancal statements as of and for the financial year
216,

The new legistation wil lead fo changes in the miremum struc-
ture of the balance sheet and the income statement. The new law
also adds a number of additional requirements with regard to the
minimum conbent of the notes to the financial staternents.

2 Contingent liabilitie s

The new law explicitly contains valuation principles. The main
difference between the new law and the current law i The principle
of indwidual valuation and the valuation principles for asssts with
an observable market price in an active market. Urder the new
bw, assels with a queted market price o anather obaervable mas-
kat price in an aclive markel may be valued at these prices in sub-
saquem valuations, even if these are abowe the mamnal value o
the acquasticn price. However, the priciple of prudence mmans
and hidden reserves continue fo be accapiable,

Subsequent events

On Jamusary 18, 2015, the Swiss Natonal Bank (SHE) decided to
discantinue the minimum exchange rate of CHF 1.20 per eure and
to lower the inferest rate by 50 basis points 1o (0.75)% on sight
deposits that exceed a certain threshold, It also decreased the
targat range for tha three=month Swiss franc LIBOR. Thesa deci-
sions led to a significant strengthening of the Swiss franc agansi
all majer cumencies and a decraase n Swiss franc interest rales.

:ln’-\.'l_-:' : 2014 ey
CHF o
Agqrenate inderoriy Babiktes, guaartees and other contingent Babites
[rest ol eporres necoeded a5 Sabdd e 51 410 &3 A%Y

ol siragh Tupas baein rbsesd rho on toha® of Tubaadiangs Bl A1 &3 Q8T
The company belongs to the Swiss value-added tax group of
Credit Susse Group, and thus cammes pinl Eabiily to the Swiss
federal tax aulhorty for value-added tax debts of the entire group.
3 Principal participations
b Fats dfies and « st bl

£ « - e for hurtbe 1
| | i
4 Bonds
Mamiiry

et o g g gt s oyl Frstcall e dats 2014 v
B (CHF il - -
Low-1rgg I capitul ety 500} Seplamber 4, D013 Sephpmiter 4, 20018 Porpehas ol e r]
Low-figger tes | capial ir T.50% Cescmmbe 11,313 Dicecritesr 17 Ferpeetugl v 200
Low-trigger lier | capial mstrumerts = USD 20500 millo B0 Jure 18, 14 Do 70, 2004 Pprpetim DATE
Tosksl 4 891 2202
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5 Shareholdings of members of the Executive Board and the Board of Directors

Executive Board shareholdings in which they have a controlling interest as well as the value of the
The table “Executive Board holdings and values of deferred share-  umvested share-based compensation awards held by Executie
based awards by indnidual’ disclosas the shareholdings of the  Board members as of December 31, 2014

Executive Board members, their immedate family and companies

Executive Board holdings and values of deferrad share-based awards by individual

Furmbar af Hamber of Valos ot Curend

Hipmba of rwarsied  sered ghates Bumter of L] i of

] hare ard uPweied ret ] weirde it o]

ara of e i e rwasdn SIm ARt [DHF]  rwwii (CHF)
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Brady W. Dougan AT I W1 So7.473 T
James L dmiem ks ; Y s eonEss Y TR ERTTY 0
T LTS ey ;v R s YT v s SRS ey O
Fomaa Contl S ) o T eaass oeaTIES o
Davd B Whathers : T yean gETO6h  gieg0) -
Hassellich Memtmr o T  mmam mmzas gmess .
Jnachio Cncheln HEe ! - giosd T Epd e
bk LR R SR R e e e
Finbart & Sratr ; EITOE3 e Te0asaT
Famels & Thomas-Graham e  ma e e =
Total 2034682 T405478 544126 =
Decernber 31, 2013
Brady W, Dowgen 1,297,334 4IE580  163TETE 081 10BN 12308607
PSRN s 13y MM 4 e e RN A sot BB
Fitaerina Cmnial] 136,334 31,401 FET.E2 6% &AM 6EIN0T
s e At it e 1yt SRR e s R e B i
B e L i s e e B
Harm-Uliich Memte 10,478 417,114 B06,580 3575 1LDdMBESS 10009200
Robiet 5 Stafs GIT.083  BALIIE 1,148,165 B0 a4 B4 15,360,408
Pusmels A Thainis G e oo STy win T e A R e
Ehc M Varesl e Tommisa wmaem e
Total 2380007 3282010 AATLMA 162,438

¥ ivclster e Tl e ariSaly graraed ol et ies (o Tilton. G e il
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Board of Directors shareholdings
The table below discloses the shareholdings of {the Boand of Direc-
tors mambers, their immediate family and companies inwhich they  »
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Parent company financial stalements — Credit Suisse Group 3as

Board of Directors shareheldings by individual

hawe a controfing nterest. As of December 31, 2014, there were  Docember 31 (shares)'

no Beard of Directors members with outstanding options.

I:ln Pk rn;

Jaszim B Marnad L) ATTRars

it Bt

N*;ruer' Diorpla
Jean-Danss] Giarber
Arcids N, Fogpmarn
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EEsD xses
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TBlseE 219850

27T -

‘.'rc-'_d-e') TlaEan
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& Own shares held by the company and by group companies

014 sz
e T
LR EHF mian B EMF mllcen
Balance at beginning of financial year
ﬁ'}":.‘l‘l;;!mg'i ' 183,184 141 begfiec -l -1
Halfings, net of perding abdgalions AR5 L5DY [R17] 16T S5 4
Balance ol end of finencial year
Pryscal fokdingt’ RS e "B, 183,184 RIT
Holdings, net of perding obigation {53 ) L1 (8, 450 [{F7)

' Hepresanbneg 0.9% ard 05% of ausd thaies i of Decarmbar 31, 7008 wad S0, rengss By

7 Significant shareholders

k. Reder 1o "Note 3 - Business devalopreents, 2

ey Lt ol "

e e ifehew=igh ey

cart alaned

= ool vl 51

661/690



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

8 Share capital, conditional, conversion and authorized capital of Credit Suisse Group

oy ol Pl -yalih oo of Far vl
Haates nCHF i e 1 CHF

Share captal 2z of December ¥ 159,118,545 GG

Conditonal capital

Wariants and corartibh bonds 5

Capial an ol Decerbar 31, G35 400000000 115,000,000

Capalall a9 of Dacasmber 31, 2004 00,000 000D 16, 000 D00

e e, =+¢ i b ne- i

Capfial uy of Descember 31, 0013 1000 B0 FTRR- T

St rophicees in 304 = berlorg A5 (71,085, 565650 (8a1,554) 11,045 865 445,564

AN of Wi ®, 20014 — idisaia S0, ) 1,200,000

‘Capilal a3 of Dacember 37, 2004 :IDM_.M 1, 200, (D0

Cenvarsian caplial

Captal as of Decarmber 31, 7013 150000000 000,000 5

Cagital a3 of Dacsmber 31, 2014 150,000,000 * 8,000,000

Autherized capisl

Captal a3 of Decsmber 31, 2013 1NTa47 18 4,457 5

e T b el

Share capial as of Decembar 71, 2014 1,607,168,847 54,285,758

¥ £00 ( enlliany ik ra el e Pl g capitl iriumae
¥ 26 O i ghares retrosd 1o tagh-Sigoee capdal im e

9 Interest rate swap

Credd Suisse Group AG hedges an open mbenest rale nskexposure  valuaban changes, L. change of clean replacement values, are
from a fed rate liability with a nominal amewnt of LISD 1.0 billen  recorded on the balance sheat and in the stalemant of income of
with a fix receiver inlerest rate swap with equivalent notional, This  the company. The interest coupons recened and paid from the
hedge 15 considesed 1o be highly elfecte over the entie malu-  iMleresl rabe swap are recorded in the salement of mcome as an
rity of the hedge relationship and no replacement values and mo  adjustment to the inferast expanse of the hedged expasure.

10 Risk assessment
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2014

2,332

2,899

(143)

(4,256)
190

1,022

1.8
2015 61
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Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Credit Suisse Group AG, Zurich

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Credit Suisse Group AG and subsidiaries (the “Group”) as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in equity, comprehensive income and
cash flows, and notes thereto, for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Group's management and the Board of Directors. Our responsibility isto express an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and
Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosuresin the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financia statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide areasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in al material respects, the financial position
of the Group as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the yearsin the
three-year period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We aso have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
Group's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report
dated March 20, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control over financial
reporting.

KPMG AG
Simon Ryder Anthony Anzevino
Licensed Audit Expert Global Lead Partner

Auditor in Charge

Zurich, Switzerland
March 20, 2015
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statementsto the General Meeting of Shareholder of

Credit Suisse Group AG, Zurich

As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying financial statements of Credit Suisse Group AG (the “Group”), which
comprise the balance sheet, income statement and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Board of Directors Responsibility

The board of directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of Swiss
law and the Group's articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal
control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. The board of directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the
internal control system relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's interna
control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 comply with Swiss law and the Group's articles of
incorporation.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) (Switzerland) and
independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control
system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions of the board of
directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the Group's articles of
incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG AG
Simon Ryder Ralph Dicht
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge

Zurich, Switzerland
March 20, 2015

690/690



	表紙
	本文
	第一部企業情報
	第１本国における法制等の概要
	１会社制度等の概要
	（１）提出会社の属する国・州等における会社制度
	（２）提出会社の定款等に規定する制度
	（３）スイス銀行法及び銀行制度
	（４）規制及び監督

	２外国為替管理制度
	３課税上の取扱い
	４法律意見

	第２企業の概況
	１主要な経営指標等の推移
	２沿革
	３事業の内容
	４関係会社の状況
	５従業員の状況

	第３事業の状況
	１業績等の概要
	２生産、受注及び販売の状況
	３対処すべき課題
	４事業等のリスク
	５経営上の重要な契約等
	６研究開発活動
	７財政状態、経営成績及びキャッシュ・フローの状況の分析

	第４設備の状況
	１設備投資等の概要
	２主要な設備の状況
	３設備の新設、除却等の計画

	第５提出会社の状況
	１株式等の状況
	（１）株式の総数等
	①株式の総数
	②発行済株式

	（２）行使価額修正条項付新株予約権付社債券等の行使状況等
	（３）発行済株式総数及び資本金の推移
	（４）所有者別状況
	（５）大株主の状況

	２配当政策
	３株価の推移
	４役員の状況
	５コーポレート・ガバナンスの状況等
	（１）コーポレート・ガバナンスの状況
	（２）監査報酬の内容等
	①外国監査公認会計士等に対する報酬の内容
	②その他重要な報酬の内容
	③外国監査公認会計士等の提出会社に対する非監査業務の内容
	④監査報酬の決定方針



	第６経理の状況
	１財務書類
	２主な資産・負債及び収支の内容
	３その他
	４会計原則及び会計慣行の主要な相違

	第７外国為替相場の推移
	第８本邦における提出会社の株式事務等の概要
	第９提出会社の参考情報
	１提出会社の親会社等の情報
	２その他の参考情報


	第二部提出会社の保証会社等の情報
	監査報告書

